
 

 
 

  
 
 

Customers and Corporate 
Directorate 
DDaavviidd  WWiillccoocckk  

HHeeaadd  ooff  LLeeggaall  aanndd  GGoovveerrnnaannccee  RReeffoorrmm  
Governance  & Committee Services 
Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 
Phone: 01706 647474 
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk 

To:  All Members of the Planning and 
Licensing Committee 

Enquiries to: Michael Garraway 
Telephone:   
Date: Friday, 17 July 2015 

 
Dear Councillor 
 
Planning and Licensing Committee 
 
You are requested to attend the meeting of the Planning and Licensing 
Committee to be held in Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU on Monday, 27 July 2015 
commencing at 6.15 pm. 
 
Please note that a site visit will be held for Members of the Committee as 
follows:  
2:45pm - Meet at town hall. 
3pm Chamber House Farm – meet on un-adopted road opposite 207 Rochdale 
Road East. 
3:50pm Bird I’th Hand, Bury and Rochdale Old Road 
4:15pm Rainshore Mill, Over Town Lane 
 
The agenda and supporting papers are attached.  
 
If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputies or staff in the 
Governance and Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the 
meeting.  
 
Yours Faithfully 

 
 

David Wilcock 
Head of Legal and Governance Reform 
 
Planning and Licensing Committee Membership 2015/16 
Councillor Allen Brett Councillor Billy Sheerin 
Councillor Susan Emmott Councillor Ann Stott JP 
Councillor Pat Greenall Councillor Patricia Sullivan 
Councillor Shaun O'Neill Councillor Carol Wardle 
Councillor Aasim Rashid Councillor June West 
Councillor Peter Rush  
 

Public Document Pack



 

 
 

Rochdale Borough Council 
 

PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 27th July 2015 at 6.15 pm 
 

Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 

 
A G E N D A 

 
Apologies for Absence 

1. Declarations of Interest  1 - 2 

 Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.   
 
Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting. 
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct. 

 

2. Minutes  3 - 6 

 To consider the minutes of meetings of the of Planning and Licensing 
Committees held on 15th June, 25th June and 14th July 2015  

 

3. Submitted Planning Applications  7 - 220 



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25
TH

 JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 

PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS). 

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE 

MEETING AND DATE 

 

……………………………. 

 

Agenda item 

Indicate either 

• Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR 

• Personal Interest OR 

• Personal and Prejudicial interest 

Nature of Interest 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 

LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE. 

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING 

P
age 1

A
genda Item

 1



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests. 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests 
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners. 
 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain 
 

Sponsorship 
 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.   

Contracts 
 

Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council -  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and  
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land 
 

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council. 

Licences 
 

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer. 

Corporate Tenancies 
 

Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) -  
(a) the landlord is the Council: and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where - 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and 
(b) either – 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

 
Personal Interests 
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect -  
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority; 
(b)  any body - 

(i)  exercising functions of a public nature; 
(ii)  directed to charitable purposes; or 
(iii)  one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union),  
of which you are in a position of general control or management; 
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25. 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would  reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business - 
(a)  Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or 
 (b)  Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above. 
 
 
MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE 
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25

TH
 JULY 2012. 

 Page 2



 

 

PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
Monday, 15 June 2015 

 
PRESENT: Councillor Wardle (in the Chair); Councillors Brett, Susan Emmott, 
Greenall, O'Neill, Rashid, Sheerin, Stott, Sullivan and West 

 
OFFICERS:  D. Ripa and L. Houghton (Economy and Environment Directorate),  
N. Scanlon and M. Hardman (Customer and Corporate Services) 
 
Also in Attendance:   Councillors Meredith and O’Rourke and three members of the 
public. 
 
Apologies for Absence:  Councillor Rush 
 
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
1 There were no declarations of interest. 
 
REPLACEMENT OF PERIMETER WALL - 79 QUEENS PARK ROAD, HEYWOOD 
2 The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 15/00257/HOUS for the replacement of an existing perimeter wall at a 
height of 1m and the building of brick pillars on top at a height of 0.95 m high and 2 
metres apart, with fence panels or railings fixed between the pillars, the application 
being a re-submission of application 14/00192/HOUS. 
 
The applicant addressed the Committee in respect of the application. 
 
Councillor O’Rourke, a Ward Councillor, addressed the Committee in respect of the 
application. 
 
DECIDED – That the application be refused for the reason as detailed in the 
submitted report. 
 
CHANGE OF USE - UNIT 2D, CROWN BUSINESS PARK, COWM TOP LANE, 
ROCHDALE 
3 The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 15/00396/FUL for a change of use, from an existing office (B1 Use) to a 
driving test centre (sui generis Use) and associated car parking areas, at Unit 2D, 
Crown Business Park, Cowm Top Lane, Rochdale. 
 
DECIDED – That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions as 
detailed in the submitted report. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 

 

PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
Thursday, 25 June 2015 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Wardle (Chair); Councillors Shakil Ahmed, Susan Emmott, 
Greenall, O'Neill, Rashid, Rush, Stott, Sullivan and Zaman 
 
OFFICERS:   R. Carney, R. Coley and J. Gilligan (Economy and Environment 
Directorate), M. Hardman and N. Scanlon (Customer and Corporate Services) 
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Councillors Cecile Biant, Surinder Biant, James Gartside 
and Winkler, and approximately 40 members of the public. 
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Brett, Councillor Sheerin and Councillor 
West 
 
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
4 There were no declarations of interest. 
 
ERECTION OF 12 WIND TURBINE GENERATORS AND RELATED 
DEVELOPMENT - LAND TO THE EAST AND WEST OF ROOLEY MOOR ROAD 
5 The Director of Economy and Environment reported on planning application 
14/00877/FUL for the erection of 12 wind turbine generators (maximum height to tip 
of 125m), construction of access tracks and crane pads, formation of borrow pits for 
the extraction of stone for on-site construction work, erection of 70m high 
meteorological mast, erection of a substation, transformer housing, control room and 
associated laydown area, and construction compound, associated infrastructure and 
development ancillary thereto on land to the east and west of Rooley Moor Road, 
Rochdale.  
 
The Director of Economy and Environment introduced the proposal, advising that 
part of the development was within the Rossendale Borough Council area and that 
that Council would be giving consideration to that part of the development in due 
course.  The Committee was advised that during the course of the application 
Supplementary Environmental Information had been submitted by the applicant 
which proposed an alternative eight turbine scheme in respect of which a split 
decision could be issued.  Members’ attention was drawn to the nine reasons for 
refusal of the application, eight reasons in respect of the eight turbine scheme, as 
presented in the submitted report.   
 
The Director of Economy and Environment advised of matters arising since 
preparation of the submitted report.  The Council had received correspondence from 
the Ministry of Defence (MOD) on the morning of the meeting indicating that they had 
accepted a technical proposal from the developer to mitigate the unacceptable 
effects of the proposed development on radar, and that the MOD was prepared to 
remove its objection to the proposed development subject to the application of 
particular planning conditions, details of which were advised to the Committee; 
should the Committee be minded to amend any of the conditions proposed by the 
MOD, the MOD would welcome discussion on such amendments.  The Committee 
was asked to note that the reason for refusal on aviation safety (reason 9) was based 
solely on the technical objection from the MOD and that Officers now had no 
technical evidence which would point to harm being caused to aviation safety.  On 

Public Document Pack

Page 4



 

 

this basis, it was now recommended that the ninth reason for refusal, as shown in the 
submitted report, be deleted and that the application should be refused for reasons  
1 – 8 in the report. 
 
The Committee was further advised on the implications arising from the Statement of 
the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government made on 18th June 
2015 in relation to the consideration and determination by local planning authorities 
of planning applications relating to applications for wind energy development; the 
National Planning Practice Guidance and the House of Commons Note ‘Planning for 
Onshore Windfarms’ had both been updated and revised to reflect the Ministerial 
Statement.  Officers had undertaken a review of the Statement as it pertained to the 
matter before the Committee, gave an assessment as to material considerations 
arising, and concluded that the relevant part related solely to the transitional 
provision for the consideration of applications already under consideration at the time 
of the Statement such that “local planning authorities can find the proposal 
acceptable if, following consultation, they are satisfied it has addressed the planning 
impacts identified by local communities and therefore has their backing”.  Officers 
considered that all the submitted environmental information has, following extensive 
consultation and due assessment, not addressed the planning impacts identified by 
officers, consultants working on behalf of the local planning authority, statutory and 
non-statutory consultees, representations made by the local community affected by 
the proposals and others.  It was considered that the report before Members, which 
included nine (now eight) reasons for refusal, set out the Council’s position.   
 
Reference was made to email correspondence received by the Council on the 
morning of the meeting on behalf of the applicant.  This requested consideration of 
the removal of reason for refusal 4 within the submitted report, querying whether 
such a reason could be applied and that there were no reasons why the impacts on 
the fabric and character of Rooley Moor Road could not be addressed by a 
‘Grampian’-type condition which would recognise that appropriate mitigation could be 
achievable over the course of the proposed development.  Officers noted the 
lateness of the submission given that reports on the planning application had been 
published for several weeks, advised that the matters had been considered 
previously and again on receipt of the correspondence, and further advised that on 
such further consideration it was found that reason 4 should not be removal from the 
submitted report and should remain.  
 
The Committee considered the views of Mr Nigel Morrell, Mrs Joan Snowden and Dr 
Steve Davison who addressed Members on behalf of the objectors to the application.   
 
The Committee considered the views of Mr Edward Romaine who addressed 
Members on behalf of the applicant, Coronation Power.    
 
The Committee also considered the views of Councillor Cecile Biant, Ward Member 
for the Spotland and Falinge Ward, and of Councillors Winkler and James Gartside, 
Ward Members for the Norden Ward, who addressed Members in respect of the 
proposal.  
 
DECIDED – That planning permission be refused for reasons 1 – 8 as detailed 
in the submitted report.   
 
 

Page 5



PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
Monday, 6th July 2015 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Susan Emmott (In the Chair); Councillors Boriss, Brett, 
Greenall, O'Neill, Rashid, Rush, Stott and Sullivan 
 
OFFICERS: Daniela Ripa (Economy and Environment Directorate), Noel Scanlon 
and Caroline Denyer (Customers and Corporate Directorate) 
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Councillor Burke and Councillor James Gartside and 4 
members of the public 
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillors Sheerin, Wardle and West 
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
6 There were no declarations of interest. 
 
PARTIAL DEMOLITION AND CONVERSION OF EXISTING AGRICULTURAL 
BUILDING TO FORM 1 DWELLING AT GREENGATE HILL FARM, ROCHDALE 
7 The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 15/00364/FUL for the partial demolition and conversion of existing 
agricultural building to form one dwelling including two storey and single storey 
extensions at Greengate Hill Farm, Ashworth Road, Rochdale, OL11 5UN. 
 
The Sub-Committee considered the views of Mr M Percy who addressed Members 
on behalf of the applicant. 
 
The Sub-Committee also considered the views of Councillor James Gartside, a 
Norden Ward Member, who addressed Members in relation to the application. 
 
DECIDED – That planning permission be granted, subject to the conditions 
agreed by the Head of Planning, as the Committee considered that the current 
application would:- 
1. Bring back into use a heritage building, 
2. Improve to visual amenity of the site by the removal of the dilapidated 

agricultural buildings and 
3. Not constitute a disproportionate addition to the existing building when 

the removal of the derelict agricultural buildings were taken into 
consideration.  

 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 6



 

 
 
  
 

Subject:  Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication 

Report to:  Planning and Licensing  Committee 
 
  

Date:         27 July 2015   

Report of: Director of Economy and Environment 
 
Author: See individual agenda reports 
 

 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or related 

consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration and/or determination 
of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s approved Scheme of Delegation. 

 
1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related matters which 

may affect the work of the Committee. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as detailed in the 

following papers. 
 

3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in accordance with the 

provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Planning and 
Compensation Act 1991, Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 
2008, Localism Act 2011 and the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 together with any Directions and 
Regulations which support that legislation.   

 
3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with the 

development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where relevant, 
any such material considerations will be referred to in the report. 

 
     The Development Plan 
 
3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed against the 

relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for the Borough (currently the 
adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 2006) and any Supplementary Planning 
Documents or Guidance adopted by the Council.   

 
  
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a requirement to 

have regard to relevant national policies as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a material consideration.  Where relevant, 
the provisions of the NPPF and any other relevant national guidance will be referred to 
in the report. 

 
4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers dealing with 

Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have full regard to the Code 
in discharging their responsibilities and duties in relation to planning matters on behalf 
of the Council.  The Code seeks to ensure that all decision making is governed by an 
open and transparent process and represents a standard against which the conduct of 
Officers and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.   

 
4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the commencement of the 

Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any Member sitting on the Committee ought to 
declare any interest on any item on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services or the Head of Planning.   

 
4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code of Conduct.    
 
5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS 

 
5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning applications on 

their individual merits having regard to the development plan and other material 
planning considerations. 

 
5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of certain 

characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  These protected 
characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, Marriage or Civil 
Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual 
Orientation, socio-economic status and Carer. 

 
5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the effects of its 

decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, including a duty to make 
reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all material planning considerations, 
including Council policy as set out in the Unitary Development Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework, the Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded 
all opportunities to promote equality through the planning process have been taken, or 
where adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the basis of the planning 
merits of the development proposal.   

 
5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group may comment on relevant 

planning applications. Where comments are received, these will be included within the 
reported to Committee.  Consideration is given in designing access when dealing with 
the planning applications. Where applicable, any issues relating to these matters or 
other equal opportunity matters will be referred to in individual planning application 
reports. 

 
6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations 
 
6.1    The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of the Human 

Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those third parties, including 

Page 8



local residents, who have made representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to 
this end the Committee must give full consideration to their comments. 

 
6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s home, other 

land and business assets.  In taking account of all material considerations, including 
Council policy as set out in the Unitary Development Plan, the Director (Economy and 
Environment) has concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 
applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby land that 
might be affected may be interfered with but that that interference is in accordance with 
the law and justified by being in the public interest and on the basis of the planning 
merits of the development proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights 
posed by approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval 
and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council 
under the Town and Country Planning Acts. 

 
 

Background Papers 
 

      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on this agenda 
will include:- 

 
 1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include: 
 
 i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with scaled 

drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates. 
ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have been consulted 

or commented on the planning application 
iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties. 
iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received and of 

relevance to the submitted proposal 
  

 2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the application 
file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal 

 
 3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports on planning 

applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting). 
 
       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of relevance to 

the recommendation and/or determination of any submitted planning applications or related 
consents 

 
For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background 
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 
Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 
Telephone (01706) 924305 or via the online planning services at:  
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning 
 

 
 
 
  

Page 9



Application Number: 14/00357/OUT    Ward: East Middleton       
 

 
Proposal: Outline application (including access only) for up to 303 dwellings and 
associated highway, landscaping, public open space and infrastructure provision 
 

Site Address: Land Off Don Street Middleton    
 

Applicant: Rock Co Asset Managers Ltd 
                  C/O Agent 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions 
 

 
 
UPDATE 
 
The application was considered by the Licencing and Regulatory Committee at their meeting 
of 21st August 2014 and it resolved to grant planning permission subject to: 
 

a) the completion of a Section 106 planning obligation in order to secure (subject to future 
assessment(s) of the scheme’s viability): 

1. The provision of open space on site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of 
on-site provision (as appropriate) in accordance with the provisions of UDP 
policy H/6 and its associated SPD: Provision of Recreational Open Space in 
New Housing. 

2. The provision of affordable housing on site and/or an off-site contribution in 
lieu of onsite provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7 
and its associated SPD: Affordable Housing. 

Page 10



3. A financial contribution not exceeding £1,199,880 towards the provision of 
new schools places in the Middleton Township. 

4. A financial contribution not exceeding £220,000 towards improvements at 
Mills Hill Railway station including: (i) the provision of two new platform 
shelters; (ii) additional platform seating; (iii) car park resurfacing and marking 
out; and (iv) a Transmission Voice Machine in accordance with the provisions 
of UDP policy A/19 

b) the Council entering into an agreement under the provisions of Section 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and other appropriate legislation with regard to 
the matters set out above; 

c) the Head of Planning be authorised to issue the decision notice on completion of the 
Section 106 Agreement; and 

d) the conditions as set out in the submitted report. 
 
There has been a significant delay in the signing of the s106 agreement as there are multiple 
land ownerships across the site.  The applicant is preparing to compile these into one land title 
and has provided assurances that the land transfer can now take place swiftly.  However, due 
to the changes to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in April 2015, there are now 
restrictions on the pooling of contributions to infrastructure projects and this has necessitated 
a review of the contributions listed above. The application is therefore referred to the Planning 
and Licensing Committee as the review of the contributions results in a change to the 
Committee resolution.  An update on this is provided in the ‘Developer Contributions’ section 
of this report.   
 
The proposal represents a departure from the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.  Members 
of the Planning and Licencing Committee may approve or refuse the application on 
reasonable planning grounds. 
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to an expanse of land measuring a total of circa 13.15 hectares in area 
running between the A669 (Oldham Road) to the south, the embankment of the Rochdale to 
Manchester railway way to the east, the urban fringe of Boarshaw (Glenwood Drive/Hereford 
Way) to the north and the highway of Hilton Fold Lane to the west. The land forms a broadly P-
shaped site dissected by the channel of the River Irk and is subdivided into separate parcels of 
varying landscape character. 
 
Land to the south of the River Irk includes a rectangular, two-storey industrial building (Hexpol) 
to the southwest corner, a millpond to the north of this and a service yard/trailer parking area to 
the east of the building extending to the rear of terraced houses on Oldham Road (nos. 531-
553). Further to the east, two rows of terraced houses (nos. 555-605 Oldham Road) back onto 
a group of allotments adjoining a triangular area of woodland which falls away in a northerly 
direction towards the River Irk. This woodland is flanked by a narrow footpath to the east 
(MidFp52) and a wider lane to the west (MidRUpp51) which converge at a recreational right of 
way (MidRUpp50) running in a northerly direction up to Scowcroft Farm located to the 
northeast corner (and outside) of the site. This route crosses a bridge over the River Irk. This 
circa 4.5 hectare parcel of the site is allocated as a Primary and Mixed Employment Zone on 
the Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Proposals Map and its eastern section falls within a site 
identified for employment development in accordance with UDP policy EC/8. 
 
The remaining land to the north of the river (an area of circa 8.65 hectares) includes a stretch 
of scattered woodland running alongside its northern bank, the northernmost section of Don 
Street beyond its junction with the site access into British Vita, and a cleared area of ground to 
either side of Don Street – the former site of Rex Mill. Don Street then merges with a narrow 
track running in an easterly direction through Scowcroft Woods up to Scowcroft Farm. 
Scowcroft Woods falls outside the site boundaries and forms a natural buffer with houses set at 

Page 11



a higher level on Glenwood Drive. With the exception of Scowcroft Woods, these areas of the 
site fall within allocated employment zones on the UDP Proposals Map. A parcel of open 
grassland to the northeast corner of the site defines the site of a former playing field and is 
allocated as Protected Recreational Open Space on the UDP Proposals Map. This designation 
also extends into Scowcroft Woods. The playing field is now disused and this area of the site is 
characterised by tall grasses. The site narrows to its western end (onto Hilton Fold Lane) and 
comprises a cleared area of bare ground – the former Dale House Site – straddling the 
northern side of the river channel, with a steep banking and wooded areas (Scowcroft Woods 
and Little Green) providing a buffer with houses to the north on Hereford Way. Much of this 
area falls within flood zones 2 and/or 3 on the Environment Agency’s Flood Map and, with the 
exception of the woodland (designated as Protected Recreational Open Space), is unallocated 
in the UDP.  
 
Levels across the site broadly follow the profile of a V-shaped valley, with ground level falling 
away in a northerly direction from Oldham Road towards the lowest point of the river corridor 
before rising beyond its northern bank towards Scowcroft Woods, Glenwood Drive and 
Hereford Way. Areas to either side of Don Street (the former Rex Mill) and across the former 
Dale House site merging with Hilton Fold Lane are generally flat. 
 
At present, parts of the land can be accessed (either by pedestrian or vehicular means) via one 
of four openings from Oldham Road: Don Street; site access into Hexpol; an opening between 
nos. 553 and 555 Oldham Road; or a footpath and staircase to the east side of no. 605. Access 
from Glenwood Drive and Hereford Way to the north of the site is solely by pedestrian means 
and an existing opening between Kingdom Hall and A & G Fencing onto the Dale House site 
from Hilton Fold Lane does not allow through access onto the former Rex Mill land. A network 
of footpaths, including four recreational rights of way, follow paths and tracks of varying widths 
running through the site alongside the river corridor, off Don Street and through Scowcroft 
Woods and up towards Scowcroft Farm and under a railway bridge. 
 
Surrounding uses include a ribbon of terraced housing along the northern (nos. 531-605) and 
southern (nos. 454-506 and 530- 566) frontages of Oldham Road, industrial uses at Hexpol 
and British Vita to the southeast of the site around Don Street, a strip of open space flanking a 
railway embankment to the east leading up to Scowcroft Farm (which includes a grade II listed 
farmhouse to the northeast corner of the farmyard) and lower-density (predominantly semi-
detached) housing forming the urban fringe of Boarshaw located beyond intervening woodland 
to the north. The river Irk and flanking greenspace provides a buffer between the site and 
terraced housing off Hilton Fold Lane to the western end, and also with the British Via site. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application seeks outline permission for a residential development of up to 303 dwellings 
on the site. The application seeks approval of access only, with the layout, scale and external 
appearance of the dwellings being reserved for a later stage, along with the landscaping of the 
site. The application also includes the formation of a new highway through the site to provide a 
link road running for a distance of some 950 metres in a general north/northwesterly direction 
between its junctions with Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane.  This access road includes land 
within the ownership of the Council and another third party.  The access points to the link road 
(which would form the only means of vehicle access into the site) would be: 
 

� Via an existing entrance (as upgraded) to the Hexpol site from Oldham Road to the 
west side of no. 531 Oldham Road. 

� Via an existing opening (as upgraded) to the former Dale House site onto Hilton Fold 
Lane between Kingdom Hall and A & G Fencing. 

 
 
 

Page 12



An indicative masterplan shows four principal housing locations within the site as follows: 
 

� 10 dwellings to the west side of the access from Oldham Road and to the front (south) 
of the existing Hexpol building, including the demolition of the existing flat-roofed 
section to the southeast corner of the industrial building. 

� 74 dwellings on land to the east of the link road between the rear of nos. 531 - 605 
Oldham Road and the southern bank of the River Irk. 

� 170 dwellings on land to the east of the link road between the northern bank of the 
River Irk and the southern edge of Scowcroft Woods, and flanking the lane 
approaching Scowcroft Farm to the east (MidRupp50). 

� 49 dwellings to the western end bisected by the new link road and running between 
land to the north of the British Vita site (across the channel of the Irk) and Scowcroft 
Woods. 

 
The masterplan also indicates: 
 

� Alterations to the carriageway of Oldham Road along a 120 metre long stretch to the 
front of nos. 470-506 Oldham Road (southern frontage) and nos. 531-549 Oldham 
Road (northern frontage), including: 

o The introduction of waiting restrictions along both frontages of the carriageway 
and around the junction of the site access with Oldham Road; 

o Provision of a dedicated right hand turning lane into the site and central ‘ghost 
island’ refuge approaching this; 

o Pedestrian crossings over the carriageway of Oldham Road and an island to 
the centre of the site access at the junction with Oldham Road. 

� The provision of open space on the site at various locations, including a Multi Use 
Games Area, two Local Areas for Play, footpaths alongside the river corridor and other 
urban amenity open space. 

� A new bridge over the River Irk as part of the link road. 

� The provision of dedicated allotment plots to the rear of nos. 555-605 Oldham Road. 

� The subdivision of the existing car park to the rear of the Old Cock Inn to provide a 
dedicated 26 space car park for residents of 476-502 Oldham Road, including a new 
access from Damson Green and the provision of a further 16 car parking spaces to the 
side/rear of nos. 555-581 Oldham Road. 

 
It should, however, be noted that the masterplan is for indicative purposes, with access being 
the only matter applied for. The matter of access is defined in the Development Management 
Procedure Order to mean “the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and 
pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how 
these fit into the surrounding access network.” The layout of the dwellings and open spaces is 
for illustrative purposes only. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework  
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.   
 
National Planning Policy Guidance 
 

Page 13



The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate. 
 
Unitary Development Plan:  
 
G/D/1  Defined Urban Area 
 
G/G/1  Greenspace 
G/2  Standards for Recreational Open Space 
G/3  Protection of Recreational Open Space 
G/4  New Provision of Local Open Space 
G/7  Protection of Allotments 
G/8 (A – D) Greenspace Corridors 
 
G/H/1  Housing 
H/3   Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas 
H/6  Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development 
H/7 Affordable Housing 
 
G/EC/1 Employment Land Supply 
EC/2  Primary Employment Zones 
EC/3  Mixed Employment Zones 
EC/8(f)  Development Sites in Employment Zones  
 
G/A/1  Accessibility 
A/3  New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People 
A/4  New Development – Access for Cyclists 
A/8   New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network 
A/9  New Development – Access for General Traffic 
A/10  New Development – Provision of Parking 
A/11  New Development – Transport Assessments 
A/13  Local Walking Route Network 
A/17  Bus Interchange and Bus/Rail Interchange 
A/19  New Railway Stations 
 
G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy 
RE/6  Recreational Rights of Way 
 
G/BE/1 Design Quality 
BE/2  Design Criteria for New Development 
BE/8  Landscaping in new Development 
 
G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage 
BE/10  Development Affecting Archaeological Sites and Ancient Monuments 
BE/15  New Development Affecting the Setting of a Listed Building 
 
G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control 
EM/2  Pollution 
EM/3  Noise and New Development 
EM/4  Contaminated Land 
EM/7  Development and Flood Risk 
EM/8  Protection of Surface and Ground Water 

Page 14



EM/9  Development Involving Unstable Land 
 
G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation 
EM/13  Energy Efficiency and New Development 
 
G/NE/1 Nature Conservation 
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological/Geomorphological Importance 
NE/3  Biodiversity and Development 
NE/4  Protected Species 
 
G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands 
NE/6  Landscape Protection and Enhancement 
NE/8  Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows 
 
Draft Rochdale Publication Core Strategy: 
 
The Council’s Core Strategy examination re-convened on 10 June 2015 in respect of housing 
need and as such, the remainder of the Core Strategy can now be given some, albeit it at this 
time without further advancement, limited weight in decision making. It is anticipated that, 
based on current timescales, the Core Strategy could be adopted in late 2015/early 2016.  
 
The following policies of the emerging and currently un-adopted Core Strategy (known more 
formally as the emerging Rochdale Publication Core Strategy) are relevant:-  
  
SO1  To deliver a more prosperous economy 
SO2  To create successful and healthy communities 
SO3  To improve design, image and quality of place 
SO4  To promote a greener environment 
 
SD1  Delivering sustainable development 
 
SP1  Rochdale borough’s role in the city region 
SP2  The Spatial Strategy for the Borough 
SP3/M  The Strategy for Middleton 
 
E3  Focusing on Economic Growth Corridors and Areas 
 
C1  Housing 
C2  Focusing on regeneration areas and economic growth corridors / areas 
C3  Delivering the right type of housing 
C4  Providing affordable homes 
C6  Improving Health and Wellbeing 
C7  Delivering Education Facilities 
C8  Improving Community, Sport, Leisure and Cultural Facilities 
 
P3  Improving the Design of New Development 
 
G1  Tackling and Adapting to Climate Change 
G2   Energy and New Development 
G5  Managing Protected Open Land 
G6  Enhancing Green Infrastructure 
G7  Increasing the Value of Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
G8  Managing Water Resources and Flood Risk 
G9  Reducing the Impact of Pollution 
 
T1  Delivering Sustainable Transport 

Page 15



T2  Improving Accessibility 
 
DM1  General Development Requirements 
DM2  Delivering Planning Contributions and Infrastructure  
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD 
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG 
Energy and New Development SPD 
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD 
Affordable Housing SPD 
 
SITE HISTORY 
 

� 93/D30026 (Rex Mill) – Change of use from factory to warehouse – Approved. 

� 95/D32486 – Erection of factory with associated offices external plant loading areas 
and upgrading of existing access and formation of car parking area – Approved. 

� 95/D32557 – Formation of 2 artificial grass five-a-side soccer pitches with associated 
car parking  erection of 12' high perimeter fencing  installation of 8m high floodlights 
and siting of mobile structures for changing rooms  showers  toilets and offices – 
Refused. 

� 96/D33173 – Erection of factory with associated offices – Approved. 

� 05/D46540 – Erection of 24 industrial units – Approved. 

� 06/D47320 – Erection of 5 office blocks (4 two-storey units and 1 three storey unit) – 
Approved. 

� 09/D52421 (Dale House) – Residential development comprising 25 dwellings – 
Pending decision. 

� 13/00740/OUT – Outline application (including access only) for 303 dwellings and 
associated highway, landscaping, public open space and infrastructure provision – 
Withdrawn. 

 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Highways and Engineering: - No objections. Comments as follows:  

� The application includes a significant and essential improvement to the transport 
network through the introduction of new link road between Oldham Road and Hilton 
Fold Lane. The size, alignment and character of the road will provide a suitable 
alternative route which will alleviate congestion at the existing signalised junction of 
Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane. This stretch of the network (including the existing 
junction) is predicted to be operating beyond capacity by 2018. Whilst the proposed 
dwellings would increase traffic generation in the locality, this will be offset by the 
proposed link road which, moreover, will reduce congestion of the surrounding highway 
network elsewhere. It is essential that the link road is introduced and made available 
for use before all of the dwellings are occupied. 

� The site access onto the existing highway has been modelled and the junctions have 
sufficient capacity to accommodate the level of traffic likely to be generated by the 
proposed development. 

� The indicative masterplan shows adequate parking provision for the development and 
also provides a dedicated parking area for a number of properties on Oldham Road. 
This will help to reduce on-street parking pressures on the highway. 

� No public right of way will be obstructed by the development, though some may require 
diversion. This will become apparent at the detailed design stage. 

� The proposed development will not have a detrimental impact on highway safety. 
Indeed, the provision of additional, essential infrastructure in the form of the link road 
would have the effect of alleviating congestion along Oldham Road. 

Page 16



� Conditions should be attached to any permission granted requiring: (1) submission of a 
phasing plan to indicate the timing for delivery of each phase of housing and the link 
road; (2) the introduction of a self-enforcing 20 mph zone along all highways within the 
estate. 

 
United Utilities (UU): - No objections. Comments as follows: 

� The site should be drained on separate systems with foul water draining to the public 
sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way in accordance with the 
hierarchy identified in the Building Regulations.  

� No surface water from the development should be discharged either directly or 
indirectly to the combined sewer network. The site should be drained on a separate 
system with only foul drainage connected to the foul sewer. Surface water should 
discharge to the nearby watercourse. 

� Public sewers cross the site and should not be built over. UU will require an access 
strip to either side of the central line of any sewer. Deep rooted shrubs and trees 
should not be planted in the vicinity of the public sewer and overflow systems. 

� A 15N water main runs close to the eastern boundary of the site. An access strip of 10 
metres (5 metres to either side of the centreline of the main) will be required for 
maintenance. Any necessary disconnection or diversion required as a result of any 
development will be carried out at the developer's expense. 
 

Design for Security: - No objections. The proposed housing scheme is an appropriate form of 
development in this area from a crime prevention perspective. Any reserved matters 
application which seeks approval of layout should be accompanied by a crime impact 
statement. 
 
National Grid: - No objections. Comments as follows: 

� A Major Accident Hazard Pipeline (MAHP) – ‘Middleton – Mills Hill’ is located in the 
vicinity of the site. The pipeline is laid in a legally negotiated easement and it is 
essential that access to it is not restricted. Therefore, there must be no obstructions 
within the pipeline’s maintenance easement strip which would limit or inhibit essential 
maintenance works on the pipeline. The Building Proximity Distance (BPD) for the 
pipeline is 15.5 metres. This is the minimum distance recommended by National Grid 
between the pipeline and any 'normally occupied' building. The Masterplan appears to 
indicate that a proposed link road will be positioned over the pipeline. It is likely that 
impact protection slabbing will need to be installed over the pipeline. In order to assess 
the effects of any new road construction it will be necessary for more detailed 
information to be provided by the applicant. 

� The development is located in close proximity to a High Voltage Transmission 
Overhead Line. The proposed development should not interfere with this apparatus. 
Therefore, there are no objections on these grounds. 

 
Health and Safety Executive (HSE) – No objections. Comments as follows: 

� HSE does not advise, on safety grounds, against the granting of planning permission. 
As the proposed development is within the consultation distance of a major hazard 
pipeline the pipeline’s operator should be contacted before a decision is made. 

 
Contaminated Land Officer: - A condition should be attached to any permission requiring 
submission of an intrusive site investigation and remediation strategy before any development 
take place. 
 
Conservation and Design: - No objections. 
 
 
 

Page 17



 
Environment Agency: - No objections. Comments as follows: 

� The submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) is acceptable in principle for the outline 
application. A more detailed surface water drainage strategy will be required as part of 
any application for reserved matters in order to demonstrate that the rate of surface 
water run-off from the site would not exceed existing (greenfield) rate. It will be 
necessary to provide suitable storage for excess run-off as a means of attenuation in 
order to achieve this. 

� The FRA identifies a small overflow from the Rochdale Canal which enters a culvert 
and discharged into the River Irk. No buildings should be positioned over the line of 
this culvert. Opening up the culvert to create an open channel would be encouraged if 
feasible. 

� Conditions should be attached to any permission granted requiring: (1) submission of a 
scheme to regulate surface water run-off from the development in order that this does 
not exceed the current (greenfield) rate of surface water discharge from the site; (2) 
details of finished floor levels for each plot; and (3) a scheme showing how the existing 
northern tributary watercourse/culvert (including details of its precise route, size, depth 
and condition) will be incorporated into the development. 

 
Environmental Health Officer (EHO): No objections. Comments as follows: 

� A condition should be imposed restricting hours of construction to between 08:00 and 
18:00 Monday to Friday and 09:00 and 14:00 on Saturdays. No work should take place 
on Sundays. 

� Houses bordering Oldham Road (plots 294-303 on the submitted masterplan) should 
be designed and constructed to ensure that noise from passing traffic on Oldham Road 
does not exceed: 30dB(A) Leq 5mins in the bedrooms with windows shut and other 
means of ventilation provided between 11pm and 7am; 30dB(A) Leq (1 hour) in other 
habitable rooms with windows shut and other means of ventilation provided at all 
times; 45 dB(A) Lmax in all habitable rooms. A verification report should be submitted 
on completion of the dwellings in order to demonstrate that these levels have been 
achieved.  

 
Environmental Management (refuse collection): - No objections. Comments as follows: 

� The masterplan shows restricted access to properties with a frontage onto the river 
(plots 12-19 and 41-49) and plots 189-194 and 199-212. This would mean that refuse 
vehicle would either need to reverse for a considerable distance along the proposed 
routes or residents would be required to bring bins to a collection point. 

 
Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service: Comments as follows: 

� The provisions of S63 of the Greater Manchester Act (1981) will be applicable to the 
scheme. This will enable the Fire Authority to request additional provisions for access 
for the Fire Service when proposals are submitted for Building Regulation approval. 

 
Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS): Comments as follows: 

� The proposed development would impact upon an area which includes several sites 
recorded on the Historic Environment Record (HER) – specifically Rex Mill and Don 
Mill. Both mills were demolished in the 20th century. The HER also identified other sites 
of the 19th and early 20th century including a brick works, areas of worker’s housing, 
other early nineteenth century houses, mill leats and weirs. Therefore, it is 
recommended that the application be supported by a desk-based archaeological 
assessment in order to determine the impact of the proposals upon the archaeological 
and historic interest of the site. 

� Given that this is an application for outline permission, if the Local Planning Authority 
are minded to grant permission in the absence of an independent archaeological 
assessment, a condition should be attached to any permission granted requiring that a 

Page 18



programme of archaeological works be undertaken. This would include a desk-based 
documentary study, a walkover survey and, where appropriate, a building survey. This 
would then be followed by targeted field evaluation trenching which could lead to 
targeted open area excavation. 

 
Natural England: - No objections. Comments as follows: 

� The site is located in close proximity to the Rochdale Canal Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI). This SSSI forms part of the Rochdale Canal Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC). The proposal is not likely to have a significant effect on the 
interest features for which Rochdale Canal has been classified. Therefore, the 
authority is not required to undertake an Appropriate Assessment to assess the 
implications of this proposal on the site’s conservation objectives.  

� The proposed development will not damage or destroy the interest features for which 
the Rochdale Canal SSSI has been notified. Therefore, the SSSI does not represent a 
constraint in determining this application. 

� The development site includes areas of priority habitat, as listed on Section 41 of the 
Natural Environmental and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006. The Local Authority 
should ensure it has sufficient information to fully understand the impact of the 
proposal on the local site before it determines the application. 

 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU): - No objections. Comments as follows: 

� The application site is not designated for its nature conservation value although it is 
close (within 150m) to the Rochdale Canal Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and 
there is connectivity with the nearby River Irk Marsh Site of Biological Importance 
(SBI). The site is unlikely to support any specially protected species (except foraging 
bats) but it does support locally important habitats including marshy grassland, 
broadleaved woodland, ponds and a major water course (River Irk). Together these 
habitats form an important area of Green Infrastructure for this area of Rochdale and 
they will support locally important wildlife. 

� The proposed development has some potential to impact on the special interest of the 
Rochdale Canal SAC and, in particular, the River Irk Marsh SBI because there is 
potential hydrological connectivity between the site and the Canal and much of the 
surface water drainage for the site will be directed into the Irk. It should be possible to 
ensure that no surface water from the scheme, both during the construction and 
operational periods of the development, reaches the Canal and therefore that any 
impacts on the special interest of the SAC can be avoided. In terms of potential impact 
on the river course I would recommend that a condition is attached to any approval 
requiring submission of a comprehensive method statement giving details of how the 
water quality and habitat value of the water course will be properly protected during the 
course of construction, in order to protect both the water course crossing the site and 
the water course down-stream of the development site.   

� The development will result in the loss of or significant modification of areas of marshy 
grassland, broadleaved woodland, ponds and the River Irk. These are important 
habitats in a Greater Manchester and district context and the River Irk is an important 
green corridor, linking semi-natural greenspaces in urban and suburban areas. The 
Masterplan for the development shows a ‘woodland’ corridor in the north of the site and 
shows the river corridor as retained and enhanced but these corridors will be much 
narrower than existing, with apparent ‘pinch points’ where the corridors will be reduced 
to tens of metres in width. The outline proposal suggests that improvements in the 
quality of habitats within retained areas of greenspace will compensate for quantitative 
habitat losses. However, this is unlikely as retained greenspace will be multi-functional 
(acting as recreational and amenity space for the new housing development as well as 
wildlife habitat). Any application for reserved matters should allow for the retention of 
more greenspace, particularly along the river course and the woodland corridor in the 
north, in the interests of nature conservation and details of the design and future 

Page 19



management of the retained greenspace areas are very important. The following 
conditions should be attached to any permission granted: 

- No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft 
landscape proposals have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. These details must include proposals for habitat creation 
and enhancement, planting plans and schedules of plants. Once approved 
landscape works must be implemented in full. 

- No development shall take place until a habitat and landscape management 
plan, including long term design objectives, management responsibilities and 
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas (other than small, privately 
owned, domestic gardens) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. Once approved the plan must be implemented in full. 

- Retained trees, waterbodies, water courses and greenspace should be properly 
protected during the course of any development. 

- The application site supports a number of invasive plant species controlled 
under the terms of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). A 
method statement is required giving details of measures to be taken to control 
these plant species. Once agreed this method statement must be implemented 
in full.  

- Any site clearance or groundworks should commence outside of the optimum 
period for bird nesting / mammal breeding (March to July inclusive). 

 
The incorporation of further areas of marshy/wet grassland would be useful, both in 
habitat terms and as SUDs to mitigate the effect of surface water drainage into the Irk.  

 
Network Rail: - No objections. Comments as follows: 

� The proposed development is a quarter of a mile from Mills Hill Railway Station. Many 
stations and routes are already operating close to capacity and a significant increase in 
patronage may create the need for upgrades to the existing infrastructure including 
improved signalling, passing loops, car parking, improved access arrangements or 
platform extensions.  As Network Rail is a publicly funded organisation with a regulated 
remit it would not be reasonable to require Network Rail to fund rail improvements 
necessitated by commercial development.  It is therefore appropriate to require 
developer contributions to fund such railway improvements. Given the site’s proximity 
to Mills Hill Railway Station, the developer should make a financial contribution in order 
to mitigate the impact of increased footfall to the railway station from the 303 dwellings 
proposed. This should comprise: 

- £100,000 for two new shelters; 
- £20,000 for extra platform seating; 
- £75,00 for car park resurfacing and painting; 
- £25,000 for a Transmission Voice Machine. 

� A minimum 1.8 metre high trespass proof fence should be erected by the developer 
adjacent to the boundary with the railway to prevent any unauthorised access onto 
Network Rail land. Network Rail’s existing fencing / wall must not be removed or 
damaged and any fencing installed by the applicant must not prevent Network Rail 
from maintaining its own fencing/boundary treatment. 
 

Strategic Housing: - Comments as follows: 

� If the development was to deliver an equal split of 2, 3 and 4 bedroom houses, and 
based on comparable property prices in the area, the scheme would return an 
estimated New Homes Bonus (NHB) of £349,829 for the first year, with a total payment 
over six years of £2,089,975. 

� The NHB is paid annually over a period of six years from the start of the programme 
and is only payable from properties completed before the end of the programme. The 
present year (2014/15) is the fourth year of the programme. Therefore, the level of 
payment received from NHB as mentioned above would be dependent on: (1) the rate 

Page 20



of completions on site; and (2) the potential for the programme being extended beyond 
its existing six-year timeframe. 

 
Quantity Surveyor (QS): - Comments as follows: 

� Following appraisal of estimated costs and revenues for the development (having 
regard to both the applicant’s submission and the Council’s own estimates), the 
scheme is unlikely to achieve the minimum margin at which the developer’s return is 
acceptable in the market for the risk in undertaking the development (normally between 
18-20% of Gross Development Value (GDV) is considered to represent a competitive 
return for a willing landowner and willing developer to make the development 
deliverable). Present figures suggest that the maximum margin would equate to 15.22 
per cent of GDV. 

� Using present estimates, the scheme would not be required to make any off-site 
financial contributions as part of a planning obligation. This is, however, based on 
theoretical figures which are subject to change based on economic and site-specific 
circumstances (e.g. market fluctuations, ground conditions etc.) which are presently 
unknown. Therefore, any planning obligation should include overage clauses requiring 
any future developer to carry out further appraisals at or near to completion in order to 
establish actual (rather than theoretical) figures and, accordingly, the need for financial 
contributions at a later date. 

 
Rights of Way Officer: - No objections. Comments as follows: 

� A number of rights of way fall within the development site. During and following the 
development the surface of these routes should not be disturbed, altered or obstructed. 
The rights of way should remain undisturbed and available for use during and after the 
development unless an application (or applications) is made to divert or temporarily 
close these routes beforehand (including any required reinstatement to an agreed 
standard). 

 
Schools Service: - No objections. Comments as follows: 

� The Township of Middleton is experiencing an increase in pupil numbers at both 
primary and secondary level and this trend is predicted to continue in the future. The 
proposed development will increase demand for places in schools that are already full 
(or expected to be full) and, accordingly, a total developer contribution based on 303 
dwellings would be £1,399,861.05 towards the provision of additional primary and 
secondary school places as follows: 
- Primary sector, additional places could be accommodated (subject to consultation) 

within an existing primary school, which would need to be expanded further than 
currently planned. The developer contribution for primary school places for this site 
would be as follows: 303 dwellings x 0.25 =75.75 children x £12,320.01 = 
£933,240.75  

- Secondary sector, additional places could be accommodated within existing 
secondary schools, which would need to be expanded further than currently 
planned (subject to consultation). The developer contribution for secondary school 
places for each site would be as follows: 303 dwellings x 0.1 =30.3 children x 
£15,400.01 = £466,620.30.   

 
Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM): - No objections. Comments as follows: 

� The site is well located in relation to public transport being within reasonable walking 
distance (approximately 400 metres) of bus stops on Oldham Road which provide 
access to regular services to Middleton, Manchester, Chadderton, Oldham and 
Rochdale. Mills Hill Railway Station is located within 800-900 metres of the site and 
provides regular rail services between Manchester, Rochdale and Leeds. Future 
residents would therefore have access to a choice of travel modes which should help 
to reduce the amount of car travel generated by the development. 

Page 21



� In order to maximise the benefits of the site’s location and to encourage walking and 
cycling, the pedestrian and cycling environment within and around the site should be 
designed to be as safe, attractive and convenient as possible, including natural 
surveillance from the development where possible (with particular attention to 
walking/cycling routes through the site leading on to Mills Hill Railways Station and bus 
stops on Oldham Road. Clarification should be sought at reserved matters stage as to 
what pedestrian/cycle infrastructure would be provided as a result of the development 
and natural surveillance should be improved in order that the layout of any scheme 
incorporates active travel routes within the design. 

� The transport assessment includes the provision of a new bus stop and shelter on the 
eastbound carriageway of Oldham Road in close proximity to Don Street. This should 
be provided in accordance with TfGM’s design guidelines. 

 
Strategic Planning: - Comments as follows: 
 
The site is covered by a number of UDP designations. The majority of the site is designated as 
an Employment Zone (both Primary and Mixed) with two specific allocations. These are policy 
EC/2 which relates to a Primary Employment Zone on the east of the site and policy EC/3 
which is a Mixed Employment Zone which relates to the former Rex Mill site at the west of the 
site. The remaining land which forms the north east portion of the site is designated as 
Protected Recreational Open Space (policy G/3) and Greenspace Corridor (policy G/8). The 
UDP proposals map also indicates a recreational right of way running along the northern edge 
of the site and shows that areas either side of the watercourse are within flood zones. 
 
Employment land 
 
The policy relating to Primary Employment Zones only allows development for industrial, 
business and warehouse uses with other uses only allowed if they are ancillary.  Clearly this 
proposal is not in accordance with this and therefore must be treated as a departure.  The 
policy relating to Mixed Employment Zones is more flexible in that it supports a wider range of 
uses and allows alternative uses if certain criteria are met.  However, such proposals, 
particularly in this instance where it is redevelopment for residential use, do need to be 
justified. 
 
Although the redevelopment of the employment designations is not in the main supported by 
local policy, we do need to consider this in light of the NPPF.  Paragraph 22 of NPPF states 
that: 
 
“Planning policies should avoid the long term protection of sites allocated for employment use 
where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for that purpose. Land allocations 
should be regularly reviewed. Where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for 
the allocated employment use, applications for alternative uses of land or buildings should be 
treated on their merits having regard to market signals and the relative need for different land 
uses to support sustainable local communities.” 
 
The two employment land allocations within the site have been in existence for some time.  
The larger of the two sites related to the expansion of the existing British Vita sites and given 
current market signals there would appear little likelihood of this happening.  It is for this 
reason that the owners of the site, who are British Vita, have come up with these alternative 
proposals.  The site of Rex Mill has had planning permission for employment development in 
the past but this has never been realised, presumably again due to the commercial viability of 
any scheme. 
 
It would therefore appear that the proposal should be considered against paragraph 22 of 
NPPF.  Therefore, it is our view that the redevelopment of the employment designations within 

Page 22



the site could be supported and it would also assist in delivering a key objective of NPPF 
which is to boost housing supply. 
 
 
Greenspace Corridor / Recreational Open Space 
 
Greenspace Corridor runs along the north and east of the site, and widens considerably in the 
northeast of the site, and these areas are also designated as Existing Recreational Open 
Space. Although the application is outline, the principles of building on these areas should be 
assessed, and we also note that an indicative site plan and a landscaping plan have been 
submitted as part of this application, and therefore feel that comments on these are relevant.   
 
Policy G/8 does not allow proposals which would lead to an unacceptable narrowing or 
division of a Greenspace Corridor, or which would harm the landscape qualities and character 
of the Corridor, as well as its amenity value where it provides welcome visual relief from the 
urban area. The proposals are contrary to this policy, showing the loss of a significant amount 
of the Greenspace Corridor, including its unacceptable narrowing and effective division.  
 
A much more substantial green corridor than is shown should be left, logically along the north 
of the site, more effectively buffering Scowcroft Woods from the new development, and 
connecting in a more meaningful way with the Greenspace Corridor areas to the east of the 
site. There also needs to be a more substantial corridor left along either side of the River Irk, 
taking into account flooding issues. Additionally, formal landscaping would be inappropriate in 
these areas, particularly along the river corridor – they should be maintained in a naturalised 
state, in accordance with advice from the Ecology Unit (see G/8(B)). Additionally, policy G/3 
requires compensation for the loss of Existing Recreational Open Space. 
 
Any reserved matters application should address these issues, and be accompanied by a 
detailed landscape plan showing greenspace that will also effectively manage flood risk issues 
and include appropriate Sustainable Urban Drainage.   
 
Housing 
 
Providing that the issues raised above are addressed, the principal of housing is accepted on 
this site.  It is therefore necessary to consider the related policy requirements. 
 
Policy H/3 of the UDP sets out a list of criteria for all residential developments outside 
allocated areas.  Criteria a) requires that developments are on previously developed land.  
However, since the UDP was adopted national guidance and the need to maintain a 
deliverable five year supply of housing land means that more flexibility is required in 
considering appropriate, sustainable housing sites.  Given the fact that part of the site is 
brownfield and most of the site was earmarked for employment development, it is considered 
that this proposal would be acceptable.  In terms of Existing Recreational Open Space, as 
stated above the loss of this open space must be appropriately compensated for and other 
areas of open space maintained and/or enhanced.  The other criteria under H/3 deal with 
location, housing mix, access and amenity.  The location of the site is sustainable and has 
good access to amenities and has excellent public transport links.  The number of dwellings 
on the site will make it able to provide a mix of housing including types which are currently in 
short supply in this area of Middleton i.e. larger detached properties.  In terms of access and 
the amenity of residents these issues will be addressed taking account of the views of 
highways and development management. 
 
The open space requirement for new housing as detailed in policy H/6 (Provision of 
Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development) may be adequately met by the 
Public Open Space shown on the indicative plans, although this should be checked against 
the requirements of the Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD. 

Page 23



 
Since the development is for 15 or more dwellings the provision of affordable housing will be 
required.  More detail regarding the requirement is set out within the Council’s adopted 
Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document. 
 
Transport & Accessibility 
 
There is an expectation that the east of the site would include a Rail Park & Ride facility with 
access to Oldham Road and Mills Hill Railway Station. There is substantial competition for on-
street parking between local residents and rail passengers and this site provides an 
opportunity to alleviate this. These outline proposals have not included this. 
 
The Council has aspirations to establish a strategic off road cycle route between Middleton TC 
via Mills Hill Railway station to Oldham. It is regrettable that this outline submission has not 
included cycle facilities through the site despite it being a priority in the accessibility hierarchy 
both in the UDP and the Core Strategy. 
 
It is considered that provision of a through road as previously suggested to serve the 303 
dwelling development between Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane improves access, but 
there remain concerns whether the access to / from Oldham Road will have sufficient capacity 
to accommodate the additional development traffic without some improvement. There is 
potential for long delays for traffic turning right on to and off Oldham Road. The same applies 
to access on to Oldham Road to / from Hilton Fold Lane and improvements to both of these 
priority junctions should be considered. 
 
There is a network of Public Rights of Way across the site including a mix of Footpaths and 
restricted byway. The applicant will be expected to incorporate these into the site design and 
contribute to any works to remove obstructions / carry out repairs to bring these up to legally 
required standards.  
 
Sport England: - Object to the application. Comments as follows: 

� The development site includes a disused playing field which, according to the 
applicant, has not been used since the year 2000. Information provided to Sport 
England suggests that the playing field has been used for football matches more 
recently than this. However, it cannot be clearly demonstrated that it has been used 
within the last 5 years and, whilst the field is designated as Protected Recreational 
Open Space in the UDP, the land is not allocated as a playing field. Therefore, the 
application does not appear to meet the criteria for statutory consultation with Sport 
England as set out in The Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2010 (Statutory Instrument 2010 No.2184). Sport England 
therefore regards this as a non-statutory consultation. 

� The disused playing field is located to the north east of the application site. Google 
Earth images show the last known pitch markings were a senior football pitch and a 
junior football pitch, with a small pavilion to the south and a hard standing to the east.  
The hardstanding appears to have been used at one time as tennis courts, but possibly 
also as a car park.  The proposed development would lead to a loss of the entire 
playing field. Although the playing field appears not to have been used for some time, it 
is still the case that the planning use of the land is for playing fields.  This use has not 
expired, nor has it been dimmed by its apparent period of inactivity in such use. Given 
that the playing field has not been rendered incapable of playing field use by the 
carrying out of some other lawful development, it is capable of being brought back into 
active use. Supporting information refers to the playing field as being privately owned.  
However, this does not affect the protection offered to the playing field by planning 
policy. Sport England’s playing field policy states that “Sport England will oppose the 
granting of planning permission for any development which would lead to the loss of, or 
would prejudice the use of, all or any part of a playing field, or land last used as a 

Page 24



playing field in an adopted or draft deposit local plan, unless, in the judgement of Sport 
England, one of the specific circumstances applies”. 

� Sport England has consulted the Football Association on this planning application. In 
brief, the FA stated that they understood that British Vita formerly used the site and 
they had football teams playing in the South East Lancashire League. They also noted 
that local teams are tending to turn to pitches on private grounds and schools to use 
for football due to the prices of local authority pitches being raised over the last couple 
of years. The FA is of the view that the playing field has not been demonstrated as 
being surplus to requirements, and wish to raise an objection unless a suitable 
mitigation could be agreed with Lancashire FA. 

� The planning application would result in the permanent loss of playing field land and 
represents an irretrievable loss of a resource for pitch team sports. The proposal does 
not accord with Sport England’s playing field policy or any of the five exceptions within 
it which would otherwise allow development of a playing field. The proposal would be 
contrary to the requirements of paragraph 74 of the NPPF and UDP policy G/3. 
Therefore, Sport England object to the application. 

 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by 
letter. In addition, as the proposal represents major development, is a departure from the UDP 
and has the potential to affect the setting of a listed building and public rights of way, notices 
have also been posted on the site and in the local press. A total of 19 letters have been 
received in objection to the application, with one further letter of representation declaring a 
neutral stance. The points made in the letters, followed by officer responses, are summarised 
as follows: 
 
Objection: 
 
Residents on Oldham Road already suffer as a result of traffic congestion on the highway and 
parking demand arising from their close proximity to Mills Hill Railway Station. This makes it 
very difficult to park on the road outside existing houses. The new housing development would 
exacerbate this situation by generating further traffic along Oldham Road which would be 
detrimental to road safety and increase the potential for vehicle and pedestrian accidents. 
Improvements are needed to the existing road network and access onto Oldham Road, 
particularly when turning right out of the site, if this is to accommodate the anticipated volume 
of traffic and operate safely. 
 
If the link road through to Hilton Fold Lane is not completed during the development’s early 
stages this will result in one way into and out of the site which would cause further capacity 
issues on Oldham Road. However, the delivery of the link road would also result in this being 
used as a shortcut and create a danger for residents. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
The development includes a number of improvements to the existing highway network in order 
to mitigate its impact. Most critically, this includes the provision of a link road through the site 
from Oldham Road to Hilton Fold Lane. The link road would reduce the pressure on the 
existing signalised junction at Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane to the west of the site by 
providing an alternative route for motorists and, accordingly, alleviating network capacity along 
Oldham Road both in mitigation of the development and as a more strategic, long-term 
benefit. A condition has been imposed regarding the delivery of the link road in connection 
with the phasing of development in order to ensure that this is completed at an appropriate 
time. 
 

Page 25



Physical improvements would also be made to the highway at the link road’s junctions with 
Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane including, but not limited to, the introduction of waiting 
restrictions, dedicated turning lanes in the site and a pedestrian crossing on Oldham Road. 
New resident parking areas would be introduced through provision of a 26 space car park at 
the Old Cock Inn and to the rear/side of terraced dwellings on Oldham Road. 
 
The access into the site has been modelled as part of the Transport Assessment (TA) and has 
been designed in order to ensure sufficient capacity at the site’s junctions with Oldham Road 
and Hilton Fold Lane. The Council’s Highways Service consider the details in the TA to be 
acceptable with respect to the design and capacity of these junctions. 
 
The transport implications of the development are addressed in more detail later in the report. 
 
Objection: 
 
The site forms an important habitat for a range of flora and fauna and is also identified as an 
open space of significant value in ecological, recreational and amenity terms in the Rochdale 
Borough Renaissance Masterplan. This habitat and existing species would be lost as a result 
of the development. There is the lack of a proper habitat assessment and some of the most 
important habitats are to be developed for housing. No summer time or invertebrate 
assessment has been undertaken. The site is likely to be of local biodiversity importance and 
is brimming with wildlife in summer. 
 
The development would also disturb the quiet peace and tranquillity of the nature reserve. The 
land is protected greenspace and should be preserved in order to avoid a deficiency of open 
spaces in the future. The loss of open space is disproportionate to the housing development 
and would have an adverse impact in terms of recreational opportunities as there are very few 
alternative spaces in the locality. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
The site does not include any specific designations (those statutorily designated at 
international, national or regional/local level) in terms of nature conservation. The closest of 
these is the Rochdale Canal Special Area of Conservation located some 105 metres away. 
Natural England and GMEU have commented on the application and have not raised any 
objections to the principle of development. From their records, GMEU consider that the site is 
unlikely to support any specially protected species (except foraging bats), though it does 
support locally important habitats (and wildlife) including marshy grassland, broadleaved 
woodland, ponds and the River Irk. 
 
It is recognised that any reserved matters application which seeks approval of layout will need 
to take account of these habitats and provide a more detailed scheme for landscape 
preservation/enhancement, particularly alongside the corridors of the Irk and Scowcroft 
Woods. This will include the provision of recreational open spaces. GMEU have 
recommended a number of conditions in order to ensure the preservation and enhancements 
of these habitats both during and following construction. Appropriate conditions have been 
attached in this regard. 
 
Whilst the development would result in the loss of existing recreational open space (and 
represents a departure from UDP policy G/3 in this respect), this harm must be balanced 
against the benefits arising from the scheme in terms of housing delivery along with 
consideration of the existing form and function of this open space (largely comprising a 
disused playing field) and the likelihood of it being brought back into beneficial use for this 
purpose. 
 

Page 26



The implications of the development with respect to ecology and recreation are addressed in 
more detail later in the report. 
 
 
 
 
Objection: 
 
The proposed development will generate additional noise and disturbance for surrounding 
occupiers in terms of activity from the new residents and traffic generation, especially given 
the proximity of the new link road to houses on Hereford Way. When combined with existing 
noise from Oldham Road and the nearby railway line, this would have an unacceptable impact 
on the amenity of existing residents. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
Substantial areas of the site (particularly alongside dwellings on Oldham Road and to the rear 
of properties on Glenwood Drive and Hereford Way) are allocated for employment uses in the 
UDP. If the site were developed for employment uses as intended in the Local Plan (having 
particular regard to the nature of operations on these sites and the type of traffic likely be 
visiting them), these uses would have much greater potential to generate noise and 
disturbance in comparison to housing which, in contrast, is a noise-sensitive use. Having 
regard to the existing ambient noise climate in the locality, combined with the presence of 
intervening land and surrounding topography (with existing dwellings occupying an elevated 
position in relation to the site), it is not considered that the proposed link road would unduly 
affect the living conditions of surrounding occupiers in terms of noise and disturbance or visual 
amenity. 
 
Objection: 
 
The proposed development would diminish the outlook enjoyed from existing properties 
surrounding the site by developing the attractive green space which they presently overlook. 
The housing would have an oppressive and overbearing impact on surrounding residents and 
locating dwellings, especially any multi-storey flats as suggested on the plans, in such close 
proximity to existing houses would result in an invasion of privacy for current occupiers. This 
would also reduce property values by removing the pleasant visual aspect and environment. 
The scale of development and number of dwellings proposed is excessive for a site of this size 
and needs to be reduced in order to ensure a satisfactory living environment for existing and 
future occupiers. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
A large proportion of the site (in particular, the woodland to the rear of nos. 531-605 Oldham 
Road extending up to the former Rex Mill) is allocated for employment uses in the UDP. This 
designation establishes the principle that these areas of the site are earmarked for 
development (albeit of a different nature to that now proposed). It would be unreasonable to 
prohibit development on a site based on the principle that surrounding properties have a right 
to overlook land over which they have no ownership or control, particularly where this land is 
already allocated for a form a development. 
 
Ground level falls across a V-shaped valley away from existing housing on Oldham Road, 
Glenwood Drive and Hereford Way. Therefore, any dwellings would be set at a lower level in 
relation to neighbouring dwellings in accordance with the scale parameters outlined in figure 1. 
Whilst the masterplan is, at present, indicative with respect to the layout of the dwellings, given 
this topography and the separation provided by intervening land (including allotments to the 
rear of nos. 555 -605 Oldham Road and Scowcroft Woods alongside the northern site 

Page 27



boundary, there is no reason to suggest that the scale parameters of the proposed building 
(including any three storey dwellings) would have an oppressive or overbearing impact on 
surrounding occupiers, or unduly affect their privacy through overlooking. 
 
The proposed development would result in a density of 22.4 dwellings per hectare (303 
dwellings across a 13.5 hectare site), including areas to be left undeveloped for on-site open 
space. Much higher densities are apparent in the immediate locality and, notwithstanding that 
layout is not being applied for as part of the current scheme with respect to the precise siting 
of the dwellings, the proposal is not considered to be disproportionate to the site area. 
 
It is an established principle of the planning system that it does not exist to protect the private 
interests of one person against the activities of another, including any financial or other loss 
(e.g. of a view) as a result of a particular development. Therefore, any perception of a 
development’s impact on property values is not a material planning consideration.  
 
Objection: 
 
A number of properties have existing allotments to the rear of dwellings on Oldham Road to 
which rent is paid to Vitafoam. It is unclear how the existing allotments would be affected by 
the development. Statements submitted with the application suggest that this land will be used 
for parking following the introduction of waiting restrictions along sections of Oldham Road. 
The alternative public car parking areas on the allotments and at the Old Cock Inn will create a 
hotspot for vehicle crime. If the alleygates to the side of houses on Oldham Road are to be 
removed, this will also reduce security for properties backing onto the alleyway. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
The application includes provision for (and protection of) existing allotments to the rear of nos. 
555-605 Oldham Road in accordance with UDP policy G/7 and a limited number of car parking 
spaces alongside these allotments and within the alleyway to the side of nos. 553-555 Oldham 
Road, to be accessed via new estate roads. There is no indication within the plan that any 
existing alleygates would be removed. A condition has, however, been imposed regarding the 
provision of these allotments, compensatory car parking spaces for dwellings on Oldham 
Road and any closure of existing access routes. There is sufficient natural surveillance of 
these parking areas (the largest of which would be to the rear of the Old Cock Inn) from 
surrounding highways and property in order to ensure that they would not be especially 
susceptible to vehicle crime. 
 
Objection: 
 
The proposal would alter existing access routes along the track leading up to Scowcroft Farm 
and Limefield Cottage, including the closure of Don Street. Scowcroft Farm has rights of 
access to Don Street through Scowcroft Woods. The new roads will not be wide enough to 
enable access for tractors, trailers, delivery vehicles, horse boxes, or emergency vehicles, 
especially when cars are parked on the estate roads. In addition, access to the existing farm 
track will not be closed off to future residents (which is also a bridleway) which means that 
future occupiers would have vehicle access along this track. 
 
The access road in question is the only way in and out of several properties to the northeast of 
the site. When the roads are being laid for the new development this will make the route 
impassable and would obstruct an access which is required 24 hours a day for occupiers, 
deliveries and customers travelling to Scowcroft Farm and Limefield Cottage. 
 
Scowcroft Lane (which runs between nos. 553 and 555 Oldham Road up to Scowcroft Farm) 
is a historic route which, between the farm and the River Irk, is not owned by the applicant. 
Utility companies have an easement along this route. The proposed masterplan shows 

Page 28



development (plots 92 and 93) encroaching over this lane. This cannot happen as the land is 
not owned or controlled by the applicant. At present, limited pedestrian access is allowed 
through the yard of Scowcroft Farm. However, this presents a risk for passers-by due to 
hazards associated with the operation of the farm. An increase in footfall resulting from the 
development would increase this risk and require additional safety precautions at the farm. 
The cost of this should be borne by the developer. 
Officer Response: 
 
As already indicated, it is not the role of the planning system to protect the private interests of 
one individual against the activities of another. Any issues regarding land ownership and rights 
of access (other than closing/diverting public rights of way which are dealt with through a 
separate process) are private matters between the different parties with an interest in the land. 
 
From a practical viewpoint however (and having regard to the fact that layout is not being 
applied for), the masterplan does not propose to prohibit access through to any of the existing 
tracks leading up to Scowcroft Farm or Limefield Cottages. Whilst there would be some 
alterations to existing routes (with Don Street and ‘Scowcroft Lane’ being closed at certain 
points), alternative routes (the majority of which are wider than those which presently exist) 
would be provided in order to ensure that access is ultimately maintained (albeit via a slightly 
different route).  
 
The existing track up to Scowcroft Farm (including a route through the farmyard) and Limefield 
Cottages is a designated public right of way and, accordingly, should not be stopped up or 
diverted (other than through the issuing of a legal Order under the correct legislation). 
Moreover, the intention of these routes is that they are used and exploited as recreational 
assets (including increased footfall) rather than access being prohibited to them. The 
proposed development would not restrict this and, indeed, proposes new recreational routes 
within a green corridor alongside the watercourse. 
 
Objection: 
 
The proposed Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) and play sites will attract antisocial behaviour 
which would lead to increased crime, noise and disturbance for surrounding residents. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
UDP policy H/6 requires developments of over 100 bedrooms to make provision for Local 
Open Space on site. The indicative masterplan includes the provision of approximately 2.21 
hectares of open space across the site including the green corridor alongside the river, two 
Local Areas for Play a MUGA and other urban amenity open space. The siting of these 
facilities (including their natural surveillance) is an important factor when considering security 
and any implications in terms of antisocial behaviour and impact on the amenity of residents. 
This would be investigated in more detail through submission of a Crime Impact Statement at 
reserved matters stage when layout is applied for. 
 
Objection: 
 
There are insufficient schools places available in the locality in order to cope with the demand 
that would be generated by a development of this size and the likely number of additional 
pupils. The development would also put pressure on other local facilities such as doctors, 
hospitals, dentists, public transport etc. which are already oversubscribed without the 
additional residents which would be generated by this proposal. 
 
Officer Response: 
 

Page 29



The Council’s Schools Service forecast an increase in pupil numbers for the Middleton 
Township (regardless of whether the proposed development takes place). The introduction of 
new housing on the site would increase the demand for new schools places at both primary 
and secondary levels (estimated at a rate of 3 pupils per year group per 100 houses). The 
purpose of this application is to establish the principle of development and more detailed 
consideration will be needed on this matter at the reserved matters stage when the potential 
timing, need and value of any educational contribution can better be determined.  The 
applicant is agreeable to securing this matter by way of a Section 106 planning agreement.  
The resolution below includes a provision to secure this contribution (subject to viability 
considerations) through a planning obligation. 
 
Depending on the nature of housing brought forward as part of the development, the timescale 
for its implementation and the provisions of the New Homes Bonus programme, the Council 
may also receive additional monies through NHB which could be directed towards the 
provision of public services. 
 
Objection: 
 
The proposal would result in a great deal of noise and disturbance for surrounding residents 
during the construction phase and, where construction is to take place in close proximity to 
existing properties, this has the potential to affect their structural stability. Adequate protection 
measures are required to ensure that this does not occur and also to supress airborne 
pollutants such as dust generated by the development. 
 
The proposal would also generate additional pollution from waste, traffic fumes and emissions 
from the new dwellings. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
A degree of disruption during the construction of any development is inevitable and cannot be 
avoided. As already indicated, it is not the role of the planning system to protect the private 
interests of one individual against the activities of another. Any issues regarding land stability 
or perceived damage caused during the construction of a development are private matters 
between the parties involved and do not affect the planning merits of the scheme. Conditions 
could be imposed at reserved matters stage (when layout is applied for) requiring details of 
any retaining structures needed to facilitate the development to be submitted in order to 
address the implications of any significant level changes across the site. 
 
There is no evidence to suggest that any emissions generated as a result of the development 
(particularly given its end use for housing) would unacceptably elevate existing levels of 
pollution in the area. Appropriate remediation of any contaminated land would be required 
before any development could take place on the site in accordance with the recommended 
condition. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Scope of application 
 
The application is submitted in outline for a residential development of up to 303 houses 
including the formation of a new link road through the site running between Oldham Road and 
Hilton Fold Lane. The only matter applied for as part of the development is access. Remaining 
matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for a later stage. Each of 
these matters is defined in the DMPO as follows: 
 

Page 30



Access – the accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms 
of the positioning and treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into the 
surrounding access network. 
 
Appearance – the aspects of a building or place within the development which determine the 
visual impression the building or place makes, including the external built form of the 
development, its architecture, materials, decoration, lighting, colour and texture. 
 
Landscaping – the treatment of land (other than buildings) for the purpose of enhancing or 
protecting the amenities of the site and the area in which it is situated and includes— 

(a) screening by fences, walls or other means; 
(b) the planting of trees, hedges, shrubs or grass; 
(c) the formation of banks, terraces or other earthworks; 
(d) the laying out or provision of gardens, courts, squares, water features, sculpture or 
public art; and 
(e) the provision of other amenity features; 

 
Layout – the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the development are 
provided, situated and orientated in relation to each other and to buildings and spaces outside 
the development. 
 
Scale – the height, width and length of each building proposed within the development in 
relation to its surroundings. 
 
As access is the only matter applied for in this case, the details indicated above in respect of 
the remaining four matters are not being assessed as part of the application. The masterplan 
is for indicative purposes only and is not intended to reflect the final layout, scale or 
appearance of the dwellings or the landscaping of the site (including amenity areas).  
 
The application sets maximum parameters with respect to the number of dwellings (303) and 
their scale (ranging from two storeys with a ridge height of 8 metres and three storeys with a 
ridge height of 12 metres). These scale parameters (taken from the applicant’s design and 
access statement) are shown in figure 1 below. 
 

 
Figure 1 – Scale parameters. 

 
Principle of development 
 

Page 31



The site is subject to a number of designations (as identified on the Rochdale UDP Proposals 
Map) which mean that the proposed housing development represents a departure from the 
UDP. The extent of these designations is illustrated in Figure 2 below. Nevertheless, the land 
is identified as a housing site within the Council’s most recent (April 2013) Strategic Housing 
Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) – site reference ‘SH 1767’ and its potential for 
residential development is identified in the Council’s Submission Core Strategy. 
 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF identifies a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For 
decision-taking this means: 

� approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay; 
and 

� where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, 
granting permission unless:  

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole; or 

- specific policies in [the NPPF] indicate development should be restricted. 
 

 
Figure 2 – Site allocations map. 

 
Employment land: 
 
Substantial areas of the site to both the north and south sides of the River Irk are allocated as 
Primary/Mixed Employment Zones and/or as identified development sites in Employment 
Zones. These areas of the site have a combined coverage of approximately 9.3 hectares. 
 
UDP policy EC/2 states that, within Primary Employment Zones, development and change of 
use for industrial, business and warehouse uses (Use Classes B1, B2 and B8) will be 
permitted in accordance with three criteria. The policy states that other uses will not be 
permitted unless it can be shown that they are ancillary and complementary (both in terms of 
size and function) to the industrial and business nature of the employment area. 
 
UDP policy EC/3 identifies that, in Mixed Employment Zones, development and change of use 
will be permitted for the following employment generating uses: 

� Business uses (B1); 

� General industry (B2); 

Page 32



� Warehousing and distribution (B8), builders’ and plumbers merchants, timber 
suppliers, plant hire depots and other outlets providing a service to the trade, subject to 
conditions regulating the goods sold and the hours of opening; 

� ‘Sui generis’ uses such as the motor trade, including car and caravan showrooms, 
petrol filling stations, tyres and exhaust centres and car washes; 

� Entertainment, leisure and tourism uses, that if they are major will also have to comply 
with policy LT/4 “Major Built Leisure and Tourism Developments”. 

� Retail uses that comply with policy S/9 “Shops in Industrial Premises”. 
 
 
The policy states that other uses will not be permitted unless it can be shown that they are: 

� Ancillary and complementary (both in terms of size and function) to the industrial and 
business nature of the employment area; or 

� The development forms part of a wider regeneration proposal supported by the 
Council, within the regeneration priority areas defined by policy G/R/1, and a use other 
than those permitted above would be more appropriate to achieving the local and 
strategic objectives of the regeneration programme. 

 
Criteria (f) and (p) of UDP policy EC/8 also identify two specific sites on the land which are 
available for employment development as follows: 
 

� Land north of Oldham Road, Middleton (5.2 ha)  

� Site of former Rex Mill, north of Middleton Road, Middleton (1.5 ha) 
 
The policy states that the type of development that will be supported on these sites will be 
determined by the type of employment zone the site is in (in accordance with policies EC/2 
and EC/3). 
 
The proposed housing development does not fall within any of the categories of appropriate 
development within these employment zones and, accordingly, represents a departure from 
the Rochdale UDP. In these circumstances, the benefits arising as a result of housing delivery 
on the site need to be weighed against any harm that would be caused through the loss of the 
land for employment uses. In this regard, paragraph 22 of the NPPF indicates that: 

� Planning policies should avoid the long term protection of sites allocated for 
employment use where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for that 
purpose. Land allocations should be regularly reviewed. Where there is no reasonable 
prospect of a site being used for the allocated employment use, applications for 
alternative uses of land or buildings should be treated on their merits having regard to 
market signals and the relative need for different land uses to support sustainable local 
communities. 

 
The Council’s Strategic Planning Service indicate that the two employment land allocations 
have existed on the site for some time and, when originally designated, were intended to 
support the expansion of the neighbouring British Vita site. In addition, the site of the former 
Rex Mill has benefited from planning permission for employment development in the past, but 
none of these permissions have been implemented. Strategic Planning conclude, on this 
basis, that the land has little reasonable prospect of being developed for employment uses 
and, accordingly, is considered to be suitable for alternative uses (including housing) in 
accordance with paragraph 22 of the NPPF. 
 
In addition to supporting the conclusions of the Council’s Strategic Planning Service with 
respect to the length of time that the site has lain vacant and the failure to market the land for 
the purposes identified in the UDP, the applicant also attributes the lack of interest for 
employment uses on the site to its distance from the motorway network and the prohibitive 

Page 33



cost of remediation in proportion to lower-value end uses such as industry. Accordingly, the 
applicant contends that the site’s current designation makes any employment use unviable. 
 
The above issues must also be considered in combination with the significant boost that the 
scheme would provide in respect of the Council’s supply of housing land and, moreover, the 
fact that the site is identified for residential development in the most recent SHLAA. The 
Council is, at present, unable to demonstrate a five year supply of housing land (regardless of 
the 5% and 20% buffers identified in paragraph 47 of the NPPF). The proposed development 
would make a substantial contribution towards housing land supply and, therefore, this 
represents a significant benefit in favour of the scheme in accordance with the objectives of 
the UDP, forthcoming Core Strategy and the NPPF. 
 
In spite of its present allocation in the UDP, the site’s long-term vacancy and lack of 
implementation in respect of previous planning permissions on the land indicate that there is 
little prospect of the site being brought into beneficial use for employment development. 
Therefore, it is considered that alternative uses can be considered in accordance with 
paragraph 22 of the NPPF. In this regard, the site’s development for housing would bring 
significant benefits in terms of boosting the Council’s supply of housing land and, in addition, 
would integrate sympathetically with surrounding land uses (having particular regard to 
existing dwellings located alongside the northern and southern perimeters of the site). As a 
result, it is considered that a departure from the UDP is justified in this case.   
 
Protected Recreational Open Space: 
 
The proposal would result in the development of a large (circa 3 hectare) area of Protected 
Recreational Open Space to the northeast corner of the site. As identified by Sport England, 
this land has, in the past, been used as a playing field for football matches and also included a 
tennis court. It is, however, apparent that this area of the site has not been used for these 
purposes within the last five years and, moreover, that the land is not specifically allocated as 
a playing field. Therefore, whilst Sport England have raised an objection to the application due 
to the loss of this space, this is on a non-statutory basis (and, accordingly, would not require 
the application to be referred to the Secretary of State for consideration should the Council be 
minded to approve the scheme). 
 
UDP policy G/3 states that the development of public or private recreational open space for 
any other purpose will not be permitted unless one or more of the following exceptions applies: 

� The development is for a non-commercial community use within a park or other 
outdoor recreation area, is ancillary to the recreational use of the area, would not lead 
to a deficiency in recreational open space in relation to present or future needs, and 
does not harm the recreational, townscape or nature conservation value of the 
remaining open space; 

� Alternative provision is made of at least the equivalent quantity and quality of 
recreational open space, in a satisfactory location and taking account of local 
environmental and traffic considerations; 

� The development funds improvements to existing outdoor sports facilities within the 
site or on another site, commensurate with the open space being lost; and 

� The development comprises a built recreational facility of greater benefit to the wider 
community than the open space being lost and does not result in a serious deficiency 
in open space in the area. 

 
The policy specifically identifies that: 

� School playing fields which are surplus to educational requirements, and privately-
owned sports grounds which have deteriorated due to lack of use and maintenance, 
will continue to be safeguarded from development as they still offer potential to meet 
current and future recreational needs. 

 

Page 34



In addition, paragraph 74 of the NPPF indicates that existing open space, sports and 
recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless: 

� an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 

� the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or  

� the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for 
which clearly outweigh the loss. 

 
Whilst the indicative masterplan shows the provision of areas of public open space on the site 
equating to approximately 2.21 hectares in area (including two play areas and a MUGA), these 
sites would not constitute alternative or equivalent provision in quantitative or qualitative terms 
for the purposes of UDP policy G/3 (b) or the second bullet point to paragraph 74 of the NPPF. 
In this case, the whole of the disused playing field would be lost without any potential for 
alternative provision of a comparable size, form or function to be accommodated elsewhere 
within the site. Therefore, the proposed development represents a departure from the UDP 
and NPPF in this respect. Nevertheless, the harm that would arise through the loss of existing 
open space needs to be balanced against: 
 

1. The benefits arising from the scheme in terms of boosting the Council’s supply of 
housing land, including the implications for the scheme’s viability and deliverability if 
this area of the site was to be safeguarded from development as a result of its 
designation. 

2. The present value (with respect to its form and function) of the existing open space and 
the likelihood of the playing field being brought back into beneficial use for recreational 
purposes. 

 
Whilst the submitted masterplan is for indicative purposes only it is apparent that, in order to 
achieve the maximum number of dwellings proposed, a substantial area of recreational open 
space to the south of Scowcroft Woods (including the whole of the playing field) would be 
developed – some 122 dwellings being shown within this area. The applicant has submitted a 
viability appraisal which, whilst restricted in scope by the outline nature of the proposal, 
identifies marginal viability (a 7.92% return on GDV) due to high abnormal costs associated 
with site remediation and groundworks. Whilst the Council’s QS estimates a higher yield of 
15.22% on GDV (principally based on a disparity in estimations of achieving finance), it is 
clear that the retention of the existing playing field (and the associated loss of some 122 units) 
would seriously undermine the viability of the scheme and the deliverability of the site, 
particularly as the remaining areas of the site are those which require the greatest level of 
remediation due to contamination issues (and therefore are most costly to develop in 
comparison). Based on present financial estimations, it is unlikely that the scheme could be 
delivered if the disused playing field is retained as protected recreational open space. 
 
In respect of the second issue, representations from Sport England indicate that the site has 
not been used on a formal basis for outdoor sport for at least the last five years (and, 
accordingly, their objection is non-statutory). The applicant contends that the playing field has 
not been used since the year 2000, though there is no conclusive evidence to support this 
assertion. At present the disused playing field is characterised by tall, overgrown grasses and 
suffers from a lack of maintenance which means that it is incapable of fulfilling any meaningful 
recreational purpose (for either formal or passive recreation). The land does not have any 
particular value in terms of nature conservation (the areas of woodland alongside the river 
corridor being of the highest value) and, whilst providing visual relief within the urban area, has 
an unkempt appearance. Whilst Sport England consider that the playing field is capable of 
being brought back into active use, there is no indication as to how this use could be delivered 
(and sustained) or who the end user may be.  
 

Page 35



Given the above it is considered that, on balance, the benefits arising to boosting the Council’s 
supply of housing land, when considered in conjunction with the lack of recreational form and 
function of the existing open space (principally comprising a disused playing field) and its 
limited potential to be brought back into beneficial use within any immediate timeframe, would 
outweigh the harm which would be caused through the loss of the land. It is also recognised 
that, whilst not yet fixed as part of the layout and of a lesser quantity, the impact of developing 
existing recreational open space would, to an extent, be offset through the provision and/or 
improvement of local open space on site as part of the development. An off-site financial 
contribution towards outdoor sports provision would (subject to viability) also be required 
through the planning obligation. 
 
 
Greenspace Corridor: 
 
An area designated as greenspace corridor follows the recreational open space allocation 
illustrated in Figure 2 and also extends outside the site boundaries, including a pond and 
woodland running alongside the railway embankment to the east. The corridor provides a 
pleasant area of open greenspace, woodland and water bodies descending into a valley 
dissected by the River Irk and is accessible via a network of public rights of way. In this 
respect, it has landscape qualities and amenity value in terms of providing visual relief from 
the urban environment and opportunities for passive recreation. 
 
UDP policy G/8 (A, B, C and D) is a four-part policy which states that development within the 
Greenspace Corridor will only be permitted where it “will enhance their recreational, ecological 
or landscape and amenity value”. Policy G/8(A) states that development should be avoided 
where it would: 

� Lead to an unacceptable narrowing or a division of the corridor into sections, thereby, 
i. restricting the movement of wildlife along it, or 
ii. restricting the movement of people along established or proposed 
recreational routes or rights of way; 

� Result in the loss or severance of links between areas of recreational open space; 

� Result in the loss of existing valued recreational facilities or prejudice proposed new 
facilities; or 

� Prevent public access into the corridor at strategic locations; 
 

or which would result in unacceptable harm to:- 

� The better landscape qualities and character of the corridor; 

� The amenity value of the corridor where it provides welcome visual relief from urban 
development, including attractive views in and out of the corridor; 

� Features of nature conservation interest, including designated and non designated 
sites; or 

� Viable agricultural operations, including good quality grazing land and allotments. 
 
UDP policies G/8(B) (C) and (D) indicate that: 

� Any new development permitted within or adjacent to the corridors will be of a design, 
and use materials appropriate to, the character and setting of the corridor. Boundary 
treatments and landscaping should help to retain or re-establish a ‘countryside’ 
character in the corridors and contribute to nature conservation interest through design 
and use of appropriate species. 

� Proposals for open or built recreational facilities should be of a scale and nature 
appropriate to the location and should not lead to an unacceptable level of recreational 
activity having regard to visual amenity, nature conservation interests and the need to 
retain an informal or unspoilt character. Development or activities should not conflict 
with existing uses or activities (e.g., grazing) and should not create disturbance for 
local residents. 

Page 36



� Development proposals will be permitted that protect and enhance Greenspace 
Corridors and realise their potential for recreation and nature conservation. 

 
As with the area of protected recreational open space, the proposed development 
(notwithstanding any changes to the layout arising at reserved matters) would result in the loss 
of a substantial area of the Greenspace Corridor, particularly where it widens to the northeast 
of the site. The Council’s Strategic Planning Service consider that the narrowing and division 
of the corridor shown on the indicative masterplan means that the proposal also represents a 
departure from the requirements of policy G/8 and, moreover, that a more substantial area of 
the corridor would need to be retained as part of any application for reserved matters to 
provide a wider buffer alongside Scowcroft Woods and greater connectivity with the area 
outside the site to the east.  
 
Whilst it is recognised that the proposal would result in substantial narrowing and division of 
the Greenspace Corridor, it is not considered that the principle of development within the 
corridor can be resisted. This has been highlighted by a number of recent appeal decisions, 
most notably following an inquiry involving a development of 179 dwellings on land designated 
wholly as Greenspace Corridor flanking the Rochdale Canal at Trub Farm, Castleton (appeal 
reference APP/P4225/A/12/2185947). In this case, the scheme proposed to maintain a 
corridor of open space alongside the bank of the canal, with housing set behind. At 
paragraphs 9 and 13 of the decision, the Inspector concludes as follows: 
 

� Whilst the proposed housing would result in a narrowing of the undeveloped area of 
the Greenspace Corridor, a sense of green and open spaciousness would remain 
along the canal and a green link into the village centre retained. 

� Subject to a good standard of building design I conclude the proposed development 
would have no significant detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the 
Greenspace Corridor and would thus accord with the relevant objectives of UDP Policy 
G/8. 

 
Although it would not be sustainable to resist the principle of residential development within 
the Greenspace Corridor, it is recognised that greater retention of the corridor in strategic 
locations would be required as part of any reserved matters application where layout was 
applied for. This could be achieved through alterations to the layout and distribution of public 
open spaces across the site in order to promote the multi-functionality of these spaces through 
the retention and subsequent widening of the corridor in these locations. Therefore, subject to 
matters of building design (including layout and external appearance) and landscaping, the 
site is capable of accommodating the number and density of houses proposed without 
unacceptably harming the character, function and appearance of the Greenspace Corridor. 
 
Housing: 
 
Criterion (a) of UDP policy H/3 states that proposals for housing on unallocated sites will be 
permitted where the site is located on previously developed land. Annex 2 of the NPPF 
defines ‘previously developed land’ as: 
 

� “Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the 
developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage 
should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: 
land that is or has been occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has 
been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill purposes where 
provision for restoration has been made through development control procedures; land 
in built-up areas such as private residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and 
allotments; and land that was previously-developed but where the remains of the 
permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape in the 
process of time.” 

Page 37



 
The site includes areas of cleared ground resulting from previous demolitions (most notably 
the former Dale House and Rex Mill sites to the west) and hardstandings to the side of the 
Hexpol building and rear of 531-555 Oldham Road which, having not yet “blended into the 
landscape in the process of time”, are considered to constitute previously developed land for 
the purposes of the definition in the NPPF. The remaining areas of the site comprise a 
combination of open space and woodland which are not previously developed. The balance of 
these areas results in approximately 52 per cent of the site constituting previously developed 
(brownfield) land and 48 per cent being greenfield. 
 
UDP policy H/3 states that the release of greenfield sites for housing will only be permitted if 
the supply of housing land falls below five years as defined by the projected annualised rate 
(i.e. the annual target for additional new homes).  
 
Having specific regard to residential developments, paragraph 47 of the NPPF requires Local 
Planning Authorities to “boost significantly the supply of housing” in order to “provide five years 
worth of housing against their housing requirements with an additional buffer of 5% (moved 
forward from later in the plan period) to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. 
Where there has been a record of persistent under delivery of housing against previous plan 
targets set out in the then Regional Spatial Strategy for the North est (RSS), local planning 
authorities should increase the buffer to 20% (moved forward from later in the plan period) to 
provide a realistic prospect of achieving the planned supply and to ensure choice and 
competition in the market for land”. Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that: “housing 
applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date 
if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing 
sites”. 
 
At present, the Council is unable to demonstrate a five year supply of housing land (even 
without the 5 or 20 per cent buffer). Resultantly, the release of several windfall sites on 
greenfield land has been permitted. The deficiencies in the Council’s housing land supply have 
been highlighted in a number of recent appeal decisions from the Planning Inspectorate. In 
allowing an appeal on an area of Protected Open Land at Keswick Street, Castleton (ref 
APP/P4225/A/11/2158074) the Inspector concludes, at paragraphs 21 and 23 of their 
decision, that: 
 

� I consider that it would be appropriate to apportion the completions over the remainder 
of the RSS period. This would equate to a 5 year requirement of about 2750 dwellings 
or 550 dwellings per annum. On this basis there would be a housing supply of about 4 
years. The Council’s Core Strategy, which proposes a requirement of a minimum of 
400 dwellings per annum but over a longer period (up to 2026), is currently being 
examined. However, notwithstanding the revocation proposals within the Localism Act, 
I give the RSS greater weight as it still forms part of the development plan (and these 
are the most up to date figures upon which the Inspector able to base his assessment). 

� I conclude that the contribution that the development would make to housing supply 
should be given some weight. The proposal would contribute to the supply of 
deliverable sites. As the supply of housing has fallen below 5 years, the final part of 
Policy H/3 of the UDP comes into play. The Council indicated that the APOL 
designation means that the site is not suitable as a greenfield site. However, the policy 
does not distinguish between the types of greenfield site. Moreover, it would appear 
that there are very few greenfield sites beyond the Green Belt that are not protected by 
an APOL designation. 

 
In allowing an appeal for residential development on a greenfield site at Ramsden Farm 
(reference APP/P4225/A/11/2160323), and with specific reference to housing completions in 
Rochdale and the target in the NPPF, the Inspector indicated that: 

Page 38



� “Over the period 2003/4 to 2010/11 actual completions fell well below the Regional 
Strategy annual requirement even when this had not been adjusted upwards to allow 
for previous shortfalls. While there is no doubt that this is in part a reflection of the 
weak state of the economy it still amounts to a persistent under delivery of housing. 
Under such circumstances the Framework indicates that the Council should be able to 
demonstrate a five year supply plus an additional buffer of 20%. On the basis of the 
available evidence it is not safe to conclude that the Council can demonstrate a five 
year supply of deliverable housing sites let alone a five year supply plus a 20% buffer. 
UDP Policy H/3 advises that under such circumstances, the release of greenfield sites 
such as the appeal site can be contemplated.” 

 
In allowing appeals relating to development on greenfield sites at Trub Farm (ref 
APP/P4225/A/12/2185947 – paragraph 28) and Broad Lane (ref APP/P4225/A/12/2184755 – 
paragraphs 22, 28 and 30), Inspectors have concluded as follows:  

� The Council acknowledges that it is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing 
land. The proposed development would assist in meeting an identified need for market 
and affordable housing in the area. In accordance with the Framework this weighs 
substantially in favour of the proposal. 

� It seems to me that the relevant saved policies of the UDP, including both D/10 and 
H/3, which seeks to prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five 
year land supply, have been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on 
delivery of housing, and are therefore effectively out-of-date. 

� The proposition that a 20% buffer is warranted in Rochdale at present and that the land 
supply is perhaps as low as around 3 years, but around 3.66 years if the accrued 
shortfall is spread over the balance of the RSS period to 2021, was clearly not 
challenged by the Council at the Inquiry and it accepts in any event, that it cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply. 

� Given that it is common ground between the Council and the appellants that the five 
year supply requirement is not currently met, and the development plan is manifestly 
out-of-date in terms of housing land, paragraph 14 of the Framework is undoubtedly 
engaged. 

 
Having regard to a number of recent appeal decisions, the lack of a 5 year housing land 
supply within the borough and the provisions of UDP policy H/3 and the NPPF, reasons for 
refusal which, in effect, seek to place a moratorium on the residential development of 
greenfield sites will not be sustainable where no other demonstrable harm or conflict with other 
local or national planning policies exists. Given the government’s desire to provide a more 
flexible supply of housing land (as indicated in the NPPF), it is considered that it would not be 
sustainable to refuse this application on the grounds that the principle of residential 
development on this greenfield site is unacceptable. The development would make a valuable 
contribution to the supply of housing in the borough in a sustainable location in accordance 
with the objectives of the NPPF. 
 
In addition to the above, criteria (b), (c) and (e) of UDP policy H/3 state that proposals for 
housing development on sites not allocated for housing or any other use in the plan will be 
permitted providing that: 

� The site is well located in terms of access to jobs, shops and services by modes of 
transport other than the car. 

� The development provides a mix of dwellings in terms of type and size; 

� The proposed development is compatible with surrounding uses, including highways, 
both in terms of its impact upon these uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon 
the amenity of future residents. 

 
These principles are embedded within the concept of sustainable development which 
underpins the NPPF and, in particular, chapter 6 which relates to housing.  

Page 39



 
The site occupies a prominent location within the Defined Urban Area between areas of 
mature housing and industry. Given its relationship with the A669 and its proximity to public 
transport links (including Mills Hill Railway Station), the site and surrounding amenities 
(including those locally available along Oldham Road and a short distance away in Middleton 
Town Centre) are readily accessible by modes of transport other than private car in 
accordance with policy H/3 (b). Whilst the current housing mix proposed (2, 3 and 4 bed 
dwellings organised as terraces, semi-detached and detached) is for indicative purposes only, 
the site is capable of accommodating a range of housing with respect to the size and type of 
living accommodation provided in accordance with criterion (c) of policy H/3 and the aspiration 
for mixed communities in the NPPF. Surrounding land uses include a mix of housing and 
industry. The proposed residential development would be compatible with this mix of uses in 
accordance with H/3 (e). Specific impacts on surrounding occupiers are assessed in more 
detail later in the report. 
 
Core Strategy: 
 
The Council’s Core Strategy was submitted to the Secretary of State on 31st May 2013 and the 
hearing sessions of the Examination in Public took place in October 2013.  Following 
consideration of all the evidence submitted, the Inspector has requested that the Council 
undertake additional work to provide the Inspector with the appropriate basis to assess the 
'soundness' of the Core Strategy. In order to undertake this work the Council sought a 
suspension of the examination in order to carry out an update of its Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment. This update was specifically requested by the Inspector and related specifically 
to evidence of objectively assessed housing need.  A further Examination in Public hearing 
took place in June 2015. 
 
Therefore, whilst the UDP remains the Council’s adopted local plan, weight should be 
attached to the contents of the Core Strategy as a material consideration. 
 
The application site (referred to as “British Vita”) is identified as a strategic site for 
redevelopment within the Submission Core Strategy as follows: 

� Policy SP3/M identifies “developing a comprehensive approach to vacant and 
underused land around British Vita” as a priority for improvements in east Middleton. 

� Policy E3 indicates that the Councils will promote the development of “land around 
British Vita on Oldham Road - potential for mixed use development”. 

� Policy C2 states that the Council “will focus regeneration and the delivery of new 
homes in East Middleton [including the development of] a comprehensive approach to 
the land around British Vita including new housing and employment development 
which should also deliver improvements to open space and the river corridor”. 

� Policy G6 refers to the Irk Valley “where the focus will be on taking opportunities to use 
the Irk corridor as a key feature to support regeneration in East Middleton”. 

 
Highways 
 
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that all developments that generate significant amounts of 
movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment. Planning 
decisions should take account of whether: 

� the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending on 
the nature and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport infrastructure; 

� safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and 

� improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit 
the significant impacts of the development. Development should only be prevented or 
refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development 
are severe. 

 

Page 40



UDP policy A/11 states that the submission of Transport Assessments will be required 
alongside planning applications where: 

� The development has the potential to lead to a material increase in the volume of road 
traffic or increased impact because of the type of traffic, and it is necessary to 
determine whether highway works or other measures are necessary; and 

� The development is major, and thus may involve a number of individual elements or 
uses which involve major generators of travel demand, and it is appropriate to illustrate 
accessibility to the site by all modes and the likely model split of journeys to and from 
the site. 

 
The policy indicates that “the scope and detail of Transport Assessments should reflect the 
size of a development and the extent of the transport implications. Where (b) above applies, 
the assessment should illustrate what highway works and other transport measures are 
necessary to improve access, manage parking demand, address the impact of the 
development on air and noise pollution levels, and improve accessibility by walking, cycling 
and public transport. Any necessary measures identified in the Transport Assessment must 
support and complement the Local Transport Strategy set out in the Local Transport Plan.” 
 
A Transport Assessment (TA) has been submitted with the application in order to appraise 
anticipated highway and transport effects of the proposed development. In broad terms, the 
TA includes the following: 

� Traffic surveys including an assessment of traffic flows at 11 nearby junctions during 
weekday peak AM (07:00-09:00) and peak PM (15:00-18:00) periods which identified 
maximum peak hour demand periods between 08:00 – 09:00 and 17:00 – 18:00; 

� A review of the existing highway network in the vicinity of the site, including 
carriageway dimensions, speed limits, street lighting and a review of accident data 
between October 2007 and September 2012. 

� A review of existing public transport in the vicinity of the site, including walking, cycling, 
bus and rail links; 

� Review of recommendations following an independent Road Safety Audit to inform 
access arrangements to/from the site from Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane; 

� An assessment of the effects arising from the introduction of a new spine road through 
the site to link Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane; 

� An assessment of existing parking capacity in the locality and any mitigation measures 
required as part of the development; 

� An assessment of trip generation and traffic growth likely to occur as a result of the 
development including establishing a present baseline and future modelling to 
establish the capacity of surrounding junctions. 
 

Access: 
 
UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that: 

a) Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and suitable 
for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; and 

b) Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided. 

 
In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be compatible with surrounding 
uses, including highways, both in terms of [their] impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires proposals to 
facilitate safe and convenient access and circulation. 
 

Page 41



Two points of access are proposed into the site from Oldham Road (at the approximate 
position of the gated site access into Hexpol to the west side of no. 531 Oldham Road) and 
Hilton Fold Lane (the former Dale House access between Kingdom Hall and A & G Fencing). 
The design of these junctions is illustrated in Figures 3 and 4 respectively. Various physical 
alterations to the highway are proposed in order to facilitate safe and convenient access 
to/from the site as follows: 
 
In respect of the junction with Oldham Road (as shown in Figure 3): 

� Provision of a dedicated right hand turning lane into the site from Oldham Road 
including the formation of a ‘ghost island’ approach up to the junction; 

� Provision of a pedestrian (puffin) crossing over Oldham Road and a pedestrian refuge 
to the centre of the site access with dropped crossings and tactile paving to either side 
of the junction; 

� Introduction of waiting restrictions along the northern and southern frontages of 
Oldham Road outside nos. 472-506 (southern frontage) and nos. 531-545 (northern 
frontage) and around the junction of the site access with Oldham Road; 

� Provision of a new bus stop and shelter to the northern frontage of Oldham Road near 
the junction with Don Street; 

� Provision of a 2.4m x 90m visibility splay at the junction of the site access with Oldham 
Road; 

� Provision of an access road into the site with a carriageway width of 7.3 metres, 2 
metre wide footways to both sides and a 10 metre kerb radius at its junction with 
Oldham Road; 

� Various ground markings to facilitate the above. 
 
In respect of the junction with Hilton Fold Lane (as shown in Figure 4): 

� Provision of three dedicated right hand turning lanes – one into the site from Hilton 
Fold Lane and two from Hilton Fold Lane into Cromer Industrial Estate including the 
formation of a continuous ‘ghost island’ approach up to the junctions; 

� Provision of a 2.4m x 59m visibility splay at the junction of the site access with Hilton 
Fold Lane; 

� Provision of an access road into the site with a carriageway width of 7.3 metres, a 2 
metre wide footway along the northern frontage and a 3 metre wide footway along the 
southern frontage and a 10 metre kerb radius at its junction with Hilton Fold Lane; 

� Various ground markings to facilitate the above. 
 

It is also proposed to close the northernmost section of Don Street (beyond the site access 
into British Vita and Hexpol) by means of collapsible bollards in two locations running across 
the route. This section of Don Street would remain open for access by pedestrians/cyclists, 
with the only vehicle access permitted to be for the emergency services. 
 

Page 42



 
Figure 3 – site access at junction with Oldham Road (drawing no. TA13). 

 

 
Figure 4 – Site access at junction with Hilton Fold Lane (drawing no. TA15). 

 
The proposed access arrangements to the site have been devised following detailed capacity 
testing accounting for both existing (baseline) conditions and future traffic growth up to 2023 
(including capacity requirements arising as a result of the use of the link road as a relief route). 
The design of the Oldham Road junction has also been informed by an independent Stage 1 
Road Safety Audit. The TA concludes that: 
 

� “Detailed capacity testing has demonstrated that the proposed ghost island layout to 
serve the new development would provide sufficient operating capacity to 

Page 43



accommodate future year traffic flow demands associated with both the A669 Oldham 
Road and ultimately delivery of a through spine road connection to Hilton Fold Lane” 
(paragraph 8.13). 

 
The siting, layout and design of the proposed access points into the site (including all 
associated physical mitigation measures proposed) would facilitate safe and convenient 
access for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them, including 
provision for emergency service vehicles. The proposed development is therefore in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policy A/9 and the NPPF. 
 
Traffic generation, network capacity and link road: 
 
UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not: 

a) Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users; 
b) Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 

restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development; 

c) Substantially increase congestion; 
d) Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or 
e) Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 

traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network. 
 
The policy states that where additional traffic movements directly generated by a development 
proposal would adversely affect the existing highway infrastructure, the developer will be 
required to fund works to leave the highway network in a no worse state. The works required 
by the Council could be any or all of the following: 

� Improvements to the existing highway infrastructure; 

� Improvements to public transport and related infrastructure; 

� Measures to secure modal shift away from vehicular traffic to walking and cycling; 

� Other traffic management measures; and/or 

� The removal or restriction of car parking provision. 
 
The TA includes an investigation of existing traffic flows and junction capacity issues in the 
vicinity of the site. This has been established through traffic surveys in 2012/13 to establish 
maximum baseline traffic conditions along the A669 corridor during peak periods in the 
morning (08:00-09:00) and evening (17:00-18:00), and modelling of future traffic flows up to 
2023. This investigation identifies the following circumstances: 
 
Existing conditions: 
 

� Maximum baseline traffic conditions on the A669 close to the proposal site frontage 
take place during the PM peak period, when a two way flow demand of 1077 vehicles 
per hour has been recorded. Typically HGV / Bus composition of hourly traffic demand 
on the mainline is of the order of 3-6% of total observed flow (paragraph 8.5); 

� An appraisal of highway safety records for the immediate local network (a search area 
including the stretch of Oldham Road between its junctions with Temple Street and 
Haigh Road) covering the period between October 2007 to September 2012 indicates 
that three accident incidents have been recorded along the site’s frontage with Oldham 
Road (between Soudan Street and the private service vehicle access to Hexpol). 
These incidents do not demonstrate any common causation factors or identify any 
significant accident risk associated with traffic movements to / from side road access 
points to the A669 (paragraph 8.7); 

Page 44



� It is recognised that some elements of the wider highway network, particularly space 
constrained junction locations to the west (A669 Oldham Rd / Hilton Fold Lane and 
A669 Oldham Road / Grimshaw Lane / Townley Street), already experience a level of 
congestion during traditional rush hour demand periods. It is not considered that 
options exist to materially improve the operation of these junction nodes without the 
requirement for third party land purchase and /or property demolition (paragraph 8.6); 

� An assessment of existing 2013 Baseline network operating conditions suggests that 
elements of the immediate local highway network are already showing signs of 
approaching practical operating capacity. Modelling identifies that the A669 Oldham 
Road / Hilton Fold Lane junction is close to capacity, particularly during the AM peak 
period and, accordingly, can be prone to congestion / queuing during peak demand 
periods. In addition, the A669 Oldham Road / B6189 Grimshaw Lane / Townley Street 
junction to the west of the Oldham Road corridor is also predicted as likely to be 
operating close to capacity at peak times, with some congestion / queuing. However, 
the A669 Oldham Road / B6195 Haigh Lane junction is predicted to offer a reasonable 
level of practical reserve capacity up to 2023 (paragraphs 8.24, 8.25 and 8.26); 

 
Future conditions: 
 

� The predicted future travel demand associated with the scheme has been estimated 
via reference to multi-modal trip rates and demand profiles as identified from the 
TRICS traffic generation database and 2001 census travel to work data for local wards 
to the proposal site. When applied to the maximum housing number proposed, the 
calculated trip demand rates suggest hourly traffic demand levels in the order of up to 
188 vehicles (in + out), during network peak demand periods – assuming average trip 
rate demand conditions. For worst case traffic demand levels, the residential scheme is 
not predicted to generate in excess of 220 vehicles per hour (AM peak period 08:00-
09:00) - or in the order of less than 3.5 development related vehicle movements per 
minute (paragraph 8.19); 

� Even on the most immediate routes to the proposal site, development related traffic 
volumes are unlikely to be much in excess of 90 two-way vehicle movements per hour 
(or in the order of just 1.5 vehicle movements per minute). Such traffic levels are 
unlikely to result in a material change in local operating conditions, and would likely fall 
within expected daily variations on local distributor road links carrying in excess of 
1000 vehicle movements per hour, such as sections of the A669 Oldham Road. It is 
not considered that such traffic levels are likely to result in residual local network 
operational impacts that could be considered to be ‘severe’ in nature (paragraph 8.22); 

� Without the development taking place, testing of network operation under baseline 
traffic demand (including for background traffic growth and the effect of local committed 
developments) suggests that by 2023, overcapacity conditions could be expected to be 
experienced on the A669 Oldham Road corridor to the west of the site at the junctions 
with Hilton Fold Lane and Townley Street / Grimshaw Lane. The delivery of any 
meaningful improvements at the A669 Oldham Road / Hilton Fold Lane and A669 
Oldham Road / B6189 Grimshaw Lane / Townley Street junctions would prove difficult 
to deliver in practice due to land constraints. Levels of future traffic generated by the 
development are anticipated to be less than anticipated daily variations in Baseline 
flow (10%) and in the order of just 1 - 1.5 additional vehicle movements per minute 
(two-way). Therefore, the additional impact of the development on these junctions 
would be limited and anticipated traffic levels would not result in a discernible change 
when compared to baseline network conditions (paragraphs 8.27 and 8.33). 

 
Impact of the link road: 
 

� The provision of a spine road connection between A669 Oldham Road and Hilton Fold 
Lane would provide local traffic relief benefits on key immediate sections of the local 
highway network. Indeed, even when taking into account traffic demand associated 

Page 45



with the scheme (in addition to traffic growth arising without the development) local 
western sections of the A669 Oldham Road could still be expected to experience a 
reduction in future traffic demand of circa 7% - 14% during peak demand periods, with 
an even greater level of traffic reduction (circa 20% during peak periods) anticipated to 
occur on the existing cramped / congested section of Hilton Fold Lane immediately to 
the north of the traffic signal junction connection to A669 Oldham Road (paragraph 
8.30); 

� The operational effects of the completion of the link road would be improvements in 
performance at the A669 Oldham Road / Hilton Fold Lane junction and local side road 
connection points to the A669 between Hilton Fold Lane and the proposed new site 
access. These improvements would effectively mitigate the traffic impacts of the 
development and result in predicted network operation conditions better than those 
anticipated under the existing baseline scenarios (where the development not to be 
brought forward) (paragraph 8.31); 

� The proposed junction connections with the existing public highway network and the 
proposed spine road link have also been demonstrated as being capable of providing 
sufficient operating capacity to cater for local traffic re-assignment, even when 
considering worst case traffic demand scenarios (paragraph 8.32). 

 
 
 
Access to other transport modes: 
 

� The site is located in an area which is readily accessible by modes of transport other 
than private car. The site is located in short walking/cycling distance of a range local 
facilities such as employment, shopping and education opportunities. Existing public 
transport connections including local bus stops which provide access to up to 14 buses 
per hour to Middleton Town Centre (with regular connections to strategic commuter 
destinations such as Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale and Ashton Under Lyne). The 
site is also located approximately 400m to the west of Mills Hill rail station, which 
provides services to Manchester Victoria and Rochdale at a 30 minute headway during 
Monday to Saturday daytimes - with opportunities for additional connections to Bolton, 
Wigan, and Leeds (paragraph 8.9); 

 
The Council’s Highways Service accept the conclusions of the TA, including present over 
capacity issues with existing junctions (particularly that between Oldham Road and Hilton Fold 
Lane) and the worsening of this situation in the future in the absence of any mitigation 
measures. In this regard, it is considered that the potential for re-assignment of through traffic 
along the link road and this route’s function as a relief road would bring substantial benefits in 
terms of alleviating existing and future network capacity and congestion issues both adjacent 
to and further away from the site. 
 
It is inevitable that the construction of the link road can only take place as part of the 
implementation of the housing development across the site. A phasing condition is 
recommended to safeguard the Council’s position on this matter and to ensure that the link 
road is delivered at an appropriate point in time which will be concurrent with (or prior to) a 
specific phase of housing. Whilst some housing will need to be constructed (and occupied) 
prior to completion of the link road in order to make the delivery of this infrastructure feasible, 
there is an expectation for a phased delivery of the link road as the scheme progresses, and 
for its completion at an appropriate trigger point midway through the development (i.e. 
following an initial phase of housing but before completion of the latter phases). It is also noted 
that the completion of the link road will involve the use of Council and third party land and, 
accordingly, will be the subject of further negotiation. Funding opportunities to support the 
early completion of this link road will be explored. 
 

Page 46



The site occupies a sustainable location which is readily accessible by modes of transport 
other than private car, and further benefits would arise in this regard through the provision of a 
new bus stop on Oldham Road as part of the development. 
 
The TA satisfactorily demonstrates that the proposed development, both in terms of the 
additional traffic generated by it and the proposed access arrangements to the site, would not 
be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the highway network. Moreover, the 
scheme would deliver significant improvements to existing highway infrastructure which would, 
in the longer term, have a positive impact on the surrounding highway network by increasing 
its capacity and relieving congestion. The proposal is therefore in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policy A/8 and the NPPF. 
 
Parking: 
 
UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 [housing] 
developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of over the plan 
period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling”. The policy states that, where the 
Council requires controls on parking issues, it will impose planning conditions or seek 
obligations to ensure that these are implemented. 
 
The indicative masterplan suggests that off-road, in-curtilage car parking provision will be 
made for the dwellings in accordance with the maximum standard outlined in Appendix C of 
the UDP. This will, however, only become apparent at reserved matters stage when layout is 
applied for. Nevertheless, the masterplan demonstrates that satisfactory parking provision can 
be made for the dwellings in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy A/10. 
 
The new site access from Oldham Road would require the introduction of some supporting 
parking controls on Oldham Road associated with the provision of a right hand turn lane, ghost 
island approach and ‘zig-zag’ markings for the pedestrian crossing. This would result in the 
loss of some on-street parking along the frontage of a stretch of Oldham Road (as shown in 
figure 3).  
 
The TA includes details of a parking survey undertaken in the locality with respect to existing 
on-street parking demand on Oldham Road and surrounding side streets. These parking 
surveys were undertaken in June 2012 at 15 minute intervals on three separate days 
(Tuesday, Wednesday and Saturday) during both peak morning and evening periods 
(including school drop-off and pick-up times), and included the following locations: 
 

� A669 Oldham Road between the Tesco Local store to the east and Mills Hill station to 
the west; 

� Baytree Lane from A669 Oldham Road to Cheviot Close; 

� Full length of Ash Street; 

� Elm Street from A669 Oldham Road to pedestrian access to Ash Street; 

� Don Street from A669 Oldham Road to British Vita access. 
 
The parking surveys identified the loss of up to 15 on-street car parking spaces along the 
southern frontage of Oldham Road and 12 spaces to its northern frontage (taking into account 
the presence of private driveways providing in-curtilage parking). Whilst the TA indicates that 
any displacement arising from the loss of on-street parking on Oldham Road is capable of 
being accommodated on Baytree Lane and Ash Street, it is recognised that such an 
unmanaged scenario could lead to local parking conflicts on surrounding side streets. In order 

Page 47



to avoid such conflicts and to mitigate the loss of on-street parking on Oldham Road, it is 
proposed to provide three new off-street public parking areas as follows: 
 

1. Old Cock Inn PH – A new residents parking area on land to the rear of the Old Cock 
Inn public house (vehicle access off Damson Green), providing up to 26 car parking 
spaces. It is anticipated that this area would operate as a secure car parking area with 
designated spaces for those properties on the immediate sections of A669 Oldham 
Road that have effectively lost the opportunity for on-street parking to their property 
frontage. 

2. Side and rear of 553 - 555 Oldham Road – public parking for 8-10 vehicles served 
via a new vehicle connection from the estate road.  

3. Side and rear of 581 - 583 Oldham Road – public parking for up to 6 vehicles served 
via new vehicle connection from the estate road. 

 
These new parking areas would provide up to 42 new off-street car parking spaces for existing 
residents which would more than offset the maximum on-street parking levels observed during 
the survey and would ensure that there is no net loss of existing local parking opportunities. 
 
Therefore, satisfactory mitigation would be provided as part of the development in order to 
ensure that the scheme would not give rise to unsustainable parking demand in the locality as 
a result of displacement of on-street parking on Oldham Road. A condition has been imposed 
to ensure that these compensatory parking spaces are delivered at an appropriate time in 
conjunction with the phased delivery of the scheme, and that these are safeguarded for those 
residents most likely affected and displaced by the highway works proposed within Oldham 
Road. 
 
Impact on existing public rights of way: 
 
A number of Public Rights of Way (PROW) run through the land and provide linkages with 
other routes outside the site. These include recreational rights of way and public footpaths, the 
positions of which are shown in Figure 5. 
 
UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that: 

a) Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed; 

b) Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations; 

c) Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and 
d) Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists. 

 
UDP policy RE/6 stipulates that: 

� The Council will develop, in partnership with other agencies, bodies, occupiers and 
landowners, a system of strategic recreational rights of way as identified on the 
Proposals Map. The intention will be to secure the protection, development and 
improvement of these routes to link areas of managed and accessible countryside and 
establish links with routes in the wider region. The Council will encourage and 
implement high quality links with such routes from urban areas. 

� Where appropriate and practicable, the Council will support schemes which facilitate 
the greater use of these routes by cyclists, horseriders and those people with impaired 
mobility. Where opportunities and resources permit, the Council will support and 
implement enhancement schemes such as waymarking, picnic, interpretation and 
other facilities along the routes. 

� In the implementation of this proposal, the Council will take account of the conservation 
of the countryside including the buildings within it, the protection of agricultural 

Page 48



interests, areas of nature conservation importance (including designated areas) and 
the character and purpose of the route where appropriate. 

 
UDP policy A/4 indicates that development proposals will be permitted where the design and 
layout of development schemes facilitate safe and convenient access for cyclists. Relative to 
the scale, type and location of the development, criteria (b – e) of the policy state that 
proposals should ensure: 

� Off-road routes are safe, convenient, highly visible from surrounding land and 
buildings, well lit and signed as appropriate; 

� The access infrastructure within new developments gives priority to the establishment 
of convenient routes for cyclists, unless essential motor vehicle access would be 
compromised by the lack of other suitable and safe alternatives; 

� Cycle access points are located to provide direct and convenient links with adjoining 
uses, the wider cycle network and identified potential off-site cycle routes; 

� Cycle routes intended or likely to be shared by pedestrians are designed to ensure 
safety and compatibility. 

 
UDP policy A/13 stipulates that PROW and other pedestrian routes identified in the Council's 
'Local Walking Route Network' will be protected where they fall within sites proposed for 
development, subject to consideration of opportunities for local re-routing where this would 
improve convenience and safety for pedestrians. Improvements to the walking environment 
and the provision of new links will be a priority on the Local Walking Route Network and such 
improvements should address safety, convenience, attractiveness, comfort and accessibility 
for disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. 
 

 
Figure 5 – Existing public rights of way. 

 
The proposed development would require the alteration and/or diversion of several rights of 
way running through the site. In particular, vehicle access along the routes running through the 
northern end of Don Street (MidRupp49A) and between nos. 553-555 Oldham Road towards 
Scowcroft Farm (MidRUpp51) would be restricted as part of the development. In respect of the 
latter, it is also likely that the alignment of this route would need to be diverted in order to 
follow a new estate road linking with MidRupp50 leading up to Scowcroft Farm further to the 
northeast. The indicative masterplan would also require a diversion of MidFp49 to the 
northwest corner of the site and MidFp53 where it currently crosses the River Irk. All other 
PROW would be retained as they presently exist. 
 

Page 49



Whilst it cannot be established definitively how existing PROW will be affected until an 
application for reserved matters seeking approval of layout is submitted, the indicative scheme 
does not indicate the loss of existing PROW. Instead, existing routes would be diverted, 
supplemented or alternative access created. This includes the maintenance of access (albeit 
by an alternative route) up to (and beyond) Scowcroft Farm. 
 
The proposed development would not prejudice the use of existing PROW, would make 
alternative provision for vehicle access to these routes where required and would offer 
enhanced opportunities for cyclists and pedestrians via the provision of new routes through 
the site (having particular regard to the corridor of the River Irk). The development is also 
capable of affording greater natural surveillance and lighting of existing routes through the 
layout and orientation of dwellings and estate roads. Therefore, the proposal would not conflict 
with the objectives of UDP policies A/3, A/4 and A/13. 
 
Ecological Implications 
 
The location of designated nature conservation sites within a 1 kilometre radius of the 
development is identified in Figure 6. Whilst none of these fall within the boundaries of the 
development site, the Rochdale Canal Special Area of Conservation/Site of Special Scientific 
Interest and the River Irk Marsh Site of Biological Importance are located in relatively close 
proximity (within 150 metres) to the northeast and east. 
 
Whilst the site does not support any designated nature conservation sites, areas of deciduous 
woodland identified as priority habitat in the Greater Manchester Biodiversity Action Plan (as 
listed in Section 41 of the Natural Environmental and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006) 
fall in/around the site as highlighted in Figure 7. 
 

 

Page 50



Figure 6 – Designated nature conservation sites  
 

 
Figure 7 – Habitat designations - Deciduous woodland BAP Priority Habitat. 

 
 
The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by: 

� minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where 
possible, contributing to the Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in 
biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more 
resilient to current and future pressures. 

 
Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following 
(relevant) principles: 

� if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on 
an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused; 

� proposed development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest 
likely to have an adverse effect on a Site of Special Scientific Interest (either 
individually or in combination with other developments) should not normally be 
permitted. Where an adverse effect on the site’s notified special interest features is 
likely, an exception should only be made where the benefits of the development, at this 
site, clearly outweigh both the impacts that it is likely to have on the features of the site 
that make it of special scientific interest and any broader impacts on the national 
network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest; 

� opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged. 

 
UDP policy NE/2 stipulates that development proposals adversely affecting sites and areas of 
ecological and geological/geomorphological importance will not be permitted (the Council 
seeking to protect and enhance them). In assessing proposals, the Council will apply national 
planning policy as it relates to international (e.g. Special Areas of Conservation – SAC), 
national (e.g. Sites of Special Scientific Interest – SSSI) and regional/local (e.g. Sites of 
Biological Importance – SBIs) designations in order to ensure that development does not 
adversely affect the integrity and fundamental nature conservation value of these sites, and 
that appropriate mitigation and safeguarding is put in place. 
 

Page 51



UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas where the designations in policy NE/2 are not 
applicable, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats of 
ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should seek 
to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would place an 
unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory features or 
habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type of 
development permitted may be required. Developments which establish new landscaping and 
open spaces that contribute to nature conservation and local biodiversity will be supported and 
encouraged, especially where this will: 

� Help to address local habitat deficiencies or the needs of species and habitats of 
conservation concern; 

� Help to provide accessible, high quality natural greenspace in urban areas; or 

� Create or extend wildlife corridors both within the urban area and connecting the urban 
areas with the wider countryside around towns 

 
UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that: 

� There is no adverse impact on the species concerned; 

� Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 
required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and 

� Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation. 

 
UDP policy NE/8 (a – d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands 
should ensure: 

� Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows; 

� That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered; 

� Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction; 

� The nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 
safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species. 

 
The application is accompanied by an ecology survey which establishes the value of existing 
habitats and incidence of protected species on the site, assesses the development’s impact on 
these habitats (including any impact on designated nature conservation sites nearby) and 
recommends a programme of mitigation measures accordingly. 
 
Habitats: 
 
As indicated in Figure 6, the land does not form part of any designated site of nature 
conservation value – the closest of these comprising the Rochdale Canal SAC/SSSI to the 
northeast of the site and three SBIs within a 1 kilometre radius (Scowcroft Reservoir, River Irk 
Marsh and Higher Boarshaw Clough). Natural England and GMEU have been consulted on 
the application and both have indicated that the development should have no adverse impact 
on the fundamental nature conservation value of these designated sites (though protection 
measures alongside the River Irk are recommended by GMEU in respect of the River Irk 
Marsh SBI). Accordingly, these designated sites should not represent a constraint in the 
determination of the application. 
 

Page 52



The site does, however, support areas of deciduous woodland identified as priority habitat in 
the Greater Manchester Biodiversity Action Plan (as listed in Section 41 of the Natural 
Environmental and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006). It is, nonetheless, noted that these 
areas are designated for employment development on the UDP Proposals Map. 
 
The ecology survey identifies 12 habitat categories within the site, noting that “the site is 
dominated in the south by hardstanding and buildings with the north consisting of broad-
leaved woodland, marshy grassland and species-poor modified neutral grassland”. The value 
of each habitat type is assessed with regard to the flora and fauna which it either presently or 
has the potential to support. The areas of greatest value within the site are considered to be 
the marsh/marshy grassland, semi-natural broad-leaved woodland and plantation broad-
leaved woodland along the northern bank of the River Irk and towards the eastern end of the 
site (in accordance with the priority habitats shown in Figure 7) as these provide potential 
foraging, refuse and commuting habitat for bats and birds. Woodland and water bodies lying 
outside the site (principally Scowcroft Woods and the area of woodland and pond alongside 
the western bank of the nearby railway line) are also of importance. 
 
Protected species: 
 
The ecology survey includes an assessment of protected species on the site, taking account 
of both any existing (recorded) incidences of protected species and the ability of habitats to 
support them. The survey concludes, in respect of each species considered, as follows: 

� Amphibians – two ponds (one outside the site to the southeast corner and one within 
the site to the northwest corner) were assessed as having potential for great crested 
newts (the third mill pond being discounted due to the steepness of its banks). Four 
visits to these ponds and evening surveys did not detect the presence of great crested 
newts and there are no historical records of great crested newts either on or within a 1 
kilometre radius of the site. 

� Badgers – no evidence within or adjacent to the site and no records within 1 kilometre 
of the site. 

� Bats – buildings on the site have low roosting potential due to the lack of internal loft 
voids, lining and sealed external facades. Trees do not have potential for roosting bats 
due to either their limited size or lack of cracks/cavities. No evidence of roosting bats 
was detected during the survey and there are no recorded roosts on the site. 

� Birds – areas of woodland and scrub within the site provide suitable habitat for foraging 
and nesting birds. Records of wren, bluetit, woodpigeon, chiff chaff, crow, blackbird, 
robin, great tit and Canada goose exist on the site. None of these species are UKBAP, 
red listed, amber listed or schedule 1 protected species. 

� Reptiles – areas of wet grassland and woodland offer potential sheltering habitat for 
reptiles and hardstanding areas provide potential for reptiles to bask. However, these 
areas are isolated from the wider landscape and there are no historical records of 
reptiles within 1 kilometre of the site. 

� Water vole and otter – no sign within the site and no historical record of these species 
within 1 kilometre of the site. 
 

The report concludes that habitats on the site have the potential to support: 

� Foraging and commuting for bats; 

� Foraging and nesting sites for birds; 

� Foraging and winter refuge sites for amphibians; and 

� Sheltering and basking habitats for reptiles. 
 
The survey also identifies incidences of the protected plant species ‘native bluebell’ within the 
woodland adjacent to the pond which lies outside the site boundaries alongside the railway 
line and identifies five invasive plant species which would need to be eradicated before any 
development in these areas of the site could take place. 

Page 53



 
A number of mitigation measures are proposed in order to safeguard and/or compensate for 
the loss of foraging opportunities for bats and nesting opportunities for birds. With respect to 
amphibians and reptiles, the report concludes that physical barriers around the site (including 
nearby buildings, roads, the canal and railway line) limit the potential for connectivity between 
habitats on and outside the site and, given the lack of recorded species of this type on the site, 
there is a low risk of impacting on these species. 
 
Mitigation: 
 
The survey recommends a number of mitigation measures in order to limit the development’s 
ecological and provide biodiversity enhancements as follows: 

� The erection of protective fencing alongside the channel of the River Irk during 
construction and creation of SUDS to prevent debris and run-off entering the 
watercourse and to minimise the impact upon the Irk Marsh SBI and Rochdale Canal 
SSSI; 

� The eradication of all invasive plant species prior to any development taking place 
within these areas of the site; 

� Transplanting of any native bluebell to be impacted by the development within retained 
woodland areas; 

� All clearance of vegetation to be undertaken outside the bird nesting season (March to 
August inclusive) unless nesting birds are shown to be absent through appropriate 
survey work; 

� Landscaping works should provide linear corridors in order to promote connectivity 
across the site and new planting should comprise native species of local provenance. 
Planting beneath existing treelines has the potential to increase botanical interest and 
enhance foraging opportunities. 

� Incorporation of bat and bird nesting features as part of the development. 
 
Consultation responses: 
 
Natural England and GMEU have been consulted on the application. Neither organisation has 
raised any objections to the application on nature conservation grounds, though advice is 
issued indicating that any application for reserved matters should allow for a wider corridor of 
greenspace alongside the River Irk and the woodland corridor of Scowcroft Woods to the north 
than is presently shown on the indicative layout. A number of conditions have been suggested 
to ensure the safeguarding and future enhancement of habitats on the site. Where these 
issues will not be addressed through any future reserved matters application (e.g. at a stage 
where specific approval of landscaping is sought), appropriate conditions have been 
recommended in this regard. 
 
The proposed development would not adversely affect the fundamental nature conservation 
value of any designated site and appropriate mitigation/enhancements can be put in place 
(either as part of the development’s layout and landscaping at reserved matters or through the 
imposition of planning conditions) in order to ensure that the scheme would not have any 
unacceptable impact on habitats located within or surrounding the site. In addition, the 
proposal would not adversely affect the favourable conservation status of any protected 
species. The proposed development is therefore in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policies NE/2, NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8, and the NPPF. 
 
Flood Risk 
 
The site is dissected by the channel of the River Irk which follows a channel set in lower lying 
land within the valley. Parts of the site flanking the banks of this watercourse fall within flood 
zones 2 (land with between a 1 in 100 and 1 in 1000 or 1 – 0.1 % annual probability of river 
flooding) and 3 (land with a 1 in 100 year or 1% annual probability of river flooding) as defined 

Page 54



on the Environment Agency’s flood map. However, the overwhelming majority of the site lies 
within flood zone 1 (land with a less than 1 in 1,000 or <0.1% annual probability of river 
flooding). The proposed residential development falls in the category of “more vulnerable 
development” as defined in the Technical Guide to the NPPF. 
 
Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
[land within Flood Zones 2 and 3; or land within Flood Zone 1 which has critical drainage 
problems and which has been notified to the local planning authority by the Environment 
Agency] should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but 
where development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere”. 
 
Paragraph 101 of the NPPF refers to the sequential test for the location of development at risk 
of flooding as follows: 

� The aim of the Sequential Test is to steer new development to areas with the lowest 
probability of flooding. Development should not be allocated or permitted if there are 
reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed development in areas with a 
lower probability of flooding. A sequential approach should be used in areas known to 
be at risk from any form of flooding.  

 
Paragraph 102 of the NPPF indicates that: 

� If, following application of the Sequential Test, it is not possible, consistent with wider 
sustainability objectives, for the development to be located in zones with a lower 
probability of flooding, the Exception Test can be applied if appropriate. For the 
Exception Test to be passed:  

- it must be demonstrated that the development provides wider sustainability 
benefits to the community that outweigh flood risk, informed by a Strategic 
Flood Risk Assessment where one has been prepared; and  

- a site-specific flood risk assessment must demonstrate that the development 
will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of its users, without 
increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will reduce flood risk 
overall.  

Both elements of the test will have to be passed for development to be allocated or 
permitted. 

 
Paragraph 103 of the NPPF stipulates that “when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere and only consider 
development appropriate in areas at risk of flooding where, informed by a site-specific flood 
risk assessment following the sequential test, and if required the Exception Test, it can be 
demonstrated that: 

� within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk 
unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location; and 

� development is appropriately flood resilient and resistant, including safe access and 
escape routes where required, and that any residual risk can be safely managed, 
including by emergency planning; and it gives priority to the use of sustainable 
drainage systems. 

 
UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood 
plains, or other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an 
appropriate flood risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are met: 

� It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by 
reducing flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the 
additional discharge of surface water; 

� It will not itself be at risk from flooding; 

� Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used; 

� Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided; 

Page 55



� Existing or proposed flood defences are protected; 

� It would not result in extensive culverting; and 

� Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at the 
developer’s expense. 

 
A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted with the application. The FRA identifies 
that, whilst layout is not applied for at this stage, the indicative masterplan suggests that there 
would be no development of the site area outside flood zone 1. Therefore, the sequential and 
exception tests outlined in the NPPF would not be applicable. The site is also considered to be 
at a low risk from other sources including surface water, groundwater, sewers and other 
artificial sources (including the nearby canal). The FRA makes a number of recommendations 
in order to ensure that the development will not itself be at risk of flooding or increase flood 
risk elsewhere as part of any application for reserved matters. These include: 

� Setting finished floor levels at a suitable level above the 1 in 1000 year event; 

� The maintenance of an 8 metre buffer between the dwellings and the bank top of the 
River Irk; 

� The site appears to have a network of surface water sewers that discharge directly to 
the River Irk. Any surface water drainage strategy should adopt sustainable urban 
drainage principles to ensure that any potential increase in the rate and volume of 
surface water run-off is properly mitigated/attenuated in accordance with the 
requirements of the Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. 

 
Both United Utilities and the Environment Agency have been consulted on the application. 
Neither has raised any objection to the principle of development, though conditions have been 
recommended requiring: (1) submission of a scheme to regulate surface water run-off from the 
development in order that this does not exceed the current (greenfield) rate of surface water 
discharge from the site; (2) details of finished floor levels for each plot; and (3) a scheme 
showing how the existing northern tributary watercourse/culvert (including details of its precise 
route, size, depth and condition) will be incorporated into the development. 
 
Therefore, adequate measures can be put in place in order to ensure that the development 
poses no unacceptable risk in terms of flooding in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policy EM/7 and the NPPF. 
 
Relationship with Surrounding Uses 
 
UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents. 

 
Criterion (i) and (j) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by: 

� Ensuring adequate provision for natural light is made both within and between 
buildings. 

� Minimising their potential environmental impact, including noise, air and water 
pollution. 

 
Bullet points 1 and 2 to Paragraph 123 of the NPPF indicate that “planning policies and 
decisions should aim to: 

� avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life 
as a result of new development; 

� mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of life 
arising from noise from new development, including through the use of conditions.” 

 
Criterion (a) of UDP policy EM/3 indicates that development will not be permitted where: 

Page 56



� It would lead to unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or future 
occupants of buildings, or users of open space. 

 
The site is located amongst areas of mature housing and industry within the urban area. The 
River Irk forms a dividing feature between the development site and industrial uses at British 
Vita to the south and west, with dense areas of woodland to be retained alongside the 
northern (Scowcroft Woods) and eastern (with the railway line) site boundaries. A row of 
allotments would also form a buffer between the site and dwellings to the south on Oldham 
Road.  
 
The indicative masterplan shows a housing density of 22.4 dwellings per hectare, which is 
significantly lower than that in the surrounding area having regard to high-density terraced 
housing along Oldham Road (circa 70 dwellings per hectare) and suburban semis/terraces on 
Glenwood Drive (circa 43 dwellings per hectare). The proposed housing density would afford 
the site a spacious, suburban character reflecting the need to preserve and enhance existing 
open spaces. The site’s development for housing would be compatible with the mix of uses in 
the locality – with the developable area of the site linking strongly to the urban fringe of 
housing on Oldham Road, Glenwood Drive and Hereford Way – and, moreover, is likely to 
have a lesser impact on the amenity of surrounding residents (e.g. through noise and 
disturbance, vehicle movements etc.) in comparison to employment uses for which large areas 
of the site are currently designated. 
 
The application is accompanied by a noise assessment which, following on-site sound testing 
at five locations across the land, identifies the main sources of noise on the site as: (1) road 
traffic along the A669; and (2) operations associated with adjacent industrial premises. The 
report concludes that noise from the railway line is not significant due to the relatively low 
number of journeys along the route. Highest day and night time noise levels (between 60 and 
70 dB(A)) were observed along the site’s frontage with Oldham Road (specifically in respect of 
plots 294-303 to the south of the Hexpol building), with these levels reducing away from the 
A669 towards the central and northern ends of the site, particularly during the evening period. 
The report concludes that “any standard thermal double glazing unit will provide sufficient 
sound insulation to achieve the ‘good’ internal noise levels set out in BS 8233:1999 [shown in 
Table 1 below] in living rooms during the day and bedrooms at night with windows closed and 
with normal (non-acoustic) trickle ventilators. [Therefore], noise should not be a limiting factor 
in developing the site for residential use”. 
 

 
 

Table 1 – Internal noise levels given in BS 8233:1999. 
 
The Council’s EHO agrees with the conclusions outlined in the noise assessment and has 
recommended that a condition is imposed on any permission granted to ensure that the ‘good’ 
noise levels outlined in Table 1 are achieved in respect of those plots most susceptible to 
disturbance (those fronting onto Oldham Road - specifically nos. 294-303 shown on the 
indicative masterplan). 
 
The development of the site for housing would, as a matter of principle, be compatible with the 
character of surrounding uses and would not have an undue impact on the amenity of these 
uses. In addition, appropriate measures can be put in place in order to ensure that 
surrounding uses do not have an adverse impact on living conditions for future occupiers. The 

Page 57



proposal is therefore in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies H/3, BE/2, EM/3 
and the NPPF. 
 
Impact on Heritage Assets 
 
Heritage assets (both designated and non-designated) are defined in Annex 2 of the NPPF. 
Designated heritage assets include listed buildings. 
 
The closest built heritage asset to the site is a grade II listed farmhouse occupying a stepped, 
rectangular footprint to the northeast corner of Scowcroft Farm. The property – finished in a 
combination of brick and render – is located some 60 metres from the site boundary to the 
east side of the farmyard and is separated from the land by other outbuildings to the west of 
the farmyard and a dense treeline intervening between the two sites.  
 
The first bullet point to paragraph 131 of the NPPF indicates that, in determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should take account of: 

� the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation. 

 
Paragraphs 132, 133 and 137 of the NPPF identify that: 

� When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. 
The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be 
harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development 
within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require 
clear and convincing justification. 

� Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of 
significance of a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent. 

� Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development within 
Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites and within the setting of heritage assets 
to enhance or better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements 
of the setting that make a positive contribution to or better reveal the significance of the 
asset should be treated favourably. 

 
UDP policy BE/15 stipulates that development will not be permitted where it would, through its 
siting, scale, design or materials, harm the setting of a listed building. 
 
The proposed development would have no physical impact on the grounds of Scowcroft Farm 
(including the listed Farmhouse) and, by virtue its separation with the listed building and the 
screening provided by the intervening treeline (to be retained), would have no detrimental 
impact on its character or setting. Indeed, the Conservation Officer has raised no objections to 
the application on these grounds. Therefore, it is not considered that the development would 
harm the significance of any designated heritage asset and, accordingly, is in accordance with 
the requirements of UDP policy BE/15 and the NPPF. 
 
GMAAS have identified the presence of several sites of archaeological interest referenced on 
the Historic Environment Record – specifically Rex Mill, Don Mill, a former brick works, 
housing, mill leats and weirs. 
 
Paragraphs 139 and 141 of the NPPF indicate that: 

� Non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest that are demonstrably of 
equivalent significance to scheduled monuments, should be considered subject to the 
policies for designated heritage assets. 

� Local planning authorities should make information about the significance of the 
historic environment gathered as part of plan-making or development management 

Page 58



publicly accessible. They should also require developers to record and advance 
understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in 
a manner proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this evidence 
(and any archive generated) publicly accessible. However, the ability to record 
evidence of our past should not be a factor in deciding whether such loss should be 
permitted. 

 
In addition, UDP policy BE/10 states that: 

� Developers must take full account of the presence of known Ancient Monuments and 
sites of archaeological importance and their settings in proposals. Planning permission 
will be refused where developers do not sympathetically accommodate such structures 
or remains, particularly where the proposal has a significant affect on the site itself or 
its setting. 

� Proposals should accommodate the physical preservation of archaeological features in 
situ. In exceptional circumstances where this is not possible, and where the site is of 
lesser significance, archaeological excavation to secure the preservation of features 
either on or off site may be appropriate to enable preservation by record. In such 
cases, the applicant may be required to carry out a programme of proper recording of 
archaeological evidence before development takes place. Such a programme could be 
secured by planning conditions or through a Section 106 obligation negotiated with the 
applicant. In all cases there should be a full and appropriate prior evaluation of the 
archaeological resource detailing its value, the likely impact of proposals and mitigation 
as required. 

 
GMAAS have indicated that, as the application is in outline, a condition should be attached to 
any permission granted requiring a programme of archaeological works to be undertaken. This 
should include a desk-based documentary study, a walkover survey and, where appropriate, a 
building survey. This would then be followed by targeted field evaluation trenching which could 
lead to targeted open area excavation. 
 
An appropriate condition requiring a programme of archaeological work to be undertaken 
before any development takes place has been attached in accordance with the advice from 
GMAAS. Any application for reserved matters should also include a desk-based assessment. 
Therefore, adequate measures can be put in place to safeguard the significance of any 
archaeology on the site in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy BE/10 and the 
NPPF. 
 
Utilities 
 
A high pressure Major Accident Hazard Pipeline (MAHP) runs through the site in a general 
westerly direction alongside the northern boundary between Scowcroft Farm and Hilton Fold 
Lane. The pipeline cuts through Scowcroft Woods and the former Rex Mill and Dale House 
sites. 
 
Paragraph 194 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should consult the 
appropriate bodies when determining applications for development around major hazards 
(including major hazard installations and pipelines). 
 
UDP policy EM/6 indicates that: 

� The location of residential and other development in the vicinity of existing notifiable 
installations will be strictly controlled. Planning permission for development adjacent to 
existing notifiable installations will only be granted where the Council is satisfied that 
risks to the public, the land and the surrounding environment have been fully 
assessed. Where it is considered that the development will result in a substantial risk 
to the public, the land or the surrounding environment, planning permission will be 
refused. 

Page 59



 
Parts of the site fall within the inner, middle and outer consultation zones for the notifiable 
installation with the Health and Safety Executive (HSE). The HSE have been consulted in 
accordance with the standing advice available through their PADHI+ system which indicates 
that they do not advise against the granting of planning permission on the grounds of public 
safety. 
 
National Grid have indicated that the Building Proximity Distance (BPD) for the pipeline is 15.5 
metres. This is the minimum distance recommended by National Grid between the pipeline 
and any 'normally occupied' building. Therefore, any application for reserved matters would 
need to ensure that no dwelling or other associated building would be located within 15.5 
metres of the pipeline. This would not, however, apply to the proposed link road (shown to run 
over the MAHP where it crosses the Dale House site). National Grid have indicated that it is 
acceptable for the road to be positioned over the pipeline providing that adequate impact 
protection slabbing is installed. An appropriate condition has been imposed in order that this 
issue is addressed as part of the construction of the link road. 
 
A High Voltage Transmission Overhead Line also runs in a north-south direction on land to the 
east of the railway line. National Grid have advised that the development would not interfere 
with this apparatus and, therefore, have no objections on these grounds. 
 
The proposal would not result in an unacceptable risk to the public (including future 
occupiers), land or the surrounding environment and is therefore in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policy EM/6. 
 
Contamination 
 
The fifth bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by: 

� remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable 
land, where appropriate. 

 
Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that: 

� Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for 
securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner. 

 
Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that: 

� the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation 
or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation;  

� after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and 

� adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is presented. 
 
In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that: 

� Where there are reasonable grounds to suspect that land which is the subject of a 
development proposal has the potential for contamination, the Council will require a 
detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed remedial treatments and 
a completion report to establish that the work has been carried out in accordance with 
the agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new development or 
change of use, the Council will take account of their potential for contamination of land 
and will seek to prevent further contamination by refusing proposals likely to give rise 
to significant contamination or by imposing stringent conditions. 

 

Page 60



A Phase I (desktop) site investigation has been submitted with the application. This identifies 
potential sources of contamination on the site associated with historical industrial uses and 
previous landfilling operations. The report recommends that a phase II soil contamination 
investigation be undertaken to determine any risks to human health and controlled waters. A 
gas monitoring programme is also advised alongside other anticipated land remediation 
measures to make the site suitable for residential use.   
 
The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied that any contamination issues which may 
exist on the site can be adequately identified and addressed by the imposition of a condition 
requiring the submission and approval of a phase II (intrusive) site investigation and 
implementation of any appropriate remediation measures required. The Environment Agency 
have also requested that a similar condition be attached to any permission granted in order to 
protect water resources on/surrounding the site. It is therefore considered that the 
requirements of UDP policy EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF can be 
satisfactorily addressed through condition. 
 
Energy 
 
The Code for Sustainable Homes is no longer a relevant standard as it was withdrawn by the 
Government on 27 March 2015. In a Ministerial Statement made to the House of Commons on 
25 March 2015, the then Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Eric 
Pickles, set out the government’s new planning policy on the setting of technical standards for 
new dwellings which should be taken into account in applying the National Planning Policy 
Framework. This is an important material consideration which needs to be given significant 
weight and which also represents a material change in planning circumstances following the 
previous grant of planning permission on the site. 
 
Between 26 March 2015 and 30 September 2014, the government’s policy is, ‘that planning 
permissions should not be granted requiring, or subject to conditions requiring compliance with 
any technical housing standards other than for those areas where authorities have existing 
policies on access, internal space or water efficiency… where there is an existing plan policy 
which references the Code for Sustainable Homes, authorities may continue to apply a 
requirement for a water efficiency standard equivalent to the new national technical standard 
or in the case of energy a standard consistent with the earlier part of this statement1, 
concerning energy performance’. The Council does not have a specific policy in respect of 
water efficiency. In late 2016 the Building Regulations will be amended to require new 
dwellings to meet an equivalent of what was Code Level 4.  
The direction of travel for Government is clear that sustainability requirements for new 
dwellings should be brought forward through the new national technical standards, making 
reference to up to date Local Plans and the Building Regulations. Given that the new technical 
standards are optional and if the Council wishes to refer to them in decision making this 
should preferentially be through new policies in a Local Plan and the Council’s current policy 
refers to a Code which has now been revoked and is therefore out of date, it is considered 
most appropriate that the sustainability requirements of this development are dealt with by the 
Building Regulations.  
 
Developer Contributions 
 
A scheme of the size proposed would require contributions towards open space and 
affordable housing in accordance with UDP policies H/6 and H/7 and their associated 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs). Contributions are also sought towards education 
and transport improvements following receipt of consultation responses from Schools Services 

                                                                 
1
 Which require compliance with energy performance standards that exceed the energy requirements of 

Building Regulations until commencement of amendments to the Planning and Energy Act 2008 in the 
Deregulation Bill 2015 (likely to be late 2016). 

Page 61



and Network Rail. These contributions would need to be secured through a planning 
obligation. Paragraph 204 of the NPPF states that planning obligations should only be sought 
where they meet the following tests (reiterated in the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations): 

� necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

� directly related to the development; and  

� fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 
As noted above, the CIL restrictions on the pooling of contributions came into force in April 
2015.   Local authorities are no longer able to pool more than five planning obligations 
together to pay for a single infrastructure project, which includes planning obligations dating 
back to March 2010.  This however excludes affordable housing and highway infrastructure 
delivered through s278 agreement. Notwithstanding this, the changes to the regulations are 
intended to prevent double charging rather than restrict a Council’s ability to deliver 
infrastructure necessitated by development.  The provision of infrastructure contributes to the 
economic dimension of sustainable development.   
 
Details of each of the contributions sought as part of the development (including how they 
meet these tests) are outlined below: 
 
Recreational Open Space: 
 
UDP policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate provision for 
recreational open space – comprising elements of both local (at a rate of 1 hectare per 1000 
population) and formal (at a rate of 1.1 hectare per 1000 population) provision. In the case of 
developments involving 100 bedrooms or more, there is an expectation for the provision of 
local open space on site (with any shortfall to be offset by a financial contribution for off-site 
provision in lieu of on-site open space), and contributions to formal (outdoor sports) open 
space to be made off site.  Contributions to off-site recreational open space have previously 
been calculated on the basis of the number of bedrooms being created by a development and 
the resulting demand for recreational open space arising from the occupation of the new 
houses. Policies G6 and C8 of the emerging Core Strategy promote community, sport and 
leisure facilities and Policy DM2 states that contributions will be sought for such facilities.    
 
As noted above, local authorities are no longer able to pool more than five planning obligations 
together to pay for a single infrastructure project, which includes planning obligations dating 
back to March 2010.  The Council has entered into more than five obligations for recreational 
open space in the Borough since March 2010, however DCLG has clarified that an authority 
can enter into another obligation for a specific project, such as a specific recreational open 
space project.  The changes to the regulations are intended to prevent double charging rather 
than restrict a Council’s ability to deliver infrastructure necessitated by development.   
 
The provision of open space and landscaping is integral to achieving good design and taking 
the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions.  Paragraph 73 of the NPPF recognises that access to high quality open spaces and 
opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health and 
well-being of communities.  Together, these contribute to the social and environmental 
dimensions of sustainable development.   
 
The indicative masterplan shows the provision of some 2.21 hectares of open space within the 
site and the indicative plan shows this could include formal sports provision. With regards to 
future maintenance of on-site open space and sports facilities, it is intended that an 
implementation and management plan will be secured within the planning obligation.   
 
As the masterplan is indicative and given the development would result in the loss of on-site 
(although disused) formal sports facilities, the planning obligation is required to accommodate 

Page 62



potential off-site provision through a commuted sum payment towards the laying out, 
maintenance and/or improvement of a specific off-site recreational open space project to be 
determined by the Council’s Estates and Environmental Management departments.  On and/or 
off site provision of recreational open space is necessary to make the development acceptable 
in planning terms; directly related to the development; and fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the development and therefore meets the three tests. 
 
Affordable Housing: 
 
UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD identify that, subject to viability considerations, 
residential developments of over 15 dwellings will be expected to make a contribution towards 
the provision of affordable housing in the borough through either on or off site means as 
appropriate.  The provision of affordable housing is also sought by Policies C4 and DM2 of the 
emerging Core Strategy.   
 
Paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that “an average figure of 15% Affordable Housing 
will be required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be subject to a 
discount of 50% of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will equate to a 
maximum 7.5% contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for each site in 
accordance with the formula below: 
 

 
 
Education: 
 
The Council’s Schools Service consider that the development would result in an increased 
demand for new schools places across primary and secondary levels where there is an 
identified deficiency in the Middleton Township.  An update has been provided and this 
identifies that the contribution necessitated by the development, based on current calculations, 
has increased to £1,399,861.05.  This updated calculation is reflected in the recommendation, 
although it is noted that as this is an outline application, a re-calculation would be undertaken 
once the precise number of dwellings and bedrooms is identified in line with the formula set 
out by the Education Service.  The education contribution is necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms; directly related to the development; and fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development and therefore meets the three tests.  
It also accords with Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy.  The Council has not 
entered into more than five obligations requiring education contributions and is therefore able 
to pool the education contribution.  
 
Transport Improvements: 
 
UDP policy A/19 identifies that TfGM, in consultation with each Greater Manchester district, is 
developing a Rail Investment Strategy that incorporates a programme of measures, including 
station improvements (for example, improvements to access, safety and passenger shelter). 
Rochdale Council has a number of priorities that it wishes to investigate through the Rail 
Investment Strategy. These include a booking office and other works at Mills Hill Station. 
 

Page 63



Network Rail has requested a total contribution of £220,000 towards transport improvements 
at Mills Hill Railway Station in accordance with this improvement strategy, comprising the 
following: 

� £100,000 for two new shelters; 

� £20,000 for extra platform seating; 

� £75,00 for car park resurfacing and painting; 

� £25,000 for a Transmission Voice Machine. 
 
TfGM has confirmed that, whilst some improvements have been made at Mills Hill Station 
since the application was originally assessed, these do not include the above improvements 
and as such, the improvements noted above remain relevant and are therefore requested.   
 
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that plans and decisions should take account of whether: 

� the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending on 
the nature and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport infrastructure; 

� safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and  

� improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit 
the significant impacts of the development. Development should only be prevented or 
refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development 
are severe. 

 
Paragraph 34 states that plans and decisions should ensure developments that generate 
significant movement are located where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of 
sustainable transport modes can be maximised.  Paragraph 35 goes on to state that 
development should be located and designed where practicable to give priority to pedestrian 
and cycle movements, consider the needs to people with disabilities by all modes of transport 
and have access to high quality public transport facilities.  As the application is outline only, 
the reserved matters application(s) will ensure the layout provides safe and suitable inclusive 
access for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians.   
 
The development of up to 303 dwellings would generate significant movement and the 
proximity of the site to Mills Hill Railway Station presents a significant opportunity to maximise 
the take up of sustainable transport modes by improving the quality of the facilities at this 
station in accordance with the NPPF, Policy T1 of the emerging Core Strategy and UDP 
Policies G/A/1, A2 and A/8.  It is therefore considered that the contribution towards this 
specific infrastructure project is necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms; directly related to the development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind 
to the development and therefore meets the three tests.   
 
Viability: 
 
Paragraph 173 of the NPPF states that pursuing sustainable development requires careful 
attention to viability and costs in plan-making and decision-taking. Plans should be deliverable. 
Therefore, the sites and the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject 
to such a scale of obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is 
threatened. To ensure viability, the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to 
development, such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure 
contributions or other requirements should, when taking account of the normal cost of 
development and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land owner and willing 
developer to enable the development to be deliverable. 
 
In addition, paragraph 205 of the NPPF indicates that where obligations are being sought or 
revised, local planning authorities should take account of changes in market conditions over 
time and, wherever appropriate, be sufficiently flexible to prevent planned development being 
stalled. 
 

Page 64



Whilst UDP policy H/7 and its accompanying SPD (Affordable Housing) include provisions to 
limit/waive contributions in cases where such contributions would make a scheme unviable, 
UDP policy H/6 states that the requirement for recreational open space will only be 
““waived/reduced/varied in those circumstances where a housing proposal arises in an area 
where the existing recreational open space is sufficient to cater for existing need as well as 
that arising from the development.” Therefore, this policy does not cite issues of viability as a 
specific consideration with respect to open space. Nevertheless, this approach has been 
superseded by guidance within the NPPF where, in terms of any conflict between policies 
contained within existing local plans and those in the NPPF, paragraphs 214 and 215 of the 
NPPF state that: 
 

� For 12 months from the day of publication, decision-takers may continue to give full 
weight to relevant policies adopted since 2004 even if there is a limited degree of 
conflict with this Framework. 

� In other cases and following this 12-month period, due weight should be given to 
relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with this 
framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the 
greater the weight that may be given). 

 
The NPPF was adopted in March 2012. As the 12 month period identified in paragraph 215 
has now expired, the fact that UDP policy H/6 fails to allow a flexible approach towards 
contributions to recreational open space with respect to viability considerations places the 
policy in conflict with paragraphs 173 and 205 of the NPPF. Paragraph 215 of the NPPF 
indicates that, where such conflict exists, the guidance within the NPPF should prevail. 
Accordingly, viability is capable of being a material consideration when assessing what level of 
contribution a development should make towards recreational open space provision. 
 
The developer has submitted a viability appraisal which outlines estimated build costs for the 
development (including any abnormal costs likely to be incurred during construction) and 
anticipated revenue generated from the sale of the dwellings. Both build costs and revenue 
are expressed in pounds per square foot. The appraisal concludes that, once completed, the 
development could generate a profit on cost and a profit on Gross Development Value (the 
total revenue generated through sales) of 8.60% and 7.92% respectively. These estimated 
returns are attributed to high abnormal costs associated with site remediation and 
groundworks. Whilst the Council’s Quantity Surveyor estimates a higher yield of 15.22% on 
GDV (principally based on a disparity in estimations of achieving finance), it is agreed that the 
scheme’s viability is likely to be marginal taking account some of the costs associated with 
bringing forward a development on previously developed land, and that some prioritisation of 
any contributions might be needed as part of the Council’s consideration of any reserved 
matters application(s) for the site. 
 
In accordance with paragraph 173 of the NPPF, it would be unreasonable to seek 
contributions from a development where such contributions would fail to provide competitive 
returns to a willing land owner and willing developer and, ultimately, make a scheme 
undeliverable. Whilst present figures suggest that the scheme could not deliver any off-site 
financial contributions as a result of viability, it should be noted that the preliminary appraisal 
submitted does not relate to a specific layout, mix or type of housing (these elements to be 
clarified as part of any future application for reserved matters). Therefore, given the 
uncertainty associated with the outline nature of the proposal, the Council’s QS considers that 
any planning obligation should include clauses requiring submission of future financial 
appraisals for each phase of development, with off-site contributions to be secured using a 
form of overage provision in order that any profit realised above a specified margin (18% is 
suggested) is committed for the purposes outlined above, up to the maximum figures 
identified. 
 

Page 65



Therefore, appropriate and proportionate contributions relative to the viability of the scheme 
would be secured as part of the development in order to mitigate its impact in accordance with 
the requirements of the relevant UDP policies and paragraph 204 of the NPPF. 
  
Conclusions 
 
Having regard to the above considerations, the following conclusions are made in respect of 
the scheme: 

� The proposed residential development would result in a departure from the provisions 
of the Rochdale UDP by developing land allocated for a combination of employment 
uses and protected recreational open space. Having regard to the above, it is 
concluded that there is little reasonable likelihood of the land being developed for 
employment uses and/or being brought back into beneficial use for recreational 
purposes given its present form, function and period of disuse (having particular regard 
to the former playing field to the northeast of the site). Therefore, on balance, it is 
considered that the benefits arising as a result of the scheme are sufficient to outweigh 
any harm which would arise by departing from the policies within the Rochdale UDP; 

� The application has been submitted in outline, with access being the only matter 
applied for. The submitted Transport Assessment has identified satisfactory access 
arrangements to the site (which would be fixed as part of the outline application) 
following detailed transport modelling and safety assessment. Accordingly, it has been 
adequately demonstrated that the development would not have any severe or adverse 
impact on the safe and efficient operation of the surrounding highway network, either 
adjacent to or further away from the site. Moreover, the link road proposed as part of 
the development is anticipated have a positive impact on local network capacity and 
functionality by relieving congestion at nearby junctions along Oldham Road – 
particularly the signalised junction with Hilton Fold Lane. The delivery of the link road 
and the benefits arising from this are considered to weigh heavily in favour of the 
scheme and provide further justification for a departure from the UDP; 

� The indicative masterplan demonstrates how the number of houses proposed could 
potentially be accommodated on the site and sets parameters for the maximum 
number of dwellings which could be applied for as part of any future application for 
reserved matters. Whilst it is recognised that a number of constraints exist on the site, 
it is not considered that there is any compelling evidence to suggest that these could 
not be adequately addressed at reserved matters stage or mitigated through the 
imposition of appropriate planning conditions/obligations. Significant weight is afforded 
to the benefits of the proposal to the provision of housing in the Borough; 

� The NPPF is clear that where the relevant policies in the UDP are out of date, planning 
permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  Having regard to the above, the 
benefits of the proposal, which would provide housing on a part brownfield, part 
greenfield site in a highly sustainable location, would contribute to economic growth in 
the Borough and would have a positive impact on local network capacity, would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh any harm which would arise through departing 
from the policies within the Rochdale UDP, which would nevertheless be mitigated 
through the imposition of the recommended conditions and the planning obligation.  It 
is considered that the proposal comprises sustainable development and it is therefore 
recommended that planning permission is granted.   

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Committee resolve: 
 

Page 66



That it is minded to grant planning permission subject to the conditions set out below and 
subject to the completion of a planning obligation under section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act to secure (subject to future assessment(s) of the scheme’s viability) the following:  
 

� The provision of open space on site and/or an off-site contribution towards a specific 
off-site recreational open space project to be determined by the Council’s Estates and 
Environmental Management departments in lieu of on-site provision (as appropriate); 

� The provision of affordable housing on site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of on-
site provision; 

� A financial contribution towards the provision of new primary and secondary school 
places in the Middleton Township (£1,399,861.05, to be recalculated at appropriate 
phases of the development); 

� A financial contribution not exceeding £220,000 towards improvements at Mills Hill 
Railway station including: (i) the provision of two new platform shelters; (ii) additional 
platform seating; (iii) car park resurfacing and marking out; and (iv) a Transmission 
Voice Machine.   

 
That the Head of Planning be authorised to issue the decision notice upon completion of the 
planning obligation to secure the above. 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions:- 
 
 1 Application for approval of reserved matters must be made not later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date of this permission and the development must be 
begun not later than: (i) the expiration of three years from the date of this permission; 
or (ii) two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be 
approved.  

   
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 92 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 The approval of the Local Planning Authority shall be sought in respect of the following 

matters before the development is commenced:- the layout of the development, the 
scale and external appearance of the buildings and the landscaping of the site.  

   
 Reason: The application is granted in outline only under the provisions of Article 4 of 

the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2010 
and details of the matters referred to in the condition have not been submitted for 
consideration. 

 
 3 This permission relates to the following plans:  
   
 Drawing no. 001 – Location plan. Site edged red plan.  
 Drawing no. Figure TA13 – Proposed ghost island development site access connection 

to A669 Oldham Road.  
 Drawing no. Figure TA15 – Illustrative ghost island development site access 

connection to Hilton Fold Lane.  
   
 The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 

drawings.  
   
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt, to define the extent of the development site and 

to ensure a satisfactory standard of development in accordance with the policies 
contained within the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

Page 67



 
 4 No development shall take place until a phasing plan for the construction of the 

development, including the link road, has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The phasing plan shall include a programme of works 
for:- (i) each phase of housing within the site; (ii) the area(s) of recreational open space 
and any other areas of amenity open space; and (iii) the delivery of a link road between 
the site’s access points with Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane (the indicative route of 
which is shown on drawing no. 014 Rev B). The development shall thereafter be 
carried out in full accordance with the duly approved phasing plan(s).  

   
 Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an 

appropriate order and within an acceptable timescale, to ensure adequate provision of 
infrastructure to serve each of the uses permitted and because no such details were 
submitted as part of the application. 

 
 5 No development associated with condition 4 (iii) of this permission shall take place until 

the following details of the road linking the site’s access points with Oldham Road and 
Hilton Fold Lane (the indicative route of which is shown on drawing no. 014 Rev B) 
have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: (i) 
the precise route, design, construction and drainage of the road; (ii) any traffic calming 
measures to be introduced along the road; (iii) bridging over the channel of the River 
Irk; and (iv) any mitigation measures required in order to protect the Major Accident 
Hazard Pipeline where the road crosses this installation. The link road shall thereafter 
be constructed in accordance with the duly approved details and made available for 
use in accordance with the phasing plan(s) approved as part of condition 4 of this 
permission.   

   
 Reason: In order to achieve safe and convenient access arrangements to and from the 

site, to ensure a satisfactory standard of engineering works and to secure adequate 
mitigation of the development’s impact on the capacity of the surrounding highway 
network by providing an alternative route to relieve traffic congestion in accordance 
with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies A/8 and A/9, and the 
NPPF. 

 
 6 No development shall take place until a scheme for the construction and drainage of 

the site’s access points onto Oldham Road and Hilton Fold Lane (the design of which 
is shown on drawing nos. Figure TA13 and Figure TA15) has first been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The site accesses onto (i) 
Oldham Road and (ii) Hilton Fold Lane shall be made available for use in full 
accordance with the duly approved details as follows: in the case of (i) before any of 
the dwellings hereby approved are first occupied; in the case of (ii) in accordance with 
the phasing plan(s) approved as part of condition 4 of this permission.   

   
 Reason: In order to achieve safe and convenient access arrangements to and from the 

site and to ensure a satisfactory standard of engineering works in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies A/8 and A/9, and the NPPF. 

 
 7 None of the dwellings hereby approved shall be first occupied until the following 

highway improvement works at the site’s junction with Oldham Road (as shown on 
drawing no. Figure TA13) have been implemented in accordance with details (including 
their layout, design and surfacing) which have first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority:  

   
 (i) The provision of a ghost island right hand turn lane for westbound vehicles 

entering the site from Oldham Road;  

Page 68



 (ii) Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the 
introduction of waiting restrictions to prevent the parking, waiting or unloading of any 
vehicles at any time on the northern and southern frontages of the highway known as 
Oldham Road in the positions indicated on drawing no. Figure TA13  

 (iii) A pedestrian crossing over the carriageway of Oldham Road;  
 (iv) A pedestrian crossing over the site access;  
 (v) The provision of a new bus stop on the eastbound carriageway of Oldham 

Road.  
    
 Reason: In order to secure improvements to the highway network to ensure safe and 

convenient access and circulation for vehicle traffic, to prevent obstruction of the 
highway and to provide improved public transport linkages to the site in the interests of 
road and pedestrian safety in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies A/3, A/8, A/9 and A/10, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
 8 Before the highway improvement works required by condition 7 of this permission are 

fully implemented or before any of the dwellings hereby approved are first occupied 
(whichever is the sooner) a minimum of 40 compensatory off-road car parking spaces 
shall be provided across the following locations (as indicated on drawing no. 014 Rev 
B): (i) to the rear of the Old Cock Inn Public House – 528 Oldham Road; (ii) to the side 
and rear of nos. 553-555 Oldham Road; and (iii) to the rear of no. 583 Oldham Road. 
The car parking spaces shall be provided, marked out and made available for use in 
accordance with details, including their layout, construction, drainage and, in respect of 
location (i) schemes for (a) lighting (b) any means of enclosure and (c) their exclusive 
use for residents of 476-502 Oldham Road, which have first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the highway improvement 
works required by condition 7 of this permission are fully implemented or before any of 
the dwellings hereby approved are first occupied (whichever is the sooner).  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure that adequate compensatory parking provision is made for 

neighbouring residents on Oldham Road who would lose existing on-street parking 
spaces as a result of the highway improvement works required as part of the 
development and to prevent parking conflicts arising as a result of the development in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy A/10. 

 
 9 The following highway improvement works at the site’s junction with Hilton Fold Lane 

(as shown on drawing no. Figure TA15) shall be implemented in accordance with 
details (including their layout, design and surfacing) which have first been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:  

   
(i) The provision of a ghost island right hand turn lane for northbound vehicles 

entering the site from Hilton Fold Lane;  
(ii) The provision of two ghost island right hand turn lanes for southbound vehicles 

entering Cromer Industrial Estate from Hilton Fold Lane.  
   
 The abovementioned highway improvement works shall be fully implemented before 

the site access onto Hilton Fold Lane is first made available for use in accordance with 
condition 6 (ii) of this permission.  

   
 Reason: In order to secure improvements to the highway network to ensure safe and 

convenient access and circulation for vehicle traffic in the interests of highway and 
pedestrian safety in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policies A/3, A/8 and A/9, and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 69



10 No development for each phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 
permission shall take place on the part of the site relating to that phase until a scheme 
for the creation of a self-enforcing 20mph zone along all new estate roads within the 
site relating to that phase has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall thereafter be implemented in accordance 
with the duly approved details before the final dwelling to be served by that road is first 
occupied.  

     
 Reason: In order to ensure adequate traffic calming measures along new estate roads 

in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety in accordance with the requirements 
of Unitary Development Plan Policies A/3, A/8, A/9 and BE/2. 

 
11 No development shall take place until details of any means of enclosure (including its 

siting, layout, design, materials, finish and access arrangements for emergency 
services) used (or retained) to close any existing access points into the site from Don 
Street and Oldham Road, including a timescale for their installation, have first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any means of 
enclosure shall thereafter be provided in accordance with the duly approved details 
and timescale.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure the use of appropriate means of enclosure in the interests 

of visual amenity, to prevent inappropriate access to the site and to facilitate 
satisfactory access for emergency services in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2 and A/9.   

 
12 No development shall take place until a scheme for the provision of allotments to the 

rear of nos. 555-605 Oldham Road (the locations of which are identified on drawing no. 
014 Rev B) has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Such a scheme shall include details of the size, layout, design, surface 
treatment and means of enclosure to the allotments and a timetable for their provision. 
The allotments shall thereafter be provided and made available for use in full 
accordance with the duly approved scheme and timetable contained therein.  

   
 Reason: In order to safeguard existing allotment provision in accordance with the 

requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy G/7. 
 
13 No development (including any works of site preparation) for each phase identified in 

accordance with condition 4 of this permission shall take place on the part of the site 
relating to that phase until a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) covering a 
programme of archaeological works has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The development shall take place in full accordance with 
the approved WSI and the timescales contained therein. The WSI shall include:  

   
(i) A phased programme and methodology of site investigation and recording to 

include:  
• a desk-based assessment (where appropriate including historic building 

assessment, detailed survey and interpretative record)  
  • a targeted archaeological evaluation;  
  • where appropriate, targeted area excavation.  
 (ii) A programme for post investigation assessment to include:  
  • analysis of the site investigation records and finds;  
 • production of a final report on the significance of the archaeological 

interest represented.  
(iii) provision for publication and dissemination of the analysis and report on the site 

investigation.  

Page 70



(iv) provision for archive deposition of the report, finds and records of the site 
investigation.  

(v) nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the work set 
out in the approved WSI.  

   
 Reason: In order to record and advance the understanding of the archaeological and 

historical significance of the site for archival and research purposes in accordance with 
the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/10 and NE/6, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
14 Details of finished floor levels and external ground levels for each plot shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
development at that plot takes place. The development shall thereafter be 
implemented in accordance with the duly approved details.  

   
 Reason: In order to achieve an acceptable relationship between buildings both within 

and surrounding the site and to ensure that the development would not be at an 
unacceptable risk of flooding in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2, EM/7 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
15 No development for each phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 

permission shall take place on the part of the site relating to that phase until an 
investigation and risk assessment (in addition to any assessment provided with the 
planning application) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The assessment shall investigate the nature and extent of any 
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The assessment 
must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
development takes place. The submitted report shall include:  

   
 (i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination  
 (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  
  • human health;  

• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, 
pets, woodland, and service lines and pipes;  

  • adjoining land;  
  • groundwaters and surface waters;  
  • ecological systems;  
  • archaeological sites and ancient monuments.  

(iii) where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of remedial options and 
proposal of the preferred option(s) to form a remediation strategy for the site. 

   
 The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the duly 

approved remediation strategy and a verification report submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before any of the dwellings hereby approved 
are first occupied.   

   
 Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 

development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
16 No development for each phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 

permission shall take place on the part of the site relating to that phase until a scheme 
for the disposal of foul and surface water from the site has been submitted to and 

Page 71



approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority, the scheme shall include:  

   
 • Details of the rate of surface water discharge from the site to ensure that the post 

development discharge rate does not exceed the existing (pre-development) rate 
(including any necessary flow attenuation measures and the use of SUDS where 
appropriate);  

 • Details of how the scheme will be maintained and managed after completion.  
   
 The scheme shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the duly approved 

details before any of the dwellings relating to that phase are first occupied, or within 
any other timescale first agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development and to 

ensure satisfactory disposal of foul and surface water from the site in accordance with 
the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies EM/7 and EM/8, the Council’s 
Level 2 SFRA User Guide and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
17 No development shall take place until a scheme for the provision and management of 

a buffer zone alongside the watercourse of the River Irk has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The submitted scheme shall 
include:  

 (i) plans showing the extent and layout of the buffer zones;  
(ii) enhancement of the riparian habitat alongside the watercourse as part of an 

overall scheme for biodiversity and landscape enhancement of the site;  
(iii) control of surface water drainage to the watercourse during the construction 

period;  
(iv) a method statement for the protection of the buffer zones and watercourse 

during the construction period;  
(v) details of any footpaths, fencing, lighting or other items to be installed within the 

buffer zone;  
 (vi) a timetable for its implementation  
   
 The development shall be carried out and thereafter managed/maintained in 

accordance with the duly approved scheme.  
   
 Reason: In order to protect the riparian habitat of the River Irk (including any 

downstream impacts), to enhance its ecological interest, to prevent any pollution of the 
watercourse and to ensure appropriate flood mitigation measures are incorporated into 
the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policies EM/7, EM/8 and NE/3, and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
18 No development shall take place until a scheme demonstrating how the existing 

northern tributary (including any open channel and culverted section of the 
watercourse) will be incorporated into the development has first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such a scheme shall include 
details of the exact route, size, depth and condition of the watercourse (including any 
culverted sections to be exposed as part of the development), the location of any 
buildings in relation to it and a timescale for its implementation. The development shall 
thereafter be implemented in full accordance with the duly approved scheme and the 
timescale contained therein.  

   
 Reason: To ensure that the development is not at risk of flooding and does not 

increase flood risk elsewhere, and to ensure adequate protection of the watercourse 
(including a satisfactory buffer with any new buildings) following the development in 

Page 72



accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy EM/7 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
19 No development for each phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 

permission shall take place on the part of the site relating to that phase until a Habitat 
and Landscape Management Plan (HLMP) for all landscaped areas of the site relating 
to that phase (excluding privately owned domestic gardens) has first been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The HLMP shall include: (i) 
protection measures for all retained trees, waterbodies and greenspace during the 
course of development; (ii) long term design objectives; (iii) management 
responsibilities; (iv) maintenance schedules; and (v) a timetable for its implementation. 
The HLMP shall thereafter be implemented in full accordance with the duly approved 
details and timetable contained therein.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 

ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity enhancements 
as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy NE/3 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
20 No development shall take place until a scheme for the formation of any new 

waterbodies on the site has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of the size, location, 
construction and design of the waterbodies, how they will contribute positively to 
improved biodiversity on the site and a timetable for their provision. Any new 
waterbodies shall thereafter be provided in full accordance with the duly approved 
details and timetable contained therein.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure that any new waterbodies are appropriately positioned on 

the site to optimise their function with respect to flood mitigation and bio diversity 
enhancement in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies EM/7 and NE/3, 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
21 No development for each phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 

permission shall take place on the part of the site relating to that phase until a method 
statement for the removal/control of any invasive plant species within the areas of the 
site relating to that phase, including a timescale for its implementation, has first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The method 
statement shall include measures to prevent the spread of invasive species during any 
operations (e.g. strimming, soil movement or land remodelling works) and to ensure 
that any soils brought to the site are free of the seeds, root or stem of any invasive 
plant (as defined by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended). The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in strict accordance with the details and 
timescale contained within the duly approved method statement.  

   
 Reason: To ensure the satisfactory treatment and disposal of invasive plant species 

which, under the terms of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) it is an 
offence to be caused to be spread in the wild, in accordance with the objectives of 
Unitary Development Plan Policy NE/3. 

 
22 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of 

development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March - July inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird 
nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no 
clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place until a methodology for protecting nest 
sites during the course of the development has first been submitted to and approved in 

Page 73



writing by the Local Planning Authority. Nest site protection shall thereafter be provided 
in accordance with the duly approved methodology.  

   
 Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 

Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the provisions of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 

 
23 No development relating to the phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 

permission which includes the site’s frontage onto Oldham Road (the location shown 
for plots 294-303 on drawing no. 014 Rev B) shall take place until a scheme to protect 
dwellings in this location from noise generated by passing traffic and surrounding uses 
has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall ensure noise levels of not more than 30dB(A) Leq (5 minutes) in 
bedrooms between 23:00 and 07:00; 30 dB(A) Leq (1 hour) in other habitable rooms at 
all times; and 45 dB(A) Lmax. Where windows need to remain shut in order to achieve 
these levels other means of ventilation shall be provided. The scheme shall thereafter 
be implemented in accordance with the duly approved details and a verification report 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate 
that the required noise levels have been achieved for each plot before the dwelling on 
that plot is first occupied.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation 

measures for the proposed dwellings to achieve satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and EM/3. 

 
24 No development for each phase identified in accordance with condition 4 of this 

permission shall take place on the part of the site relating to that phase until a 
Construction Method Statement (CMS) has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS shall include details of the following: - (i) 
hours for site preparation, delivery of materials and construction; (ii) the parking of 
vehicles of site operatives and visitors; (iii) loading and unloading of plant and 
materials; (iv) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; (v) 
the erection and maintenance of security hoarding; (vi) wheel washing facilities; (vii) 
measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction; and (viii) a 
scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction works. The duly 
approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, 

nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the 
construction of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
 
Report Author Chris Hobson 
 
  ______________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 74



 
 
 
 
 
 
Application Number: 15/00158/FUL    Ward: Norden       
 

 
Proposal: Alterations to and refurbishment of existing pub including demolition of 
existing side and rear single storey extensions with erection of new part single storey 
and part two storey side extension and two storey rear extension to form new bar / 
restaurant. 
 

Site Address: Bird Ith Hand  239 Bury And Rochdale Old Road Heywood Rochdale 
OL10 4BQ 
 

Applicant: Mr Rodney Nutter 
                   
 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions 
 

 
 
 
DELEGATION SCHEME 
 
In accordance with the Council’s adopted Scheme of Delegation the application has been 
referred to the Planning and Licensing Committee for determination as it represents a 
departure from the Development Plan. 
 

Page 75



At their meeting of 7 July 2015, Members of the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee 
resolved by a majority of 6 votes to 3 that they would be minded to grant the application and 
referred it to the Planning and Licensing Committee. 
 
 
 
SITE 
 
The site comprises an existing but vacant and boarded up public house (Use Class A4) known 
as the Bird I’th Hand, located along Bury and Rochdale Old Road.   The site extends to circa 
0.15 hectares and there is a large car park to the rear of the building. A large detached garage 
is located within the rear car park and the topography of the site is generally flat, with a slight 
incline from south to north. Beyond the site to the rear, land levels rise significantly towards 
Gristlehurst Farm. 
 
The existing two storey building is stone built under a slate roof and is considered to constitute 
a non-designated heritage asset.  The front elevation contains window and door openings 
which present a symmetrical elevation to the main road with a central entrance porch.  In 
contrast, the rear and side elevations have been altered over the years resulting in less 
sympathetic design, with window and door openings of different sizes and construction and 
single storey flat roof extensions to the side and rear of the building.   
 
Surrounding the building is an extensive area of hardstanding providing 44 car parking 
spaces, which can be accessed from either side of the building.  A single storey outbuilding 
lies adjacent to the west boundary within the car parking area.  
 
The site is bounded on the east and western boundaries by a combination of a stone wall and 
close boarded fencing, with fencing along the northern boundary.   
 
Beyond the west facing boundary is an end terraced dwelling, No.237 Bury and Rochdale Old 
Road, and to the east is a large detached dormer bungalow at No.241.  There is a smaller 
area of hardstanding in front of the building which provides additional car parking spaces, but 
there are no physical features which delineate between the back of the pavement and the land 
within the applicant’s ownership.   
 
PROPOSAL 
 
This application seeks full planning permission for alterations to and the refurbishment of the 
existing pub, including the demolition of existing side and rear single storey extensions and the 
subsequent erection of new part single storey and part two storey side extension and two 
storey rear extension to form a new bar/restaurant. 
 
The details of the extensions are described below: -  

- The side extension will extend from the western gable and it will contain the kitchen 

and the toilets.   This extension would be set back 1.2m from the front elevation and it 

would be 5.1m wide and 18.8m deep.  Above the kitchen would be steeply sloping 

mono pitched roof which is some 6.1m high while the toilet area to the rear would 

contain a flat roof which would be 2.6m high. The extension would be faced in a 

combination of zinc, timber and stone and it would also contain a staircase that would 

provide access from the kitchen to the 1st floor dining room.   The side elevation of the 

kitchen would contain one door which would provide access to the kitchen.  

- The ground floor of the two storey rear extension would contain an entrance lobby and 

a dining area.  The first floor would contain a dining room and narrow recessed 

balcony.  The extension would contain a flat roof and it would be 12.3m wide and 6.3m 

Page 76



long. The rear elevation would contain extensive areas of full height glazing and its 

side elevations would be faced with natural stone zinc cladding.  

 

The proposed car parking would provide 36 spaces.  Access and egress would be taken from 
the existing access which lies to the east of the building.  The applicant will employ 6/8 chefs, 
6 Bar persons, 20 waiting staff and 2 Restaurant Managers. 
 
The application has been submitted by the Nutter family who run the successful Nutters 
restaurant in Norden.  The Nutter family are looking to reopen the vacant Bird I’th Hand Public 
House and rebrand it The Bird at Birtle, with the view to opening the new business later in 
2015.  The success of Nutters Restaurant has been built on the back of the reputation of the 
well-known chef, Andrew Nutter, who has worked in London’s Savoy, as well as a host of 
Michelin-starred restaurants in France.  It is the applicant’s intention to establish a popular 
destination pub which will not only become a hub for the local community, but would build an 
enviable reputation that attracts customers from far afield to the benefit of the local rural 
economy and the economy of the Borough as a whole.   
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.   
 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate. 
 
Adopted Unitary Development Plan: 
 
G/D/2  Green Belt 
D/4  Control of Development in Green Belt - General 
D/9  Re-use and Adaptation of Buildings in Rural Areas 
 
G/BE/1 Design Quality 
BE/2  Design Criteria for New Development  
BE/7  Street Furniture and the Public Realm 
BE/8  Landscaping in New Development  
 
G/A/1 Accessibility 
A/3    New Development-Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People 
A/7              New Development–Access for Service Vehicles 
A/9 New Development - Access for General Traffic  
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking 
 
G/BE/1 Design Quality 
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development  
BE/8  Landscaping in New Development  

Page 77



G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control 
EM/3 Noise and New Development  
EM/4 Contaminated Land 
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water 
 
RELEVANT SITE HISTORY 
 
No relevant history.   
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Highways and Engineering – Raise no objections to the proposal. 
Environmental Health (Noise) – Raise no objections and in the interest of protecting the 
amenities of the nearby residents, a condition is recommended which requires noise from any 
plant and equipment used in conjunction with the development to not exceed 40 dB(A) over 5 
minute Leq when measured 1 metre from the facade of a noise sensitive premises. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The adjacent and adjoining properties have been notified, a site notice has been posted and 
the application has been advertised in the local press. In total, six letters of objection have 
been received and the grounds of objection are summarised below: 
 

- There is insufficient car parking proposed for this development. The proposed 
restaurant will have seating for around 100 and a large bar area.  Assuming 50% of the 
customers walk or use taxis will this mean that 35-40 spaces would be required for 
customers and 5-10 for staff. The lack of parking will impact on nearby residents 
sharing already limited parking. 

- The two storey extension would be extremely intrusive and be detrimental to the 
amenities of the residents of no’s 237 Bury and Rochdale Old Road.  

- The use of modern facing materials such as zinc cladding is not in keeping with the 
surrounding buildings and would be detrimental to the character of the area. 

- On the original drawing there was only one door from the kitchen on the west 
elevation. There are now two doors on this elevation and if left open the noise from the 
kitchen would cause a nuisance to the occupiers of no. 237 Bury and Rochdale Old 
Road.  

 
ANALYSIS 

Principle of Development 

Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) published in 2012 is one such material consideration and whilst it does not change the 
legal status of the development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  There are three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and 
environmental and paragraphs 18-219 of the NPPF, taken as a whole, constitute the 
Government’s view of what sustainable development means in practice for the planning 
system.   
 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for decision taking, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means: 

� Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 
delay, and 

� Where the development plan is silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 
planning permission unless: 

Page 78



- Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework 
taken as a whole; or 

- Specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted.  
 
Paragraph 211 of the NPPF makes it clear that for the purpose of decision-taking, the policies 
in the Local Plan should not be considered out-of date simply because they were adopted 
prior to the publication of the Framework. Rather, due weight should be given to relevant 
policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the framework -  the 
closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the framework, the greater the weight that may 
be given. Specific policies in the NPPF that may indicate development should be restricted 
include those relating to land designated as Green Belt and the presumption can be set aside 
in such cases.   
 
One of the main considerations in respect of this application is therefore the impact of the 
proposal on the Green Belt.  In addition, the other main considerations are: the impact of the 
proposal on the amenity of the occupants of adjacent properties, the economic benefits 
associated with the proposal, highway and parking matters and design.   
 
Impact on the Green Belt 
 
The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open; the essential characteristics of the Green Belt are their openness and their 
permanence (paragraph 79 of the NPPF).  The five purposes of Green Belt noted in the NPPF 
are: 

� to check unrestricted sprawl;  

� prevent neighbouring towns merging;  

� assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;  

� preserve the setting and special character of historic towns;  

� assist in urban regeneration.   

Policy D/4 of the UDP is broadly in accordance with the NPPF and both provide a presumption 
against the construction of new buildings in the Green Belt.  Exceptions to this listed in 
paragraph 89 of the NPPF are: 
 

� buildings for agriculture and forestry; 

� provision of appropriate facilities for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation  
and for cemeteries, as long as it preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does 
not conflict with the purposes of including land within it; 
a) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 

disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building; 
b) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same  

use and not materially larger than the one it replaces; 
c) limited infilling in villages, and limited affordable housing for local  

community needs under policies set out in the Local Plan; or 
d) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 

sites (brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding 
temporary buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the openness of 
the Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than the existing 
development. 

 
In addition, paragraph 90 of the NPPF states that certain other forms of development are also 
not inappropriate in Green Belt provided they preserve openness and do not conflict with the 
five purposes of including land within it (listed above).  One of these is the re-use of buildings, 
provided that the buildings are of permanent and substantial construction.  

Page 79



 
The re-use of the existing vacant building is not inappropriate development in the Green Belt 
and is supported in principle by policies in the NPPF and the UDP.  The NPPF and Policy D/4 
of the UDP are clear that the extension or alteration of a building can be considered 
appropriate in the Green Belt providing these do not result in disproportionate additions over 
and above the size of the original building.   
 
The applicant has submitted a Planning Statement containing a table that sets out the 
differences in floorspace, footprint and volume between the existing building, the sections of 
the buildings which will be demolished and the resultant new build.  This table is set out below: 
 

 
The above table demonstrates that they proposal would result in a significant increase in the 
size of the building compared with the original building, for example the floospace would 
increase by 73% and the volume would increase by 108% over and above the size of the 
original building.  Given this proposed increase in the size of the building, it is considered that 
the development would result in a disproportionate addition to the building and as such, the 
proposed extensions therefore comprise inappropriate development in the green belt.  
 
The NPPF is clear that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt 
and should not be approved except in very special circumstances (paragraph 87).  Paragraph 
88 of the NPPF states that: 
 
“When considering any planning application, local planning authorities should ensure that 
substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will 
not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and 
any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.”  

 
Therefore, in determining this application, substantial weight must be given to any harm to the 
Green Belt.  Very special circumstances will only exist if harm to the  Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.  Other 
considerations, including any other harm, are considered in the subsequent sections of this 
report.   
 
In respect of any other Green Belt harm over and above inappropriateness, the proposed 
single storey extension to the side of the existing building would not, in isolation, impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt.  However, combined with the two storey extension to the rear, the 
scale of the proposed extensions would have an impact on the openness of the green belt.  
Although this harm would be limited in the context of this site, particularly given the land 
slopes upward to the rear of the building, it nevertheless would need to be weighed in the 
planning balance.  It is however important to note that the extensions to the building, whilst 
inappropriate, would not conflict with the five purposes of including land within the Green Belt 
listed above. 
 

Page 80



Very Special Circumstances 
 
The Planning Statement submitted by the applicant outlines the benefits and very special 
circumstances of the scheme.  Carrying on from the success of Nutters Restaurant in Norden, 
the applicant intends to create a unique culinary destination venue rebranding it as ‘The Bird 
at Birtle’, with the view to opening the new business later in 2015.  The success of Nutters 
Restaurant has been built on the back of the reputation of the well-known local chef, Andrew 
Nutter, who has worked in London’s Savoy, as well as a whole host of Michelin-starred 
restaurants in France.   
 
The new venture at this site presents a departure from the fine dining cuisine at Nutters 
restaurant, but would advocate a high quality dining experience using the very best of local 
and regional produce.  The proposals include the upgrade of the interior and exterior of the 
existing building.   
 
The new kitchen area would be accommodated within the proposed side extension and it 
would allow the chefs to produce food of the highest quality, which can only be prepared using 
the best kitchen equipment.  It is envisaged that there would be in the order of eight chefs 
employed at the new business and the large kitchen space would allow for a wider and 
improved range of foods to be served at the new business, as opposed to that which was 
served before the previous use closed last year.  The meals will be prepared from fresh 
ingredients, as opposed to ready cooked meals and this requires more kitchen space. In order 
for the business to succeed, the chefs must be able to work in a fully equipped kitchen which 
enables them to produce the high quality food associated with the Nutter brand.   
 
The increased internal space within the restaurant area, facilitated by the new extensions, 
would enable the business to accommodate a greater number of customers in the dining and 
drinking areas.  To support the financial costs involved in setting up the high quality dining 
experience, the building must be able to accommodate a greater number of customers than 
could be accommodated in the existing building. Therefore, the proposed extensions will 
provide the opportunity to secure a sustainable business in the long term.   
 
The applicant envisages that the new business will employ in the order of 30 members of staff, 
including eight chefs. The new business would therefore generate 30 jobs in the locality to the 
benefit of the local economy and the economy of the Borough overall. In addition to this, the 
applicant intends to create a destination venue with an emphasis on excellent quality, locally 
and regionally sourced, food and drink. Where possible, the new business will look to work 
with local suppliers and businesses, both during construction and once the business is 
opened, to the benefit of the local and rural economy. 
 
In addition to the jobs to be created, patrons of the future business will contribute to 
expenditure in the local economy and the business will support local and regional food and 
produce suppliers.  The proposal would also provide a service to the local community and 
would not only retain the existing building, but would also secure the public use of the building. 
 
The NPPF recognises that planning policies should support economic growth in rural areas in 
order to create jobs and prosperity by taking a positive approach to sustainable new 
development. To promote a strong rural economy, local and neighbourhood plans should: 
 

a) support the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and enterprise in 
rural areas, both through conversion of existing buildings and well designed new 
buildings; 

b) promote the development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural 
businesses; 

c) support sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments that benefit businesses in 
rural areas, communities and visitors, and which respect the character of the 

Page 81



countryside. This should include supporting the provision and expansion of tourist and 
visitor facilities in appropriate locations where identified needs are not met by existing 
facilities in rural service centres; and 

d) promote the retention and development of local services and community facilities in 
villages, such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public 
houses and places of worship. 

 
Whilst specifically relevant to plan policies, the proposal would support the retention of a 
community facility in the local area and would benefit the local economy.  In addition to the 
above, it must be recognised that at a time when Public Houses are closing and being lost to 
change-of-use proposals and/or complete demolition, this proposal represents an opportunity 
to re-open a vacant Public House as a similar use as a bar/restaurant. Public Houses in 
secondary or tertiary locations (i.e. outside town or city high streets) have to develop good 
reputations if they are to become, and importantly survive, as a destination location. The 
existing pub on its own is not viable and the existing property is too small for a restaurant with 
bar and modern conveniences. The only way to finance this project is to run a food concept to 
subsidise the drinking establishment.  
 
It is recognised that many Public Houses are being redeveloped for alternative purposes and it 
is recognised that the loss of such facilities is often detrimental and results in the loss of 
community facilities.  In the past, public houses have often been altered to change use to retail 
convenience stores and there have been recent pressures for conversion to residential uses.  
These issues have been recognised by the Government and specific legislation has been 
introduced to address the loss of such facilities.  It is important to note that this is a brownfield 
site and the demolition of the public house building and its redevelopment would also be 
supported in principle under Green Belt policy, including for residential development.  This 
represents a realistic prospect and fall-back position in this case.  To establish a kitchen of the 
size necessary to support a restaurant as a viable alternative use to a drinking establishment 
alone, extensions to the original building are necessary, as demonstrated by the existing 
extensions erected previously.  In this case, the high end intended use results in a direct need 
for additional capacity in the public areas and the supporting back of house areas.  The very 
special circumstances are recognised and would need to be weighed in the planning balance.   
 

Design and External Appearance 

 

Criteria (a), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by: 

� Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure; 

� Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation; 

� Minimising opportunities for crime against people or property. 
 

One of the core planning principles of the NPPF seeks to secure high quality design.  

Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 

decisions should aim to ensure that developments: 

� will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development; 

� establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit;  

� respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation;  

� create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion. 
 

Page 82



The proposed development includes a two storey rear extension which extends the full width 
of the existing building and also a part single storey and part two storey side extension.  The 
side extension extends from the west facing gable elevation  
 
When viewed from the main road, the only element of the new development which would be 
clearly visible would be the part single storey and part two storey extension to the west of the 
existing building.  There would be glimpsed views of the rear extension on approach from the 
east.   In order to ensure the side extension remains subordinate to the main building, it has 
been set back 1.2m from the front elevation of the building. This extension contains a mono 
pitched roof which would provide visual interest and by reason of its design and massing it 
would integrate successfully with the existing building.    
 
The front section of the side extension would be faced with zinc cladding, stone and a small 
area would contain timber cladding.  The use of traditional and modern materials would ensure 
the extension represents a contemporary and diverse addition that does not compete with the 
original façade of the building.   
 
It is considered that the proposed side extension would be acceptable visually and would 
appear as a subservient addition to the original building and would be acceptable within the 
street scene of Bury and Rochdale Old Road.  
 
The two storey rear extension extends the full width of the rear elevation of the existing 
building.  Its rear elevation will comprise a wall of glazing at ground and first floor in the main 
dining areas, with a narrow balcony at the first floor level which overlooks the car park.  The 
design approach is contemporary with emphasis on vertical proportions and contrasting 
materials.   A flat roof is proposed so that the extension is lower in height than the height of the 
original building, ensuring the pitched roof will remain dominant.   
 
The existing building comprises a traditional stone building which contains relatively small 
stone dressed windows. The extensions adopt a contemporary approach to design and this is 
evident by the use of modern and traditional materials such as natural stone, zinc cladding, 
with the windows and doors frames constructed from dark grey aluminium.  It is considered 
that this use of a combination of traditional and modern materials would complement the 
traditional stone used on the Public House, thereby reinforcing the local distinctiveness of the 
building.  
 
The proposal is considered to be a very high quality scheme, taking into account of the context 
and setting of the development.  The use of high quality materials would ensure that it has a 
positive relationship with the original building and the wider landscape, and the overall design 
would provide a noteworthy addition to the area.  The proposed development is therefore in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies BE/2 and the NPPF.   
 
Relationship with surrounding development and uses 

 

Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural 
light is made both within and between buildings.  
 
Criterion (i) of UDP policy EM/3 confirms that development would not be permitted if it would 
lead to unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing of future occupants of 
buildings, or users of local open space.   
 
One of the core planning principles of the NPPF seeks to secure high quality design and a 
good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.   

Page 83



The following distances would exist between the proposed development site and the adjacent 
dwellings: -  

� The side extension would lie some 1.2m from the boundary with no. 237 Bury and 

Rochdale Old Road.   

� The west facing side elevation of the two storey rear extension would lie 6.4m from the 

boundary with no. 237 Bury and Rochdale Old Road.   

� The east facing side elevation of the two storey rear extension would lie 7.1m from the 

boundary with no. 241 Bury and Rochdale Old Road 

 
No. 237 Bury and Rochdale Old Road is an extended property containing a two storey 
side/rear extension set one metre from the boundary with the application site.   The boundary 
consists of a stone wall which appears to be approximately 2m high. The proposed side 
extension incorporates the kitchen which runs parallel with the gable elevation of no. 237 and 
toilets which contain a flat roof, set 2.5m high.  The existing 2m boundary wall and offset of the 
proposed extension from the boundary would screen the majority of the side extension from 
the rear ground floor windows within no. 237 Bury and Rochdale Old Road and from its rear 
garden.   
 
The two storey rear extension would adjoin the proposed single storey side/rear extension and 
it would extend beyond the original rear elevation of the building.  At the nearest point, the two 
storey rear extension would be sited some 6.4m metres from the boundary with no. 237 Bury 
and Rochdale Old Road by reason of its siting and size, it would not be unduly prominent from 
any of its rear windows.   
 
Although it is accepted that the proposed extensions would be partly visible from the rear 
elevation of no. 237 Bury and Rochdale Old Road and from its rear garden, it is considered 
that the occupiers would not have their outlook so affected that their living conditions would be 
unacceptably degraded.   
 
Adjoining the east facing boundary of the site is no. 241 Bury and Rochdale Old Road, which 
is large detached dormer bungalow. It is considered that the proposed development would lie 
a sufficient distance away from no. 241 Bury and Rochdale Old Road as not to unduly impact 
upon the living conditions of its occupiers, with the existing access retained at the side of the 
building. 
 
The proposed two storey rear extension incorporates a first floor recessed balcony which is 
8.2m wide and 1.3m deep.  The sides of the balcony would be enclosed and due to its size it 
would only be able to accommodate a small number of people.  Notwithstanding this, it is 
acknowledged that the existing use as a drinking establishment operated without restriction.  
Conditions can however be imposed on the grant of any permission in the interests of 
protecting the amenity of nearby residents, including opening hours and hours of deliveries 
and servicing.  It is therefore considered that the proposed use would not cause undue noise 
nuisance to nearby residents compared with the previous use and it is noted that no objection 
has been raised by the environmental protection officer.   
 

The proposal seeks to utilise the existing car park to the rear of the building.  The rear 
extension will incorporate an entrance lobby and bearing in mind the proposal seeks to reopen 
a vacant public house, it is considered that the expected comings and goings from customers 
and from delivery vehicles would not cause undue noise nuisance to the occupiers of the 
adjacent dwellings given the existing use.  
 
As discussed elsewhere within this report, the side extension will incorporate the kitchen.  In 
order to protect the amenities of the occupiers of the adjacent dwellings, a condition is 

Page 84



recommended requiring the new extraction system shall not exceed 40 dB(A) expressed as a 
5 minute Leq when measured 1m from the façade of noise sensitive premises. 
 
In order to ensure the external lighting does not cause nuisance to any nearby residents, a 
condition is recommended requiring full details of the external lighting to be agreed by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
It is unavoidable that major building works will have an impact on living conditions, by way of 
working hours, noise, lights etc.  To help reduce the impact of the construction phase of the 
development, a condition is recommended to require a construction management plan to be 
agreed prior to commencement to protect the amenity of residents during construction.  This 
would include appropriate construction hours. 
 
In summary, it is considered that the development would not have an adverse impact of the 
living conditions of the nearby residents and as such, the proposal complies with the 
requirements of UDP policies BE/2 and EM/3 as well as the advised as contained within the 
NPPF.  
 

Parking and Access Arrangements 

 
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not: 

� Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users; 

� Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 
restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development; 

� Substantially increase congestion; 

� Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or 

� Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 
traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network. 

 
UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that: 

� Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and suitable 
for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; and 

� Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided. 

 
UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for a restaurant/bar is calculated as 1 space per 7sqm of public floor space.   
 
The total floor area open to the public in the new development would comprise 312.7 sq. m 
and this results in a maximum car parking provision of 45 no. spaces.  The current car park 
can accommodate up to 44 no. spaces, although a couple of these spaces sit over the cellar 
hatch so they have not always be available for use.  The proposed layout provides for 36 no. 
of spaces and would therefore reduce the number of car parking spaces by eight.   
 

Page 85



It is noted that the above car parking requirements are expressed as maximum standards, not 
minimum standards.  In this particular case it is reasonable to expect that many customers 
visiting the restaurant will choose not to drive, which obviously will reduce the demand for car 
parking. It is considered that the provision of 36 no. of spaces will be sufficient to the meet the 
expected demand and the highway officer has raised no objection to the proposal.   

Servicing for the restaurant would take place from the rear car park.  It is considered that the 
servicing arrangements associated with the proposal would operate safely, in accordance with 
Policy A/7 of the UDP. 
 
The proposal is considered to provide suitable parking, servicing and access arrangements 
and there would be no adverse impact on the highway network.  As such the proposal is 
considered to be in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies A7, A/8, A/9 and A/10. 

Conclusion 
 
The NPPF is clear that substantial weight should be given to any harm to the Green Belt. 
Paragraph 88 confirms that very special circumstances will not exist unless potential harm to 
the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by 
other considerations.  
 
In assessing the application, it is clear that the proposal would have no undue impact on the 
amenity of the occupants of nearby properties; sufficient parking is proposed to support the 
proposed use; and the design of the contemporary extensions and alterations would provide a 
noteworthy addition to the area.  In this respect, the proposal complies with Policies BE/2, 
EMP3, A7, A8, A9 and A10 of the UDP and the NPPF policies relating to design, highways 
and amenity.   
 
Nevertheless, the application constitutes inappropriate development in the Green Belt by 
virtue of the disproportionate extensions proposed and there remains a balance to be struck 
between harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, the adverse effect on the 
openness of the Green Belt and the benefits and very special circumstances of the scheme.  It 
is clear that the extensions are essential to enable the applicant to deliver the high end 
establishment proposed and establish a long term and sustainable business. The extensions 
are therefore fundamental to the delivery of the benefits of this scheme, which are: direct and 
indirect benefits to the local economy, through the creation of over 30 new jobs in the local 
community and support of local and regional food suppliers and producers; the re-use of a 
public house continuing the legacy of a food and drink facility in this location; the creation of a 
high quality development; and the retention of a non-designated heritage asset.    
 
Having considered all the relevant matters, the harm identified comprises harm by reason of 
inappropriateness and harm, albeit limited, to openness, as a result of the disproportionate 
extensions proposed.  In this particular case, I consider the proposal to be finely balanced.  I 
also consider some weight should be afforded to the fall-back position, as there is a realistic 
prospect that the building could be demolished and the site redeveloped for an alternative use 
such as residential, resulting in the loss of a local service.   
 
Affording substantial weight to the harm to the green belt, whilst also affording significant 
weight to the need to support economic growth, it is considered the cumulative benefits of the 
proposal comprise very special circumstances that outweigh the harm to the green belt by 
reason of inappropriateness and harm to openness. Accordingly, it is considered that the 
proposal comprises sustainable development and it is therefore recommended that planning is 
granted.    
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Page 86



GRANT subject to the following conditions:- 
 
 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 

with the date of this permission.  
   
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 This permission relates to the following plans:-   
   
 3360-01 Location Plan   
 3360-02 Plans and Elevations as Existing   
 3360-04 Site Plan as Existing   
 3360-05B Site Plan as Proposed  
 3360-06G Ground Floor Plan   
 3360-07G First Floor Plan   
 3360-08F Elevations     
   
 and the development shall not be carried out other than in complete accordance with 

these drawings hereby approved.  
   
 Reason: For the avoidance of any doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 

development in accordance with policies of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan as 
listed below on this decision notice.  

 
 3 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application above ground works 

shall take place until samples or full details of materials to be used externally on the 
building have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Such details shall include the type, colour and texture of the materials. Only 
the materials so approved shall be used, in accordance with any terms of such 
approval.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 

in accordance with Policy BE/2 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 4 The car parking spaces as illustrated on drawing no. 05 Revision B shall be made 

available for use before the development hereby permitted is first brought into use and 
the car parking spaces shall be retained thereafter.    

   
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies A/9 and 

BE/2 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
 5 No external lighting shall be installed on the building or elsewhere on the site unless a 

scheme for such lighting has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The submitted scheme shall include details of LUX levels from the 
floodlights and any necessary baffles to prevent light spillage into neighbouring 
properties. The approved scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details and retained as such thereafter unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.    

   
 Reason. In the interest of visual amenities and to prevent nuisance arising in 

accordance with policies BE/2 and BE/18 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 87



 
 6 Details of the design, external appearance and position of any external plant terminals 

and associated equipment to be installed on the building shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before first installation.   The 
external plant terminals and its associated equipment shall be installed in accordance 
with the approved details, maintained in accordance with the manufacturer 
specifications and thereby retained as such unless otherwise approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason:  In the interest of visual amenity and to prevent nuisance arising in 

accordance with Policies BE/2 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 7 Noise from any plant and equipment used in conjunction with the development shall 

not exceed 40 dB(A) over 5 minute Leq when measured 1 metre from the facade of a 
noise sensitive premises.  

    
 Reason:  To protect the residential amenities of the occupiers of the adjacent dwellings 

in compliance with policy EM/3 - Noise and New Development of the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 
 8 No development shall take place until a construction management plan has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved management plan at all times 
during the construction period.  For the aviodance of doubt, the plan shall include:
  

 i) the hours of construction working  
 ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors  
 iii) loading and unloading of plant and materials  
 iv) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development  
 v) the erection and maintenance of security fencing  
 vi) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during  
 construction  
 vii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition  
 and construction works  
   
 Reason. To protect the amenities of the residents of the adjacent dwellings, in 

accordance with Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/2 and EM/3 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition:  The application site is adjoined by 

residential properties and all site works associated with the proposed development 
have the potential to affect the amenity of the occupiers of nearby properties.  An 
appropriate construction management plan needs to be in place at the time of 
commencement to protect the amenity of the occupiers of nearby properties in 
accordance with the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
 9 The premises shall not open for business before 08:00 nor after 24:00 hours Mondays 

to Saturdays and not before 08:00 hours nor after 23:00 on a Sunday.   
   
 Reason.  In order to prevent nuisance arising, in accordance with policies BE/2 and 

EM/3 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 

Page 88



10 Servicing and deliveries shall not take place before 07:00 nor after 22:00 hours 
Mondays to Saturdays and not before 08:00 hours nor after 17:00 on a Sunday.   

   
 Reason.  In order to prevent nuisance arising, in accordance with policy BE/2 of the 

Council’s Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
11 Within 3 months of development first taking place, a landscaping scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such a scheme 
shall include details of the type, species, siting, planting distances and the programme 
of planting of trees and shrubs.  The scheme of planting, as approved, shall be carried 
out during the first planting season after the development is substantially completed 
and the areas which are landscaped shall be retained as landscaped areas thereafter. 
Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously 
diseased within three years of planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs of similar 
size and species to those originally required to be planted.  

   
 Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory level of landscaping in the interests of the 

amenities of the area in accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/8 of the Council’s 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
12 Within 3 months of the development first taking place a 'hard' landscaping scheme for 

the site shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Such a scheme shall include details of the proposed design and surface 
treatment of all replacement hard-surfaced areas within the development site.  The 
development shall thereafter be fully implemented in accordance with the approved 
details before the pub is first brought back into use.  

     
 Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area in accordance with Policies BE/2 

and BE/8 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.   

 
13 Within 3 months of the development first taking place, details of the means of foul and 

surface water disposal shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The details, as approved, shall be implemented in full before 
the development hereby permitted is first brought into use.     

       
 Reason.  To secure a satisfactory system of drainage and to prevent pollution of the 

water environment in accordance with Policies EM/7 and EM/8 of the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.    

   
  
 
Report Author Paul Ambrose 
 
 
  _______________________________________________ 
 
 
  

Page 89



Application Number: 15/00312/OUT    Ward: Castleton       
 

 
Proposal: Outline application (including access only) for the erection of 167 dwellings 
with associated car parking, landscaping/ open space, childrens play facilities, 
attenuation plans and extension of existing canal bridge (and associated engineering 
works) to provide access via Manchester Road 
 

Site Address: Trub Farm Manchester Road Castleton North Rochdale OL11 2XG 
 

Applicant: C/O Agent 
                  S. & E. Lomax 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



DELEGATION SCHEME 
 
The proposed scheme represents a departure from the Development Plan and in accordance 
with the adopted Scheme of Delegation the application is brought to the Planning and 
Licencing Committee for determination. Members of the Committee have delegated powers to 
approve or refuse the application based on reasonable planning grounds. 
 
UPDATE 
 
At the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee on the 7th July the Committee resolved 
unanimously that they were minded to grant permission for the proposed development.  
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to a circa 5.18 Ha site long and narrow in shape bounded by the 
Rochdale Canal to the east, the M62 motorway to the south and the Manchester to Rochdale 
railway line to the west. The site sits towards the southern tip of the urban area of Rochdale 
and Castleton with the Greater Manchester Green Belt located to the south and west. The site 
is located within a predominantly residential area of Castleton located to the west of the arterial 
route along Manchester Road (A664). A variety of business premises including car show 
rooms, small scale local retail and commercial units are located along Manchester Road. 
 
The site currently comprises open grassland between the rail, road and canal infrastructure 
routes of the Rochdale canal and is allocated as a greenspace corridor within the Rochdale 
Council Unitary Development Plan. More recently the site was considered within the Councils 
Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) undertaken in 2014 as a site with 
extant planning permission for housing (reference SH1971) and identifies it as a brownfield site 
capable of delivering up to 179 dwellings, and 90 dwellings in the first 1 – 5 years, at a density 
of approximately 24 dwellings per hectare. 
 
A collection of recently completed two three storey houses face the site to the east with 
intervening canal and towpath between these and the application site. Open land is located 
beyond the railway embankment and tree line and raised motorway carriageway to the south 
and west. The Castleton local centre is located to the north of the site along Manchester Road. 
 
The application site comprises the western part of a larger site with extant outline planning 
permission granted on appeal (reference no. 11/D54610) for a mixed use development of up to 
199 dwellings, 70 bed residential care home, 55 no. private retirement flats, 1250 m2 of mixed 
groundfloor commercial space. The remainder of the site (the eastern part) has had a further 
outline permission granted for (14/00418/OUT) for the erection of 29 dwellings granted in 
February 2015. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application seeks outline planning permission for the erection of up to 167 no. dwellings 
and associated access, car parking, private gardens, public open space, play facilities, 
provision of flood risk attenuation, ecology ponds, means of enclosure and access via an 
extended canal bridge. The application is submitted in outline with only access being 
considered within this application. The reserved matters of scale, layout, appearance, and 
landscaping will be the subject of reserved matters applications at a later stage. Nevertheless 
indicative details of layout and scale of buildings and the broad areas of landscaping have 
been submitted.  
 
The site would be accessed from Manchester Road to the east utilising an existing road and 
bridge over the canal. The proposals include for the extension of the existing canal bridge into 
the site. The proposed scheme would comprise up to 167 dwellings indicatively laid out in the 

Page 91



masterplan in a narrow rectangular form running north to the south to the eastside of the 
railway line. Two larger blocks of apartments are shown to be sited at the southern end of the 
site fronting on to an area of open space and the M62 motorway. The indicative masterplan 
shows a long and narrow corridor of landscaped open space including footpaths and tree 
planting running along the eastern side of the site adjacent to the Rochdale Canal.  
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND LEGISLATION 
 
Primary Legislation 
 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (As Amended) 
 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (As Amended) 
 
National Guidance: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework  
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.   
 
National Planning Policy Guidance 
 
The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate. 
 
Unitary Development Plan:  
 
G/D/1  Defined Urban Area 
 
G/G/1  Greenspace 
G/2  Standards fro Recreational Open Space 
G/4  New Provison of Local Open Space 
G/8  Greenspace Corridors 
 
G/H/1  Housing 
H/3   Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas 
H/5  Residential Density 
H/6  Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development 
H/7 Affordable Housing 
 
G/A/1  Accessibility 
A/2  Accessibility Hierarchy 
A/3  New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People 
A/4  New Development – Access for Cyclists 
A/8   New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network 
A/9  New Development – Access for General Traffic 
A/10  New Development – Provision of Parking 
A20  East Lancashire Railway 

Page 92



 
G/BE/1 Design Quality 
BE/2  Design Criteria for New Development 
BE/7  Street Furniture and the Public Realm 
BE/8  Landscaping in new Development 
BE/9  Conservation of Built Heritage 
BE/15  New Development Affecting the Setting of Listed Building 
BE/17  New Development Affecting Conservation Areas 
 
G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control 
EM/2  Pollution 
EM/3  Noise and New Development 
EM/4  Contaminated Land 
EM/7  Development and Flood Risk 
EM/8  Protection of Surface and Ground Water 
EM/9  Development Involving Unstable Land 
 
G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation 
EM/13  Energy Efficiency and New Development 
 
G/NE/1 Nature Conservation 
NE/3  Biodiversity and Development 
NE/4  Protected Species 
 
G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands 
NE/8  Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows 
 
RE/6  Recreational Rights of Way 
 
LT/7  Rochdale Canal 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD 
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG 
Energy and New Development SPD 
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD 
Affordable Housing SPD 
 
Core Strategy (Submitted): 
 
The Council’s Core Strategy is currently scheduled to undergo an Examination in Public in 
June 2015. This is expected to centre on a single issue, that of housing numbers, and as such 
the remainder of the Core Strategy can now be given some, albeit it at this time without further 
advancement, limited weight in decision making. It is expected that based on current 
timescales, the Core Strategy will be adopted in late 2015 / early 2016.  
 
The following policies of the emerging and currently un-adopted Core Strategy (known more 
formally as the emerging Rochdale Publication Core Strategy) are relevant:-  
 
SO1  To deliver a more prosperous economy 
SO2  To create successful and healthy communities 
SO3  To improve design, image and quality of place 
SO4  To promote a greener environment 
 
SD1  Delivering sustainable development 
 

Page 93



SP3/M  The Strategy for Middleton 
G5  Managing Protected Open Land 
C6  Improving health and well being 
C8  Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities 
 
P2  Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage 
P3  Improving design of new development 
 
G1  Tackling and adapting to climate change 
G2  Energy and new development 
G3  Renewable and low carbon energy developments 
G4  Protecting Green Belt land 
G7  Increasing the biodiversity and geodiversity 
G8  Managing water resources and flood risk 
G9  Reducing the impact of pollution  
G10  Managing mineral resources 
 
T2  Improving accessibility 
DM1  General development requirements 
DM2  Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure 
 
SITE HISTORY 
 
83/D14781 Temporary site compound and cabins (Land at Montrose Street Castleton 

Rochdale) Permission granted 
 
86/D19168 Construction of sewers and manholes (partially above ground level) (land 

adjacent M62 Motorway Trub) Permission granted. 
 
89/D24187 Six industrial units and the formation of service and access road.  (land at Trub 

Farm (adj. to M62 motorway)) Refused. 
 
90/D26171 Industrial development.  (Trub Farm Manchester Road) Permission granted. 
 
94/D31199 Six industrial units incorporating signal junction to Manchester Road and 

highway improvements at Queensway/Manchester Road junction (renewal of 
outline application D26171).  (Land rear of Trub Farm, Manchester Road 
bounded by M62, and between railway and Rochdale Canal).  Permission 
granted. 

 
94/D31326 Use of land for a temporary period  for the sale and display of vehicles.(Land 

between 990 and 1022 Manchester Road)  Permission granted. 
 
97/D34857 Certificate of appropriate alternative development.  (Land at Trub Farm 

Manchester Road)  Permission granted. 
 
98/D36032 Construction of new canal channel, temporary access roads, permanent tracks, 

site compound and infill of existing canal.  (Land at Rochdale Canal, Trub, 
Manchester Road)  Permission granted. 

 
00/D37572 Erection of storage building and extension to service yard/storage compound 

(Trub Farm, Manchester Road) Permission granted. 
 
00/D38123 Industrial development - renewal of planning application number  

D31199 (Land adjacent to and to rear of Trub Farm, Manchester Road, 
Rochdale, Bounded by M62 and between railway) Refused. 

Page 94



 
01/D38934 Erection of warehouse unit.  Land at Trub Farm, Manchester Road) Permission 

granted. 
 
01/D39012 Alterations to listed lock, including filling in existing lock chamber, partial 

burying of lock by-wash and restoration of lock gates and associated works  
(Lock 53, Rochdale Canal, Castleton)  Permission granted. 

 
02/D39859 Provision of new access route and bridge crossing of Rochdale Canal (Land to 

west of Montrose Street, Castleton) Permission granted. 
 
03/D41904 Office development (Use Class B1).  Land to the west of realigned Rochdale 

Canal, Trub Farm) Refused.  Appeal dismissed. 
 
06/D48046 Amended details of access route and bridge crossing to Rochdale Canal (Land 

west Of Montrose Street) Permission granted. 
 
11/D54387 Screening opinion in respect of a mixed use development (Trub Farm, 

Manchester Road, Rochdale) EIA not required 
 
11/D54610 Residential development of up to 199 private dwellings, up to 70 bedroom 

residential elderly care home and up to 55 private retirement flats, 1,250 sqm of 
mixed ground floor commercial floorspace (any combination of A2 financial and 
professional services, A3 cafes and restaurants, B1(a)offices and a children’s 
day nursery (D1)), and 20,476 square metres of recreational open space. 
Refused – Allowed on appeal. 

 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Transport for Greater Manchester: - The resultant increase in patronage from the proposed 
development at Castleton Railway Station would require a financial contribution towards the 
improvement of public transport infrastructure at the railway station. A contribution by way of a 
Section 106 Agreement should be sought within this application. 
 
Canals and River Trust: - No objections to proposed development subject to entering into a 
section 106 agreement to secure contributions towards works to the canal towpath, conditions 
and informative. 
 
Proposed Works to Canal Bridge  
 
The Trust has no objection in principle to the proposed extension to the access road over the 
canal culvert, provided that these works are carried out with the consent and approval of our 
estates and third party works teams. However, these works are situated within the Rochdale 
Canal SAC/SSSI and any damage to or obstruction of the culvert would adversely affect the 
water supply to the old canal arm which now provides a reserve for the European protected 
species of floating water plantain luronium natans. It is essential that the potential risks of 
these works to the culvert and the designated site are fully assessed and mitigated. The 
Habitats Regulations Assessment should be revised to take full account of this element of the 
development and set out measures to avoid any risk to the culvert or the designated site. In 
order to inform the revised assessment it will be necessary to provide full construction details 
and a construction method statement relating to the works over the culvert (as required by 
Condition 17 of the appeal decision relating to the previous scheme on this site (Ref. 
11/D54610)). 
 
 
 

Page 95



Planning Obligation  
 
The Trust would request that the applicant enters into a legal agreement requiring the 
payment of a developer contribution towards the maintenance of the Rochdale Canal towpath 
in the vicinity of the site. The Trust is satisfied that this request satisfies the requirements of 
paragraph 204 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) for planning 
obligations to be necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; directly 
related to the development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. It is further noted that the previous appeal decision concluded that such a 
contribution would meet the tests. The Trust would therefore request that the previously 
agreed “highway contribution” of £15,299 (index-linked) towards the re-surfacing of the canal 
towpath is sought in respect of the revised scheme. 
 
Conditions  
 
The Trust also requests the imposition of a number of conditions, consistent with those 
attached previously by the appeal inspector. We are satisfied that these conditions remain 
relevant to the revised scheme and meet the requirements of paragraph 206 of the Framework 
for conditions to be necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, 
enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects.  
 
Condition 4 - limit on the number of dwellings;  
Condition 8 - the provision and management of a buffer zone alongside the canal; and  
Condition 16 - construction environmental management plan including measures to protect the 
canal. 
 
Informative  
 
If the Council is minded to grant planning permission, it is also requested that the following 
informative is attached to the decision notice: “It is essential that the applicant/developer 
contacts the Canal & River Trust’s Estates Manager (0113 281 6839) and Third Party Works 
Team (01782 779909) in order to ensure that the necessary consents are obtained and that 
the works comply with the Canal & River Trust “Code of Practice for Works affecting the Canal 
& River Trust”. 
 
Network Rail: - (1) Network Rail requests that the developer submit a risk assessment and 
method statement (RAMS) for the proposal to Network Rail Asset Protection, once the 
proposal has entered the development and construction phase. The RAMS should consider all 
works to be undertaken within 10m of the operational railway. We require reviewing the RAMS 
to ensure that works on site follow safe methods of working and have taken into consideration 
any potential impact on Network Rail land and the operational railway. The developer should 
contact Network Rail Asset Protection prior to works commencing at 
AssetProtectionLNWNorth@networkrail.co.uk to discuss the proposal and RAMS 
requirements in more detail. 
 
(2) The applicant is reminded that any works close to the Network Rail boundary, and any 
excavation works are also covered by the Party Wall Act of 1996. Should any foundations, any 
excavations or any part of the building encroachment onto Network Rail land then the 
applicant would need to serve notice on Network Rail and they would be liable for costs. An 
applicant cannot access Network Rail land without permission (via the Asset Protection Team) 
and in addition to any costs under the Party Wall Act, the applicant would also be liable for all 
Network Rail site supervision costs whilst works are undertaken. No works in these 
circumstances are to commence without the approval of the Network Rail Asset Protection 
Engineer. 

 
 

Page 96



Request following condition: 
“Prior to occupation of the dwellings the developer is to provide a suitable trespass proof 
fence adjacent to the boundary with the railway. Details of the fencing to be approved by 
the LPA and Network Rail.” 
Reason: To protect the adjacent railway from unauthorised access 

 
Should the council obviate Network Rail’s request for a trespass proof fence and decide that 
an acoustic fence is more suitable then we would have the following comments. 

 
Acoustic fencing / close boarded fencing that is proposed to be installed along the boundary 
with Network Rail is a cause for concern. Therefore the acoustic fence and its foundation 
design would be subject to the Network Rail Asset Protection Engineer approval. Any acoustic 
fencing should be set back from the boundary with Network Rail by 1m. 

 
Over the height of 1.8m, Network Rail would have to consider the impacts of wind loading on 
the fence. There is the potential for the fence to topple over and fall onto or towards the 
operational railway and damage Network Rail’s existing boundary treatments, safety critical 
lineside equipment as well as the issue of falling into the path of trains using the line. De-
stabilisation of land, soil slippage and railway fencing foundations being undermined should 
also be considered as potential areas impacted by a high acoustic fence. We also request a 
1m stand off to ensure that the supports for the acoustic fence do not encroach onto Network 
Rail land or impact upon the railway. 

 
Request following condition: 
 “Prior to the commencement of the development, acoustic fencing mitigation measures shall 
be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and Network Rail.” 
Reason: To protect the adjacent railway boundary. 
 
(3) The developer/applicant must ensure that their proposal, both during construction, and 
after completion of works on site, does not affect the safety, operation or integrity of the 
operational railway, Network Rail land and its infrastructure or undermine or damage or 
adversely affect any railway land and structures.  
a) There must be no physical encroachment of the proposal onto Network Rail land, no over-

sailing into Network Rail air-space and no encroachment of foundations onto Network Rail 
land and soil.  

b) Any future maintenance must be conducted solely within the applicant’s land ownership.  
c) Should the applicant require access to Network Rail land to facilitate their proposal they 

would need to approach the Network Rail Asset Protection Team at least 20 weeks before 
any works are due to commence on site. The applicant would be liable for all costs 
incurred in facilitating the proposal and an asset protection agreement may be necessary 
to undertake works. Network Rail reserves the right to refuse any works by a third party 
that may adversely impact its land and infrastructure.  

d) Any unauthorised access to Network Rail air-space or land will be deemed an act of 
trespass. 

 
(4) Any scaffold which is to be constructed within 10 metres of the Network Rail / railway 
boundary fence must be erected in such a manner that at no time will any poles over-sail 
the railway and protective netting around such scaffold must be installed. The applicant / 
applicant’s contractor must consider if they can undertake the works and associated scaffold / 
access for working at height within the footprint of their property boundary. The applicant is 
reminded that when pole(s) are erected for construction or maintenance works, should they 
topple over in the direction of the railway then there must be at least a 3m failsafe zone 
between the maximum height of the pole(s) and the railway boundary.  
 
This is to ensure that the safety of the railway is preserved and that scaffolding does not: 

- Fall into the path of on-coming trains  

Page 97



- Fall onto and damage critical and safety related lineside equipment  
- Fall onto overhead lines bringing them down, resulting in serious safety issues (this is 

applicable if the proposal is above the railway and where the line is electrified). 
The applicant is requested to submit details of proposed scaffolding works to the Network Rail 
Asset Protection Engineer for review and approval. 
 
Request following condition: 
 “Any scaffolding which is to be erected /constructed within 10metres of a boundary to a 
railway line must be erected in such a manner that at no time will any poles over-sail the 
railway line. A method statement giving details of measures to be taken to prevent 
construction materials from the development reaching the railway (including protective 
fencing) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA before the development 
commences. The measures including protective fencing) to prevent any construction materials 
from the development reaching the railway line hereby approved shall be implemented in full 
before development commences.” 
Reason - In the interests of railway safety 
 
(5) If vibro-compaction machinery / piling machinery or piling and ground treatment works 
are to be undertaken as part of the development, details of the use of such machinery 
and a method statement should be submitted for the approval of the Network Rail Asset 
Protection Engineer.   

� All works shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved method 
statement and the works must be reviewed and approved by Network Rail. The 
Network Rail Asset Protection Engineer will need to review such works in order to 
determine the type of soil (e.g. sand, rock) that the works are being carried out 
upon and also to determine the level of vibration that will occur as a result of the 
piling.  

� The impact upon the railway is dependant upon the distance from the railway 
boundary of the piling equipment, the type of soil the development is being 
constructed upon and the level of vibration. Each proposal is therefore different 
and thence the need for Network Rail to review the piling details / method 
statement.  

 
Request following condition: 
 “Prior to any vibro-impact works on site, a risk assessment and method statement shall 
be approved by the LPA and Network Rail.” 
Reason – to prevent any piling works and vibration from de-stabilising or impacting the 
railway. 
 
(6) All surface water is to be directed away from the railway. 
Soakaways, as a means of storm/surface water disposal must not be constructed near/within 
20 metres of Network Rail’s boundary or at any point which could adversely affect the stability 
of Network Rail’s property.  

� Storm/surface water must not be discharged onto Network Rail’s property or into Network 
Rail’s culverts or drains.  

� Suitable drainage or other works must be provided and maintained by the Developer to 
prevent surface water flows or run-off onto Network Rail’s property. 

� Proper provision must be made to accept and continue drainage discharging from Network 
Rail’s property. 

� Suitable foul drainage must be provided separate from Network Rail’s existing drainage. 

� Once water enters a pipe it becomes a controlled source and as such no water should be 
discharged in the direction of the railway. 

� Drainage works could also impact upon culverts on developers land. 

Page 98



Water discharged into the soil from the applicant’s drainage system and land could seep onto 
Network Rail land causing flooding, water and soil run off onto lineside safety critical 
equipment or de-stabilisation of land through water saturation. 
 
Full details of the drainage plans are to be submitted for approval to the Network Rail Asset 
Protection Engineer. No works are to commence on site on any drainage plans without the 
approval of the Network Rail Asset Protection Engineer. 
 
Request following condition: 
 “Prior to the commencement of the development details of the disposal of both surface water 
and foul water drainage directed away from the railway shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and Network Rail.” 
Reason: To protect the adjacent railway from the risk of flooding and pollution. 
 
No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than where it has 
been demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters. 
 
If the developer and the LPA insists on a sustainable drainage and flooding system then the 
issue and responsibility of flooding and water saturation should not be passed onto Network 
Rail and our land. The NPPF states that, “103. When determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere,” We recognise that 
councils are looking to proposals that are sustainable, however, we would remind the council 
in regards to this proposal in relation to the flooding, drainage, surface and foul water 
management risk that it should not increase the risk of flooding, water saturation, pollution and 
drainage issues ‘elsewhere’, i.e. on to Network Rail land. 
 
(7) Network Rail will need to review all excavation works to determine if they impact upon the 
support zone of our land and infrastructure as well as determining relative levels in relation to 
the railway. We would need to be informed of any alterations to ground levels, de-watering or 
ground stabilisation. 
 
Request following condition: 
 “Prior to the commencement of the development full details of ground levels, earthworks and 
excavations to be carried out near to the railway boundary shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority and Network Rail.” 
Reason: To protect the adjacent railway. 
 
The NPPF states: 120. To prevent unacceptable risks from pollution and land instability, 
planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development is appropriate for its 
location. The effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, the natural 
environment or general amenity, and the potential sensitivity of the area or proposed 
development to adverse effects from pollution, should be taken into account. Where a site is 
affected by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe 
development rests with the developer and/or landowner. 
 
(8) Network Rail requests that the developer ensures there is a minimum 2 metres gap 
between the buildings and structures on site and our boundary fencing. 

- To allow for all construction works on site and any future maintenance to be carried out 
wholly within the applicant’s own land ownership and without encroachment onto 
Network Rail land and air-space. Any unauthorised access to Network Rail land or air-
space is an act of trespass and we would remind the council that this is a criminal 
offence (s55 British Transport Commission Act 1949).   

- To ensure that should the buildings and structures on site fail or collapse that it will 
do so without damaging Network Rail’s boundary treatment or causing damage to the 
railway (e.g. any embankments, cuttings, any lineside equipment, signals, overhead 

Page 99



lines) and to prevent the materials from the buildings and structures on site falling 
into the path of trains. 

- To ensure that the buildings and structures on site cannot be scaled and thus used 
as a means of accessing Network Rail land without authorisation. 

- To ensure that Network Rail can maintain and renew its boundary treatment, fencing, 
walls. 

- That the proposal will not be impacted by overhead electrified lines. Induced voltage 
can affect structures or individuals up to 20m from the overhead line. AC lines have 
overhead cables, DC lines are third rail. 

- There are no Party Wall issues for which the applicant would be liable for all costs. 
- To ensure that the applicant does not construct their proposal so that any foundations 

(for walls, buildings etc) do not end up encroaching onto Network Rail land. Any 
foundations that encroach onto Network Rail land could undermine, de-stabilise or 
other impact upon the operational railway land, including embankments, cuttings etc. 
Under Building Regulations the depth and width of foundations will be dependant upon 
the size of the structure, therefore foundations may impact upon Network Rail land by 
undermining or de-stabilising soil or boundary treatments. 

 
(9) We would remind the council and the applicant of the potential for any noise/ vibration 
impacts caused by the proximity between the proposed development and the existing railway, 
which must be assessed in the context of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and 
the local planning authority should then use conditions as necessary.  

- The current level of railway usage may be subject to change at any time without prior 
notification including increased frequency of trains, night time train running and heavy 
freight trains.  

- Network Rail also often carry out works at night on the operational railway when normal 
rail traffic is suspended and often these works can be noisy and cause vibration.  

- Network Rail may need to conduct emergency works on the railway line and equipment 
and these would not be notified to residents in advance due to their safety critical 
nature. 

- The proposal should not prevent Network Rail from its statutory undertaking  
 
We therefore strongly recommend that all future residents are informed of the noise and 
vibration emanating from the railway, and of potential future increases in railway noise and 
vibration. Network Rail will not be held liable for any noise and vibration from the railway. As 
the applicant has chosen to develop a proposal adjacent to the railway then they must provide 
funding for all noise and vibration mitigation measures. 
 
Network Rail requests that the LPA and the developer engage in discussions to determine the 
most appropriate measures to mitigate noise and vibration from the existing railway to ensure 
that there will be no future issues for residents once they take up occupation of the dwellings. 
Network Rail is aware that residents of dwellings adjacent to the railway have in the past 
discovered issues upon occupation of dwellings with noise and vibration from the existing 
operational railway and therefore it is a matter for the developer and the LPA via mitigation 
measures and conditions to ensure that these issues are mitigated appropriately. 
 
(10) We would draw the council’s and developer’s attention to the Department of Transport’s 
‘Transport Resilience Review: A Review of the Resilience of the Transport Network to Extreme 
Weather Events’ July 2014, which states,  “On the railways, trees blown over in the storms 
caused severe disruption and damage on a number of routes and a number of days, 
particularly after the St Jude's storm on 28th October, and embankment slips triggered by the 
intense rainfall resulted in several lines being closed or disrupted for many days…… 6.29 
Finally the problem of trees being blown over onto the railway is not confined to those on 
Network Rail land. Network Rail estimate that over 60% of the trees blown over last winter 
were from outside Network Rail's boundary. This is a much bigger problem for railways than it 
is for the strategic highway network, because most railway lines have a narrow footprint as a 

Page 100



result of the original constructors wishing to minimise land take and keep the costs of land 
acquisition at a minimum.” 
 
In light of the above, Network Rail would request that no trees are planted next to the 
boundary with our land and the operational railway. Network Rail would request that only 
evergreen shrubs are planted and we would request that they should be planted a minimum 
distance from the Network Rail boundary that is equal to their expected mature growth height. 

� Trees can be blown over in high winds resulting in damage to Network Rail’s boundary 
treatments / fencing as well as any lineside equipment (e.g. telecoms cabinets, signals) 
which has both safety and performance issues.  

� Trees toppling over onto the operational railway could also bring down 25kv overhead 
lines, resulting in serious safety issues for any lineside workers or trains.  

� Trees toppling over can also destabilise soil on Network Rail land and the applicant’s land 
which could result in landslides or slippage of soil onto the operational railway.  

� Deciduous trees shed their leaves which fall onto the rail track, any passing train therefore 
loses its grip on the rails due to leaf fall adhering to the rails, and there are issues with 
trains being unable to break correctly for signals set at danger.  

 
The Network Rail Asset Protection Engineer must approve all landscaping plans. 
 
(11) Access to and from Castleton Railway Station must remain open and unblocked around 
the clock (24/7, 365) including for emergency vehicles, both during construction works on site 
and as a permanent arrangement. 
 
Highways Agency: - No objections to proposed development.  
 
Highways and Engineering: - No objections to the proposed development, I have no and the 

access proposals. There is ample capacity at the junction for a development of this size.  

Public Rights of Way Officer: - No comments received to date. 
 
Ramblers Association: – No comments received to date. 
 
United Utilities (UU): - In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Building Regulations, the site should be drained on a separate system with foul draining to the 
public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way. We would ask the 
developer to consider the drainage options in the following order of priority: 
 

� an adequate soak away or some other adequate infiltration system, (approval must be 
obtained from local authority/building control/Environment Agency); or, where that is 
not reasonably practicable  

 

� a watercourse (approval must be obtained from the riparian owner/land drainage 
authority/Environment Agency); or, where that is not reasonably practicable 

 
      c)  a sewer (approval must be obtained from United Utilities) 
 
To reduce the volume of surface water draining from the site we would promote the use of 
permeable paving on all driveways and other hard-standing areas including footpaths and 
parking areas. 
 
No objections to the proposal provided that the following conditions are attached to any 
approval: - 
 

Page 101



� This site must be drained on a separate system, with only foul drainage connected into 
the foul sewer. Surface water should discharge to the nearby watercourse to meet the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (PPS 1 (22) and PPS 25 (F8)) 
and part H3 of the Building Regulations(use with comment no.2)  

 

� No surface water from this development is discharged either directly or  
indirectly to the combined sewer network  

 
Design for Security: - No comments received to date. 
 
Contaminated Land Officer: - No objections subject to condition requiring the submission 
and approval of a site investigation report and verification report confirming implementation of 
remediation measures if necessary. 
 
Environmental Health (Noise): - No objections to proposed development subject to 
conditions as attached to previous similar scheme 11/D54610 to require submission and 
approval of details of an acoustic barrier adjacent to the motorway, and a noise attenuation 
scheme to protect future occupiers of the development.   
 
GM Fire and Rescue: - The Fire Service requires vehicular access for a fire appliance to 
within 45m of all points within the dwellings.  

 
The access road should be a minimum width of 4.5m and capable of carrying 12.5 tonnes. 
Additionally if the access road is more than 20m long a turning circle, hammerhead, or other 
turning point for fire appliances will be required. The maximum length of any cul-de-sac 
network should be 250 m. 

 
There should be a suitable fire hydrant within 165m of the furthest dwelling. 
 
Green Infrastructure Officer (Arboriculturalist): - No comments received to date. 
 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit: - No objections on nature conservation grounds. The 
GMEU have undertaken a Habitat Regulations Assessment for the proposed development, the 
conclusions and recommendations are as follows: 
 
It is concluded that the redevelopment of the Trub Farm site for residential use will not have a 
significant effect on the integrity of the Rochdale Canal Special Area of Conservation, 
providing that appropriate avoidance of impacts is achieved through the final design of the 
scheme and successful implementation of a comprehensive Environmental Construction 
Method Statement aimed at protecting the nature conservation value of the Canal.  

 
In addition to section 7 of this Assessment above, in reaching this conclusion the following has 
been taken into account – 

 
§ Very significant areas of built development, including residential development, are 

found adjacent to the Rochdale Canal and the ecological interest of the Canal has 
developed in the presence of this built development. 

 
§ Environmental Construction Method Statements aimed at protecting the special 

nature conservation interest of the Canal during remediation and construction 
works have been implemented successfully on other similar projects, not least 
during the large-scale restoration of the Canal itself.  

 
 
 
 

Page 102



Natural England must be consulted on the results of this assessment. 
 

Recommendations 
 
The following conditions should be appended to any approval that may be granted to the 
scheme: 
 

§ No work to commence until, a comprehensive Environmental Construction 
Method Statement has been prepared giving details of measures to be taken to 
protect the special nature conservation interest of the Canal during 
construction. Once approved, the CMS should be implemented in full.  

 
§ No work to commence until a detailed plan for surface water drainage has been 

prepared and submitted to the Council for approval. Once approved, the plan 
should be implemented in full.  

 
§ No work to commence until a detailed landscaping plan has been prepared and  

 
§ The proposal for ‘bridging’ the culvert connecting the old canal arm with the 

canal proper should be adopted in preference to carrying out more extensive 
works to the embankment close to the SAC. 

 
Other recommended conditions relating to Ecology that should be appended to any 
permission - 

 
o No site clearance works to take place during the optimum period for bird 

nesting (March to July inclusive) unless nesting birds have been shown to be 
absent. 

 
o A method statement for the control of invasive plant species should be 

prepared and once approved implemented in full. The method statement must 
be mindful of the need to avoid the use of chemical herbicides close to the 
Canal 

 
o A Habitat management Plan should be prepared and once approved 

implemented in full. 
 
Natural England: - The application site is partially within the Rochdale Canal Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC). Natural England notes that your authority, as competent authority under 
the provisions of the Habitats Regulations, has undertaken an Appropriate Assessment of the 
proposal, in accordance with Regulation 61 of the Regulations. Natural England is a statutory 
consultee on the Appropriate Assessment stage of the Habitats Regulations Assessment 
process.  
 
Your appropriate assessment concludes that your authority is able to ascertain that the 
proposal will not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any of the sites in question. Having 
considered the assessment, and the measures proposed to mitigate for all identified adverse 
effects that could potentially occur as a result of the proposal, Natural England advises that we 
concur with the assessment conclusions, providing that all mitigation measures as set out in 
Section 9 (page 12 of the Habitats Regulations Assessment) are appropriately secured in any 
permission given. 
 
This application is in close proximity to the Rochdale Canal Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI). However, given the nature and scale of this proposal, Natural England is satisfied that 
there is not likely to be an adverse effect on this site as a result of the proposal being carried 
out in strict accordance with the details of the application as submitted and providing that all 

Page 103



mitigation measures as set out in Section 9 (page 12 of the Habitats Regulations Assessment) 
are appropriately secured in any permission given. We therefore advise your authority that this 
SSSI does not represent a constraint in determining this application. Should the details of this 
application change, Natural England draws your attention to Section 28(I) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), requiring your authority to re-consult Natural England. 
 
You should apply our Standing Advice to this application as it is a material consideration in the 
determination of applications in the same way as any individual response received from 
Natural England following consultation. The Standing Advice should not be treated as giving 
any indication or providing any assurance in respect of European Protected Species (EPS) 
that the proposed development is unlikely to affect the EPS present on the site; nor should it 
be interpreted as meaning that Natural England has reached any views as to whether a 
licence is needed (which is the developer’s responsibility) or may be granted. 
 
Environment Agency: - As the site is within Flood Zone 1 the Lead Local Flood Authority 
should be consulted. Refer to standing advice. 
 
RBC Drainage / Local Lead Flood Authority: - Consider the principle of the drainage 
strategy on this site to be acceptable but would like to see some attempt at reducing the flow 
to below 30l/s. There is scope for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems on this site. However 
as this is just outline I feel I’d like some consideration to be made. This is not a large brook 
and is fed by a few sources downstream and I don’t want to create any further issues. 
 
Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS): - No objections. 
 
RBC Education: - Since 2013 school places in the local area have filled, therefore developer 
contributions would be required to provide for additional pupil places generated by the 
proposed development. These financial contributions would be used to support the provision 
of additional places within primary schools within 2 miles and secondary schools within 3 miles 
of the site. 
 
Primary sector, additional places could be accommodated (subject to consultation) within an 
existing primary school, which would need to be expanded further than currently planned. The 
developer contribution for primary school places for this site would be as follows: 
167 dwellings x 0.25 =41.75 children x £12,320.01 = £514,360.42  
 
Secondary sector, additional places could be accommodated within existing secondary schools, 
which would need to be expanded further than currently planned (subject to consultation). The 
developer contribution for secondary school places for each site would be as follows:   
167 dwellings x 0.1 =30.3 children x £15,400.01 = £257,180.17  
 
RBC Strategic Planning: - No objections. 
 
Development plan designations: 
 
The land is within the Defined Urban Area but is designated as a Greenspace Corridor in the 
adopted UDP (policy G/8). 
 
Principle of development – policies H/3 and G/8 
 
This site was part of a wider site that that was the subject of a planning application for a mixed 
use scheme and which was subsequently allowed on appeal in March 2013. Given this the 
general principal of residential development has already been agree however it is still useful, 
for consistency, to consider this application against policies H/3 and G/8. 
 
 

Page 104



Policy H/3 
 
Since the proposal is for a residential development outside an allocated area, policy H/3 is 
relevant to this application. Criterion a) of this policy requires that development should be on 
brownfield sites. This site has not been developed previously and therefore is considered to be 
a greenfield site. Policy H/3 does go on to say that the development of greenfield sites will only 
be allowed when the supply of land available for residential development falls below five 
years. 
 
At present the Council can demonstrate a five year supply when considered against the 
emerging Core Strategy housing target of 400 dwellings per annum with either the 5% or 
20% supply buffer applied as required by NPPF. 
 
The Core Strategy was submitted for examination in May 2013. An independent Inspector was 
appointed to hold the examination and the hearing sessions took place in October 2013. 
Following on from the hearing sessions the Inspector sent a letter to the Council on 20th 
November 2013 which set out his views in respect of the approach to housing. His concerns 
related to the evidence regarding objectively assessed housing need supporting the target set 
out in the submitted Core Strategy.  
 
In order to address this issue the Inspector recommended that an update of the Council’s 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) was required and that the examination should 
be suspended in order for updated SHMA and any associated work to be undertaken. The 
Council agreed to suspend the Core Strategy at a Cabinet meeting in February 2014. Work on 
updating the SHMA has now taken place with consultation on a draft SHMA in October 2014. 
This draft SHMA suggests that a figure of 460 additional homes per year better reflects 
current evidence on objectively assessed housing need. If this higher figure were included in 
the Core Strategy the Council would still be able to demonstrate a five year supply, again with 
either the 5% or 20% buffer applied. 
 
However, the Core Strategy is clearly yet to be adopted and therefore any emerging target 
would have limited weight at this time. 
 
In the absence of an up to date adopted local plan target, recent appeal decisions have taken 
the recalculated RSS target into account. If this target is to be met by 2021 (i.e. the end of the 
RSS period) this would give an annual target of 581 additional homes per annum (as at 1st 
April 2014) which could be met from the current published five year supply (i.e. as at 1st April 
2014) with the 5% supply buffer applied but not if the 20% buffer were deemed appropriate. 
The revocation of RSS in May 2013 creates further uncertainty regarding the appropriate 
housing target to be used in assessing the availability of a five year deliverable supply at this 
time. 
 
Irrespective of the uncertainty surrounding the most appropriate housing target, the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets an important planning context. Although there is a 
still a presumption in favour of developing brownfield sites first, NPPF does generally support 
‘sustainable development’. 
 
The proposal appears to satisfy the other criteria set out in policy H/3, particularly in terms of 
accessibility given its proximity to a high frequency bus route, Castleton railway station and 
shops and amenities within Castleton centre. It is also compatible with surrounding built land 
uses which are primarily residential. 
 
The proposal; does include a mix of property types including two, three and four bed houses 
and apartments (presumably one or two bed). Although this does meet the requirements of 
policy H/3 in terms of demonstrating a mix of types it is surprising that there is such a large 
number of two bedded properties and a corresponding small proportion of four bed houses. 

Page 105



Given the peripheral local of this site and good accessibility it is considered that it could 
provide a greater proportion of larger, higher value properties. Therefore any final scheme 
should consider the mix of properties on the site to see if a more balanced range of properties 
could be provided. Given the above, the key issue in policy terms is whether or not the 
proposed development could be considered as ‘sustainable development’ when assessed 
against other relevant policies. 
 
Policy G/8 
 
Since the site is within a Greenspace Corridor, policy G8 of the UDP is also relevant to this 
application. Part A of this policy sets out what are considered to be the unacceptable impacts 
of development on Greenspace Corridors. This includes unacceptable narrowing or division of 
a corridor and impacts on linkages, access, amenity and nature conservation value. Part B 
then adds that where development is considered acceptable within a corridor, the design, 
materials used, boundary treatment and landscaping should take account of the corridor to 
help retain or re-establish the overall character of the corridor and contribute to nature 
conservation. 
 
The main concerns with regard to the original application were that the scheme was 
considered to result in an overdevelopment of the site, particularly on the site covered by this 
application which is designated as a Greenspace Corridor. This original scheme was therefore 
considered to be contrary to policy G/8. As part of the previous appeal process the applicant 
did produce a revised scheme for the land which forms this application site. This revised 
scheme showed a considerable reduction in the extent of the overall residential development 
and gave greater consideration to the designation of the land as a Greenspace Corridor. 
 
We are pleased to see that this amendment has been carried forward into this recent 
application. It is assumed that this application has been submitted following the decision to 
split the original site with the land to the east of the canal being the subject of a separate 
application for 29 dwellings which was approved in February 2015. The layout in the 
masterplan for this revised application maintains a good corridor of open space adjacent to the 
canal and a further area to the south of the site adjacent to the motorway. The open space 
adjacent to the canal also appears to incorporate a Locally Equipped Area for Play (LEAP) 
which would be required given the size of the development. 
 
It is important that the open space shown on the current masterplan is carried forward into any 
final scheme in order to ensure that the proposal satisfies the requirements of policy G/8. In 
addition any final scheme should seek the views of the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit in 
terms of the landscaping / planting / boundary treatment in order to ensure that the value of 
the corridor for biodiversity is maximised and fits in with its proximity to the Rochdale Canal. 
 
Compliance with other planning policies 
Policy H/5 of the UDP requires residential development to achieve a density of between 30-50 
dwellings per hectare. The gross density of the scheme is 32 dwellings per hectare and 
therefore falls within this range. However, since this policy was adopted, the advice in terms of 
achieving a minimum density of 30 dwellings per hectare has been removed from national 
guidance. This has been replaced with a more flexible approach which enables the 
consideration of appropriate densities, taking account of housing needs and local 
characteristics. The scheme density is relatively high given that around 2.4 hectares of the set 
is retained as open space to meet the requirements of policy G/8 and to achieve an 
appropriate buffer with the motorway. This density is probably reflective of the mix on the site 
with the large number of smaller properties and provision of some apartments within the 
scheme (see comments on mix above). 
 
All residential developments in the borough must make a contribution towards the provision of 
open space in line with policy H/6 of the UDP and the Recreational Open Space in New 

Page 106



Housing Development SPD. Affordable housing will also have to be provided in accordance 
with the adopted Affordable Housing SPD. 
 
Conclusion 
Given the previous permission on this site and the fact that the layout incorporates a 
significant corridor of open space I am of the view that this proposal is acceptable in principle 
when considered against policies H/3 and G/8 of the UDP. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Direct Publicity: - Letters were sent to 135 neighbouring properties. In addition, as the 
proposal represents major development, and would affect the setting of a listed building site 
notices have been posted around the site and also in the local press. However, no objections 
have been received to the scheme. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle of Development and Contribution towards Housing Supply: 
 
Criterion (a) of UDP policy H/3 states that proposals for housing on unallocated sites will be 
permitted where the site is located on previously developed land. Annex 2 of the NPPF 
defines ‘previously developed land’ as: 
 

� “Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the 
developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage 
should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: 
land that is or has been occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has 
been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill purposes where 
provision for restoration has been made through development control procedures; land 
in built-up areas such as private residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and 
allotments; and land that was previously-developed but where the remains of the 
permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape in the 
process of time.” 

 
The site is located within an existing residential and commercial area of Castleton and within 
the Defined Urban Area of Rochdale within the UDP. The land is characterised by open 
grassland and comprises an allocated greenspace corridor providing an open setting to the 
Rochdale Canal. The site is considered to be greenfield land and therefore, the site would not 
constitute previously developed land for the purpose of the definition in the NPPF.  
 
However, it is noted that the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets an important 
planning context and although there is a still a presumption in favour of developing brownfield 
sites first, the NPPF does generally support ‘sustainable development’. 
 
It is also noted that UDP policy H/3 states that the release of greenfield sites for housing 
maybe permitted where the supply of housing land falls below five years as defined by the 
projected annualised rate (i.e. the annual target for additional new homes).  
 
The examination of the Councils Core Strategy is to be reconvened in the next few months 
and which will consider a revised draft SHMA. This suggests that a figure of 460 additional 
homes per year better reflects current evidence on objectively assessed housing need. If this 
higher figure were included in the Core Strategy the Council would be able to demonstrate a 
five year supply, again with either the 5% or 20% buffer applied. 
 
However, at this point in time in the absence of an up to date adopted local plan target, recent 
appeal decisions have taken the recalculated RSS target into account. If this target is to be 

Page 107



met by 2021 (i.e. the end of the RSS period) this would give an annual target of 581 
additional homes per annum (as at 1st April 2014) which could be met from the current 
published five year supply (i.e. as at 1st April 2014) with the 5% supply buffer applied but not if 
the 20% buffer were deemed appropriate. The revocation of RSS in May 2013 creates further 
uncertainty regarding the appropriate housing target to be used in assessing the availability of 
a five year deliverable supply at this time. 
 
In this instance, it is noted that the Core Strategy is clearly yet to be adopted and therefore 
any emerging target would have limited weight at this time. Furthermore, it is noted that extant 
outline planning permission exists for the mixed use development of the site including up to 
199 dwellings, and similarly the release of several windfall sites on greenfield land have 
recently been permitted in other appeal decisions. 
 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that where policies are out of date, permission should be 
granted unless where any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the framework taken as a whole; 
or specific policies in [the NPPF] indicate development should be restricted. 
 
Having specific regard to residential developments, it is also noted paragraph 47 of the NPPF 
requires Local Planning Authorities to “boost significantly the supply of housing” in order to 
“provide five years worth of housing against their housing requirements with an additional 
buffer of 5% (moved forward from later in the plan period) to ensure choice and competition in 
the market for land. Where there has been a record of persistent under delivery of housing [for 
example, against previous plan targets set out in the then Regional Spatial Strategy for the 
Northwest (RSS)], local planning authorities should increase the buffer to 20% (moved forward 
from later in the plan period) to provide a realistic prospect of achieving the planned supply 
and to ensure choice and competition in the market for land”.  
 
With regards to the golden thread of sustainable development running through the NPPF, the 
site is located within an existing residential area and urban area of Castleton, within walking 
distance of a variety of small scale amenities in the local centre along Manchester Road to the 
north, in proximity to a high frequency bus route, and the Castleton railway station and there 
would be access to public open space within the site and a recreational route which runs along 
the canal into the open countryside beyond. The proposed development is therefore 
considered to be within a sustainable and accessible location. 
 
With regards to housing type, size and tenure, as the application is in outline for up to 167 
dwellings. Full details of the number and mix of dwelling types, their sizes and tenure have not 
been submitted and indeed the exact typology and mix that will be delivered on the site will be 
subject to change and approval within reserved matters applications. The indicative proposed 
scheme nevertheless includes scope for a mix of apartments, detached, terraced and semi-
detached dwellings and which is also considered to be sympathetic to the housing typology 
and land use characteristics of the surrounding area.   
 
Having regard to all of the above, it is considered that the principle of the proposed residential 
scheme of 167 no. dwellings would be acceptable and would comply with the policies within 
the UDP for directing new housing development and those within the NPPF. Given the 
government’s desire to provide a more flexible supply of housing land (as indicated in the 
NPPF);  the sites location within a sustainable location, with access to surrounding education, 
retail, leisure and community infrastructure would make a valuable contribution to the supply of 
housing in the borough in accordance with the objectives of the NPPF. 
 
Design and Impact on Character and Appearance of Surrounding Area: 
 
Criteria (b) and (c) of UDP policy H/3 state that proposals for housing development on sites 
not allocated for housing or any other use in the plan will be permitted providing that: 

Page 108



� The site is well located in terms of access to jobs, shops and services by modes of 
transport other than the car. 

� The development provides a mix of dwellings in terms of type and size. 
 
Criteria (a), (e), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design 
by: 

� Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure; 

� Appropriate treatment of open spaces between and around buildings, including the 
provision of landscaping as an integral part of the development layout. 

� Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation; 

� Minimising opportunities for crime against people or property. 
 
Principles of good design in housing schemes are also outlined within the Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD): Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide. 
 
Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments: 

� will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development; 

� establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit;  

� respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation;  

� create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion. 

 
The application site comprises an area of open space on the urban edge of Castleton and 
adjacent to the Green Belt and open countryside to the southwest. The surrounding area is 
characterised by traditional Victorian tight-knit terraced streets and large scale former 
industrial sites. The site sits within an open part of the surrounding townscape itself afforded 
views alongside the Rochdale Canal and from the raised railway line and motorway 
carriageways bordering the site. 
 
It is noted that the canal and space either side provides for an attractive setting at a gateway 
into Castleton from the open fields to the south and is a well used recreational route by 
members of the public and the local community. The submitted scheme within this application 
is largely the same as that previously granted outline permission at appeal in 2013. Indeed, 
whilst the proposed development would itself result in the loss of part of a large area of open 
green space within the greenspace corridor, the indicative masterplan shows a significant 
proportion of landscaped open space would be retained along the western side of the canal.  
 
The proposed dwellings would be located along the western half of the site which would 
provide sufficient buffer and setting to the Rochdale Canal and watercourse. This buffer 
subject to consultation with GMEU could also function as informal public open space and a 
site for LEAP. In order to ensure that this buffer is retained and in accordance with the 
previous Inspectors decision on a very similar scheme for the site, a condition has been 
recommended requiring the submission and approval of a scheme to provide for and manage 
the buffer along the eastern half of the site. 
 
It is considered that subject to detailed design and consideration in reserved matters 
applications, the layout, form, access, and landscaping principles set out within the indicative 
masterplan are acceptable and would be compatible with the prevailing character and grain of 
streets, the surrounding townscape and the historic and contemporary precedents of housing 

Page 109



in the surrounding area. The proposed indicative masterplan is therefore considered to be in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies H/3 and BE/2, and the NPPF. 
 
Impact on Setting of Heritage Assets: 
 
With regard to the planning application, Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in considering whether to grant planning permission 
for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  Section 72 of the above act 
similarly requires that LPA’s pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character or appearance of any conservation area where relevant. Furthermore, the Court 
of Appeal has held that decision-makers should give considerable importance and weight to 
the desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings when carrying out the balancing 
exercise. 
 
Paragraph 133 of the NPPF states that “when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be.” 
 
UDP Policy BE/15 does not permit development that would harm the setting of listed building 
through its siting, scale, design or materials.   
 
UDP Policy BE/17 states that development proposals that preserve or enhance the character 
or appearance of a conservation area will be permitted. It goes on to set out a series of criteria 
that would be taken into account when assessing a proposal, including;  

� its relationship to existing buildings, the site and surrounding; 

� its design – including elevations, roof form, materials, finishes and detailing; 

� the retention, replacement and restoration of historic features and details of buildings, 
and in the public realm, walls, paving and street furniture; 

� the retention and enhancement of landscaped area, trees and natural features. 
 
With regards to the impact on nationally important buildings within the surrounding area, it is 
noted that the Rochdale Canal immediately to the east of the site includes Lock 52 and 53 and 
towpath which form a collection of Grade II Listed structures. The historic, cultural and 
architectural significance of these structures is undoubtedly tied to the function, character and 
appearance of the canal. The indicative masterplan shows a substantial landscaped buffer 
between the proposed dwellings and these structures which is considered would provide 
sufficient break setting to the canal and these heritage assets for there to be no harm caused 
to the significance of these nationally important assets. Given the intervening built form and 
distance to St Martin’s Church to the west it is considered that the proposals would not cause 
detriment to the character and the architectural and historic significance of the listed church 
building. 
 
The application site is located towards the south west of the Castleton South Conservation 
Area. Given the proposed buffer to the Rochdale Canal, and the intervening Rochdale Canal, 
the built form and the new dwellings being constructed it is not considered that the proposals 
would be overly prominent from within the conservation area or from views into the 
conservation area. As a result the indicative proposals are considered to preserve the 
character and appearance of the Castleton South Conservation Area. Furthermore, given the 
buffer provided by the intervening Rochdale Canal, Trub Brook and the built form of the 
industrial buildings and the new dwellings being constructed, it is considered that there would 
be no harm caused to the setting of the George and Dragon public house as an undesignated 
heritage asset. 
 

Page 110



Therefore, it is considered that the development as set out in the proposed indicative 
masterplan would preserve and enhance the setting of the nearby Grade II listed canal locks, 
bridges and tow path structures, and that there would be no significant impact on the Grade II 
Listed St Martins Church to the east of the site. The proposed outline scheme is therefore 
considered to accord with policies BE9, BE15, BE17 of the UDP and the policies within the 
NPPF. 
 
Amenity of Future Occupants and Compatibility with Surrounding Uses: 
 
UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents. 
 
Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural 
light is made both within and between buildings.  
 
In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum 
separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of opposing 
dwellings and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations. 
 
It is noted that the site is located on the edge of a predominantly residential area of Castleton 
and within close proximity to the open fields to the south and west. However, the site is 
located within close proximity to the Manchester to Rochdale railway line and also the M62 
Motorway which are subject to regular and constant rail and road traffic.  
 
With regards to noise and acoustic implications, the applicants have submitted an acoustic 
report with the application which has been updated since the previous outline permission 
granted at appeal in 2013. This concludes that with standard double glazing fitted to the 
dwellings, reasonable to desirable conditions could be achieved within all of the proposed 
dwellings whilst openings are shut. The indicative masterplan indicates an area of open space 
and tree planting in the southern part of the site adjacent to the motorway with apartment 
buildings fronting on to the open space which would help to provide a buffer to the majority of 
dwellings located further to the north.  
 
Given the implications for noise levels of those dwellings nearest to the M62 motorway and 
conflict with the need for natural ventilation, in the interests of the amenity of future occupants 
of the dwellings it is considered that a condition would be necessary to secure the detailed 
design of an appropriate acoustic and ventilation measures within the scheme and that this 
would need to be secured within subsequent detailed reserved matters applications. 
 
In accordance with the recommendations of the Council’s Environmental Health Department 
and the extant planning permission for the site, conditions have been recommended securing 
the approval and implementation of an acoustic barrier along the southern boundary of the site 
adjacent to the M62 motorway (condition 11), and the submission and approval of a scheme of 
acoustic attenuation measures within reserved matters applications (condition 13). 
 
In terms of air quality it is noted that again given the proximity to key strategic and well used 
infrastructure routes including the M62 motorway the proposed dwellings maybe subject to 
concentrated levels of air pollutants. An Air Quality Assessment has accompanied this 
application which concludes that the predicted concentrations of air contaminants would be 
largely below the average annual air quality objective levels and recommends that an 
appropriate buffer of 10 metres to the southern end of the site. The indicative masterplan has 
been designed in accordance with these recommendations and includes a significant buffer of 
tree planting and open space to the southern boundary well in excess of that recommended.  
 

Page 111



The noise and air quality assessments indicate that the proposals would not cause any 
significant additional air and noise pollution over and above the existing baseline levels within 
the surrounding environment. With regards to the impact of the proposed development on the 
outlook, daylight and privacy of surrounding residents, given the intervening distances to the 
surrounding residential properties would be well in excess of the minimum 21 metre 
separation distance required, it is considered that the proposal would not in principle cause 
any significant harm to surrounding residents and occupiers.  
 
With regards to the impact on surrounding residential properties during the construction phase 
of the development, it is considered that subject to a an approved scheme restricting hours of 
construction work, the proposed construction phase of development would not cause 
significant over-riding harm to the amenity of neighbouring residents. Therefore, a condition 
(no. 15) requiring the approval of a construction environmental management plan has been 
recommended and will include the need for approval of construction, building, ground works 
and delivery hours. This will replicate the condition included on the previous Inspectors 
decision to restrict the hours of construction activities on site to ensure there would be no 
over-riding disturbance to future occupants by way of noise and disturbance experienced 
during construction of the proposed development. 
 
The Councils Environmental Health Department as under consideration of the previous 
application no. 11/D54610 have raised no objections to the proposed development subject to 
conditions securing the provision of an acoustic barrier adjacent to the M62 motorway and 
implementation of a scheme of noise and air quality attenuation measures for the proposed 
dwellings, it is noted that when the,. Given that the scheme is in outline with the detailed 
layout, design, and scale to be the subject of subsequent reserved matters applications, and 
that the layout of the site indicates the provision of a buffer to the M62 motorway, it is 
considered that the proposed development would in principle provide for adequate levels of 
amenity for future occupants. A condition (11) has subsequently been recommended as in the 
existing permission securing the approval of a noise attenuation scheme within the reserved 
matters applications. 
 
Therefore, subject to conditions, in principle the proposed development would be compatible 
with surrounding uses, both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and would be in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policies H/3 and BE/2, the objectives of the SPG “Guidelines and 
Standards for Residential Development” and the NPPF. 
 
Access and Highway Railway Safety Implications: 
 
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
Traffic Generation / Highway Network Capacity 
 
UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not: 

• Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users; 

• Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 
restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development; 

• Substantially increase congestion; 

• Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or 

• Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 
traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network. 

  

Page 112



In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be “compatible with surrounding 
uses, including highways, both in terms of [their] impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires proposals to 
facilitate safe and convenient access and circulation. 
 
The current proposed scheme comprises the addition of up to 167 dwellings on the western 
part of the Trub Farm site. If the current scheme and the existing outline permission on the 
adjacent site granted in February 2015 for 29 dwellings were both brought forward the total 
number of dwellings would be 196.  
 
The application has been accompanied by a Transport Statement that updates the original 
Transport Assessment that considered the implications of 199 dwellings and additional 
retirement apartments and commercial space. Given that the proposals would total 196 
dwellings and not exceed the quantums of development previously assessed, it is considered 
that this would be adequate to properly assess the transport and traffic implications of the 
proposals. 
 
The Transport Statement highlights that the site is located within close proximity to a bus route 
that provides frequent services (7 an hour) to Rochdale, Middleton and Manchester and 
journey times are approximately 9 minutes to Rochdale, 13 minutes to Middleton and 33 
minutes to Manchester. The site is well linked by footpaths to Castleton Railway Station which 
is within a 5 and 10 minute walking distance from the site and which offers direct services into 
Rochdale, Manchester and Leeds with subsequent links to the wider region and beyond. 
 
Furthermore, given the sites proximity to the local centre of Castleton and the various facilities 
within it, its proximity to local schools and recreational facilities within the surrounding area, it 
is envisaged that a number of trips would be made on cycle or on foot limiting the need for 
vehicular trips.  
 
The Highways Authority have raised no objections to the proposed development. It is also 
noted that there is extant outline permission for 179 dwellings on this part of the site alone and 
a mixed use development on the eastern part of the Trub Farm site. The cumulative impact of 
196 dwellings is therefore not considered to have any significant additional harm to the 
surrounding highway capacity than the extant permission at the site.  
 
Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would not cause severe adverse 
harm to the function and operation of the surrounding road network would not result in any 
strategic highways implications, in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies A/3, A/8 
and A/9.  
 
Access 
 
UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that: 

• Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed; 

• Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations; 

• Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and 

• Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists. 
 
UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that: 

Page 113



• Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and suitable 
for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use them; and 

• Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided. 

 
This application seeks outline permission with only access being applied for at this point in 
time. The proposed scheme would be accessed via a single road which runs via an existing 
road bridge over the Rochdale Canal. This road links onto an access on to the west side of 
Manchester Road, which would be utilised by the extant permission on the eastern part of the 
Trub Farm site and an existing housing development to the east of the Rochdale Canal that is 
under construction. The proposed access route is the same as that previously granted outline 
permission at appeal which is for a similar quantum of development. It is noted that the 
junction on to Manchester Road is located on a straight stretch of Manchester Road with 
adequate visibility and with existing speed restrictions.  
 
The access road by way of the change in levels over the bridge and turn in the road would act 
as to naturally reduce speeds into and out of the wider site. The proposed indicative scheme 
also provides for a clear and legible layout along the main spine road, and through the 
significant open space adjacent to the canal would enhance the existing pedestrian and cycle 
routes along its length. Overall it is considered that the proposal would accord with 
accessibility hierarchy in policy A/2 of the UDP. 
 
Parking 
 
UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 [housing] 
developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of over the plan 
period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling.” The policy states that car parking 
provision at less than the maximum standard will be accepted subject to an assessment of the 
following criteria: 
 

� The location of the development and the appropriateness and feasibility of providing 
parking provision within that location; 

� Access to other transport modes; 

� The availability of other convenient and safe off-street parking; 

� The availability of unutilised on-street parking capacity and the ability to accommodate 
parking without harm to visual amenity or pedestrian / road safety; and 

� The willingness of a developer to fund traffic Orders to establish controls on on-street 
parking or other measures to mitigate the impact, including securing modal shift away 
from vehicular traffic and other traffic management measures. 

 
As the proposed scheme is in outline with only the matter of access being considered at this 
point in time no details of parking levels have been submitted. Notwithstanding this the 
indicative layout appears to show sufficient space to meet the Council’s adopted maximum 
parking standards, albeit subsequent government guidance limits the weight that can be given 
to these. It is also noted that the site sits within a sustainable location within walking distance 
to variety of retail, leisure, community and health facilities and services within Castleton to the 
north, and within close proximity to both bus and rail services which would limit the need for 
residents to make trips by private motor-vehicle.  
 
Having regard to all of the above, it is considered that the proposed development would make 
satisfactory arrangements for vehicle access, manoeuvring and parking, and would facilitate 

Page 114



safe and convenient circulation for pedestrians to and from the site. The scheme is not 
considered to have an adverse impact on highway safety and would not generate a level of 
additional traffic which would have a detrimental impact on the safe and efficient operation of 
the immediate local highway network, or strategic routes. The Highways Authority have raised 
no objections to the proposed development subject to conditions. The proposal is therefore in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies A/3, A/8, A/9, A/10, H/3 and BE/2, and the 
NPPF. 
 
Railway Infrastructure 
 
The application site sits directly adjacent to the Manchester to Rochdale railway line which sits 
on a raised embankment above site. Since the previous grant of permission at appeal it is 
noted that the Rail Accident Investigation Branch report into ‘Penetration and obstruction of a 
tunnel between Old Street and Essex Road stations, London  8 March 2013’, has been 
published and which in its conclusions recommended that; “the planning approval process 
reduces the risk to railway infrastructure due to adjacent developments.“  
 
The result of this is that the Department for Communities and Local Government have 
introduced a process to ensure that Railway Infrastructure Managers are made aware of all 
planning applications in the vicinity of railway infrastructure. Network Rail has a statutory 
obligation to ensure the availability of safe train paths and as such they are required to take an 
active interest in any development adjacent to our infrastructure that potentially could affect 
the safe operation of the railway.  
 
As part of the application process Network Rail have been consulted on the proposed scheme. 
As set out above Network Rail have raised no objections to the proposed development but 
have requested a number of conditions in the interests of safeguarding the function, operation 
and safe use of the adjacent railway that runs immediately along the west boundary of the site. 
 
Having regard to this additional material consideration, and given the scale and of the works 
and their proximity to the railway line these conditions are considered necessary in the 
interests of public safety and efficient operation of the strategically important railway 
infrastructure and have therefore been included in the recommendation. Subject to these 
conditions, it is considered that the proposed development in principle would cause no 
significant harm to the operation of the railway network and its users, and future occupiers and 
construction related personnel would be safeguarded in accordance with paragraph 120 of the 
NPPF.  
 
Ecological and Nature Conservation Implications: 
 
The most significant constraint on the development is the presence of protected ecological 
sites on and adjacent to the application site.  These are in the form of the designation of the 
Rochdale Canal Special Area of Conservation (SAC) (European site) for the population of 
floating water plantain (Luronium natans) it supports and the site is also a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) and a grade A Site of Biological Importance (SBI).  As a result, the 
planning application was supported by an up to date Ecological Appraisal (February 2015) and 
Habitats Regulations Appraisal (March 2015) 
 
The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by: 

� minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where 
possible, contributing to the Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in 
biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more 
resilient to current and future pressures. 

 

Page 115



Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following 
(relevant) principles: 
 

� if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on 
an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused; 

� opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged. 

 
UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas which are not specially designated for their nature 
conservation value, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats 
of ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should 
seek to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would 
place an unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory 
features or habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type 
of development permitted may be required.  
 
UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that: 

� There is no adverse impact on the species concerned; 

� Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 
required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and 

� Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation. 

 
UDP policy NE/8 (d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands should 
ensure: 

� The nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 
safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species. 

 
The GMEU have, on behalf of the Council as their expert advisors, provided a screening 
opinion under the Habitats Directive to ascertain whether the development is likely to result in 
harm to the protected sites. GMEU have taken into account the cumulative impact of other 
developments proposed for the canalside when coming to its conclusions, for example the 
adjacent Whipp and Bourne site that is under construction on the opposite side of the Rochdale 
Canal.  
 
The potentially harmful impacts arising from the development on the protected sites are 
considered to be: 

� Dredging 

� Draining 

� Pollution 

� Shading 

� Increased boat traffic 

� Use of herbicides 

� Direct impact on important aquatic plants 
 
The development does not propose any connections to the canal and as such there is no 
potentially harmful impact arising from dredging, draining or increased boat traffic. 
 
 
 

Page 116



The following are risks that could take place if mitigation measures were not in place: 
 

� Pollution arising from the mobilisation of pollutants that may be present from former land 
uses (contamination) or during the construction process and surface water drainage; 

 

� Shading from tall buildings or tree planting close to the canal; 
 

� Use of herbicides from landscaping works close to the canal; 
 

� Direct impact on aquatic plants through possible construction impacts. 
 
The above impacts are difficult to assess with the application being made in outline.  Whilst this 
is the case GMEU are satisfied that the above impacts can be adequately controlled by the 
imposition of conditions on any permission relating to the following: 
 

� An environmental construction method statement being agreed to ensure that the special 
nature conservation value of the site is protected; 

 

� Surface water drainage proposals to be approved and implemented; 
 

� A detailed landscaping plan to be approved and implemented; 
 

� The continuation of the access road into the site should be by means of bridging of the 
culvert which feeds the old section of the Rochdale Canal rather than an extension of the 
existing embankment; 

 

� No site clearance to take place during the optimum bird nesting period (March to July); 
 

� The control and eradication of invasive plant species; 
 

� Approval and implementation of a Habitat Management Plan. 
 
The GMEU have therefore raised no objections to the proposed development on nature 
conservation grounds. The screening opinion has been forwarded to Natural England for their 
further comment and agreement that the recommendations of GMEU are acceptable.  Natural 
England have confirmed that the appropriate assessment has been undertaken in accordance 
with the above regulations and raise no objections subject to the implementation of all the 
mitigation measures set out in the HRA and report prepared by GMEU.  The mitigation and 
protection measures set out above and requested by both GMEU and Natural England have 
been secured by of a series of conditions requiring these to be implemented in accordance with 
approved details and schemes. This discharges the Local Planning Authority’s duties under the 
Habitat Regulations.  
 
With regards to whether invasive species are prevalent on site and the surrounding area, it is 
noted that there has been evidence of Himalayan Balsam, Japanese Knotweed and Japanese 
Rose being present on the site. The application has been supported by an Invasive Species 
Survey which identifies that Japanese Knotweed was present in a small amount on the site, 
and Japanese Rose and Himalayan Balsam are present on adjacent areas to the south, east 
and west of the site. The submitted report sets out recommendations for eradicating these, 
which the GMEU have considered to be acceptable. A condition has therefore been 
recommended requiring the measures set out in this report are undertaken prior to the 
commencement of development. 
 
In accordance with the recommendations of the GMEU, conditions have been recommended 
to address the above and in accordance with those included to the permission granted at 

Page 117



appeal. Subject to these conditions it is considered that subsequent reserved matters 
applications and the proposed development overall would ensure that adequate mitigation and 
satisfactory precautionary measures can be put in place to ensure that the development would 
not adversely affect the limited nature conservation value of the site or the favourable 
conservation status of any protected species. The proposed development is therefore in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8, and the NPPF and 
the Habitat Regulations. 
 
Impact on Trees and Landscape Features: 
 
UDP policy NE/7 states that: 

� No work of any nature should be carried out which could possibly affect the health of a 
tree or trees included in a Tree Preservation Order without the proper written authority 
of the Council. This includes any work which is carried out to trees or other works 
which could damage root systems or any part of the tree above ground. Any works 
carried out to trees must constitute good arboricultural practice.  

 
In addition, UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals on 
sites containing trees and woodlands should ensure: 

� Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows; 

� That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered; 

� Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction; 

� Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and woodland 
(which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and 

� Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period. 
 
The application site comprises a roughly rectangular soft landscaped parcel of land ending in 
a point at the northern tip. There are a group of mature trees immediately to the north of the 
site and a number of mature trees that run along the southern boundary of the site. Whilst 
comments of the Council’s Arboricultural Officer are still awaited it is noted that the site is 
largely clear of substantial trees and the proposed indicative plans show a substantial amount 
of tree planting to the east and southern parts of the site. Indeed with respect to the groups of 
mature trees that bound the south, north and west boundaries of the site, it is noted that the 
proposed buildings would be off-set from the boundary and subject to appropriate design of 
hard surfaces, foundations and the incorporation of a series of tree protection measures within 
reserved matters applications, it is not considered that satisfactory protection measures could 
be put in place to protect surrounding mature trees. 
 
Therefore, in principle it is not considered that the proposed development would not result in 
significant harm by way of loss of any important landscape feature and through the 
implementation of a replacement tree planting scheme secured in reserved matters 
applications, it is considered that there would be a significant gain in the quantity and spread 
of trees on the site as a result of the proposed development. Therefore, in principle the 
proposed development would accord with the requirements of UDP policies NE/7 and NE/8.  
 
Flood Risk and Drainage Implications: 
 
Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk”. 
 

Page 118



UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood 
plains, or other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an 
appropriate flood risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are met: 
 

� It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by 
reducing flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the 
additional discharge of surface water; 

� It will not itself be at risk from flooding; 

� Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used; 

� Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided; 

� Existing or proposed flood defences are protected; 

� It would not result in extensive culverting; and 

� Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at the 
developer’s expense. 

 
The majority of the application site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of 
flooding (less than 1 in 1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). 
However, the application site does comprise a major residential development and accordingly 
the application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA).  
 
It is noted that the proposed residential development would be sited on land below the levels 
of the adjacent M62 motorway and railway line and result in a substantial increase in the 
proportion of impermeable areas at the site. The submitted FRA considers the risk of flooding 
to the site from various sources including rivers, groundwater, artificial sources and surface 
water to be low. It notes that the site has not been subject to flooding from highways, sewers 
or canals, and that there has been no breach of the existing canals. As seen from the site 
investigation report it is noted that the site does include a high water table and that Council 
records indicate that there have been instances of surface water flooding in the past. 
 
The submitted FRA recommends a surface water drainage strategy including a combination of 
attenuation methods including porous paving, tanked storage and flow control devices which 
would store and restrict discharges to the 300mm public sewer and that surface water be 
attenuated to the greenfield runoff rate of 37.8 l/s.  
 
It is however noted that by way of a condition on the existing permission surface water runoff 
following development was limited to 12 l/s and that United Utilities have not agreed to surface 
water being discharged to the combined sewer. As a result the Flood Risk Assessment has 
been updated and proposed drainage strategy amended. It is now proposed to discharge 
surface water at the greenfield runoff rate to Trub Brook, and provide surface water storage on 
site including ponds and tanks. 
 
The Council as Local Lead Flood Authority have agreed in principle to this approach, however 
given the limited size and overall capacity of Trub Brook and that other sources feed into it 
downstream, and that the FRA notes there have been instances of flooding of Trub Brook, 
they consider that a scheme of sustainable urban drainage systems is necessary on site. It is 
also noted that there is sufficient space within site for the siting of ponds which was also 
required by condition on the existing outline permission for the site. It is noted that these could 
be developed within the reserved matters applications into a comprehensive sustainable urban 
drainage scheme that could also incorporate biodiversity and wildlife mitigation and 
enhancements. 
 
The proposal for peak runoff rate should not exceed the greenfield run off rate of 37.8 l/s in 
accordance with the non statutory standards issued by DEFRA in March 2015. 
 
A condition has therefore been recommended restricting the discharge of surface water into 
Trub Brook and requiring that the foul and surface water drain on separate systems. A 

Page 119



condition has also been recommended requiring the submission and approval of a detailed 
foul and surface water drainage design to be to demonstrate how surface will be managed 
(including the control mechanisms to limit the rate of surface water runoff to greenfield levels, 
the provision of on site water storage and flow control mechanisms) prior to the 
commencement of development in accordance with the request of United Utilities and in 
accordance with the previous decision at appeal.  
 
It is noted that United Utilities, the Council as Local Lead Flood Authority and the Environment 
Agency have raised no objections to the proposed development subject to the above 
conditions which have been included in the recommendation. It is also noted that outline 
planning permission exists for a very similar scale, quantum and type of development on the 
site as currently proposed. Therefore, it is considered that in principle adequate measures can 
be put in place in order to ensure that the development poses no unacceptable risk in terms of 
flooding (either on the site itself or elsewhere) in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policy EM/7 and the policies within the NPPF. 
 
Land Contamination: 
 
The fifth bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by: 

� remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable 
land, where appropriate. 

 
Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that: 

� Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for 
securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner. 

 
Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that: 

� the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation 
or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation;  

� after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and 

� adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is presented. 
 
In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that: 

� Where there are reasonable grounds to suspect that land which is the subject of a 
development proposal has the potential for contamination, the Council will require a 
detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed remedial treatments and 
a completion report to establish that the work has been carried out in accordance with 
the agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new development or 
change of use, the Council will take account of their potential for contamination of land 
and will seek to prevent further contamination by refusing proposals likely to give rise 
to significant contamination or by imposing stringent conditions. 

 
The site is located within an existing urban area historically characterised by potential 
contaminative uses and past operations adjacent to the site. The application has been 
supported by a phase 1 and phase 2 Geo-Environmental Report that identifies that there are 
potential contaminants in the ground including arsenic, asbestos, benzo(a)pyrene and that 
ground comprises of clays and loose sands with a high water table. As a result it recommends 
that further detailed site investigation and analysis be undertaken.  
 
The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied that any contamination issues which may 
exist on the site can be adequately identified and addressed by the imposition of a condition 
requiring the submission and approval of further detailed site investigations and sampling and 

Page 120



where necessary the implementation of any appropriate remediation measures required 
before development takes place. 
 
Therefore, subject to a condition securing the submission, approval and subsequent 
implementation of a scheme of remediation works and enabling ground works, it is considered 
that the proposed site would be suitable for the proposed residential development and the 
requirements of UDP policy EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF would be met. 
 
Sustainable Construction and Renewable Energy: 
 
UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve 
and assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully 
incorporated into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the 
amenity of the surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental 
disturbance). Measures which will be especially encouraged include: 
 

a) The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development; 

b) The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve energy 
through the ongoing use of the development; and 

c) The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, 
small-scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on 
renewable and low carbon technologies. 

 
The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential developments 
of 5 or more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. The SPD intended 
that this requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 and Level 6 from 
2020.   
 
However, in a Ministerial Statement made to the House of Commons on 25 March 2015, the 
then Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Eric Pickles, set out the 
government’s new planning policy on the setting of technical standards for new dwellings 
which should be taken into account in applying the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
Code for Sustainable Homes was also withdrawn on 27 March 2015. This is an important 
material consideration which needs to be given significant weight and which also represents a 
material change in planning circumstances following the previous grant of planning permission 
on the site. 
 
Between 26 March 2015 and 30 September 2014, the government’s policy is, ‘that planning 
permissions should not be granted requiring, or subject to conditions requiring compliance with 
any technical housing standards other than for those areas where authorities have existing 
policies on access, internal space or water efficiency… where there is an existing plan policy 
which references the Code for Sustainable Homes, authorities may continue to apply a 
requirement for a water efficiency standard equivalent to the new national technical standard 
or in the case of energy a standard consistent with the earlier part of this statement2, 
concerning energy performance’. The Council does not have a specific policy in respect of 
water efficiency. In late 2016 the Building Regulations will be amended to require new 
dwellings to meet an equivalent of what was Code Level 4.  
 
As this application is in outline with all matters other than access reserved to a later date, 
details of the design and construction of the dwellings are not yet known. The direction of 

                                                                 
2
 which require compliance with energy performance standards that exceed the energy requirements of 

Building Regulations until commencement of amendments to the Planning and Energy Act 2008 in the 
Deregulation Bill 2015 (likely to be late 2016). 

Page 121



travel for Government is clear that sustainability requirements for new dwellings should be 
brought forward through the new national technical standards, making reference to up to date 
Local Plans and the Building Regulations. Given that the new technical standards are optional 
and if the Council wishes to refer to them in decision making this should preferentially be 
through new policies in a Local Plan and the Council’s current policy refers to a Code which 
has now been revoked and is therefore out of date, it is considered most appropriate that the 
sustainability requirements of this development are dealt with by the Building Regulations.  
 
Financial Obligations: 
 
A scheme of the size proposed would require financial contributions towards affordable 
housing off-site and towards recreational open space in accordance with UDP policies H/6 and 
H/7 and their associated Supplementary Planning Documents: Provision of Recreational Open 
Space in New Housing and Affordable Housing. It is noted that the emerging policies within 
the Core Strategy (policies DM2, C4, C7, C8) also seek to ensure developments make 
contributions to physical and social infrastructure requirements of developments and, or 
mitigate the impacts of the development. 
 
These contributions would need to be secured through a planning obligation in accordance 
with the provisions of S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act. Paragraph 204 of the 
NPPF states that planning obligations should only be sought where they meet the following 
tests (reiterated in Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 
amended)): 

� necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

� directly related to the development; and  

� fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 
Details of the contributions sought as part of the development (including how it meets these 
tests) are outlined below: 
 
Recreational Open Space 
 
UDP policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate provision for 
recreational open space – comprising elements of both local (at a rate of 1 hectare per 1000 
population) and formal (at a rate of 1.1 hectare per 1000 population) provision. In the case of 
developments involving more than 100 bedrooms this provision is to be met through a 
financial contribution towards the laying out (including 20 year maintenance maintenance) 
and/or improvement of recreational open space off site. Contributions to off-site recreational 
open space are calculated on the basis of the number of bedrooms being created by a 
development and the resulting demand for recreational open space arising from the 
occupation of the new houses. 
 
In this instance it is noted that there is sufficient space on site for the provision of a Locally 
Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) shown within the linear area of open space adjacent to the 
Rochdale Canal.  
  
The site also provides for a significant amount of on-site open space adjacent to the canal and 
M62 motorway which will be subject to detailed design within future reserved matters 
applications. This is approximately 2.74 Ha in area. In order to ensure that a scheme for its 
design is developed taking into account the recreational needs and ecological considerations 
of the Rochdale Canal adjacent SSSI a condition has been recommended requiring a detailed 
landscape open space plan to be submitted within reserved matters applications. With regards 
to future maintenance, it is intended that a landscape open space implementation and 
management plan will be secured by way of a section 106 Agreement. 
 

Page 122



With regards to mitigating for the outdoor sports needs generated by the 167 new homes it is 
considered that financial contributions towards outdoor sports provision could be used towards 
the provision of a mini multi-use games area (MUGA) at Chesham Park off Chesham Avenue 
to the southeast of the application site and that this would provide sufficient mitigation for the 
impacts of the proposed development. The provision of financial contributions towards 
providing such a sports facility will be secured by way of a Section 106 Agreement. 
 
Affordable Housing 
 
UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD identify that, subject to viability considerations, 
residential developments of over 15 dwellings will be expected to make a contribution towards 
the provision of affordable housing in the borough through either on or off site means as 
appropriate. This is also taken forward by policies C4 and DM2 of the emerging core strategy.  
 
Paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that “an average figure of 15% Affordable Housing 
will be required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be subject to a 
discount of 50% of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will equate to a 
maximum 7.5% contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for each site in 
accordance with the formula below: 
 

 
 
It is recommended that a legal agreement include the requirement to submit an affordable 
housing scheme with reserved matters applications to include the appropriate provision of 
affordable housing on site or off-site in accordance with the above policy and SPD. 
 
Local Transport Infrastructure Mitigation 
 
In accordance with the existing permission for the site that was granted at appeal, the 
applicant has agreed to enter into a Section 106 Agreement to include for the provision of a 
financial contribution towards implementing a scheme of maintenance and improvement works 
at the Castleton Railway Station immediately to the north of the application site to mitigate for 
the additional patronage generated by the proposed development. As a result, it is considered 
that there would be a mechanism to adequately mitigate for the additional usage, maintenance 
and demand on local rail transport services generated by the proposed development in 
accordance with paragraph 204 of the NPPF.   
 
Local Recreational Route Mitigation 
 
Similarly in accordance with the existing permission for the site that was granted at appeal, the 
applicant has agreed to enter into a Section 106 Agreement to include for the provision of a 
financial contribution towards implementing resurfacing works to the canal towpath along the 
east side of the Rochdale Canal. Given the number of dwellings proposed and the proximity of 
the site to the towpath and its key function as a recreational route and access for residents of 
the proposed development to Castleton Railway Station, the local centre of Castleton and its 
associated amenities it is considered that the above financial contribution would accord with 
criteria set out in paragraph 204 of the NPPF. 
 
 
 

Page 123



Education Provision 
 
The NPPF in paragraph 70 requires that in decisions Local Planning Authorities should plan 
positively for the provision and use of community facilities and other local services to enhance 
the sustainability of communities and residential environments. 
 
It is also noted Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential 
developments provide for social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the 
demand for additional school places. It is noted that the proposed residential development of 
167 dwellings of a mix of 2, 3 and 4 bedroom dwellings would generate additional demand for 
primary and secondary school places within the local area.  
 
The Council as Local Education Authority note that the existing primary and secondary 
schools within the local area are at capacity. The Education Authority have subsequently 
requested that by way of financial contributions the proposed development mitigates for this 
additional demand for by providing financial contributions to be utilised towards providing 
additional education facilities at Primary and Secondary Schools within the local area. It is 
considered that the provision of such additional education facilities would be necessary in 
order to provide for sustainable communities and achieve the golden thread of sustainable 
development running through the NPPF. 
 
The necessary financial contributions would be calculated using the Building Schools for the 
Future (BSF) standard formula for calculating pupil yields from housing being 0.25 per 
dwelling for primary education and 0.1 per dwelling for secondary education needs, and the 
respective basic need funding per place provided to the Education Authority of £12,320.01 for 
primary and £15,400.01 for secondary education. The primary education contribution would 
equate to £514,360.42 and the secondary education contribution would equate to 
£257,180.17. It is proposed that these contributions would be secured by way of a section 106 
agreement tied to the grant of a permission requiring these contributions to be paid within a 
phased manner upon commencement of development. 
 
Other Material Considerations: 
 
It is noted that presumption in favour of sustainable development is a golden thread running 
through the NPPF and that there are 3 main aspects of this, the Economic, Social and 
Environmental considerations. It is considered that the development of this vacant site will 
provide significant regenerative benefits to Castleton through the redevelopment of vacant 
sites and increase in housing and business opportunities. With regards to the economic arm of 
sustainable development, it is noted that the proposed development would generate a 
significant amount of on-site construction jobs, with a further supply chain jobs being 
supported off-site in construction related industries. In addition, future residents could be 
expected to spend in the local area helping to support local businesses and services within the 
local centre of Castleton. Additionally, a scheme of 167 dwellings would have the potential to 
generate substantial ongoing tax revenues for the Council. With regards to the social aspect of 
sustainable development, it is noted that the proposals would provide for a substantial number 
of new homes within the local area. In terms of environmental gains it is noted that the scheme 
offers the opportunity for the provision of a significant net increase in trees at the site, in 
addition to provision of a significant amount of formal and informal landscaped areas offering 
for a wider variety of wildlife habitats on the site. 
 
Conclusions:  
 
Having regard to the above matters, it is noted that whilst proposed scheme would result in the 
loss of an area of open space within the designated Green Corridor it would provide for a 
significant number of new homes within the existing urban area and within a highly accessible 
and sustainable location. It is also noted that the site benefits from extant permission for a 

Page 124



similar number of homes. The proposed scheme would provide for a significant amount of on 
site open space and landscaped buffer respecting the setting of the Rochdale Canal and 
surrounding heritage assets. In addition, the proposed development would not result in any 
demonstrable harm to the amenity of neighbouring residents, and to highway safety. Subject 
to conditions, it is considered that adequate measures would be implemented to mitigate and 
protect any protected or priority species and the value of the adjacent special area of 
conservation and SSSI at the Rochdale Canal. In addition, conditions would ensure adequate 
levels of amenity for future occupiers and secure appropriate schemes to manage surface 
water and to prevent any increased risk of flooding elsewhere. Furthermore, subject to a legal 
agreement the proposal would address local affordable housing need; address the additional 
need for education provision generated by the new dwellings; provide formal sports provision 
off-site to address the need generated; and would mitigate for additional impacts on local 
infrastructure by way of contribution to projects on the canal towpath and at Castleton Railway 
Station. Furthermore, it is noted that providing the delivery of 167 new homes would generate 
economic and regenerative benefits through direct and indirect job creation, additional 
spending within the local economy. There is no specific policy within the NPPF which indicates 
that the development should be restricted and the (very limited) adverse impacts of the 
development would not significantly and adversely outweigh the benefits. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Members resolve that they are minded to GRANT planning permission subject to the 
completion of a planning obligation under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 to secure the following:  
 

� The future maintenance of on-site public open space. 

� A financial contribution towards the provisions of outdoor sports facilities, specifically a 
mini multi-use games area at Chesham Park, off Chesham Avenue 

� An appropriate contribution to affordable housing. 

� A financial contribution towards implementing a scheme of maintenance and 
improvement works at the Castleton Railway Station. 

� A financial contribution towards implementing resurfacing works to the canal towpath 
along the east side of the Rochdale Canal. 

� A financial contribution towards the provision of additional primary and secondary 
education facilities in the local area. 
 

That the Head of Planning be authorised to issue the decision notice upon completion of the 
planning obligation to secure the above and subject to the following conditions:- 
 
1 Application for approval of reserved matters must be made not later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date of this permission and the development must be 
begun not later than: (i) the expiration of three years from the date of this permission; 
or (ii) two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be 
approved.  

   
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 92 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 

 
 2 The approval of the Local Planning Authority shall be sought in respect of the following 

matters before the development is commenced:- the layout of the development, the 
means of access to it, the scale and external appearance of the buildings and the 
landscaping of the site.  

   
 Reason: The application is granted in outline only under the provisions of Article 5 of 

the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 

Page 125



and details of the matters referred to in the condition have not been submitted for 
consideration. 

 
 3 The number of residential units included in any application for reserved matters 

submitted pursuant to condition 2 of this permission shall be limited to a maximum of 
167 dwellings and the development shall be substantially in accordance with the 
following approved plans:   

   
 - Location Plan – 001 Rev 05;  
 - Proposed Sections – 005 Rev 00;  
 - Proposed Masterplan – 007 Rev 01;  
 - Indicative Centreline Longsection – TPIN1049-502 Rev A;  
 - Typical Cross Section – TPIN1049-501;  
 - Typical Cross Section – TPIN1049-501 Rev B;  
 - General Arrangement – TPIN1049-500;  
 - Topographical Site Survey Plan – sss-3817-trubfarm Rev A;  
 - Topographic Survey Sections – sss-3817-trub farm Rev A;  
 - Sewer plan – sheet 1 of 1.  
   
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt, to define the extent of the development site and 

to ensure a satisfactory standard of development in accordance with the policies 
contained within the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
 4 No development other than that undertaken pursuant to condition nos. 13 and 18 of 

this permission, shall take place until a phasing plan for construction of the 
development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The phasing plan shall include a programme for works for the provision of 1) 
each of the proposed land uses within the site and 2) the area(s) of recreational public 
open space and the other areas of amenity open space. Development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved phasing plan(s).  

   
 Reason: To ensure that any phased development of the site takes place in an 

appropriate order and within an acceptable timescale, to ensure adequate provision of 
infrastructure to serve each of the uses permitted and because no such details were 
submitted as part of the application.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: In the interests of proper planning and the 

comprehensive development of the site and that any construction works will pre-
determine these details. 

 
 5 No development shall take place until details of the finished floor and external site 

levels, including the canal as an off-site datum have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter.  

   
 Reason: In order to achieve an acceptable relationship between surrounding buildings 

and to ensure that the development would not be at an unacceptable risk of flooding in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2, 
EM/7 and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 

engineering works an understanding of site levels will therefore be necessary prior to 
commencement of any building or engineering works on site. Finished floor levels are 
intrinsically linked to site levels. 

 

Page 126



 6 No development shall take place until details of a scheme to dispose of foul and 
surface water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority, and in consultation with Network Rail. The surface water drainage 
scheme shall be based on sustainable drainage principles, shall provide for the total 
surface water run-off rate to Trub Brook to be limited to 37.8 l/s and shall incorporate 
adequate on site attenuation storage. The submitted scheme shall include:  

 
i) details of volumetric run-off control as per CIRIA SIDS manual C697 with the rate set 
at Qbar if no infiltration is provided  

 ii) details of exceedence event of up to a 1 in 100 year including climate change 
allowance  

 iii) a timetable for its implementation; and a management and maintenance plan for the 
lifetime of the development which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any 
public authority or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the 
operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.  

   
 The approved drainage shall be fully implemented and subsequently retained in 

accordance with the management and maintenance plan.  
   
 Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development, to 

ensure that surface water discharge rates are limited to pre-development (greenfield) 
levels in accordance with the submitted Trub Farm Flood Risk Assessment (Issue no. 
06 prepared by Martin Wright Associates, dated March 2015) and to ensure 
satisfactory disposal of surface and foul water from the site in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policy EM/7 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 

engineering works and on site storage attenuation and understanding will therefore be 
necessary of location of these prior to commencement of any building or engineering 
works on site. 

 
 7 No development shall take place until a scheme for the provision and management of 

the buffer zone alongside the Trub Brook Watercourse and the Rochdale Canal has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development 
shall be carried out and thereafter managed in accordance with the approved scheme. 
The submitted scheme shall include:  

 i) plans showing the extent and layout of the buffer zones  
 ii) retention of the Trub Brook watercourse in an open channel and enhancement of the 

channel as part of an overall scheme for  
 biodiversity and landscape enhancement of the site  
 iii) surface water drainage  
 iv) a planting scheme including a planting schedule  
 v) a scheme for protection of the buffer zones during construction of the development 

and for on-going management and maintenance of the zones  
 vi) details of any footpaths, fencing, lighting or other items to be installed near the 

waterbodies  
 vii) a timetable for its implementation  
   
 Reason: In order to protect the habitat of Trub Brook, to enhance its ecological interest, 

to prevent any pollution of the watercourse and to ensure appropriate flood mitigation 
measures are incorporated into the development in accordance with the requirements 
of Unitary Development Plan policies EM/7, EM/8 and NE/3, and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  

   

Page 127



 Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 
engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to ecologically important sites an 
assessment of the necessary buffer zone will therefore be necessary prior to 
commencement of any building or engineering works on site. 

 
 8 No development shall take place until a detailed method statement for the removal or 

long-term management/eradication of Japanese Knotweed, Himalayan Balsam and 
Japanese Rose on the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
method statement. The method statement shall include measures to prevent the 
spread of Japanese Knotweed, Himalayan Balsam and Japanese Rose during any 
operations such as mowing, strimming or soil movement, and measures to ensure that 
any soils brought to the site are free of the seeds/roots/stems of any invasive plant 
covered under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

   
 Reason: To ensure the satisfactory treatment and disposal of invasive plant species 

which, under the terms of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) it is an 
offence to be caused to be spread in the wild, in accordance with the objectives of 
Unitary Development Plan Policy NE/3.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: As there are invasive species on site a 

method statement setting out their disposal will therefore be necessary prior to 
commencement of any building or engineering works on site. 

 
 9 No development shall take place until a scheme for new ponds to be constructed on 

the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme. The 
scheme shall include details of how the ponds will contribute positively to improved 
biodiversity on the site.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure that any new waterbodies are appropriately positioned on 

the site to optimise their function with respect to flood mitigation and bio diversity 
enhancement in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies EM/7 and NE/3, 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 

engineering works and on site storage attenuation understanding will therefore be 
necessary of location of these prior to commencement of any building or engineering 
works on site. 

 
10 No above ground works shall take place until details of a barrier of not less than 2 

metres in height to be installed on the southern boundary of the site adjacent to the 
motorway has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The barrier shall be installed in accordance with the approved details before 
any building is first occupied or brought into use and it shall be retained thereafter. The 
details shall include the height, materials, design and position of the barrier.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation 

measures for the proposed dwellings to ensure satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and EM/3.  

 
11 The reserved matters submitted pursuant to condition 2 of this permission shall include 

a scheme designed following consultation with Rochdale Council Environmental Health 
Department and Network Rail, for protecting the proposed dwellings from noise from 
rail and road traffic. The scheme shall ensure noise levels of not more than 35dB(A) 

Page 128



Leq (8 hours) in the bedrooms and 40 dB(A) Leq (16 hours) in other habitable rooms 
between 07:00 and 23:00 hours and that any individual noise event in these rooms 
shall not exceed 45 dB(a) Lmax (fast) between 23:00 and 07:00. Where windows need 
to remain shut in order to achieve these levels other means of ventilation shall be 
provided. All works to any dwelling which forms part of the scheme shall be completed 
before that dwelling is first occupied.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure the implementation of appropriate noise attenuation 

measures for the proposed dwellings to ensure satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupiers of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies H/3, BE/2 and EM/3. 

 
12 No above ground works shall take place until a Travel Plan has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority. The Travel Plan shall contain 
measures for promoting a choice of transport mode and a monitoring regime with 
agreed mode share targets. The Plan shall set out the monitoring procedures and 
mechanisms that are to be put in place to ensure that it remains effective and shall be 
reviewed within a framework approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
initiatives contained in the approved Plan shall be implemented prior to the first 
occupation of the buildings and shall continue to be operated thereafter.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure that the development encourages people to travel to the 

site by sustainable modes of transport in accordance with the objectives of Unitary 
Development Plan policy A/12 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
13 No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment has been 

undertaken by competent persons to assess the nature and extent of any 
contamination on the site (whether or not it originates on the site and in addition to any 
assessment provided with the planning application) and a written report of its findings 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  

   
 The report shall include:  
 i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination  
 ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  
 • human health,  
 • property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops,  
 livestock,  
 • pets, woodland, and service lines and pipes,  
 • adjoining land,  
 • groundwaters and surface waters,  
 • ecological systems,  
 • archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
 iii) where contamination is identified, an appraisal of remedial options, a proposal of the 

preferred option(s) and a timetable for remedial works  
   
 Remedial works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved report and 

timetable.  
   
 Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 

development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 

engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to contaminated ground as soon as 

Page 129



development commences. An assessment of contamination will therefore be 
necessary prior to commencement of any building or engineering works on site. 

 
14 No development shall take place until a Construction Environmental Management Plan 

(CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
The CEMP shall include details of measures to be taken to protect the special nature 
conservation interest of the Rochdale Canal during construction and details of 
measures to ensure the protection of white clawed crayfish, water voles and bats on 
the site in accordance with the recommendations of the Ecological Assessment by BE 
Brooks Ecological Ltd dated December 2011. Development of the site shall be carried 
out strictly in accordance with the approved CEMP.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure that as much of the wetland to the north of the site as 

possible is retained and to protect this nature conservation interest during the 
construction period in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 

engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to ecologically important sites an 
assessment of the necessary mitigation measures will therefore be necessary prior to 
commencement of any building or engineering works on site. 

 
15 No development shall take place until a scheme for extending the access into the site 

to the west of the canal has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall provide for bridging over the culvert serving the 
old arm of the Rochdale Canal and shall not include extension of the existing earth 
embankment. The submitted scheme shall include a construction method statement 
and full construction details. The access shall be constructed in accordance with the 
approved scheme.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure that as much of the wetland to the north of the site as 

possible is retained and to protect this nature conservation interest during the 
construction period in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 

engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to ecologically important sites an 
assessment of the necessary mitigation measures will therefore be necessary prior to 
commencement of any building or engineering works on site. 

 
16 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of 

development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March – July inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird nesting. 
Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no development 
including clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place until a methodology for 
protecting nest sites during the course of the development has been agreed in writing 
by the local planning authority. Nest site protection shall be provided in accordance 
with the approved methodology.  

   
 Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 

Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the provisions of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 

 
 

Page 130



17 No above ground works shall take place until a Habitat Management Plan for the site, 
including long term objectives, a timetable for its implementation, management 
responsibilities and maintenance schedules has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The Habitat Management Plan shall be shall be 
carried out as approved.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 

ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity enhancements 
as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy NE/3 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
18 No development shall take place, including any works of site preparation, until a 

Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) covering a programme of archaeological works 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
development shall take place in accordance with the approved WSI. The WSI shall 
include:  

 i) a phased programme and methodology of site investigation and recording to include:
  

 a desk-based assessment (where appropriate including historic building assessment, 
detailed survey and interpretative record)  

 a targeted archaeological evaluation;  
 where appropriate, targeted area excavation.  
 ii) a programme for post investigation assessment to include:  
 analysis of the site investigation records and finds;  
 production of a final report on the significance of the archaeological interest 

represented.  
 iii) provision for publication and dissemination of the analysis and report on the site 

investigation.  
 iv) provision for archive deposition of the report and records of the site investigation.

  
 v) nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the work set out in 

the approved WSI.  
   
 Reason: In order to protect and preserve the archaeological and historical significance 

of potential below ground heritage assets in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/10 and NE/6, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 

engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to archaeologically important sites an 
assessment of the necessary mitigation or preventative measures will therefore be 
necessary prior to commencement of any building or engineering works on site. 

 
19 No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS 
shall include details of the following: - (i) hours for site preparation, delivery of materials 
and construction; (ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; (iii) loading 
and unloading of plant and materials; (iv) storage of plant and materials used in 
constructing the development; (v) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding; 
(vi) wheel washing facilities; (vii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt 
during construction; and (viii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 
construction works.  

   
 The duly approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.  
   

Page 131



 Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, 
nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the 
construction of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 

engineering works an understanding will therefore be necessary of what measures will 
be put in place to protect the amenity of nearby residents, prior to commencement of 
any building or engineering works on site.  

 
20 Prior to the development first taking place, full details of the following shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation 
with Network Rail;  

   
i. ground levels, earthworks and excavations to be carried out within 10 metres of 

the railway boundary;  
   

ii. a method statement giving details of measures to be taken to prevent 
construction materials reaching the railway (including protective fencing), and 
how any scaffolding which is to be erected /constructed within 10 metres of a 
boundary to a railway line will be erected into ensure that at no time will any 
poles over-sail the railway line.   

   
 The scheme and measures including any protective fencing hereby approved shall be 

implemented in full before development first takes place on site and thereafter be 
retained on site throughout the construction of the hereby approved development. 

   
 Reason - In the interests of railway safety and in the interests of the safety of users of 

the railway and wider public safety in accordance with the NPPF.  
   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 

engineering works there is a risk of disturbance to the railway and therefore an 
assessment of the necessary mitigation or preventative measures will therefore be 
necessary prior to commencement of any building or engineering works on site. 

 
21 Prior to occupation of the dwellings hereby approved, a scheme for a trespass proof 

fence to be erected adjacent to the boundary with the railway shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Network Rail. 
The trespass proof fence shall be erected in accordance with the approved details prior 
to the occupation of the first dwelling hereby approved.  

   
 Reason: To protect the adjacent railway from unauthorised access and in the interests 

of public safety in accordance with and the NPPF. 
 
22 No piling and vibration impacting works shall be undertaken on site until a risk 

assessment and method statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Network Rail. All subsequent vibro-
impact works as part of the development hereby approved shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the risk assessment and method statement.  

   
 Reason: To protect the adjacent railway from any piling works and vibration from de-

stabilising or impacting the railway in the interests of the safety of users of the railway 
and wider public safety in accordance with and NPPF. 

 
Report Author Chris Hobson 

Page 132



Application Number: 15/00397/FUL    Ward: Norden       
 

 
Proposal: .Full planning application for the construction of 42 residential units (Use 
Class C3), with parking, new pedestrian and vehicular access, highways works (from 
942/944 Edenfield Road to where access road to former Rainshore Mill merges on 
Over Town Lane, and including access road up to former Mill site), weir and drainage 
infrastructure works, ground and landscape works, boundary treatments, public open 
space and servicing. 
 

Site Address: Site Of Former Rainshore Mill Over Town Lane Rochdale   
 

Applicant: Mr Gary Lynch 
                  Russell Homes (UK) Ltd 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions 
 

 

Page 133



UPDATE 
 
At the meeting on 7th July 2015, the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee resolved it 
was minded to grant planning permission in accordance with the officer recommendation.  The 
application represents a departure from the Development Plan and is referred to the Planning 
and Licensing Committee for determination in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation.   
 
SITE 
 
The application site comprises approximately 6.5 hectares made up of about 2.4 hectares of 
previously developed brownfield land (the former Mill), and roughly 4.1 hectares of 
undeveloped land.  The site lies within the Green Belt and the area is characterised by a rural 
landscape which contains rolling hills and a scattering of woods. 
 
The site is located approximately 500 metres to the north of Edenfield Road. Access is via 
Over Town Lane, a highway of varying width and condition which serves several residential 
dwellings, a number of farms and a Public House known as the White Lion. Lying adjacent to 
the west facing boundary of the site lies Rainshore Farm, which is accessed through the site.    
A public footpath extends from the end of Over Town Lane and around the eastern boundary 
of the site.   
 
Levels on the site are currently between 245m AOD and 228m AOD with the ground generally 
sloping downhill from west to east across the site. 
 
The site lies adjacent to the south western corner of Greenbooth Reservoir. Royds Brook 
passes under the site in a culvert to emerge beyond the east side of site before discharging 
into the Reservoir. Fordoe Wood, part of the Fordoe and Naden Woods Site of Biological 
Importance (SBI) lies immediately adjacent to the northern site boundary. 
 
Following the closure of Rainshore Mill circa 2005, it was eventually cleared following years of 
vacancy and dereliction. The site has since been partly remediated and a new widened culvert 
installed, connecting the Lodge to Greenbooth Reservoir.  
 
In December 2007 the applicant secured full planning permission (07/D49036) for the erection 
of 55 residential units, of which 13 were proposed apartments. In November 2010, an 
extension of time application for implementation of that permission was secured (10/D53292).  
The pre-commencement conditions attached to application (10/D53292) have been 
discharged and the development has been implemented, hence the permission remains 
extant.     
 
PROPOSAL 
 
This is a full planning application for the construction of 42 residential units, with parking, new 
pedestrian and vehicular access, highways works, weir and drainage infrastructure works, 
ground and landscape works, boundary treatments, public open space and servicing. 
 
There are nine dwelling types proposed, which range from three bedroom terraced mews 
properties to five bedroom detached dwellings. The mix of houses includes 9no. 3 bedroom 
dwellings, 23no. four bedroom dwellings and 10no. five bedroom dwellings. The larger 
dwellings are positioned to face the new amenity water course that will extend between the 
mill lodge and Green Booth Reservoir. Larger properties are also proposed to be located 
adjacent to the entry point into the site. A tighter settlement grain is created to the east of the 
site at the entrance, which comprises townhouses and mews. These smaller dwellings would 
be able take advantage of the views to the east, overlooking Greenbooth Reservoir. The 

Page 134



dwellings are two-storeys high and some of the housetypes contain a bedroom within the 
roofspace 
 
The majority of the external elevations would be finished using natural stone whilst a natural 
grey slate would be used for the roofs. The entrance into the site would be framed by a stone 
retaining wall. 
 
The proposed layout provides for garden frontages to each dwelling. In most cases these 
frontages would comprise a combination of in-curtilage parking separated by landscaped 
strips of hedging, planting and greenspace. Also, each dwelling would be provided with a rear 
garden. Boundary treatments around gardens would comprise either stone walls, fencing or 
hedging.   
 
Towards the centre of the site, the water course lies adjacent to a new focal square. This 
square will form part of the main street which extends through the site and it will be overlooked 
by the new dwellings and Rainshore Farm. To the west of the square lies a proposed area of 
open space. 
 
As part of the proposal a new single access road would be created from the entrance of the 
site with Over Town Lane. This access extends in a north westerly direction from Over Town 
Lane, extending adjacent to Rainshore Farm and then towards the northern boundary of the 
site. A variety of car parking solutions are proposed which consist of in-curtilage car parking, 
courtyard parking and off-street car parking.   
 
The application proposes a number of off site highway improvements which are confirmed 
below: -  

• Provision of a footway along the majority of Overtown Lane  

• Provision of a 5.5m wide carriageway along the majority of Overtown Lane.  

• Physical traffic calming along Overtown Lane.  

• Street lighting along Overtown Lane  

• Improvement to the junction of Edenfield Road/Overtown Lane, providing a visibility 
splay of 2m x 70m in either direction. 

 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.   
 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate. 
 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP):  
 
G/D/2  Green Belt   
D/6 Redevelopment and Regeneration of Major, Existing Developed Sites in the 

Green Belt for Other Purposes.   

Page 135



 
G/H/1  Housing 
H/2 (c)  Land Provided for New Housing  
H/3   Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas 
H/5  Residential Density 
H/6  Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development 
H/7 Affordable Housing  
 
G/A/1  Accessibility 
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People 
A/4 New Development - Access for Cyclists  
A/8   New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network 
A/9  New Development – Access for General Traffic 
A/10  New Development – Provision of Parking 
A/11  New Development – Transport Assessments  
 
G/BE/1 Design Quality 
BE/2  Design Criteria for New Development 
BE/7  Street Furniture and the Public Realm  
BE/8  Landscaping in New Development 
 
G/G/1  Greenspace 
G/2  Standards for Recreational Open Space 
G/4  New Provision of Local Open Space 
G/5  New Provision of Outdoor Sports Facilities 
 

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control 
EM/2  Pollution 
EM/3  Noise and New Development 
EM/4  Contaminated Land  
EM/7   Development and Flood Risk  
EM/8  Protection of Surface and Ground Water  
EM/9  Development Involving Unstable Land 
EM/10  Derelict Land and Building  
EM/11  Other Degraded Land and Buildings 
 
G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation 
EM/13  Energy Efficiency and New Development 
 
G/NE/1 Nature Conservation 
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological / Geomorphological Importance 
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development  
NE/4 Protected Species 
 
G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands 
NE/6  Landscape Protection and Enhancement  
NE/8  Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows  
NE/9  Protection of Woodlands  
 
G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy  
RE/6  Recreational Rights of Way  
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD 
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG 
Energy and New Development SPD 

Page 136



Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD 
Affordable Housing SPD  
Biodiversity and Development SPD 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
1995 -  Outline application: Residential Development - Withdrawn (D32144). 
 
1995 -  Outline application: Residential Development - Refused (D32352). 
 

Reasons for refusal were inappropriate and unjustified development in the Green Belt; 
substandard access road and access; and that as there was a sufficient housing 
allocation in the UDP (Draft Deposit) the development would be unjustified sporadic 
house building in an isolated location, outside the urban area. 

  
2001 -  Outline application (D39640) for 32 units – Allowed at Appeal but dismissed  

by the Secretary of State. 
 

This application was originally refused by the Rochdale Township Planning Sub 
Committee on the grounds that the proposal would result in inappropriate development 
within the Green Belt. The applicant appealed this decision and the Planning 
Inspectorate considered that on balance there would be no significant harm to the 
Green Belt and the harm by reason of inappropriateness is outweighed by the benefits 
of the proposal which cumulatively amount to very special circumstances. The 
Planning Inspectorate recommended that outline planning permission be granted. The 
Secretary of State directed, in pursuance of section 77 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, that the application be referred to him. The Secretary of State 
disagreed with the recommendation of the Planning Inspectorate and concluded that 
although the proposal had a number of benefits, these did not amount to very special 
circumstances required to outweigh the harm caused by inappropriate development 
and other harm to the Green Belt. The application was therefore refused. 

 
2007 - Full Planning permission for 55 units (07/D49036) – Approved. 
 

Application for 55 units approved, issued 13 December 2007. It was approved for the 
reasons that the proposed development would satisfy Polices D/6 (Redevelopment and 
Regeneration of Major, Existing Developed Sites in the Green Belt for other purposes) 
and H/2 (Land Provided for New Housing), in that the development does not have a 
greater impact than the existing development on the openness of the Green Belt and 
incorporates suitable access and off site highway and junction improvements.  

 
2010 - Full Planning Permission (10/D53292) Extension of Time – Approved 
 

Application for a new planning permission to replace extant planning permission 
(D49036) for residential development – 55 units. Decision Notice Issued 4th November 
2010.   

 
The pre-commencement conditions attached to application (10/D53292) have been 
discharged and the development has been implemented.  Therefore this planning permission 
remains live in perpetuity.  
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Highways & Engineering: No objection to the proposal and the following comments have 
been made: -  

• Sufficient car parking has been provided for each dwelling. 

Page 137



• The access arrangements at the junction of Over Town Lane and Edenfield Road are 
satisfactory.  

• This development will not have a significant negative impact upon the local network 
capacity. 

• The development will not have a negative impact upon road safety. 

• The entire development should be subject to a self-enforcing 20mph zone. 
 
The Coal Authority: The application site falls within the defined Development High Risk Area.  
The planning application is supported by a letter dated 13 May 2015, prepared by Mr M Dyer, 
Director, E3P Ltd. This letter has been submitted in response to the concerns raised by the 
Coal Authority in our letter to the LPA dated 6 May 2015.  The letter submitted from E3P Ltd 
demonstrates the location of the mine entries and their relationship to the development 
proposed, concluding that they are some 50m from the proposed development and therefore 
no risk to the development.  On this basis the Coal Authority withdraws its objection to the 
planning application 
 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit: No objection. Comment that the former Mill Reservoir 
supports an important population of Floating water plantain (Luronium natans), a rare plant 
species specially protected under the terms of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010 (as amended). As there are no plans to drain down the reservoir the plant 
should therefore be capable of being conserved in-situ. 
 
Environmental Health (Noise): No objection.  
 
Environmental Health (Contamination): No objection. 
 
Highways (Drainage): No objection. 
 
Environment Agency: No objection in principle. Further works are required to assess the risk 
posed to controlled waters and conditions therefore recommended requiring a contamination 
risk assessment to be submitted, a site investigation, a remediation scheme and a verification 
report on completion.   Advisory notes also recommended.   
 
United Utilities: No objection. Comment that the site should be drained on a separate system 
with foul draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way. 
 
Sport England: No comments to make. 
 
Natural England: No comments to make. 
 
Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service: No objections.  
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The neighbouring properties have been notified, site notices have been posted and the 
application has been advertised in the local press.   
 
The Council has received 6 letters of objection raise which are summarised below followed by 
officer response: -  
 

• The proposed development would increase the volume of traffic using Over Town Lane 
which could be detrimental to highway safety.   
Response:  With the support of the Council’s Highways Officers it is considered that 
the trips associated by the residential development would not unduly affect the safe 
and efficient operation of Over Town Lane or Edenfield Road.  

Page 138



• Whilst much is made of the reduced number of dwellings proposed, by comparison 
with the previous application, no account seems to have been taken of the rise in the 
number of vehicles per household. 
Response:  The submitted Transport Assessment calculates the development would 
generate around 33 vehicular movements per hour (VPH) during the highway peak 
hours and this equates to just over 1 additional vehicle per 2 minutes.  This VPH figure 
when compared to the anticipated traffic generation from the permitted scheme for 42 
houses plus 13 apartments shows that there would be small decrease in the 
anticipated peak hour traffic flows. As stated above it is considered that the trips 
associated by the residential development would not unduly affect the safe and 
efficient operation of Over Town Lane or Edenfield Road.  
 

• The Traffic Statement refers to the proposed provision of a footway, and the provision 
of a 5.5m carriageway, along the majority of Over Town Lane.  I would suggest ‘the 
majority’ is not enough. 
Response:  The proposal seeks to introduce a number of improvements to Over Town 
Lane which include providing designated footways and widening the carriageway.  It is 
considered that the improvements will ensure that the development is provided with 
safe and convenient access arrangements.  
 

• Sections of Over Town Lane which lies adjacent to the White Lion Public House are 
not part of the public highway.  
Response:  Two sections of land which lie at the southern end of Over Town Lane, 
adjacent to the White Lion Public House, are not part of the public highway.  The 
submitted highway scheme does not seek to make improvements or alterations to 
these areas of land. 
  

• There appears to be no proposal to improve the junction of Over Town Lane with the 
existing vehicular access to the front of Baiting Row.   
Response:  The proposal seeks to introduce a traffic calming feature along Over Town 
Lane, adjacent to it junction with Baitings Row, in the way of a narrow vehicular priority 
lane.  This feature will slow down traffic using this section of Over Town Lane and it is 
considered the development would provide with safe and convenient access 
arrangements. 
 

• The proposed "traffic calming" measures on Over Town Lane appear to include the 
construction of some sort of "chicane" just to the North of Baitings Row. This is 
positioned in an area currently used for parking by leisure visitors using the network of 
footpaths in the area, by visitors to the Baitings Row properties and also by vehicles 
making deliveries to Baitings Row which may be too large to use the access at the 
front of the row. It would, therefore, remove an amenity from both local residents and 
the wider public. 
Response: It is proposed that Over Town Lane will be modified and areas of land 
which are currently used as informal parking spaces will be lost to provide a widened 
carriageway and footways.  It is considered that the improvements will be beneficial to 
the usability of Over Town Lane.   
 

• Traffic calming in the immediate vicinity of existing housing will increase the traffic 
noise affecting residents. 
Response:  Edenfield Road is a busy main road and existing noise levels will therefore 
be higher.  Traffic calming is a safety measure and is unlikely to significantly increase 
noise levels given the existing road is a main route.   
 
 

 

Page 139



• It is not clear exactly what improvements are proposed to the junction of Over Town 
Lane with Edenfield Road. The sightline here, for traffic emerging onto Edenfield Road, 
is also poor. It should also be noted that the area immediately inside Over Town Lane, 
on its east side, is currently used as parking space by residents of Edenfield Road, 
who have nowhere else to park. 
Response:  In order to improve the visibility of drivers exiting Over Town Lane onto 
Edenfield Road, it is proposed to provide visibility splays of 2m by 70m in both 
directions. This would be achieved in the form of a physical build out; being a widened 
footway and narrowed carriageway on Edenfield RoadThe scheme does not involve 
introducing any parking restrictions along this section of Edenfield Road.  

 

• The fabric of Over Town Lane is currently unfit to withstand the volume and weight of 
construction traffic that the proposed development. 
Response:  It is not considered that Over Town Lane would not be able to withstand 
the construction traffic associated with the development.  

 

• The previous approved planning permission was described as a "hill village" or "upland 
hamlet" using natural materials and traditional design to attempt to blend in with the 
area.  The current proposals are for very urban looking executive homes which will be 
out of character with the area.  The scale of the development is excessive and will 
have a detrimental visual impact for people walking in the area looking to escape urban 
life and enjoy peace and quiet.  The aim to build the maximum density per hectare for 
maximum profit is inappropriate for this greenbelt area. 
Response: Whilst there would be a change in the visual appearance of the area, this is 
considered in relation to the former mills present on the site and by reason of size, 
scale, height, layout and massing it is considered that the development would provide 
a high quality residential development which would be in keeping with this rural setting.   

 

• The site of the proposed housing estate is in the middle of greenbelt adjacent to 
Greenbooth and Naden Reservoirs accessed by a quiet country lane - Over Town 
Lane.  Urbanisation of Over Town Lane, with street lighting and speed humps will 
impact on the openness of the greenbelt and will be out of keeping with the area.  
Response: It considered that the development and its associated highway works would 
be in keeping with its rural setting and it would have no greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt than the previous mill buildings or the previous approved 
scheme. 
 

• There is no housing need for the size of houses proposed for this development in this 
area.  The developers make no provision for affordable housing which is needed. 
Response: The Rochdale Housing Strategy promotes the need to increase the rate of 
new larger family housing where there is a recognised need and demand.  The 
provision of affordable housing is discussed in the ‘Analysis’ section of this report.   

 

• On numerous occasions the bottom section of Over Town Lane has flooded.  
Response: Adequate measures can be put in place in order to ensure that the 
development provides drainage arrangements and it poses no unacceptable risk in 
terms of flooding (either on the site or elsewhere). 

 

• There has been much discussion prior to planning permission into congestion at the 
junction with Edenfield Road, however has there been any consideration given to the 
traffic congestion created by the vehicles of 42 new homeowners endeavouring to get 
around parked cars on the section of road close to the site entrance? This is regularly 
full of dog walkers and ramblers parked cars on evenings and at weekends. 
Response:  It is considered through the provision of the proposed highways works 
along Over Town Lane the access arrangements into the site would operate safely.  

Page 140



 

• Over Town Lane is not wide enough to be brought to adoption standards, but it’s 
important to both the existing residents and the new residents that some kind of 
signage/road markings are put in place to ensure that cars do not double park, as this 
would make it impossible for both new and existing residents to access their property. 
Response:  It is considered through the provision of the proposed highways works 
along Over Town Lane the access arrangements would operate safely.  

 

• The access to Rainshore House would be impeded by cars parked on the opposite 
side of the road. Can this be taken into consideration and a suggestion put forward to 
resolve the issue. 
Response:  The proposal does not seek to amend the access to Rainshore House.  
Potential future obstructive parking is not a planning consideration.   

 

• What drainage scheme is in place to deal with water run-off? 
Response: The application includes a drainage strategy which details that under 
controlled conditions surface and foul water will be disposed of by the way of new 
sewers which will be constructed from the site to existing sewers which lie at the 
bottom of Over Town Lane.  This strategy has been agreed with United Utilities and it 
has been reviewed by the Council’s Drainage Engineer who raises no objections to the 
proposal.   

 

• A Section 106 agreement is in place for this development. Please can you provide 
information on what this is to be spent on, and how it is seen to benefit the residents in 
the immediate vicinity? 
Response:  The proposed developer contributions are discussed in the ‘Analysis’ 
section of this report.   

 

• There will be a mains sewer and other services installed under Over Town Lane. What 
is the plan for 24 hour access to the properties whilst this work is ongoing? 
Response:  During the time when the new sewers are being constructed and Over 
Town Lane is being modified there will be some disruption to the occupiers of the 
dwellings who access their home from Over Town Lane.  However this disruption will 
be for a temporary period.  
 

• As this will bring an additional 42 homes to the vicinity, will this area still be considered 
part of the “Rural round” for waste collection by RMBC, or will it be reallocated as 
“Urban”? 
Response:  This matter would be considered by the Council’s waste services section.    

 
One neutral letter has also been received from an owner of parts of the land adjoining the 
access road.  This suggests a condition that development shall not take place until terms have 
been agreed for the purchase of rights to carry out works on their land.  
Response: This is a private matter between the land owners and could not form a condition of 
any permission.   
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle of development 
 
Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The National Planning Policy Framework 
adopted in 2012 (NPPF) is one such material consideration and whilst it does not change the 
legal status of the development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  There are three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and 
environmental and paragraphs 18-219 of the NPPF, taken as a whole, constitute the 

Page 141



Government’s view of what sustainable development means in practice for the planning 
system.   
Paragraph 9 of the NPPF states that pursuing sustainable development involves seeking 
positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic environment, as well as in 
people’s quality of life, including (but not limited to): 

• making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages; 

• moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for nature; 

• replacing poor design with better design; 

• improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; and 

• widening the choice of high quality homes.  
 

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for decision making, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means: 

� Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 
delay; and 

� Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out‑of‑date, 

granting permission unless: 

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or 

- specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted. 
 

Paragraph 211 of the NPPF makes it clear that for the purpose of decision-taking, the policies 
in the Local Plan should not be considered out-of date simply because they were adopted 
prior to the publication of the Framework. Rather, due weight should be given to relevant 
policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the framework -  the 
closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the framework, the greater the weight that may 
be given. Specific policies in the NPPF that may indicate development should be restricted 
include those relating to land designated as Green Belt and the presumption can be set aside 
in such cases.   
One of the core planning principles of the NPPF is to encourage the effective use of land by 
reusing land that has been previously developed (brownfield land), provided that it is not of 
high environmental value.  The NPPF also requires Local Planning Authorities to “boost 
significantly the supply of housing” in order to “provide five years’ worth of housing against 
their housing requirements with an additional buffer of 5% (moved forward from later in the 
plan period) to ensure choice and competition in the market for land. Where there has been a 
record of persistent under delivery of housing, local planning authorities should increase the 
buffer to 20% (moved forward from later in the plan period) to provide a realistic prospect of 
achieving the planned supply and to ensure choice and competition in the market for land” 
(paragraph 47).   
 
The deficiencies in the Council’s housing land supply have been highlighted in a number of 
recent appeal decisions from the Planning Inspectorate and at present, the Council is unable 
to demonstrate a five year supply of housing land even without the 5 or 20 per cent buffer.  
Paragraph 49 of the NPPF is clear that “…Relevant policies for the supply of housing should 
not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year 
supply of deliverable housing sites”. In this context, policies within the UDP relating to housing 
provision are out of date and can be afforded very little weight in the determination of 
applications.   
 
In light of the above, paragraph 14 of the NPPF, which sets out the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development and states that where policies are out of date, permission should be 
granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the framework taken as a whole; 
or specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be restricted is applicable. 
However, it is also noted that the former site of Rainshore Mills is identified within the UDP 

Page 142



and whilst the general housing policies are out-of-date by virtue of the five year supply issue, 
Policy D/6 relating to this site clearly remains relevant in respect of this application.     
 
Although the application lies within a semi-rural location, it lies within a short walk (around 
500m) of Edenfield Road, which is served by a local bus service and Norden Village Centre.  
This bus service operates through Norden Village which provides a variety of shops and 
services. In this instance it is considered that the site lies within a sustainable location and 
furthermore, the site comprises previously developed land.   
 
In addition to the above, the scheme would provide family homes which would help to diversify 
the housing mix within the area. The Rochdale Housing Strategy promotes the need to 
increase the rate of new larger family housing where there is a recognised need and demand. 
 
In summary, the proposal would make use of previously developed land in a sustainable 
location; would contribute to the supply of housing in the Borough and would assist in the 
regeneration of a site identified in the UDP as being suitable for housing.  The principle of the 
development is therefore considered to be acceptable and in accordance with the NPPF and 
Policy D/6 of the UDP.  Notwithstanding this, the site lies within the Green Belt and the impact 
of the development on the Green Belt is therefore one of the main considerations in respect of 
this application.   
 
Impact on the Green Belt 
 
The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open; the essential characteristics of the Green Belt are their openness and their 
permanence (paragraph 79 of the NPPF).  The five purposes of Green Belt noted in the NPPF 
are:  

� to check unrestricted sprawl;  

� prevent neighbouring towns merging; 

� assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 

� preserve the setting and special character of historic towns;  

� assist in urban regeneration.   
 

Paragraph 89 of the NPPF and Policy D/4 of the UDP state that a local planning authority 
should regard the construction of new buildings as inappropriate in Green Belt.  Exceptions to 
this include the limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 
sites (brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), 
which would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of 
including land within it than the existing development. 

 
Policy H/2 of the UDP specifically names several previously developed sites within the Green 
Belt which have been allocated for housing and one of which includes the site of the former 
Rainshore Mills.  The policy details that for the Rainshore Mills site: -  
 

� Estimated capacity 40 dwellings. 

� The junction of Overtown Lane and Edenfield Road must be improved to the Councils 
satisfaction.  

� Overtown Lane must be improved to an adoptable standard. 

� Proposals will need to satisfy Policy D/6 – ‘Redevelopment and Regeneration of 
Existing Developed Sites in the Green Belt for Other Purposes’. 

� The site is bisected by a culverted watercourse and should therefore satisfy the 
provisions of policy EM/7’ Development and Flood Risk’.   

 
 

Page 143



In addition, Policy D/6 states that the development of Rainshore Mills will be permitted provided 
that it: 

• has no greater impact than the existing development on the openness of the Green belt 
and the purposes of including land in it, and where possible has less. 

• Does not exceed the height of the existing buildings. 

• Does not occupy a larger area of the site than the existing buildings  

• Contributes to the achievement of the objectives for the use of land in the Green Belts, 
in particular the protection and enhancement of: -  

� the local landscape. 

� Its nature conservation interest 

� The retention or enhancement of public rights of way;   

• Incorporates suitable access and off site highway and junction improvements.  
 
Planning permission has previously been granted for the redevelopment of the site to provide 
55 residential units and the principle of the development has therefore been established.  
Planning permission 10/D53292 has been implemented on site, with the demolition of the Mill 
having already been undertaken by this applicant. Notwithstanding this, the principle of the 
redevelopment of the site for residential purposes accords with Policy D/6 and the NPPF.   
 
The size of previous mill buildings on the site was approximately 11,000 square metres and the 
heights of the buildings ranged between 7 to 9 metres.  Due to the significant change in levels 
across the site the heights of the previous buildings on the site ranged from 234m AOD to 
248.4m AOD.  These buildings have now been demolished.   
 
The approved scheme for the erection of 55 residential units, which included the provision of 
13 apartments, involved filling in the large depression which lies towards the centre of the site. 
The proposed houses were either two or three storeys high, with the apartment block being 
5.5 storeys high (approx.16m). This apartment block was to lie adjacent to the entrance of the 
site. The proposed large dwellings were to be located around the perimeter of the site while 
the majority of the dwellings were formed in a series of terraced rows which were situated 
towards the centre of the site.  
 
Although the general configuration and topography of the current proposal follows that of the 
approved scheme, the overall site levels are lower and the apartment building is no longer 
proposed having been replaced by additional two storey dwellings.  With the omission of the 
apartment building, it is considered that the proposal would result in a lesser impact on the 
Green Belt than the previous scheme. The latest proposal also stays within the confines of the 
development extent of the former Mill and planning permission, and thus the proposal does 
not encroach any further into the Green Belt.  
 
The proposed layout together with the design and scale of the proposed dwellings, would not 
have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the previous mill buildings or the 
previously approved scheme.   The proposed dwellings have been carefully sited in so that 
they create a new rural settlement without being an incongruous or domineering feature within 
the landscape.  This development would result in a consistent roof height (average height of 
approximately 244 AOD) in which they gradually rise from south to north. It is considered that 
the proposal complies with criterion a) of policy D/6 as well as the NPPF.    
 
In is noted that criterion b) refers to the height of the proposed buildings in that they should not 
exceed the height of the existing buildings.  As detailed above due to the significant change in 
levels across the site the heights of the previous mill buildings ranged from 234m AOD to 
248.4m AOD.  This proposed development would result in an average roof height of 246m 
AOD and in certain areas of the site the proposed dwellings will be set slightly higher than the 
previous mill buildings.  The reason for this is that, as with the previously approved schemes, 
the current scheme proposes to fill and level the existing depression within the site.  If this 

Page 144



depression was not filled, in order to ensure the site was suitable for residential development it 
would be necessary to construct large retaining walls which in themselves would potentially be 
harmful to the openness of the Green Belt. Although some of the proposed dwellings will be set 
slightly higher than the previous mill buildings, due to the much reduced scale and massing 
compared with the mill buildings, they would have a lesser impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt. Furthermore, assessing the development as a whole, the average height of the 
proposed dwellings are set below the height of the previous mil buildings and they are no 
higher than the dwellings approved as part of the previous permission.   
 
The proposed development involves creating a controlled amenity water course through the 
site which connects between the existing lodge and Green Booth reservoir.  The stream would 
help to improve the visual qualities of the scheme as well as providing opportunities for 
biodiversity enhancements. The proposal also includes the provision of a large area of local 
open space which lies to the west of the development and it would be partially enclosed by 
trees. To ensure all new tree planting is suitable for the site, a condition is recommended which 
requires a landscaping scheme for the site to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.   There is an existing right of way which extends from Over Town Lane along the 
east facing boundary of the site and this will remain.  
 
To the north of the site lies Fordoe Wood which is designated as a Site of Special Biological 
Interest (SBI).  In the interest of protecting the wood during the construction phase of the 
development a condition is imposed which requires that a robust fence and low earth bund are 
installed along its boundary 
 
The Greater Manchester Ecology Unit and Natural England have been consulted and they 
raise no objections to the proposal and taking into account the above it is considered that the 
development would have no adverse impact on the conservation interest of the site.  It is 
therefore considered that the proposal accords with criterion d).  
 
Criterion e) refers to the development incorporating suitable access and off site highway 
improvements.  As set out later in this report it is considered that the access arrangements 
together with the off-site highway improvements are acceptable.  
 
Although the proposal represents a departure from criterion b) of Policy D/6, it is considered 
that the proposal would have no greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the 
previous mill buildings or the previous approved scheme, it would not have an adverse impact 
on the local landscape or the sites nature conservation interest and it provides suitable access 
arrangements.  The proposal therefore complies with all other criterions of Policy D/6 and also 
complies with the NPPF.   
 
Design and External Appearance 
 
One of the core planning principles of the NPPF seeks to secure high quality design.  
Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments: 
 

� will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development; 

� establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit;  

� respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation;  

� create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion. 
 

Page 145



Whilst Policy H/3 is out-of-date in so far as it relates to housing supply, certain criterion of the 
policy remain relevant and state that proposals for housing development on sites not allocated 
for housing or any other use in the plan will be permitted providing that: 
 

� The development provides a mix of dwellings in terms of type and size; 

� The proposed development is compatible with surrounding uses, including highways, 
both in terms of its impact upon these uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon 
the amenity of future residents. 

 
Criteria (a), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by: 
 
� Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 

scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure; 

� Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation; 
� Minimising opportunities for crime against people or property. 

 
A mixture of house types is proposed to provide a variety of accommodation and these would 
be arranged in groups across the site.  The dwellings have been orientated to benefit from a 
southerly aspect as much as possible and where this is not possible an east-west orientation 
is proposed.  The layout is orientated around the proposed access and the amenity 
watercourse which will follow the route of the underground culvert.  To help reinforce the 
character of this rural location and the majority of the front gardens would be enclosed by a 
stone wall.  It is considered that layout of the proposed development site has been designed to 
provide a strong and active building edge to enhance the positive aspects of its setting.   
 
The dwellings would be two-storeys high and several house types would contain 
accommodation within the roofspace.  The scale of the development reflects the scale of 
nearby existing residential developments and the use of natural slate of the roofs, together with 
the variations in heights between the dwellings will help to ensure the development establishes 
strong sense of place.     
 
The appearance of the dwellings is driven by the local vernacular with the dwellings faced with 
natural stone. Windows are large with a charcoal grey finish ensuring a contrast with the 
surrounding stone with glazing that features minimalist detailing. Fascia’s and barges will be 
black, and window surrounds and band courses will be stone. It is considered that the 
materials and fenestration details would create a strong character which would sit comfortably 
within this rural setting.    
 
The majority of the dwellings overlook the street or the public realm to allow good levels of 
natural surveillance.  The focal square is defined by the use of block paving and is well 
overlooked by several dwellings.  This focal square lies with the centre of the development 
and it provides a link in between the proposed area of public open space which lies to the west 
and the existing right of way which lies to the east.   
 
By reason of size, scale, height, layout and massing it is considered that the development 
would provide a high quality residential development which would be in keeping with this rural 
setting.  The proposed development is therefore in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policies BE/2, the Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide and the NPPF. 
 
Relationship with surrounding development and residential amenity 
 
One of the core planning principles of the NPPF seeks to secure high quality design and a 
good standard of amenity of existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  Criterion (i) 
of UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural light is made 
both within and between buildings.  

Page 146



 
In addition, the space standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” state that a minimum separation 
distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of opposing dwellings 
and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations. The SPG states that 
“where buildings of three or more stories are proposed, or there is a marked difference in 
levels, it will be necessary for the minimum distances to be increased based on 5 metres per 
storey or three metre level change”. Where this cannot be achieved, proposals should be 
“compatible with the density and character of surrounding development”. 
 
In the most part, the proposed layout of the dwellings adheres with the Council’s adopted 
residential spacing standards.  In cases were the spacing standard is not met, it is only 
marginally below it and it is considered that the development would provide adequate privacy 
for the future residents of the dwellings.  Furthermore, it is considered that the layout proposed 
reflects the character and density of a typical rural upland settlement and represents efficient 
use of land.   It is considered that the separation distances proposed between the proposed 
dwellings are sufficient to provide adequate level of amenity for future occupants.   
 
Located immediately to the west of the site lies Rainshore Farm, which is a two storey 
detached property.   The principal windows within this property do not face directly towards the 
site and it is considered that the privacy and amenity of the residents of this property would not 
be unduly affected.   
 
In summary, the design and the position of the proposed dwellings would ensure that the 
development maintains satisfactorily levels of privacy and amenity between the proposed 
dwellings and the uses which adjoin the site. The proposal would have no undue impact on 
the amenity of neighbouring occupants and would provide adequate amenity for the future 
occupiers of the houses.  Therefore the development is in accordance with the requirements 
of UDP policies EM/3 and BE/2, the objectives of the SPG Note “Guidelines and Standards for 
Residential Development” and the NPPF. 
 
Landscaping 
 
Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should aim to ensure 
that developments are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate 
landscaping. UDP policy BE/8 requires developments to incorporate landscape schemes of a 
high quality where it is necessary to: 
 

� Retain and integrate existing trees, planting or other landscape features (including 
areas of nature conservation or value); 

� Screen or soften a development from adjoining land, or to screen an adjoining use 
from the site; 

� Provide visual enclosure around car parking, storage or plant areas; 

� Provide a structure to the development layout to create local character and 
distinctiveness, or as a setting for individual buildings or groups of buildings; 

� Protect and enhance the setting of existing individual buildings or groups of buildings. 
 
The proposed layout provides for garden frontages to each dwelling. In most cases these 
frontages would comprise a combination of in-curtilage parking separated by landscaped 
strips of hedging, planting and greenspace. Also, each dwelling would be provided with a rear 
garden.  Boundary treatments around gardens would comprise stone walls, fencing or 
hedging.  The boundary treatments would provide satisfactory security and privacy for outdoor 
amenity areas. 
 
The proposed development would achieve an appropriate balance between areas of hard and 
soft landscaping in order to ensure a pleasant visual aspect to the highway, and the layout 

Page 147



would ensure appropriate treatment of open spaces between and around buildings in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies BE/2 and BE/8, and the NPPF. 

 
Nature Conservation 
 
Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following 
(relevant) principles: 
 

� if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on 
an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused; 

� opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged. 

 
UDP policy NE/3 indicates that in areas identified as SBIs, LNRs, SSSIs, SPAs or SACs, the 
effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats of ecological value will 
be taken into account in assessing proposals. 
 
UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that: 
 

a) There is no adverse impact on the species concerned; 
b) Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 

required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and 

c) Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation. 

 

The ecology studies submitted with the application confirm that the mill pond sustains a 
population of Luronium natans.  The floating water-plantain (Luronium natans) is a priority 
species in the UKBAP; it is also a Protected Species under Schedule 8 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981.  Under the proposals the mill lodge will be retained and it will not be 
drained.  The Greater Manchester Ecology Unit have commented that they raise no objection 
to the proposal as the floating water plantain will be conserved in – situ.  Conditions are 
recommended which would protect the mill lodge during the construction of the dwellings.   
To the north of the site lies Fordoe Wood which is designated as a Site of Special Biological 
Interest (SBI).  In the interest of protecting the wood during the construction phase of the 
development a condition is imposed which requires that a robust fence and low earth bund are 
installed along its boundary with the site.  
The proposal has been reviewed by the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit who have raised no 
objections and it is considered that the proposal would have no detrimental impact on the 
favourable conservation status of any protected species or land and satisfactory protection 
and enhancements can be achieved through the provision of an appropriate conditions. The 
proposed development is therefore in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/2, 
NE/3 and NE/4, and the NPPF. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk”. 
 

Page 148



UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood 
plains, or other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an 
appropriate flood risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are met: 
 

� It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by 
reducing flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the 
additional discharge of surface water; 

� It will not itself be at risk from flooding; 

� Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used; 

� Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided; 

� Existing or proposed flood defences are protected; 

� It would not result in extensive culverting; and 

� Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at the 
developer’s expense. 

 
The accompanying Flood Risk Assessment confirms that the development site area is within 
Flood Zone 1 which is defined as land assessed as having a less than 1 in 1000 years (< 
0.1% AEP) annual probability of river flooding or the sea in any one year. Accordingly, 
residential here is considered both acceptable and appropriate.   
 
Whilst a detailed assessment as part of a previous FRA indicates that the eastern sector of the 
site is within Flood Zone 3, this refers to Greenbooth Reservoir which is outside the site. Due 
to the major level differences between the site and reservoir, the subject site is not shown to 
be at risk.   The outfall from the Mill lodge enters the site from the west and is fed from Royd 
Brook. The outfall from the lodge was culverted beneath the site and in this particular case 
none of the dwellings lie above it.  The proposal includes the provision of a new controlled 
amenity water course and a condition has been recommended which requires design of its 
design to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
The application includes a drainage strategy which details that under controlled conditions 
surface and foul water will be disposed of by the way of new sewers which will be constructed 
from the site to existing sewers which lie at the bottom of Over Town Lane.  This strategy has 
been agreed with United Utilities and it has been reviewed by the Council’s Drainage Engineer 
who raises no objections to the proposal.   
In the absence therefore of any technical objection to this scheme on flooding or drainage 
grounds from either United Utilities or the Council’s Drainage Engineer and no technical 
evidence demonstrating an issue with the lodge or culvert, it would not be possible to 
substantiate or justify any refusal of planning permission on the grounds of an increased risk 
of surface water flooding in the area.  The Environment Agency is satisfied that the proposal is 
acceptable subject to conditions relating to contamination to prevent pollution of the water 
environment.  Adequate measures can be put in place in order to ensure that the development 
provides drainage arrangements and it poses no unacceptable risk in terms of flooding (either 
on the site or elsewhere) in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy EM/7 and the 
NPPF.  
 
Contamination 
The nature of the previous use is such that remediation will be necessary to ensure the site is 
suitable for residential use.  The applicant has submitted contaminated land reports with the 
application and the Council’s Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied that any issues which 
may exist on the site can be adequately identified and addressed by the imposition of a 
condition.  As noted above, the Environment Agency require additional information in respect 
of controlled waters and contamination and an appropriate condition is therefore 
recommended to require the submission and approval of a contamination report, 
implementation of any appropriate remediation measures identified and a verification report to 
be submitted on completion. It is therefore considered that the requirements of UDP policy 

Page 149



EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF can be satisfactorily addressed through 
condition. 
 
Parking and Access 
 
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that: 

• Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed; 

• Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations; 

• Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and 

• Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists. 
 
UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not: 

• Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users; 

• Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 
restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development; 

• Substantially increase congestion; 

• Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or 

• Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 
traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network. 

 
UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that: 

• Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and 
suitable for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use 
them; and 

• Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided. 

 
In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be “compatible with surrounding 
uses, including highways, both in terms of [their] impact upon those uses and the impact of 
surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires proposals to 
facilitate safe and convenient access and circulation. 
 
UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. The policy states that car parking provision at less than the maximum 
standard will be accepted subject to an assessment of the following criteria: 
 

• The location of the development and the appropriateness and feasibility of 
providing parking provision within that location; 

• Access to other transport modes; 

Page 150



• The availability of other convenient and safe off-street parking; 

• The availability of unutilised on-street parking capacity and the ability to 
accommodate parking without harm to visual amenity or pedestrian / road safety; 
and 

• The willingness of a developer to fund traffic Orders to establish controls on on-
street parking or other measures to mitigate the impact, including securing modal 
shift away from vehicular traffic and other traffic management measures 

 
With regard to parking with the exception of plots 1-9 which are provided with one car parking 
space, all of the dwellings contain a large private driveway which would be large enough for at 
least two cars.  It is considered that the car parking provision for the site is appropriate and 
acceptable. 
 
Access to the site would be via Over Town Lane and its carriageway up to the site varies in 
width between 7m and 4.5m and it is bereft of footways but has intermittent verges. 
Approximately 50m north of Edenfield Road, Overtown Lane reduces in width and it is 
bounded by dry stonewalls for a length of 85m.  This section of Overtown Lane caters for 
single lane alternate traffic.  There is one unofficial passing area along this section of the road, 
which would be suitable for cars to pass side by side. At present Over Town Lane serves Nos 
948, 946, 944 Edenfield Road, the carpark to the White Lion public house, commercial units 
immediately north of the White Lion, 5 residential properties off Baitings Row, a number of 
farms and houses and the application site.   
Submitted with the application is a Transport Statement which confirms the expected vehicular 
movements to and from the site and it outlines what improvements are to be made to Over 
Town Lane.  The proposed highway improvements are stated below: -  
 

a) Provision of a footway along the majority of Over Town Lane  
b) Provision of a 5.5m wide carriageway along the majority of Over Town Lane.  
c) Physical traffic calming along Over Town Lane.  
d) Street lighting along Over Town Lane  
e) Improvement to the junction of Edenfield Road/Over Town Lane to provide visibility 

splays of 2m by 70m in both directions.  
 

The above mentioned highway works were also proposed as part of the previous approved 
application.   
 
The Council’s Highways Officer has reviewed the proposed off site highway works and 
considers they would deliver the following benefits: -  
 

� Improved visibility for drives entering Edenfield Road from Over Town Lane. 

� The provision of a footway along the majority of Over Town Lane.  It is worth noting 
that presently there is no footpath.   

� Naturally calm traffic speeds through the provision of narrowed sections of the 
highway.  

� The resurfacing of Over Town Lane.  

�  
The submitted Transport Assessment calculates the development would generate around 33 
vehicular movements per hour (VPH) during the highway peak hours and this equates to just 
over 1 additional vehicle per 2 minutes.  This VPH figure when compared to the anticipated 
traffic generation from the permitted scheme for 42 houses plus 13 apartments shows that 
there would be small decrease in the anticipated peak hour traffic flows. With the support of 
the Council’s Highways Officers it is considered that the trips associated by the residential 
development would not unduly affect the safe and efficient operation of Over Town Lane or 
Edenfield Road.  

Page 151



In summary there are no material adverse effects in transportation terms, the development is 
sustainable in its location and benefits would be conveyed by the proposed improved access 
arrangements and associated traffic calming effects. It is therefore considered that the 
highways and transportation impacts of this proposal would be beneficial and the proposed 
access arrangements are appropriate and acceptable. The proposal is considered to adhere 
to the requirements of UDP policies A/3, A/8, A/9, A/10 and BE/2, and the NPPF. 
 
Developer Contributions 
 
A development of the size proposed would ordinarily be required to make contributions 
towards recreational open space and affordable housing in accordance with the requirements 
of UDP policies H/6 and H/7.   
 
Previous contributions applicable to the previous applications included affordable housing, 
open space and outdoor sports (£41,757.20) and contributions towards off-site highway works 
(£32,000), including upgrading the bus stop along Edenfield Road.  
 
Previously, a contribution in respect of upgrading the bus stop which lies adjacent to the 
junction of Over Town Lane and Edenfield Road was proposed along with highway safety 
improvements on Edenfield Road.  The highway authority has confirmed that these 
improvements have been implemented.  It is recommended that a condition is attached to the 
permission to afford consideration to whether further safety improvements could be delivered 
to reduce vehicle speeds at the junction of Over Town Lane and Edenfield Road in the 
interests of highway safety.     
 
The current application would normally require the following additional contributions to be 
made: -  

• A contribution of £1,084,875 towards affordable housing. 

• A contribution of £81,762 towards off site formal sports provision.  
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations pooling restrictions came into force in 
April 2015 and the local planning authority is no longer able to pool contributions from five or 
more obligations to infrastructure projects that could be funded by CIL, whether there is a local 
levy in operation or not.  The CIL regulations require that contributions meet the following 
three tests: 
 

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms  
(b) directly related to the development; and  
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development  

 
Notwithstanding the above, the developer has submitted a viability appraisal which outlines 
estimated build costs associated with the development (including abnormal costs, 
contingencies, professional fees and finances costs) and anticipated revenue generated from 
the sale of the dwellings. The appraisal confirms that if the affordable housing and offsite 
recreational open space contributions were required, they would unacceptably impact the 
scheme’s viability to the extent that the development could not be brought forward.   
 
Paragraph 173 of the NPPF states that pursuing sustainable development requires careful 
attention to viability and costs in plan-making and decision-taking. Plans should be deliverable. 
Therefore, the sites and the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject 
to such a scale of obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is 
threatened. To ensure viability, the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to 
development, such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, infrastructure 
contributions or other requirements should, when taking account of the normal cost of 
development and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land owner and willing 
developer to enable the development to be deliverable. 

Page 152



 
In addition, paragraph 205 of the NPPF indicates that where obligations are being sought or 
revised, local planning authorities should take account of changes in market conditions over 
time and, wherever appropriate, be sufficiently flexible to prevent planned development being 
stalled.  
 
The viability appraisal has been reviewed by the Council’s advisors and they are in agreement 
that the developer has demonstrated that the development would not be viable with the 
developer contributions noted above and as such, the development would not proceed.  In 
accordance with the NPPF, it is therefore recommended that the application should not be 
subject to a requirement for developer contributions.  The wider benefits of the scheme are 
also duly noted as the proposed development would deliver the redevelopment of a previously 
developed site in the Green Belt.   
 
Energy and Sustainability 
 
It is detailed in the Visibility Appraisal that the scheme would not be viable if it were to achieve 
a full 20% reduction in CO2 emissions and meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes.  
Notwithstanding this, the Code for Sustainable Homes is no longer a relevant standard as it 
was withdrawn by the Government on 27 March 2015. In a Ministerial Statement made to the 
House of Commons on 25 March 2015, the then Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government, Eric Pickles, set out the government’s new planning policy on the setting of 
technical standards for new dwellings which should be taken into account in applying the 
National Planning Policy Framework. This is an important material consideration which needs 
to be given significant weight and which also represents a material change in planning 
circumstances following the previous grant of planning permission on the site. 
 
Between 26 March 2015 and 30 September 2014, the government’s policy is, ‘that planning 
permissions should not be granted requiring, or subject to conditions requiring compliance with 
any technical housing standards other than for those areas where authorities have existing 
policies on access, internal space or water efficiency… where there is an existing plan policy 
which references the Code for Sustainable Homes, authorities may continue to apply a 
requirement for a water efficiency standard equivalent to the new national technical standard 
or in the case of energy a standard consistent with the earlier part of this statement3, 
concerning energy performance’. The Council does not have a specific policy in respect of 
water efficiency. In late 2016 the Building Regulations will be amended to require new 
dwellings to meet an equivalent of what was Code Level 4.  
The direction of travel for Government is clear that sustainability requirements for new 
dwellings should be brought forward through the new national technical standards, making 
reference to up to date Local Plans and the Building Regulations. Given that the new technical 
standards are optional and if the Council wishes to refer to them in decision making this 
should preferentially be through new policies in a Local Plan and the Council’s current policy 
refers to a Code which has now been revoked and is therefore out of date, it is considered 
most appropriate that the sustainability requirements of this development are dealt with by the 
Building Regulations.  
 
Conclusion 
 
The proposal would assist in the regeneration of a previously developed site in the Green Belt, 
would contribute to the supply of housing in the Borough and would utilise previously 
developed land in a sustainable location.  The proposal would have no greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt than the previous mill buildings or the previously approved 

                                                                 3 Which require compliance with energy performance standards that exceed the energy requirements of 

Building Regulations until commencement of amendments to the Planning and Energy Act 2008 in the 
Deregulation Bill 2015 (likely to be late 2016). 

Page 153



scheme and the proposal therefore accords with the NPPF and Policy D6 of the UDP.  The 
development would have no detrimental impact on the safe and efficient operation of the 
highway network and would provide a high quality development and would result in an 
acceptable relationship with surrounding uses, whilst providing an adequate level of amenity 
for the future occupants of the dwellings in accordance with Policies BE/2, A/3, A/8, A/9, A/10 
and the NPPF.  The development would not adversely affect the conservation status of the 
adjacent Fordoe Wood or the population of Luronium natans in the mill pond subject to 
conditions and adequate measures can be put in place in order to ensure that the 
development provides drainage arrangements and it would poses no unacceptable risk in 
terms of flooding (either on the site or elsewhere) and contamination subject to conditions. No 
adverse impacts have been identified that would outweigh the benefits of this scheme.  It is 
therefore considered that the proposal comprises sustainable development. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions and reasons:- 
 
 
 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 

with the date of this permission.  
   
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 This permission relates to the following plans:-  
   
          13044_00_A_Location Plan  
          M2455-04A Tree Protection Plan   
          13044-GD-16 Garage Details Plots 3 & 4 Floor Plans and Elevations  
          13044-H-10-C-Type H Plans & Elevations  
          13044-K-11-C-Type K Plans & Elevations  
          13044-L-12-C-Type H Plans & Elevations  
          13044-A-02-C-Type A Elevations   
          13044-A-01-A-Type A Floor Plans   
          13044-B-03-B Type B Floor Plan  
          13044-B-04-C Type B Elevations  
          13044-BS-14-A Type B Special Floor Plans  
          13044-BS-15-B Type B Special Elevations  
          13044-C-06-C Type C Elevations  
          13044-C-05-A Type C Floor Plans  
          13044-D-07-C Type D Floor Plans and Elevations  
          13044-E-08-C Type E Floor Plans and Elevations  
          13044-F-09-C Type F Floor Plans and Elevations  
          13044-L-12-C Type L Floor Plans and Elevations  
          13044-01-U Site Layout   

         13044  - 03 A - A Site Sections and Comparison between approved (10/D53292) 
and the proposed scheme   
13044 - 05 - Development area comparable plan between proposed and 
approved D53292 layout  

          13044 - 07  - Proposed street scenes 3 and 4   
          13044-GD-13-Garage Details Floor Plans and Elevations   
          M2455.02 Stream Section 1 & 2  
          M2455.01C Landscape Layout   
          M2455.08 Central Square Landscape Layout   
          M2455.06 Boundary Treatments  

Page 154



          M2455.07 Section A-A P.O.S]  
          SCP/14546/228/100 – Section 278 – General Arrangement   
          SCP/14546/228/101 – Section 38 – Kerbs and Markings   
          SCP/14546/228/102 – Section 38 – Street Lighting   
          SCP/14546/D01 – Drainage Strategy   
          HC-15145-(30)-001 Rev A – Drainage Scheme   
          002 – Culvert Outfall GA Plan and Details   
          003 Rev D - Culvert Outfall GA Plan and Details  
          004 - Culvert Outfall RC plans, Elevations and Details   
          005 Rev B - Junctions Base 5 Manhole 5 RC plans, elevations and details   
          006 – Culvert Manholes, Junction Base 1 and Base 2 GA and RC  
          007 - Culvert Manholes, Junction Base 3 and GA and RC  
          008  - Culvert Manholes, Junction Base 4 and GA and RC  
          009 Rev A  - Culvert Inlet Details   
          A0 06I026/002 - Topographical Survey   

 13044 (31) 02 – Square Bay Windows (type 01)   
 13044 (37) – 01 - GRP Former (House Type A)   
 13044 (37) - 02  - GRP Dormer (House Type B/B1)   
 13044 (31)  - 02  - Square Bay Window (Type 01)   
 13044 (31)  - 01  - Window Details   
 13044 (41) – 03 Door Head and Surround Detail   
 13044 (41)  - 02  - Window Surround Detail   
 13044 (37)  - 04  - GRP Window Surround (House Type B1)   
  13044 (37)  -03  - GRP Dormer (House Type H)    

 
 and the development shall not be carried out other than in complete accordance with 

these drawings hereby approved.   
   
 Reason: For the avoidance of any doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 

development in accordance with policies of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 3 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no development other 

than remediation in accordance with condition 7 shall take place until samples or full 
details of materials to be used externally on the buildings have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the type, 
colour and texture of the materials. Only the materials so approved shall be used, in 
accordance with any terms of such approval.      

   
 Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 

in accordance with Policy BE/2 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 4 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 

condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until details of 
all windows and doors (including their materials, finishes, recesses and opening 
profile) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The windows and doors shall be installed in accordance with the duly 
approved details before the dwellings hereby approved are first occupied and shall be 
retained as such thereafter.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure use of appropriate materials which are sympathetic to the 

character of the site and its surroundings in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policy BE/2 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 155



 5 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, within 3 months of development first taking place details 
of the siting, height, design, materials and finish of boundary treatments to each plot 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The duly 
approved boundary treatments shall be constructed in full accordance with the 
approved details before the dwelling on that plot is first occupied, and shall be retained 
as such thereafter.  

   
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity and to 

ensure adequate levels of privacy between neighbouring dwellings in the interests of 
the amenity of future occupiers in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan Policies BE/2 and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
 6 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 

condition 2 of this permission, no development shall take place until details of 
proposed site and finished floor levels, relative to off site datum, have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason: In the interest of residential and visual amenity and in compliance with Policy 

BE/2 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: It is necessary to establish the finished site 

and floor levels before works commence on site in the interests of visual and 
residential amenity. 

 
 7 No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment (in addition 

to any assessment provided with the planning application) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall investigate 
the nature and extent of any contamination on the site (whether or not it originates on 
the site). The assessment shall be undertaken by competent persons and a written 
report of the findings submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any development takes place. The submitted report shall include: 

   
 i)  a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination, which shall identify all 

previous uses, potential contaminants associated with those uses and a conceptual 
model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors and potentially 
unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site;    

 ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  
                 • human health, 

• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets,    
woodland, and service lines and pipes,  

                 • adjoining land,  
                 • groundwaters and surface waters, including controlled waters,  
                 • ecological systems,  
                 • archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
 iii) where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of remedial options and 

proposal of the preferred option(s) to form a remediation strategy for the site.  
   
 The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the duly 

approved remediation strategy and a verification report submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before any of the buildings hereby approved are 
first occupied. The submitted verification report shall include results of sampling and 
monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved remediation scheme to 
demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. It shall also include any 
plan (a “long-term monitoring and maintenance plan”) for longer-term monitoring of 

Page 156



pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action, as identified 
in the verification plan. The long-term monitoring and maintenance plan shall be 
implemented as approved.  

   
 If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at 

the site then no further development shall be carried out until the developer has 
submitted a remediation strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and this shall be approved in writing by 
the local planning authority.  The remediation shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved strategy.    

   
 Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 

development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure contamination is appropriately 

identified and a stategy is in place before works commence on site to prevent pollution 
of the water environment and to ensure the safe development of the site in the 
interests of the amenity of future occupiers.   

 
 8 No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until surface water drainage works 

have been implemented in accordance with details that have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Before these details are submitted 
an assessment shall be carried out of the potential for disposing of surface water by 
means of a sustainable drainage system, and the results of the assessment provided 
to the local planning authority. Where a sustainable drainage scheme is to be provided, 
the submitted details shall:  

   
 i) provide information about the design storm period and intensity, the method 

employed to delay and control the surface water discharged from the site and the 
measures taken to prevent pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface 
waters;  

 ii) include a timetable for its implementation; and provide a management and 
maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which shall include the 
arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker and any 
other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.  

   
 Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding and ensure future maintenance of 

the surface water drainage system in order to comply with Unitary Development Plan 
EM/7 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 9 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 

condition 2 of this permission, no development other than remediation in accordance 
with condition 7 shall take place until a detailed scheme for the disposal of foul water 
drainage, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The approved scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently 
maintained, in accordance with the timing/phasing arrangements embodied within the 
scheme or within any other period as may subsequently agreed, in writing, by the local 
planning authority  

   
 Reason: To ensure future maintenance of the foul water drainage system in order to 

comply with Unitary Development Plan EM/7 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 

Page 157



10 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 
condition 2 of this permission, within 3 months of development first taking place a 
specification for the design and construction of all private parking areas, including 
provision for the drainage of surface water from them, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The parking areas shall be 
constructed in accordance with the approved details before each associated dwelling is 
first occupied, and retained thereafter for the parking of vehicles.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure there is adequate provision for vehicles to be parked clear 

of the highway and to ensure the suitable disposal of surface water in order to comply 
with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2 and A/10, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
11 No development shall take place until all trees that are to be retained adjacent to the 

site have been enclosed with temporary protective fencing in accordance with 
BS:5837:2012 'Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction. 
Recommendations'. The fencing shall be retained during the period of construction and 
no work, excavation, tipping, or stacking/storage of materials shall take place within 
such protective fencing during the construction period.  

   
 Reason: In order to protect the existing trees on the site in the interests of the 

amenities of the area and in accordance with Policies BE/2, BE/8 and NE/8 of the 
adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan. 

 
12 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 

condition 2 of this permission, within 3 months of development first taking place, a 
landscaping scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Such a scheme shall include details of the type, species, siting, 
planting distances and the programme of planting of trees and shrubs.  The scheme of 
planting, as approved, shall be carried out during the first planting season after the 
development is substantially completed and the areas which are landscaped shall be 
retained as landscaped areas thereafter. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being 
severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within three years of planting shall 
be replaced by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required 
to be planted.  

   
 Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory level of landscaping in the interests of the 

amenities of the area in accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/8 of the Council’s 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
13 Within 3 months of the development taking place a landscape management plan, 

including long-term design objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance 
schedules for all landscaped areas (except privately owned domestic gardens), shall 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

     
 The scheme shall include the following elements:   
     
  - detail, extent and type of new planting with preference for native species;

   
  - details of any invasive plants on site and their control;   
   
 The scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the timing / phasing  

arrangements embodied within the scheme or within any other period as may 
subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.    

     

Page 158



 Reason: To ensure the protection of wildlife and supporting habitat and secure 
opportunities for the enhancement of the nature conservation value of the site in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Unitary Development 
Plan policies NE/3 and NE/4. 

 
14 Within 3 months of the development first taking place a landscape management plan 

for the provision and maintenance of all landscaped areas (except privately owned 
domestic gardens) shall have been submitted for the written approval of the Local 
Planning Authority.  The scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the 
timing/phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme or within any other period 
as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.   

   
 Reason: To ensure the suitable provision and maintenance of all landscaped areas in 

accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Unitary Development 
Plan policies BE/2 and BE/8 and the NPPF 

 
15 Within one month of the development first taking place a scheme for the design, 

construction and drainage of the new estate road and the improvements to Over Town 
Lane as shown on drawings 13044-01-U (Site Layout) and SCP/14546/228/01 (Kerbs 
and Markings) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the duly approved 
details before any of the dwellings are first occupied.        

   
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of engineering works and surface treatment 

in order to achieve appropriate provision for vehicle access, circulation and 
manoeuvring in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policies BE/2, A/8 and A/9 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
16 No development shall take place until a scheme for the provision of a low earth bund to 

be positioned inside the boundary of the site adjacent to the Site of Biological 
Importance known as Fordoe Wood has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.   The approved scheme shall be implemented throughout 
the construction period and removed in accordance with a a timescale that has been 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason. In order to protect Fordoe Wood during construction, in accordance with the 

requirements of NE/2 of the Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework.    

 
17 The mill lodge shall not be drained and no works to the lodge dam shall take place until 

a method statement to protect the floating water-plantain luronium natans has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The method 
statement shall be implemented and maintained fully in accordance with approved 
details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason. In order to protect the European Protected Species luronium natans, in 

accordance with the requirements of NE/3 of the Council's adopted Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 
18 No development shall take place until a scheme to provide temporary protective 

fencing around the perimeter of the site to prevent construction materials and waste 
encroaching onto the adjoining land has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The fence shall be constructed in accordance with the approved 
details before any development takes place and it shall be retained until the 
development has been completed.    

   

Page 159



 Reason: In order to protect the adjoining land from damage and pollution during 
construction, in accordance with Policies NE/2 and NE/6 of the Unitary Development 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
19 No development shall take place until a structural survey to establish the stability of the 

mill lodge embankment and its associated overflow weir and drawdown arrangement 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Any 
necessary works to repair or strengthen the embankment and its associated overflow 
weir and drawdown arrangement shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
scheme to a timescale that has been approved by the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason. To ensure the proposed development has a satisfactory standard of 

protection from reservoir overtopping, in accordance Policies EM/7 and EM/8 of the 
Council's Unitary Development and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
20 No development shall take place until a scheme for the removal, relocation or 

importation of any material onto the site has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include details of:  

  
i) the method of removal, the location, description and volume of any materials to 

be removed;  
ii) the method of removal, the location, description and volume of any materials to 

be relocated within the site;  
iii) the location, description, volume and finished levels of the imported fill material, 

including method of infilling.   
   
 The development of the site shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

scheme.   
   
 Reason. In order to ensure a satisfactory development and to ensure that there will be 

no detrimental effect on surface and ground water, in accordance with the 
requirements of Policy EM/8 of the Council's Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.   

 
21 Within 3 months of the development hereby approved first taking place a scheme for 

highway improvement works along Edenfield Road shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   None of the dwellings hereby 
approved shall be first occupied until the approved highway improvement works have 
been fully completed.  

   
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies A/9 and 

BE/2 of the Council's Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

 
22 No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include 
details of the following:   

  (i) hours for site preparation, delivery of materials and construction; 
 (ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;   

  (iii) loading and unloading of plant and materials;   
  (iv) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development

 (v) wheel washing facilities;   
(vi) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction 

works.   
  
 

Page 160



The duly approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. 
  

     
 Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, 

pollution, nuisance and disturbance during the construction  in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework 

 
 
Report Author Paul Ambrose 
 
 
  ____________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 161



Application Number: 15/00413/FUL    Ward: Wardle And West Littleborough       
 

 
Proposal: Erection of 10 detached dwellings 
 

Site Address: Land At Holland Street Wardle Rochdale   
 

Applicant: Holdchase Limited 
                   
 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions 
 

 
 
DELEGATION SCHEME 
 
The proposed scheme represents a departure from the Development Plan and in accordance 
with the adopted Scheme of Delegation the application is brought to the Planning and 
Licencing Committee for determination. Members of the Committee have delegated powers to 
approve or refuse the application based on reasonable planning grounds. 
 
UPDATE 
 
At the Pennines Township Sub Committee on the 8th July the Committee unanimously 
resolved that they were minded to grant permission for the proposed development.  
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to an area of undeveloped land, measuring approximately 0.8ha, 
situated off Stott Street and Holland Street. The site is located to the south of Halifax Road, 
Wardle and is located just beyond the urban boundary and is defined as Protected Open Land 
and within a Greenspace Corridor by the saved policies of the UDP. The site is also located 
immediately to the rear of residential properties along Halifax Road and Springfield Lane. 

Page 162



 
The site is an open, generally level and grassy field, which is devoid of any trees or other 
planting (except along its western boundary shared with the houses on Springfield Lane where 
there is mature hedgerow planting). The site forms part of a larger field that has been 
previously used for the grazing of cattle. The land is generally level except where it has a very 
slight fall in ground level towards to its southern boundary. 
 
The site is adjoined on its western, northern and eastern sides by a residential area 
comprising a mix of traditional two storey red brick terraced dwellings and larger two storey 
detached and semi-detached dwellings. A modern three storey detached dwelling is located 
along the northwest boundary of the site. A more recent modern infill development of two 
storey detached dwellings is located to the southeast of the application site through which the 
application site is accessed by metal gates. The remaining southern boundary is bordered by 
open fields that slope down more steeply towards the valley of the River Roch. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 10 no. two storey 4 bedroom 
detached houses and associated access, parking and landscaping on land off Holland Street, 
Wardle. This application follows the grant of an outline planning permission for a similar 
development of 10 no. detached 4-bedroom dwellings in 2013, reference no. 13/01066/OUT. 
 
The current application now seeks full planning permission and has a slightly different site 
layout from the previously approved application. The access to the site as previously approved 
would be taken from Holland Street, in- between Nos.16 & 18 Holland Street. The proposed 
dwellings would be of modern design featuring central pitched roofs with two different house 
types showing different arrangements and mix of the following materials: 
 

� Mellow red facing Brick 

� Marley Edgemere Interlocking Slate– smooth grey reconstituted slate roofing tiles 

� Blue Class B Engineering Brick course up to DPC 

� K Rend Render Finish (Sterling White or Ivory) 

� 120mm x 18mm Cedar cladding. 

� Black UPVC Fascia. Soffits to match or cedar boarding. 

� Black Half-round Gutters and Down pipes 

� Anthracite UPVC Windows and Garage Doors. 
 
As part of the development, the southern boundary of the site is to be landscaped, comprising 
a low mound of an average width of 8m and a length of 80m. On the mound are to be planted 
a variety of trees and shrubs, to create a ‘green’ landscaped edge to the southern boundary of 
the site. Each of the dwellings would comprise a ground floor garage, kitchen, lounge and 
utility with 4 bedrooms at first floor, including two en-suite bathrooms and family bathroom. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework  
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.   
 
 
 

Page 163



National Planning Policy Guidance 
 
The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate. 
 
Unitary Development Plan:  
 
G/D/1  Defined Urban Area 
D/10  Protected Open Land 
 
G/H/1  Housing 
H/3   Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas 
H/5  Residential Density 
H/6  Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development 
 
G/A/1  Accessibility 
A/2  Accessibility Hierarchy 
A/3  New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People 
A/4  New Development – Access for Cyclists 
A/8   New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network 
A/9  New Development – Access for General Traffic 
A/10  New Development – Provision of Parking 
 
G/BE/1 Design Quality 
BE/2  Design Criteria for New Development 
BE/8  Landscaping in new Development 
 
G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control 
EM/2  Pollution 
EM/3  Noise and New Development 
EM/4  Contaminated Land 
EM/7  Development and Flood Risk 
EM/8  Protection of Surface and Ground Water 
EM/9  Development Involving Unstable Land 
 
G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation 
EM/13  Energy Efficiency and New Development 
 
G/NE/1 Nature Conservation 
NE/3  Biodiversity and Development 
NE/4  Protected Species 
 
G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands 
NE/8  Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows 
 
G/G/1  Greenspace 
G/2  Standards for Recreational Open Space 
G/8   Greenspace Corridors 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD 
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG 

Page 164



Energy and New Development SPD 
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD 
Affordable Housing SPD 
 
SITE HISTORY 
 
01/D38875  -  Residential development – 11 dwellings - Refused. 
 
13/00873/OUT - Outline application for the development of 10 houses -Withdrawn. 
 
13/01066/OUT - Outline application for the development of 10 houses – Approved.  
  
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Highways and Engineering: - Following amendments to the layout of the site to provide 
surface footpaths adjacent to the carriageway and to amend the road layout to an adoptable 
standard, the Highways Authority have raised no objections to the proposals. 
 
Their original comments were as follows:  
 
This development will have a negative impact upon Road Safety. The applicant has indicated 
their desire to omit footways from the side of the road instead using a service strip of land 
which would still be highway although in no way is it distinguished from the gardens of the 
properties. This offers pedestrians no defensible area. Service Strips were a very popular 
design choice in the early 90s however 25 years later these service strips have either been 
planted up with hedges where the roots disrupt and destroy services buried under the ground. 
In areas where hedges are not planted the areas are often overrun by vehicles leaving rutted 
muddy areas adjacent to the highway and trip hazards on the Highway. We do not therefore 
accept this design as an adoptable structure. The access into the site is narrow between to 
existing houses. Whilst this is narrow it is within acceptable limits and this pinch point should 
help reduce the speed of traffic in the area.  
 
I am satisfied refuse can be collected from this development turning heads as proposed but as 
the design is not of an adoptable standard we would not expect refuse vehicles to visit this 
development and would expect private arrangements to be made for refuse collection.  
 
This development will not have a negative impact upon the local Network Capacity. This 
development will not generate sufficient traffic for Rochdale BC to ask for any further study 
into the implications of traffic in the area. Highways Drainage will not change as a result of this 
development. This application will not impact upon the existing highways layout. This 
application has sufficient dedicated parking. No Public Right of Way will be obstructed by this 
development.  
 
The current proposed Highways Layout favours service strips over pedestrian footways. This 
creates both maintenance and a safety issues. The proposed highway is not of an adoptable 
standard and will not therefore be visited by refuse vehicles. I cannot therefore support this 
application in its present form. Should the applicant submit an acceptable design the existing 
20 mph zone order should be amended to include this development. 
 
United Utilities (UU): - No objection to the proposal provided that the following conditions are 
attached to any approval: - 
 
Notwithstanding any indication on the approved plans, no development approved by this 
permission shall commence until a scheme for the disposal of foul and surface waters for the 
entire site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. For 
the avoidance of doubt, surface water must drain separate from the foul and no surface water 

Page 165



will be permitted to discharge directly or indirectly into existing foul or combined public 
sewerage systems. Any surface water draining to the public surface water sewer must be 
restricted to a maximum pass forward flow of 10 l/s. The development shall be completed, 
maintained and managed in accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue  
increase in surface water run off and to reduce the risk of flooding  
 
Drainage Comments: - In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Building Regulations, the site should be drained on a separate system with foul draining to the 
public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way. The developer should 
consider the drainage options in the following order of priority: 
 

� an adequate soak away or some other adequate infiltration system, (approval must be 
obtained from local authority/building control/Environment Agency); or, where that is 
not reasonably practicable  

� a watercourse (approval must be obtained from the riparian owner/land drainage 
authority/Environment Agency); or, where that is not reasonably practicable 

� a sewer (approval must be obtained from United Utilities). 
 
To reduce the volume of surface water draining from the site we would promote the use of 
permeable paving on all driveways and other hard-standing areas including footpaths and 
parking areas. 
 
Environment Agency: - There are no issues within the EA’s remit and therefore the 
consultation does not require a formal response from the environment agency.  
 
RBC Drainage Officer/Lead Local Flood Authority: - No fundamental issues with proposals. 
We would need to see confirmation that UU have agreed to accept the surface water into their 
systems. The proposals include surface water attenuation within the private driveways and 
these should include some spare capacity if needed. 
 
Contaminated Land Officer: - No objections subject to condition securing site investigation and 
risk assessment. 
 
Environmental Health (Noise): - No objection in principle to this application but would 
recommend the following condition be considered. “The hours of construction are restricted to 
07:30am to 6.00pm Monday to Friday; 9.00am to 2.00pm on Saturdays. No work on Sundays.” 
 
Green Infrastructure Officer (Arboriculturalist): - No objections to the proposed development 
and the landscaping proposals shown on drawing no. D206/001. They are in line with the 
previous agreed scheme. However, there will need to be an access to the planted area to the 
south of the site in order to allow for future maintenance. 
 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit - The overall findings of the Ecology appraisal are not 
disputed; that the site is not designated for its nature conservation value and is unlikely to 
support any specially protected species. Therefore, no overall objections to the scheme on 
nature conservation grounds.  
 
Nevertheless the application site is an open greenfield site in the Roch Valley. As such it has 
some value for its potential for supporting the ecological corridor function on the river and its 
surroundings in this location. I would support proposals for a strong, well-managed landscape 
scheme and I would encourage biodiversity enhancement of the site through the new 
landscaping and through the installation of biodiversity enhancement features, in line with 
Rochdale’s Biodiversity and Development SPD.  
 

Page 166



 
 
Design for Security: - No comments received to date. 
 
Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS): - Having checked our records 
I am satisfied that the proposed development does not threaten the known or suspected 
archaeological heritage. On this basis there is no reason to seek to impose any archaeological 
requirements upon the applicant. 
 
GM Fire Service: - The Fire Service requires vehicular access for a fire appliance to within 
45m of all points within the dwellings.  

 
The access road should be a minimum width of 4.5m and capable of carrying 12.5 tonnes. 
Additionally if the access road is more than 20m long a turning circle, hammerhead, or other 
turning point for fire appliances will be required. The maximum length of any cul-de-sac 
network should be 250 m. 

 
There should be a suitable fire hydrant within 165m of the furthest dwelling. 
 
RBC Strategic Planning: -The principle of development and compliance with planning policies 
for this scheme has been covered in depth as part of the application for outline permission on 
the site. This includes information on provision of recreational open space and affordable 
housing.  For detailed information please refer to planning application 13/01066/OUT. 
 
The boundary treatment as shown is considered appropriate and provides acceptable 
screening between the proposed residential development and greenspace corridor/protected 
open land.  The trees shown on the proposal are of an appropriate mix, including native 
species suitable to the location on a river valley edge. 
 
Taking account of the above it is my view that the proposal is acceptable in terms of layout 
and boundary treatment which satisfies the requirements of policy G/8 (B) ensuring that the 
appropriate contributions for off-site open space and outdoor sports provision are provided.  
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by 
letter. In addition, as the proposal represents a major development and departure 2 notices 
have also been posted around the site and also in the local press. A total of 4 separate letters 
of objection have been submitted in objection to the application. The points of objection, and 
the officer responses, are summarised as follows: 
 
Objection: The proposals would set a precedent and result in the loss of a green corridor and 
open space and there are other more appropriate vacant brownfield sites including Albert 
Royds Street to develop rather than the greenspace corridor. 
 
Officer Response: 
The implications on the greenspace corridor are discussed in more detail elsewhere in this 
report. It is noted that there are other sites within Rochdale that maybe suitable for residential 
development, however this application can only be considered on its own merits and the 
application before the Council is for the development of this site for residential development. 
Whilst there may be other brownfield sites within the Borough, this would not preclude the 
application site being brought forward for development. Following a number of appeal 
decisions, the Council has had to allow greenfield sites within the Borough to come forward for 
residential development. In this instance the application site is considered to be within a 
sustainable location on the edge of the urban area having access to a variety of retail, 

Page 167



business, health, facilities along Halifax Road, and to the north within Wardle and 
Littleborough.  
 
It is also noted that the site benefits from having outline planning permission for the 
development of 10 dwellings (reference 13/01066/OUT) granted in 2013 which granted the 
principle of residential development on the site. This is a material consideration which has 
been given significant weight in the consideration of this planning application.  
 
Objection: -The self-build scheme would take years to build and would not assist the Council 
in delivering houses and meeting the demand for house now or in the near future.  
 
Officer Response: The proposed scheme seeks full planning permission for 10 dwellings so 
could be implemented and completed in the same timeframe as other standard housebuilding 
projects. Indeed the indicated timeframe proposed by the applicants of up to 14 weeks to have 
the access, roads, drainage and services completed is considered reasonable. The 
government has shown its support for self build schemes through planning reform and 
therefore it is not considered that this issue would weigh against the development such that a 
refusal of planning permission would be justified. 
 
Objection: -The self-build scheme would elongate the development of the site resulting in 
more planning applications and lengthening the construction period on the site increasing the 
noise and disturbance to the surrounding residents.  
 
Officer Response: The concerns raised by residents regarding the nature of the self build 
scheme and the implications on timescales for the completion of the development are noted. 
In response to these concerns the applicants have confirmed the following: 
 
“Access roads and footpaths will be completed to base course prior to construction of any 
dwellings on the site. Services and drainage will also be laid beneath roads and footpaths up 
to the individual plot boundaries prior to construction of any dwellings. It is envisaged that a 
program of work following discharge of any relevant predevelopment planning conditions 
would be as follows; 
 
· Site Set up = 1 week 
· Site Strip = 2 Weeks (wks 2-3) 
· Complete Road Formation (to Wearing course stage);  Drainage and Services = 8 - 10 
Weeks (wks 4-14) 
· Foundations and House Builds to suit sales.” 
 
In accordance with the proposed scheme a condition has been recommended to ensure that 
the major access, highways infrastructure, drainage and services are carried out within the 
first phase prior to construction and occupation of the dwellings, and the submission and 
approval of a detailed phasing plan for the site. In accordance with standard conditions a time 
limit of requiring development to commence within 3 years of the grant of permission will also 
be included. 
 
Objection: The proposal would cause harm to surrounding wildlife which include badgers, 
foxes, pheasants, sparrow hawks, bats, owls, deer.  
 
Officer Response: 
The application has been supported by a phase 1 Habitat Survey which concludes that the site 
is of low ecological value. The ecological report and the proposed landscaping of the site have 
been considered by the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit and the Council’s Green 
Infrastructure Officer who have raised no objections to the proposed development subject to 
conditions requiring replacement planting and biodiversity enhancements. The planting of the 

Page 168



tree belt along the southern boundary would provide additional habitat for wildlife and would 
be secured by way of a condition on a grant of planning permission. 
 
Objection: The re-siting of plot no. 5 has encroached across the rear view of the dwelling at 
Greenfield View, and plot no. 4 is closer to the rear of Greenfield View than in the previous 
permission. 
 
Officer Response: The concerns raised have been noted and the residential amenity 
implications are discussed in more detail elsewhere in this report. The application has been 
amended to move the dwellings at plot nos. 5 and 6 further away from the dwellings to the 
north and east of the site, and as a result it is considered that the proposed layout of dwellings 
would not cause any significant additional harm over that layout which benefits from outline 
planning permission.  
 
Objection: - The proposals would generate additional traffic, vehicle parking and congestion on 
surrounding roads which is already a problem. The additional traffic will also cause light, noise 
and air pollution. 
 
Officer Response: The highway safety and traffic implications are discussed in detail 
elsewhere in this report, however it is noted that the proposal comprises 10 additional 4 
bedroom detached dwellings and as a result additional traffic would be created along Holland 
Street. The Highways Authority have been consulted on the planning application and have 
raised no objections. Overall, it is considered that the existing highway network and layout 
would have sufficient capacity to accommodate the additional traffic associated with 10 
dwellings. 
 
Objection: - The proposed dwellings would result in loss of light to adjacent outbuildings and a 
gap of 1 metre should be retained for maintenance. 
 
Officer Response: Given the siting and distance of the proposed dwellings to nearby dwellings 
and outbuildings, it is not considered that there would be any significant loss of light or outlook 
form these buildings. The scheme would retain the existing boundaries and an open are of 
land adjacent to no. 20 Stott Street to allow for maintenance of the adjacent buildings. 
 
Objection: - The site currently suffers from flooding and drainage problems.  
 
Officer Response: The application site is noted to be within the Littleborough critical drainage 
area, and in order to address this, the proposed scheme includes a surface water drainage 
strategy which includes sub-surface water storage crates to manage and store surface water. 
It is noted that a large amount of the site would be retained s softly landscaped gardens and 
would therefore still allow for rainwater and surface water to permeate into the ground. The 
Council as Local Lead Flood Authority (LLFA), the Environment Agency and United Utilities 
have all been consulted and raised no objections to the proposed development subject to 
conditions. Having regard to this, it is considered that satisfactory measures could be put in 
place to mitigate for any flood risk to future occupants and surrounding properties. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle of Development and Contribution towards Housing Supply: 
 
Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The National Planning Policy Framework 
adopted in 2012 (NPPF) is one such material consideration and whilst it does not change the 
legal status of the development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  Paragraph 9 of the NPPF states that pursuing sustainable development 

Page 169



involves seeking positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic 
environment, as well as in people’s quality of life, including (but not limited to): 

• making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages; 

• moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for nature; 

• replacing poor design with better design; 

• improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; and 

• widening the choice of high quality homes.  
 

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for decision making, the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development means: 

(i) Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 

delay; and 

(ii) Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out‑of‑date, 

granting permission unless: 

� any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; 

or 

� specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted. 

 

The NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to “boost significantly the supply of housing” in 

order to “provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirements with an 

additional buffer of 5% (moved forward from later in the plan period) to ensure choice and 

competition in the market for land. Where there has been a record of persistent under delivery 

of housing, local planning authorities should increase the buffer to 20% (moved forward from 

later in the plan period) to provide a realistic prospect of achieving the planned supply and to 

ensure choice and competition in the market for land” (paragraph 47).   

 

In this case, the site is located just beyond the Defined Urban Area within the UDP. The land 
is characterised by open pasture land and designated as protected open land within the saved 
policy D/10 of the UDP. The site would therefore constitute greenfield land for the purpose of 
the definition in Annex 2 of the NPPF. Policy D/10 specifically deals with protected open land 
and states that:- 
 
Within the areas of Protected Open Land defined on the Proposals Map, development 
proposals will be permitted that fall within one or more of the following categories: 
 

a) development which would be acceptable were it in the Green Belt; or 
b) limited infilling within an established pocket of housing or industry where this is in scale 

with the area and will not adversely affect its character or surroundings; or 
       c) a limited extension to an existing building which:    

i. forms part of an existing source of employment; or 
ii. is necessary for the establishment of a new enterprise or business which satisfies 

other policies of the Plan; and 
iii. is sited within the existing curtilage of the business concerned, and will not 

adversely affect the character of the surrounding land and its openness. 
 

Where new buildings are permitted, they should be sited to form a group with existing 
buildings. Where this is not possible, buildings, car parking areas and other new structures, 
should be sited where they will be well screened and unobtrusive in the landscape. All 
buildings and extensions should be of a high standard of design, using materials that are 
compatible with the landscape, and should not detract from the visual amenity and 
environment of adjacent Green Belt. 

Page 170



 
It is also noted that UDP policy H/3 states that the release of greenfield sites for housing 
maybe permitted where the supply of housing land falls below five years as defined by the 
projected annualised rate (i.e. the annual target for additional new homes).  
 
The examination of the Councils Core Strategy has recently been reconvened which will 
consider a revised draft SHMA. This suggests that a figure of 460 additional homes per year 
better reflects current evidence on objectively assessed housing need. If this higher figure 
were included in the Core Strategy the Council would be able to demonstrate a five year 
supply, with either the 5% or 20% buffer applied. 
 
However, at this point in time in the absence of an up to date adopted local plan target, recent 
appeal decisions have taken the recalculated RSS target into account. If this target is to be 
met by 2021 (i.e. the end of the RSS period) this would give an annual target of 581 
additional homes per annum (as at 1st April 2014) which could be met from the current 
published five year supply (i.e. as at 1st April 2014) with the 5% supply buffer applied but not if 
the 20% buffer were deemed appropriate. The revocation of RSS in May 2013 creates further 
uncertainty regarding the appropriate housing target to be used in assessing the availability of 
a five year deliverable supply at this time. 
 
In this instance, it is noted that the Core Strategy is clearly yet to be adopted and therefore 
any emerging target would have limited weight at this time. Furthermore, it is noted that extant 
outline planning permission exists for the development of the site for 10 dwellings, and 
similarly the release of several windfall sites on greenfield land have recently been permitted 
in other appeal decisions. 
 
The deficiencies in the Council’s housing land supply have been highlighted in a number of 
recent appeal decisions from the Planning Inspectorate. In allowing appeals relating to 
development on greenfield sites sites at Trub Farm (ref APP/P4225/A/12/2185947 – 
paragraph 28) and Broad Lane (ref APP/P4225/A/12/2184755 – paragraphs 22, 28 and 30), 
Inspectors have concluded as follows:  
 

� The Council acknowledges that it is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing 
land. The proposed development would assist in meeting an identified need for market 
and affordable housing in the area. In accordance with the Framework this weighs 
substantially in favour of the proposal. 

� The relevant saved policies of the UDP, including both D/10 and H/3, which seeks to 
prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year land supply, have 
been overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of housing, and 
are therefore effectively out-of-date. 

� The proposition that a 20% buffer is warranted in Rochdale at present and that the land 
supply is perhaps as low as around 3 years, but around 3.66 years if the accrued 
shortfall is spread over the balance of the RSS period to 2021, was clearly not 
challenged by the Council at the Inquiry and it accepts in any event, that it cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply. 

� Given that it is common ground between the Council and the appellants that the five 
year supply requirement is not currently met, and the development plan is manifestly 
out-of-date in terms of housing land, paragraph 14 of the Framework is undoubtedly 
engaged. 

 
In light of the above, the application falls to be assessed against paragraph 14 of the NPPF, 
which sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable development and states that where 
policies are out of date, permission should be granted unless where any adverse impacts of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against 
the policies in the framework taken as a whole; or specific policies in the NPPF indicate 
development should be restricted. 

Page 171



 
With regards to the golden thread of sustainable development running through the NPPF, the 
site is located adjacent to an existing residential area and the urban area of Wardle 
immediately to the north of the site.  The site is located close to the A58 Halifax Road, where 
there are high frequency bus routes to reach jobs, shops and other services. There would be 
reasonably easy walking access from the site to reach other important services such as shops 
and schools. The site is surrounded by existing housing on three sides and the provision of the 
necessary infrastructure to serve the site, (roads, sewers, water and power supplies etc), 
could be easily provided from the adjacent roads, without any significant or undue harm to the 
environment. The proposed development is therefore considered to be within a sustainable 
and accessible location. 
 
With regards to the implications of saved policy D/10 of the UDP the key issue is the current 
role and function that the site plays in terms of protected open land. It is noted that the 
principal aim of policy D/10 is to try and encourage new built development within the defined 
urban area, to assist in the Council’s efforts of urban regeneration. Protecting land between 
the urban area and the green belt from development also has other benefits however;  
 

� providing a sense of relief from large scale urban development,   

� contributing to the character or identity of a specific part of the urban edge, 

� protecting the visual amenity of adjacent green belt land, 

� generally projecting an attractive image of the Borough, (which is important to help 
attract new investment and revitalise the local economy). 

    
It is noted that because the site is surrounded on three sides by existing housing, it plays a 
more limited role in providing the above benefits, than if the site were to extend beyond the 
existing housing further into the wider valley corridor. It is therefore considered that the site 
could be developed without having a significant impact upon the openness of the corridor. 
Furthermore, the site does not lie adjacent to the green belt and therefore is not viewed 
closely from it. It is also not considered that site makes any significant contribution to the 
existing character or identity of this part of the urban edge. Given the location of the site and 
the limited public views of it and also across it, it is not considered that it performs a vital role 
in projecting an attractive image of the Borough.  
 
Having regard to the above; the sustainable and accessible location of the site, the recent 
appeal history, and the guidance of the NPPF, and the extant outline planning permission for a 
very similar development at the site it is considered that the principle of the proposed 
development is acceptable. 
 
With regards to housing scale, type, size and tenure, the proposed scheme comprises the 
provision 10 no. 4 bedroom houses each with their own private amenity space and parking. In 
terms of density the proposals at approximately 12.5 dwellings per hectare would provide a 
low density infill of this which is considered to be appropriate to the character of the site itself 
and an appropriate response to the denser layout of traditional terraced dwellings to the north 
and east, and the lower density detached dwellings that are located to the west. 
 
Given the government’s desire to provide a more flexible supply of housing land; the sites 
location within a sustainable location, with access to surrounding education, retail, leisure, 
community infrastructure and open space; that the development would make a small but 
valuable contribution to the supply of housing in the borough in accordance with the objectives 
of the NPPF; and would directly respond to housing needs in the local area, it is considered 
that the principle and form of proposed residential development would be acceptable and 
would comply with the NPPF. 
 
 
 

Page 172



Impact on Greenspace Corridor 
 
UDP policy G/8A states that: Greenspace Corridors shown on the Proposals Map will be 
protected. Development and other measures which will enhance their recreational, ecological 
or landscape and amenity value will be permitted. In those parts of the corridors which are 
outside the Defined Urban Area, the provisions of Policy D/10 will also apply. Within all parts 
of Greenspace Corridors, the Council will not permit development proposals which would: 

 
a) Lead to an unacceptable narrowing or a division of the corridor into sections, thereby, 

§ restricting the movement of wildlife along it, or 
§ restricting the movement of people along established or proposed recreational 

routes or rights of way; 
       b) Result in the loss or severance of links between areas of recreational open space; 

c) Result in the loss of existing valued recreational facilities or prejudice proposed new 
facilities; or 

       d) Prevent public access into the corridor at strategic locations; 
          or which would result in unacceptable harm to: 
       e) The better landscape qualities and character of the corridor; 

f) The amenity value of the corridor where it provides welcome visual relief from urban 
development, including attractive views in and out of the corridor; 

       g) Features of nature conservation interest, including designated and non-designated 
sites; or 

h) Viable agricultural operations, including good quality grazing land and allotments. 
 

The application site comprises part of the greenspace corridor that runs to the south of the 
urban areas of Littleborough and Wardle to Rochdale in the west. With regard to the above 
policy criteria, it is noted that the proposal would effectively represent the ‘rounding off’ of the 
existing built development at this point on the urban edge and would not lead to an 
unacceptable narrowing or a division of the corridor. It is also noted that there are no public 
rights of way across the site or running particularly close to the site and therefore the proposal 
would not result in the loss or severance of links between areas of recreational open space, 
nor prevent public access at a strategic location. 
 
Furthermore, it is noted that the site was last used for grazing purposes and there is no 
authorised recreational use of the land, nor is there any prospect of the land being used for 
any future recreational purposes. In addition there is no authorised pedestrian access across 
the site from adjoining roads/other land to reach the remainder of the Greenspace Corridor;  
 
The land is an open and level area of pasture that contains no trees. It is pleasant to look at 
and it provides some relief from the adjacent built development on its three sides. However, 
that pleasantness and relief is really only for the benefit of the private houses/gardens that 
back onto it. There are no significant views across the land and across the remainder of the 
greenspace corridor along the river valley here from public land or highways.  
 
The application has been supported by a phase 1 Habitat Survey site and following the 
conclusions of this and comments of GMEU it is not considered to be of high ecological value, 
(above that which would probably exist on almost any area of open, undeveloped land). The 
land is not formally designated for any nature conservation interest. There is no body of water 
or any mature trees or other planting or any other natural feature within the site, which might 
support a special or notable ecological habitat. Although the land was last used for the grazing 
of livestock, it has previously been classified as only Grade 4, of Poor quality, in the National 
Agricultural Land Classification, provided by DEFRA.  

 
Having regard to the above, it is therefore considered that this area of land has relatively low 
value as part of the Greenspace Corridor. Furthermore, it is noted that the site benefits from 
outline planning permission for a very similar development to that which is currently proposed. 

Page 173



As such there is a fall back position allowing for development of the site to come forward 
under reserved matters applications and subsequently built out which given the similarity to 
the current proposed development has a reasonable likelihood of being developed. Having 
regard to the above, it is considered that the loss of the site for the development would not 
cause over-riding harm to the character, function and quality of the greenspace corridor.  
 
Amenity of Future Occupants and Surrounding Residents 
 
Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural 
light is made both within and between buildings and one of the 12 core planning principles of 
the NPPF is to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and 
future occupants of land and buildings.   
 
In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum 
separation distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of opposing 
dwellings and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations. 
 
With regards to the impact on the surrounding dwellings it is noted that the proposed scheme 
is very similar to the layout of the previously approved scheme for 10 no. dwellings on the site. 
The siting of the proposed dwellings has been designed to accord with the Council’s minimum 
separation distances. The proposed dwelling at plot no. 4 has been sited to fit between the 
rear elevations of Ingledene and Inglenook, Springfield Lane to ensure that there would be no 
direct overlooking or significant loss of outlook. It is also proposed to erect a 1.8 metre high 
close boarded timber fence adjacent to the hedgerow along the west boundary of the site to 
provide screening and privacy to the respective existing and future dwellings. The separation 
distances to those dwellings on Frances Street, Stott Street and Holland Street would accord 
with the minimum separation distances set out in the SPG which seek to ensure development 
does not cause unacceptable harm to residential amenity.  
 
It is noted that concerns have been raised from the occupiers of 1 Greenfield View, a three 
storey dwelling located within close proximity to the northern boundary of the site, regarding 
the impact of plot nos. 4 and 5. It is noted plot no. 4 would retain in excess of 40 metres 
between the rear of the dwellings which is significantly in excess of the above minimum 
distance of 21 metres. The proposed scheme has been amended to re-site plots nos. 5 and 6 
further south away from no. 1 Greenfield View and also no. 23 Frances Street and 20 Stott 
Street. Furthermore, it is noted that plot no. 5 would not directly face the rear of the dwelling at 
1 Greenfield View. As a result the proposed scheme is not considered to cause any additional 
harm to these neighbouring occupiers over and above the previously approved scheme. 
 
Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed development, by virtue of its 
size, massing, layout, orientation, scale, height and separation with surrounding buildings, 
would have no undue impact on the amenity of surrounding occupiers through overlooking, 
overshadowing, loss of outlook or loss of daylight.  
 
With regards to the amenity of future occupants of the proposed development, it is noted that 
the layout of the proposed dwellings would ensure that each dwelling would benefit from an 
area of private outdoor amenity space to the rear and / or side with the main outlook being 
provided to the front and rear of the dwellings. The internal layout of each dwelling provides 
adequately sized rooms with each habitable room providing sufficient natural daylight and 
ventilation for the future occupants. In addition, the majority of the proposed dwellings on site 
would accord with the minimum separation distances set out in the above SPG.  
 
With regards to the impact on surrounding residential properties during the construction phase 
of the development, it is considered that subject to conditions securing the submission and 
approval of a construction method statement (CMS) to manage construction operations and 

Page 174



deliveries to the site, and condition securing the implementation of the highways infrastructure, 
servicing and drainage prior to occupation of the first dwelling, the proposed construction 
phase of development would not cause significant over-riding harm to the amenity of 
neighbouring residents.  
 
The Council’s Environmental Health Department have raised no objections to the proposed 
development subject to a condition limiting hours of construction. Such a requirement has 
been included within the recommended condition securing the approval of a construction 
method statement.  
 
Therefore, the proposed development would be compatible with surrounding uses, both in 
terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the amenity of 
future residents, and would be in accordance with UDP policy BE/2, the objectives of the SPG 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” and the NPPF. 
 
Design and Impact on Character and Appearance of Surrounding Area 
 
The NPPF promotes high quality design and states that the Government attaches great 
importance to the design of the built environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development, is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making 
places better for people (paragraph 56).   
 
Criteria (a), (e), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate gooddesign 
by: 

� Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure; 

� Appropriate treatment of open spaces between and around buildings, including the 
provision of landscaping as an integral part of the development layout. 

� Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation; 

� Minimising opportunities for crime against people or property. 
 
Principles of good design in housing schemes are also outlined within the Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD): Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide. 
 
Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments: 
 

� will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development; 

� establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive 
and comfortable places to live, work and visit;  

� respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation;  

� create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion. 

 
The application site is located to the south of Halifax Road within an area comprising a variety 
of dwelling types, scales, and designs. These include more traditional two storey red brick 
terraced dwellings, larger inter-war detached and semi-detached dwellings and more recent 
modern infill dwellings providing for a townscape of varying building styles, materials and 
sizes. The site sits within an open and softly landscaped part of the surrounding townscape 
itself comprising flat open grassed land and surrounded by further open grassland to the 
south. 
 

Page 175



The proposed layout would be similar to that previously proposed and is of low density which 
allows for the majority of the site being left open to private rear gardens, incidental open space 
and open front gardens. It is considered that this would help reflect the existing green and 
open character of the site and less dense layout of dwellings to the west. Each dwelling would 
be set behind open landscaped front and side gardens comprising a mix of driveways, lawned 
areas, with hedgerow and tree planting denoting the edges of each property. Whilst it is noted 
that close boarded fences would be necessary to border the side and rear of some private 
gardens along the entrance into the site and as the estate road returns northwards into the 
site, it is proposed to screen these through hedgerow planting.  
 
The proposed dwellings would be of modern design comprising prominent pitched roofs with 
front and rear projecting mono-pitch elements breaking up the elevations and providing a 
series of recessions and projections along the streetscene. Following amendments it is 
proposed to include two house types involving the different use of external facing materials to 
add interest to the streetscene. Each of the proposed dwellings would have safe and 
convenient access to the rear private gardens for the storage of waste bins. 
 
It is considered that the height, scale, layout, design, landscaping and materials of the 
proposed development would be compatible with the prevailing character and grain of streets 
and housing in the surrounding area and the overall appearance and precedents within the 
immediate street scene. The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policy BE/2, and the NPPF. 
 
Access and Highway Safety Implications 
 
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
Traffic Generation/Highway Network Capacity 
 
UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not: 
 

� Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users; 

� Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 
restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of the 
development; 

� Substantially increase congestion; 

� Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or 

� Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 
traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network. 

 
In addition, UDP policy BE/2 (g) requires proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access 
and circulation, which is also required by paragraph 58 of the NPPF.   
 
The proposed scheme comprises an additional 10 no. 4 bedroom detached dwellings which 
will generate an increased number of vehicular trips along Holland Street and up to its junction 
with Halifax Road. However, the increase in traffic associated with 10 additional dwellings is 
not itself considered to cause any over-riding harm to the surrounding highway capacity. The 
Highways Authority have raised no objections to the proposals. In addition, it is noted that the 
surrounding road network comprises residential streets of sufficient width to accommodate the 
respective additional vehicular traffic and which are subject to traffic calming measures 
ensuring vehicles travel at sufficiently low speeds.  
 

Page 176



Furthermore, given the sites proximity to the bus route along Halifax Road and frequency of 
bus services it is considered that this would further limit the number of vehicular trips being 
made. Therefore, it is considered that the site is in a sustainable location and the traffic 
generated by the development can safely be accommodated on the surrounding road network 
in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies A/3, A/8 and A/9 and the NPPF.   
 
Access: 
 
UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that: 
 

� Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed; 

� Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations; 

� Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and 

� Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists. 
 
UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that: 
 

� Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and 
suitable for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use 
them; and 

� Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided. 

 
The proposed scheme would be accessed via the existing carriageway along Holland Street 
from its junction with Halifax Road (A58) to the north. Whilst subject to on street parking, the 
Highways Authority consider this to be an acceptable access and consider there to be 
sufficient capacity on the existing highway network to accommodate the additional traffic. The 
new access road would be taken off the existing highways access off Holland Street between 
nos. 16 and 18 Holland Street and run westwards into the site with a spine road running 
northwards into the site. Each dwelling would have direct vehicular access off the estate road 
to a private driveway. 
 
Following comments from the Highways Authority, the proposed highways layout has been 
amended to conform to adoptable highways standards. The Highways Authority have 
reviewed the amended layout and have raised no objections. It is considered that each of the 
proposed dwellings would be accessible by emergency vehicles, and refuse services. The 
amended proposed scheme now also provides space for clear and convenient pedestrian 
access alongside the vehicular carriageway which links into the existing routes and highway 
connections in the surrounding area. The proposed development is therefore considered to 
accord with accessibility hierarchy in policy A/2 of the UDP. 
 
In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place during the construction of the 
dwellings, a condition has been recommended requiring the submission and approval of a 
Construction Method Statement setting out access, and parking arrangements for construction 
related traffic. 
 
 
 
 

Page 177



Parking: 
 
UDP policy A/10 relates to parking provision and refers to the Council’s Schedule of Parking 
Standards (UDP Appendix C) which identifies maximum standards for car parking provision 
and minimum standards for cycle and motorcycle parking. The maximum standard for car 
parking provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two 
spaces per dwelling. A note to this Appendix indicates that “parking standards for C3 [housing] 
developments are intended to result in an average, throughout the plan area of over the plan 
period, of 1.5 off-street car parking spaces per dwelling.” The policy states that car parking 
provision at less than the maximum standard will be accepted subject to an assessment of the 
following criteria: 

� The location of the development and the appropriateness and feasibility of 
providing parking provision within that location; 

� Access to other transport modes; 

� The availability of other convenient and safe off-street parking; 

� The availability of unutilised on-street parking capacity and the ability to 
accommodate parking without harm to visual amenity or pedestrian / road safety; 
and 

� The willingness of a developer to fund traffic Orders to establish controls on on-
street parking or other measures to mitigate the impact, including securing modal 
shift away from vehicular traffic and other traffic management measures. 

 
The proposed scheme makes provision for each of the houses to have at least 3 parking 
spaces within the curtilage of the dwelling providing safe and convenient parking for future 
residents. The combined ratio of parking spaces is considered appropriate by the Highways 
Authority and whilst in excess of the maximum parking standards given the issues highlighted 
by surrounding residents this would ensure that there is no additional pressure for parking on 
surrounding streets. 
 
It is also noted that the site sits within a sustainable location within walking distance to public 
transport connections and a variety of retail, commercial, and health facilities within Wardle 
and Littleborough which would limit the need for residents to make trips by private motor-
vehicle.  
 
Having regard to the above and subject to conditions, the proposed development is not 
considered to result in any sever harm to the operation and safety of the surrounding highway 
network and it users, in accordance with the NPPF and the above policies of the UDP. 
 
Impact on Trees and Landscape Features 
 
UDP policy NE/7 states that: 

� No work of any nature should be carried out which could possibly affect the health of a 
tree or trees included in a Tree Preservation Order without the proper written authority 
of the Council. This includes any work which is carried out to trees or other works 
which could damage root systems or any part of the tree above ground. Any works 
carried out to trees must constitute good arboricultural practice.  

 
In addition, UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals on 
sites containing trees and woodlands should ensure: 

� Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows; 

� That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered; 

Page 178



� Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction; 

� Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and woodland 
(which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and 

� Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period. 
 
The application site comprises a rectangular soft landscaped piece of land leftover to pasture 
with mature hedgerows and trees along the boundaries of the site. The proposed dwellings 
would be sited within the site and away from the boundary hedgerows and trees that surround 
the site. As a result, it is considered that the proposals would not cause any significant harm to 
the important landscape features surrounding the site. 
 
The proposed scheme does include a substantial belt of tree planting along the southern 
boundary of the site to help mitigate for the landscape impact of the proposed development 
and blend the site into the remainder of the greenspace corridor to the south. The Council’s 
Arboricultural Officer notes that the proposed landscaping proposals are in accordance with 
the scheme previously approved under permission reference 13/01066/OUT and has raised 
no objections.  
 
Therefore, the proposed development would be in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policies NE/7 and NE/8. As recommended by the Council’s Green infrastructure officer a 
condition has been recommended requiring the implementation of the proposed tree planting 
and landscaping in accordance with the submitted details.  
 
Ecological and Nature Conservation Implications 
 
The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on 
biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the 
Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing 
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures. 
 
Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following 
(relevant) principles: 

� if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on 
an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused; 

� opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged. 

 
UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas which are not specially designated for their nature 
conservation value, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats 
of ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should 
seek to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would 
place an unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory 
features or habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type 
of development permitted may be required.  
 
UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that: 

� There is no adverse impact on the species concerned; 

� Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 
required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and 

Page 179



� Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation. 

 
UDP policy NE/8 (d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands should 
ensure the nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 
safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species. 
 
The application site comprises an open meadow leftover to pasture. The application has 
subsequently been supported by a phase 1 Habitat Assessment. This concludes that the site 
contains habitats of low ecological value, and that the hedgerows and scrubland within the site 
offer potential to support nesting birds. 
 
It is noted that the land does not form part of any statutorily designated nature conservation 
site and nor is it designated as of local ecological importance. It is however recognised that 
the open grass land on the site affords some opportunities for local wildlife. Therefore, the 
main ecological impact in this case relates to the loss of vegetation as a result of the 
development. The Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) have been consulted on the 
application and have raised no objection on nature conservation grounds. They have though 
noted the sites function as part of an ecological corridor within the Roch Valley and 
recommended that biodiversity enhancement features be installed at the site.  
 
It is noted that the scheme includes the provision of a substantial belt of tree planting along the 
southern boundary of the site which could incorporate bird boxes and bat boxes. Accordingly, 
a condition has been recommended requiring the implementation of the landscaping scheme 
and the submission an approval of a scheme of biodiversity enhancement measures including 
maintenance arrangements. In addition, a condition has been recommended restricting site 
and vegetation clearance within the bird nesting season. 
 
Subject to these conditions, it is considered that adequate mitigation would be provided on site 
and satisfactory precautionary measures can be put in place to ensure that the development 
would not adversely affect the limited nature conservation value of the site or the favourable 
conservation status of any protected species. The proposed development is therefore in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8, and the NPPF. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage Implications 
 
Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk”. 
 
UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood 
plains, or other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an 
appropriate flood risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are met: 

� It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by 
reducing flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the 
additional discharge of surface water; 

� It will not itself be at risk from flooding; 

� Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used; 

� Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided; 

� Existing or proposed flood defences are protected; 

� It would not result in extensive culverting; and 

� Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at the 
developer’s expense. 

 
The site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 1 in 1000 
or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). However, the application site 

Page 180



lies within the Littleborough Critical Drainage Area as identified in the Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment.  
 
The application has been accompanied by a detailed drainage strategy for the site. It is 
proposed that the foul and surface water would be drained on separate systems which would 
connect to the foul water sewer and the surface water sewer under Holland Street. The 
surface water would drain by control pipes up to a maximum discharge rate of 10 l/s into the 
existing surface water sewers. In order to assist infiltration of surface water into the ground it is 
proposed to use permeable paving to the private patios, driveways and footpaths within each 
plot with thr remainder of each plot other than the dwelling being softly landscaped. It is 
proposed that the remaining surface water run off that would occur in a 1 in 100 year event 
(also allowing for 30% increase due to climate change) would drain through the surface water 
drains into a subsurface crate storage facility located below the driveways of each of the 
dwellings.  
 
The Council as Local Lead Flood Authority have been consulted and have raised no 
objections to the principle of the proposed drainage strategy. The proposed drainage strategy 
complies with the requirements set out by United Utilities which require that foul and surface 
water drain on separate systems and that surface water drain to the surface water sewer at a 
maximum of 10 l/s. The Council as LLFA have requested further information and attenuation 
given that the proposed surface water attenuation would be provided within private driveways 
of the proposed dwellings. 
 
It is noted that the NPPG has since been published and constitutes a material consideration in 
the determination of planning applications. This requires that surface water be dealt with in a 
hierarchy of sustainability, firstly to a soakaway or infiltration system, or where this is not 
practicable to a watercourse, or last of all to a sewer system. It is noted that the southern part 
of the site includes a belt of tree planting which could incorporate surface water swale and that 
the River Roch that is located down slope to the south of the application site.  
 
In order to address this and the comments of the LLFA and United utilities, a condition has 
therefore been recommended requiring the submission and approval of a detailed surface 
water and foul water drainage scheme including details of sustainable urban drainage systems 
to be provided on site and further details of the sub surface attenuation crates and a 
maintenance plan setting out how the surface water attenuation scheme will be managed in 
the long term. In addition restricting the maximum surface water discharge into the surface 
water sewer of 10 l/s; and that foul and surface water should drain separately. 
 
It is also noted that the Environment Agency and United Utilities have raised no objections to 
the proposed development. Therefore, it is considered that subject to conditions and the 
implementation of the approved drainage strategy, adequate measures can be put in place in 
order to ensure that the development poses no unacceptable risk in terms of flooding (either 
on the site itself or elsewhere) in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy EM/7 and 
the policies within the NPPF. 
 
Land Contamination 
 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that the planning system should contribute to, and enhance 
the natural and local environment by remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, 
contaminated and unstable land, where appropriate. 
 
Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that where a site is affected by contamination or land 
stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or 
landowner. 
 
Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that: 

Page 181



� the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution 
arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation 
or impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation;  

� after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and 

� adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is presented. 
 
In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that where there are reasonable grounds to suspect 
that land which is the subject of a development proposal has the potential for contamination, 
the Council will require a detailed survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed 
remedial treatments and a completion report to establish that the work has been carried out in 
accordance with the agreed remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new 
development or change of use, the Council will take account of their potential for 
contamination of land and will seek to prevent further contamination by refusing proposals 
likely to give rise to significant contamination or by imposing stringent conditions. 
 
The site is located just beyond the urban area and currently comprises an open meadow left 
over to pasture. The land has previously been used for agricultural purposes for the grazing of 
cattle. The application has been supported by a phase 1, phase 2 and preliminary risk 
assessment report which concludes that contaminant levels in the soils found on site was 
below threshold levels for the proposed residential use and the on site soil is considered safe 
for the proposed residential gardens. In addition that no ground gas risk has been identified. 
As a result remediation of the site is not considered necessary, and protective measures to 
prevent gas contamination are also not required.  
 
The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has recommended a condition requiring the 
submission and approval of a site investigation and risk assessment of the site prior to the 
commencement of development.  
 
Having regard to this and the conclusions of the submitted phase 2 site investigation report, a 
condition securing the submission, and approval of a verification report confirming that any 
imported soil has been suitably tested and if necessary disposed of, and any necessary 
remediation measures have been undertaken, it is considered that the proposal would comply 
with UDP policy EM/4 and guidance contained within the NPPF.    
 
Sustainable Construction and Renewable Energy 
 
UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve 
and assist the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully 
incorporated into the design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the 
amenity of the surrounding area (e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental 
disturbance). Measures which will be especially encouraged include: 

� The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and 
setting of the development; 

� The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve energy 
through the ongoing use of the development; and 

� The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, 
small-scale combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on 
renewable and low carbon technologies. 

 
The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential developments 
of 5 or more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. The SPD intended 
that this requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 and Level 6 from 
2020.   

Page 182



 
However, in a Ministerial Statement made to the House of Commons on 25 March 2015, the 
then Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Eric Pickles, set out the 
government’s new planning policy on the setting of technical standards for new dwellings 
which should be taken into account in applying the National Planning Policy Framework. The 
Code for Sustainable Homes was also withdrawn on 27 March 2015. This is an important 
material consideration which needs to be given significant weight and which also represents a 
material change in planning circumstances following the previous grant of planning permission 
on the site. 
 
Between 26 March 2015 and 30 September 2014, the government’s policy is, ‘that planning 
permissions should not be granted requiring, or subject to conditions requiring compliance with 
any technical housing standards other than for those areas where authorities have existing 
policies on access, internal space or water efficiency… where there is an existing plan policy 
which references the Code for Sustainable Homes, authorities may continue to apply a 
requirement for a water efficiency standard equivalent to the new national technical standard 
or in the case of energy a standard consistent with the earlier part of this statement4, 
concerning energy performance’. The Council does not have a specific policy in respect of 
water efficiency. In late 2016 the Building Regulations will be amended to require new 
dwellings to meet an equivalent of what was Code Level 4.  
 
The applicants have submitted an Energy Efficiency Statement which sets out a series of 
measures that would be incorporated into the proposed dwellings which would achieve a 
reduction in carbon dioxide emission of 12% above that achieved through current building 
regulations. Due to the nature of the proposed self-build scheme detailed specifications have 
not been included at this point. 
 
Nevertheless, the direction of travel for Government is clear that sustainability requirements 
for new dwellings should be brought forward through the new national technical standards, 
making reference to up to date Local Plans and the Building Regulations. Given that the new 
technical standards are optional and if the Council wishes to refer to them in decision making 
this should preferentially be through new policies in a Local Plan and the Council’s current 
policy refers to a Code which has now been revoked and is therefore out of date, it is 
considered most appropriate that the sustainability requirements of this development are dealt 
with by the Building Regulations.  
 
Financial Obligations Towards Recreational Open Space 
 
Policy H/6 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan requires all developments, 
regardless of scale, to make a contribution to recreational open space provision in the 
Borough. Nevertheless, in November 2014, the Government made a policy announcement 
that tariff style planning obligations should not be applied to developments of 10 dwellings or 
fewer or with a floorspace of less than 1000sqm. The Council’s recreational open space policy 
is a tariff style planning obligation and as such is caught by this change in policy. Government 
guidance is also clear that where policies in a development plan (i.e. the UDP) are in conflict 
with national guidance that the national guidance should take precedence. 
 
As a consequence Members of the Licensing and Regulatory Committee determined at their 
meeting of 22 December 2014 that the change to government policy should be implemented 
with immediate effect, granting a large number of planning applications which fell below this 
threshold (10 dwellings or fewer / 1000sqm or less) without a requirement for a S106 
agreement.  

                                                                 
4
 which require compliance with energy performance standards that exceed the energy requirements of 

Building Regulations until commencement of amendments to the Planning and Energy Act 2008 in the 
Deregulation Bill 2015 (likely to be late 2016). 

Page 183



 
This development also falls below the threshold at which government policy indicates tariff 
style S106 contributions should be sought and as such it is not considered appropriate to seek 
a recreational open space contribution for this development.   
 
Conclusions  
 
Having regard to the above matters, it is noted that the principle of residential development 
has been established by the previous planning permission on the site, and the proposal would 
provide a small but valuable number of dwellings in a highly accessible and sustainable 
location. The proposed development would provide a sympathetically designed scheme that 
would not result in any demonstrable harm to the amenity of neighbouring residents, highway 
safety, nor to any protected or priority species and sites of nature conservation or landscape 
value. Subject to conditions, it is considered that adequate measures would be implemented 
to manage surface water and to prevent any increased risk of flooding elsewhere.  The 
benefits of the proposal are considered to outweigh the loss of this part of the greenspace 
corridor and it is therefore considered that the proposal comprises sustainable development 
and accords with relevant UDP Policy the National Planning Policy Framework. The adverse 
impacts of the proposal do not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits and 
therefore, it is recommended that planning permission is granted for the proposed 
development.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
GRANT permission subject to the following conditions:- 
 
 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 

with the date of this permission.  
   
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 This permission relates to the following plans:  
   
 D206/001/C - Proposed layout, elevations, sections, landscaping, boundary details;

  
 Location Plan;  
 Typical Dwelling Drainage Plan;  
 Typical Driveway Attenuation Crate Detail;  
 Typical Highway Section;  
 Typical Utility / Service Strip Section;  
 Typical Drop kerb section.  
   
 The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 

drawings.  
   
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 

development in accordance with the policies contained within the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 3 No development shall take place until a phasing plan / programme of development for 

construction of the development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The phasing plan shall include a programme of works for the 
provision of:- 1) all highways infrastructure, drainage, servicing and utilities; 2) the 
area(s) of tree and hedgerow planting; 3) landscaped open space and tree planting 

Page 184



along the southern boundary of the site, including access to this from the north. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the duly approved 
phasing plan(s). The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until the site 
access; highways and estate road; drainage systems, servicing and utilities have been 
provided for each plot.   

   
 Reason: To ensure that any development of the site takes place in an appropriate 

order and within an acceptable timescale, to ensure adequate provision of 
infrastructure to serve each of the uses permitted and because no such details were 
submitted as part of the application.  

 Reason for pre-commencement condition: In the interests of proper planning and the 
comprehensive development of the site and that any construction works will pre-
determine these details. 

 
 4 No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS 
shall include details of the following: - (i) hours for site preparation, delivery of materials 
and construction; (ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; (iii) loading 
and unloading of plant and materials; (iv) storage of plant and materials used in 
constructing the development; (v) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding; 
(vi) wheel washing facilities; (vii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt 
during construction; and (viii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from 
construction works.  

   
 The duly approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.  
   
 Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, 

nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the 
construction of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require ground works and 

engineering works an understanding will therefore be necessary of what measures will 
be put in place to protect the amenity of nearby residents, prior to commencement of 
any building or engineering works on site. 

 
 5 Details of finished floor levels and external ground levels for each plot shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
development at that plot takes place. The development shall thereafter be 
implemented in accordance with the duly approved details.  

   
 Reason:  In order to ensure a satisfactory relationship between the new dwellings and 

between the development and surrounding buildings in the interests of residential and 
visual amenity in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
Policies H/3 and BE/2. 

 
 6 No above ground works shall be undertaken to each plot until, confirmation that the 

plot will either be faced with the list of materials detailed on the approved plan (drawing 
no. D206/001/C - set out below; or details of the facing materials to be used for that 
plot have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The list of submitted materials being:  

   
  Mellow red facing brick  
  Marley Edgemere Interlocking Slate– smooth grey reconstituted slate roofing tiles

  

Page 185



  Blue Class B Engineering Brick course up to DPC  
  K Rend Render Finish (Sterling White or Ivory)  
  120mm x 18mm Cedar cladding.  
  Black UPVC Fascia. Soffits to match or cedar boarding.  
  Black Half-round Gutters and Down pipes  
  Anthracite UPVC Windows and Garage Doors.  
   
 The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved 

materials for that plot.  
   
 Reason: In order to ensure use of appropriate materials which are sympathetic to the 

character of surrounding buildings and the street scene in the interests of visual 
amenity in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies 
BE/2 and H/3. 

 
 7 Prior to the occupation of the first dwelling hereby approved, details of the access to be 

provided to the landscaped area of tree planting shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved access to this area shall be 
implemented in accordance with the timescales approved in the phasing plan approved 
pursuant to condition no. 3 of this permission hereby. The development shall thereafter 
be carried out in accodance with the approved details.   

   
 Reason: In order to ensure access is provided for the maintenance of the trees and 

landscaped area and in the interests of visual amenity and to provide biodiversity 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2, BE/8 and NE/3, and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
 8 The approved tree planting and landscaping scheme to the southern boundary of the 

site shall be carried out in accordance with the timescales approved within the phasing 
plan pursuant to condition no. 3 of this permission. Any trees or shrubs removed, 
dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within three years of 
planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those 
originally required to be planted.  

   
 Reason: In order to achieve satisfactory treatment of open spaces between and 

around buildings in the interests of visual amenity and to provide biodiversity 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2, BE/8 and NE/3, and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
 9 No above ground works shall take place until a Biodiversity Enhancement and 

Landscape Management Plan (HLMP) for the landscaped area along the southern 
boundary of the site (excluding privately owned domestic gardens) has first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The BELMP shall 
include: (i) details of habitat enhancmeent measures to be provided including bird 
boxes and bat boxes; (ii) management responsibilities; (iii) maintenance schedules; 
and (v) a timetable for its implementation. The HLMP shall thereafter be implemented 
in full accordance with the duly approved details and timetable contained therein.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 

ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity enhancements 
as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy NE/3 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

Page 186



10 No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during the course of 
development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March - July inclusive) 
unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority which establishes that no part of the site is utilised for bird 
nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no 
clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place during the above period until a 
methodology for protecting nest sites during the course of the development has first 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Nest site 
protection shall thereafter be provided in accordance with the duly approved 
methodology.  

   
 Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 

Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the provisions of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 

 
11 The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until, a verification report has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority confirming 
that alll necessary remediation and  protection measures have been undertaken in 
accordance with the following approved reports;   

   
 Phase 1 environmental Audit Land near Holland Street, Hurstead, Rochdale - June 

2013;  
 Holland Street, Hurstead, Littleborough. Environmental Phase II Letter Report, Results 

of soil chemical testing. dated 21st January 2015.  
   
 Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 

development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
12 No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the disposal of foul and 

surface water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority, the scheme shall include:   

   
 - Details of the rate of surface water discharge from the site to any soakaway, 

watercourse or surface water sewer (including any necessary flow attenuation 
measures and the use of SUDS where appropriate), which shall not exceed 10 litres 
per second   

 - Details of how the scheme will be maintained and managed after completion.   
 - The surface water and foul water shall be drained on a separate system with no 

surface water being discharged to the foul or combined sewer systems.  
   
 The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the duly approved details before 

any of the dwellings are first occupied, or within any other timescale first agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the development and to 

ensure satisfactory disposal of foul and surface water from the site in accordance with 
the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies EM/7 and EM/8, the Council’s 
Level 2 SFRA User Guide and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
13 No development shall take place until a scheme for the design, construction and 

drainage of the new estate road (including its footways) shown on drawing no. 
D206/001/C, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Page 187



Authority. The duly approved scheme shall be implemented before any of the dwellings 
hereby approved are first occupied, and the estate road retained as such thereafter.  

   
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory standard of engineering works and surface treatment 

in order to achieve appropriate provision for vehicle access, circulation and 
manoeuvring in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
policies BE/2, A/8 and A/9. 

 
 
Report Author Chris Hobson 
 
  _________________________________________________ 
 
  

Page 188



Application Number: 15/00595/FUL    Ward: North Heywood       
 

 
Proposal: Installation of 5.0MW solar farm with ancillary buildings, security fencing, 
CCTV, access tracks and landscaping 
 

Site Address: Chamber House Farm Off Rochdale Road East Heywood   
 

Applicant: Mr Mark Widdup 
                  Rochdale Borough Council 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions 
 

 
 
UPDATE 
 
At the Heywood Township Planning Sub-Committee on the 7th July the Committee resolved 
that they were minded to approve the application subject to the addition of two further 
conditions to the permission. These being;  
 

� Full details of the design of all CCTV and associated equipment, including siting, to 
be submitted for approval. 

� Details, including the external materials, colour treatment of the cabins and any 
other ancillary equipment to be submitted for approval.     

 
These have been incorporated into condition no. 4 of the recommendation below.  
 
Condition no. 13 has also been amended to remove requirements for submission of details of 
security contractors advertisement hoardings as this would not be necessary for this type of 
development.  
 

Page 189



The application is submitted by the Council and represents a departure from the development 
plan and is therefore referred to the Planning and Licensing Committee for determination in 
accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.   
 
SITE 
 
The application site relates to circa 10.4 Ha of land currently comprising four agricultural fields 
leftover for pasture, grazing of horses, and hay cropping to the south of Chamber House Farm. 
The site runs lengthways from northeast to the southwest, with the land sloping down from the 
northern end of the site flattening out in the southern half of the site. The site also includes an 
area of raised ground in the eastern part of the site which slopes upwards to the eastern 
boundary of the site. Hedgerows run along the west, south and east boundaries of the site, with 
a small cluster of trees within the site itself. 
 
The site is located between the urban areas of Heywood and Rochdale to the southeast side of 
Rochdale Road East (A58) and comprises land. The site is located within the Green Belt and 
borders open fields to the south, east and west. The dwelling at Brooklyn is located within 
maturely landscaped garden immediately to the north of the site. The sports pitches and 
grounds of Mathew Moss High School are also located to the north. A mature woodland, 
protected by Tree Preservation Order, is located to the east of the site. The residential areas of 
Castleton lie to the east of the site beyond the undulating topography and woodland. Francil 
Farm is located on raised ground immediately to the south of the site, with Mayfield Sports 
Centre and Carcraft car sales centre located beyond open fields further to the southeast. The 
Castle Hawk Golf Club is also located to the south beyond open fields. Harefield Hall is located 
on raised and wooded ground to the west. There are a number of residential properties located 
along Rochdale Road East to the north, northwest and west of the site. Ryecroft Farm, 
comprising a dwelling and plant storage facility is located beyond an open field to the northwest 
of the site, 
 
Public footpaths including the Rochdale Way run immediately along the northeast, east and 
southwest boundaries of the site. Chadwick Lane runs further to the south of the site beyond 
open fields and gently raising land. The Grade II listed Church of All Souls is located 
approximately 360 metres to the west of the site, and the grade II* listed Crimble Mill is located 
within the Roch Valley 750 metres to the northwest of the site. It is also noted that a drain runs 
along the northwest boundary of the site to Rochdale Road East and a mast and power line 
pass within close proximity to the west of the application site.   
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application seeks planning permission for the installation of a five Mega Watt (MW) 
photovoltaic (PV) solar farm on land to the southeast of Chamber House Farm, Rochdale. The 
proposed solar farm would generate 4,500 MWh of electricity annually, which is sufficient to 
power 1,364 households (UK average) equivalent to powering 1.6% of the Borough’s 
households. Permission is sought for the facility for 25 years after which the equipment would 
be removed from the site and land restored. 
 
The proposed photovoltaic (PV) panels would measure 1 metre by 1.6 metre and would be 
fitted into a metal frame. The PV panels would be erected in rows running east to west across 
the site with each row being between 3.6 metres and 6 metres apart. The PV panels would be 
tilted at 25 degrees from horizontal facing due south and would be set on a frame 
approximately 0.8 metres above ground extending up to 2.2 metres above ground.  
 
The solar farm would be accessed along Carriageway Drive joining on to the southern side of 
Rochdale Road East between Brooklyn and Chamber House Lodge. The proposal would 
utilise the existing track with a new access point being made in to the north corner of the site 
into the existing fields. The solar PV panels and associated cabins and equipment would be 

Page 190



delivered on 15.4 metre long articulated vehicles which would access the site via the M62 
entering on to the A627M at junction 20, before routing on to Edinburgh Way (A664) and then 
via the A58 (Manchester Road and Bolton Road).  
 
An enclosed yard would be located in the northeast corner of the site to be served by an 
access track. This would accommodate the Distribution Network Operator which will connect 
the solar farm to the electricity distribution network and will be housed in a brick or glass 
reinforced plastic (GRP) cabin approximately five metres square and four metres in height. A 
separate switchgear cabinet is also proposed within this area to be of GRP and measure 7.7 
metres in length by 2.9 metres wide and three metres in height. A control room cabin is also 
proposed in this area for the future operation and control of the solar farm, measuring 7 
metres in length by 3 metres in width and 3 metres in height. 
 
The scheme includes the provision of five inverter and transformer cabins across the site. 
These will measure 10.5 metres by 2.9 metres wide by 3.2 metres in height and each will be 
served by an access track. 
 
A security fence comprising a two metre high fence would be sited around the perimeter of the 
solar panels set in at least five metres from the existing field boundaries and up to 40 metres 
from the eastern boundary of the site. A series of approximately 10 pole mounted CCTV 
cameras up to 4 metres in height would be interspersed along the security fencing. 
 
A laydown area approximately 80 metres long by 40 metres wide is proposed at the northern 
end of the site adjacent to the site access to allow for site construction. 
 
The proposed details show the indicative proposed layout, which subject to detailed site 
investigation and design may require minor changes to the height, siting and numbers of 
equipment proposed. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.   
 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate. 
 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP):  
 
G/SP/2  Rural Protection and Regeneration 
G/SP/3  Meeting the Needs of Local Communities  
 
G/D/2  Green Belt 
D/4  Control of Development in the Green Belt – General 
 
G/LT/1  Sport, Leisure and Tourism 

Page 191



LT/2  Protection of Tourism Attractions 
 
G/G/1  Greenspace 
G/3  Protection of Existing Recreational Open Space 
 
G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy 
RE/2  Countryside around Towns 
RE/3  Development Involving Agricultural Land 
RE/4  Diversification of the Rural Economy 
RE/5  Access to the Countryside 
RE/6  Recreational Rights of Way 
 
G/A/1  Accessibility 
A/2  Accessibility Hierarchy 
A/3  New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People 
A/4  New Development – Access for Cyclists 
A/5  New Development – Access for Bus Services 
A/7  New Development – Access for Service Vehicles 
A/8  New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network 
A/9  New Development – Access for General Traffic 
A/11  New Development – Transport Assessments 
A/13  Local Walking Route Network 
A/14  A Strategic Cycling Route Network 
A/15  Facilities for Buses 
 
G/BE/1            Design Quality 
BE/2                Design Criteria for New Development 
 
G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage 
BE/10  Development Affecting Archaeological Sites and Ancient Monuments 
BE/11 Protection of Locally Important Buildings and Features of Architectural and 

Historic Interest 
BE/15  New Development Affecting the Setting of a Listed Building 
BE/17  New Development Affecting Conservation Areas 
BE/19  Protection of Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest 
 
G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control 
EM/2  Pollution  
EM/3  Noise and New Development 
EM/7  Development and Flood Risk 
EM/8  Protection of Surface and Ground Water 
 
G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation 
EM/13  Energy Efficiency and New Development 
EM/16  Sustainable Energy Sources 
 
G/EN/1 Nature Conservation 
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological/Geomorphological Importance 
NE/3  Biodiversity and Development 
NE/4  Protected Sites 
 
G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands 
NE/6  Landscape Protection and Enhancement 
 
 
 

Page 192



Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) 
Climate Change Adaptation 
Energy and New Development  
Wind Power Developments – SPG 
 
Greater Manchester Policies 
 
Greater Manchester Minerals Plan 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
Introduction 
Chapter 1 Building a strong, competitive economy 
Chapter 3 Supporting a prosperous rural economy 
Chapter 4 Promoting sustainable transport 
Chapter 5 Supporting high quality communications infrastructure 
Chapter 7 Requiring good design 
Chapter 8 Promoting healthy communities 
Chapter 9 Protecting Green Belt Land 
Chapter 10 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Chapter 11 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Chapter 12 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
Chapter 13 Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals 
Annex 1 Implementation 
 
National Energy Statements 
 
Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1) 
National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy Infrastructure (EN-3) 
 
Other National and Regional Energy Policy and Guidance 
 
Kyoto Protocol (1997) 
UK Climate Change Programme (2008) 
EU Renewables Directive (2001) 
Energy White Paper (2003) 
Energy White Paper (2007) 
UK Renewable Energy Strategy (2009) 
UK Low Carbon Transition Plan (2009) 
Northwest Sustainable Energy Strategy (2006) 
Northwest Climate Change Action Plan (2010-2012) 
 
Rochdale Publication Core Strategy (draft) 
 
The Council’s Core Strategy examination re-convened on 10 June 2015 in respect of housing 
need and as such, the remainder of the Core Strategy can now be given some, albeit it at this 
time without further advancement, limited weight in decision making. It is anticipated that, 
based on current timescales, the Core Strategy could be adopted in late 2015/early 2016.  
 
The following policies of the emerging and currently un-adopted Core Strategy (known more 
formally as the emerging Rochdale Publication Core Strategy) are relevant:-  
  
SO1  To deliver a more prosperous economy 
SO2  To create successful and healthy communities 
SO3  To improve design, image and quality of place 
SO4  To promote a greener environment 

Page 193



 
SD1  Delivering sustainable development 
 
SP1  Rochdale borough’s role in the city region 
SP2  The spatial strategy for the borough 
SP3/R  The strategy for Rochdale 
 
E5  Encouraging the visitor economy 
E6  Supporting and diversifying the rural economy 
 
C6  Improving health and well being 
C8  Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities 
 
P2  Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage 
P3  Improving design of new development 
 
G1  Tackling and adapting to climate change 
G2  Energy and new development 
G3  Renewable and low carbon energy developments 
G4  Protecting Green Belt land 
G7  Increasing the biodiversity and geodiversity 
G8  Managing water resources and flood risk 
G9  Reducing the impact of pollution  
G10  Managing mineral resources 
 
T2  Improving accessibility 
DM1  General development requirements 
DM2  Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
No recent history of solar farm planning applications within the immediate surrounding area. 
 
The application site has been subject to the following planning applications: 
 
Chamber House Farm: 
 
86/D19771 – Car Park Partial Rebuilding Of Existing Farm Buildings Erection Of Single Storey 
Toilet Block, Provision Of Ground Floor Tea Room/Shop, Single Storey First Floor Extension 
To Provide Living Quarters For Farm Manager – Approved subject to conditions. 
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
RBC Strategic Planning:- Whilst we strongly support renewable energy developments such as 
this in principle, we note that the proposed development would be located in the Green Belt, 
and would constitute a type of development not normally permitted under the provisions of 
policy D/4 of the UDP. Thus, ‘very special circumstances’ will need to be demonstrated which 
would outweigh any harm to the openness and other attributes of the Green Belt (see 
paragraph 91 of NPPF). Of use in making this assessment may be the DCLG  ‘Planning 
practice guidance for renewable and low carbon energy’ (July 2013), paras 26 to 28. 
 
The primary characteristic of the Green Belt is its openness, topography and visual impacts 
will be particularly important in assessing this application, including the impacts of associated 
structures such as fencing. We note that the relatively low height of the panels is an important 
consideration when assessing overall visual impact, suggesting that, particularly with the 
screening proposed, their impact on the openness of the Green Belt may be such as to be 

Page 194



acceptable, when also taking into account the benefits of the proposals in terms of contribution 
to renewable energy generation targets and possible biodiversity benefits. Given this, our view 
is that the required ‘very special circumstances’ may well exist in this instance (subject to any 
other considerations as appropriate).      
 
Historic England:- Welcome the provision of a Heritage Assessment, which enables an 
informed decision to be made. In line with previous advice, the impacts of the proposal with 
regards to Historic England’s remit appear negligible, and therefore do not wish to comment 
further. The application should be determined in accordance with national and local policy 
guidance and on the basis of specialist conservation advice. It is not necessary for us to be 
consulted again.    
 
Highways and Engineering:- The main concern with applications such as this is the 
Construction Period. However with only 6 Vehicle movements on average per day, I do not 
envisage any issues with this application. The access to this site is not ideal for HGV 
movements however given the low volumes of traffic, it is considered unreasonable to require 
any improvements to access and in truth this is probably less intense than the previous usage. 
The site is skirted by Bridleway 63 and Footpath 54. These should not be obstructed by this 
development. If it is necessary to divert them temporarily during construction this must be 
done legally. 
 
This application will not impact upon the highways layout. This application has no dedicated 
parking but it does not require any parking. This development will not have a negative impact 
upon the local Network Capacity. This development will not have a negative impact upon 
Road Safety. Highways Drainage will not change as a result of this development. No Public 
Right of Way will be obstructed by this development. 
 
No objection to this proposal but I wish to ensure the Bridleway and Public Footpath are not 
obstructed. Recommended conditions: 

� Upon completion of construction no Bridleway, Public Footpath should be obstructed 
by this proposal. 

� During Construction no Bridleway, Public Footpath or Public Right of Way should be 
obstructed without appropriate diversions and alternative provisions being made 
available.  

 
Lead Local Flood Authority: - No objection or issues with this proposal. However, I would like 
to know if permeability test has been carried out as the potential to concentrate water into 
certain areas is higher than the current equilibrium for permeability across the site. 
 
Environment Agency: - Refer to standing advice. 
 
Contaminated Land Officer:- No comments received to date. 
 
Environmental Health (Noise):- No objections. 
 
Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS): - The application has been 
supported by an archaeological Desk Based Assessment (DBA) prepared by Wyvern 
Heritage. The Historic Environment Record (HER) for Greater Manchester was consulted in 
preparing the DBA which draws together a variety of historic documentary and cartographic 
sources, and the report benefits from a site visit. Having reviewed the evidence of the HER, 
historic mapping and documentary sources, the DBA considers the likelihood that remains of 
different periods may survive within the site boundary. The DBA found there were no known 
designated or undesignated archaeological interests within the proposed development 
boundary (PDA). It also considers that the potential for unknown remains of any 
archaeological significance to be exposed or disturbed by the proposals to be very small. 
 

Page 195



GMAAS accepts the DBA report as submitted, feeling that it meets the requirements for 
archaeological assessment set-out in the National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 128. 
On the basis of the report GMAAS advises that the proposals are most unlikely to threaten the 
archaeological interest and recommends that no further archaeological requirements should 
be placed on the applicants. 
 
Greater Manchester Minerals and Planning Unit: - No comments received to date. 
 
National Grid:- National Grid has no objections to the above proposal, which is in close 
proximity to a High Voltage Transmission Overhead Line – VK. 
 
Natural England:- No comments to make regarding this application. 
 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit: – No objections to the application on nature conservation 
grounds.  The potential impacts of the scheme on ground nesting birds have been considered 
and GMEU are aware that Lapwings may use parts of the site for breeding.  
 
Photovoltaic arrays may displace some ground nesting bird species, although evidence for this 
impact is scarce. There is some recent evidence that Lapwings can adapt and may in fact 
benefit from reduced levels of disturbance. Other ground-nesting species benefit because of 
the increased cover afforded by the panels and through an increased food supply that can 
result from habitat improvements. Hedgerow and ‘field-edge’ bird species can benefit from 
habitat improvements. Barn owls are known to be present in the area but field edge habitat 
enhancement and grassland management may benefit barn owls by increasing the supply of 
small mammals for food. 
 
I would not therefore consider that an objection to the scheme could be sustained because of 
impacts on birds, particularly since the site is not designated for its special bird interest.  
 
Recommend: 
� That no approved works commence during the optimum period for bird nesting (March 

to July inclusive). The fields involved have been known to support breeding Lapwing, a 
species of conservation concern in Greater Manchester. 

� Although I welcome the outline proposals for habitat enhancement and management 
as put forward in dwg. 00060-103 and in the Biodiversity Management Plan submitted 
in support of the application, these proposals should be secured for the lifetime of the 
development. The implementation of the Biodiversity Management Plan prepared by 
‘Greenlight’ on behalf of Rochdale Council and dated May 2015 should therefore be 
required to be implemented by a condition placed on any approval that may be granted 
to the scheme. 

 
RSPB:- No comments received to date. 
 
Ramblers Association:- At this stage the Ramblers Association  would not normally have any 
objections to the proposals contained in the application. We note that the applicant says that it 
is not their intention to divert or extinguish any existing right of ways. However having looked 
at the plans carefully the land in question is bordered by Heywood Footpaths 63,64, 144 and 
parts of the Rochdale Way. The Ramblers Association would like to be kept informed of the 
applicants plans for boundary fencing in case this affects the public rights of way along these 
routes. 
 
Peaks and Northern Footpaths Society:– No objections, but if planning permission is granted 
request a condition seeking that there be no obstruction of the public right of way. 
 
 
 

Page 196



REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The application has been publicised by neighbour notification letters to 733 surrounding 
properties and the application has been publicised by way of press notices in the local press, 
the Heywood Advertiser and Rochdale Observer, in addition to four site notices having been 
displayed around the application site. 
 
To date, nine letters of objection have been received raising the following issues: 
 
1. The site as part of the Green Belt forms an important border between the two urban areas. 

The proposal would result in the loss of the green area between Heywood and Rochdale. 
Green Belt areas are slowly disappearing and the proposal negates the purpose of Green 
Belt policy, and would detract from the rural setting of the adjacent settlements. 

 
Officer Response: It is noted that the proposal represents inappropriate development within 
the Green Belt and therefore very special circumstances would need to be demonstrated to 
outweigh the significant weight given to the harm caused to the Green belt by way of it 
inappropriateness and any other harm. The impact of the proposals on the Green Belt are 
discussed in detail in the ‘Analysis’ section of this report.   
 
2. The proposal will not create a significant amount of revenue or social, environmental or 

economic benefits and any benefits would be retained by Rochdale and Heywood and will 
not benefit from the proposed solar farm. 

 
Officer Response: The wider environmental benefits are discussed in detail elsewhere in this 
report. The proposal would reduce carbon emissions by 2,360 tonnes a year and would 
provide an equivalent of 1.6% of the Borough’s households power through renewable energy. 
The proposal does not need to demonstrate that there would be significant economic benefit 
to the local area.  
 
3. There is an abundance of wildlife within the site and surrounding area, and the ecological 

benefits are not significant.  
 
Officer Response: The submitted ecological report has been assessed by independent experts 
at GMEU and it is concluded that the existing biodiversity value of the site is of moderate 
value. The proposals include the provision of a Habitat Enhancement Plan, which would 
include the potential for a number of bat boxes, hedgehog shelters, bee hives, and 
hibernaculas across the site which together with more comprehensive and connected 
hedgerow corridors and tree planting, would be of significant value to enhancing and 
supporting local flora and fauna. 
 
4. The proposal is better suited on vacant sites or on large buildings not open meadows or 

more suitable away from towns. 
 
Officer Response: The siting of such large scale solar farms is dependent on a number of 
factors including the need for a sufficiently large site, local topography, latitude and aspect of 
sites to generating renewable energy. The District Network Operator has advised Rochdale 
Borough Council that the proposed capacity can be connected at a point approximately 600m 
to the east of the site at the junction between Abbott Street and Harry Street. The applicant 
has undertaken a site search and there are no known brownfield sites or rooftops that are 
available to the developer that would accommodate the facility proposed by this application.   
 
 
 
 

Page 197



5. The bank of ugly solar panels, cabins, fencing and CCTV poles would have an adverse 
impact on the character of the area and would be an eye sore which will not be disguised 
by the hedgerows. 

 
Officer Response: It is noted that the proposed solar panels would be visible from surrounding 
residential properties, and whilst the proposed hedgerow and tree planting would not fully 
screen the solar panels from all sites and vantage points, the overall impact on landscape 
character is not considered to be significantly adverse. It is also noted that any landscape 
impact will not be permanent as the proposed solar farm will be decommissioned after 25 
years and land returned to its previous use.  
 
6. The site includes a breeding ground for lapwings which are an endangered species. 
 
Officer Response: Consideration of the ecological and biodiversity implications are discussed 
in the ‘Analysis’ section of the report. However, the application has been supported by a phase 
1 habitat survey and assessment of the impact on protected species. The report has been 
assessed by the Council’s advisors on ecological issues, the Greater Manchester Ecological 
Unit (GMEU) who have raised no objections to the proposals subject to conditions restricting 
any vegetation clearance during the bird nesting season to protect any nesting birds.  
 
7. The access to the site is very narrow and is along an unmade road maintained by the 

residents of Mayfield. It is also on to a stretch of road which has been subject to a number 
of accidents and affords limited visibility. Traffic calming measures would be necessary if 
this development takes place. The proposed use of the access road by HGV’s will also 
deteriorate the road and cause parking and access problems. 

 
Officer Response: The Highways Authority have been consulted on the application and note 
that there have been no significant road traffic incidents in the past 5 years in the vicinity of the 
site access, and that the nature of the development would not generate a significant amount of 
vehicular movements. They have therefore raised no objections subject to the implementation 
of an approved traffic management plan to prevent any significant impact on highway safety 
during construction.  
 
It is noted that the proposed development would be accessed via an unadopted road along 
Carriageway Drive. The application has been supported by a transport statement and a 
Construction Traffic has been raised. The TMP includes the carrying out of a survey of the 
condition of the local highway network before and after construction and the carrying out of 
any remedial works following completion of the development. In order to ensure that the 
recommended traffic management measures are put in place during construction and any 
damage occurring to the access during construction is repaired, a condition has been 
recommended requiring the implementation of the detailed Traffic Management Plan.   
 
8. The proposals would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt and cause significant 

harm to the appearance, purpose and use of an important part of the Green Belt, and 

strategic Green Infrastructure, contrary to national and local planning policies and recent 

appeal decisions in Chorley and Godalming Surrey. 

 
Officer Response: - The impact of the proposals on the Green Belt and surrounding landscape 
have been discussed in detail in the committee report. It is noted that the proposals would 
comprise inappropriate development in the Green Belt and would impact on its openness. As 
noted in the appeal decisions referred to above they key factor is balancing the harm caused 
by the proposed development against any benefits. Indeed there are also other recent appeals 
at Land at Rowles Farm, Bletchington, Oxfordshire (appeal reference 
APP/C3105/A/13/2207532) where those benefits to renewable energy provision and reducing 
carbon emissions were considered to outweigh the harm caused to the Green Belt. In this 

Page 198



instance, the substantial benefits reducing carbon emissions by 2,360 tonnes and powering up 
to 1,364 homes through renewable energy source are considered to constitute very special 
circumstances that would outweigh the harm caused to the Green Belt. As a result the 
proposals are considered to accord with local and national planning policies. 

 
9. Impact on privacy and amenity of surrounding occupiers at Ryecroft Farm from solar farm 

and CCTV Cameras. 

 
Officer Response: - The proposed CCTV cameras would be sited over 100 metres to 
southeast of Ryecroft Farm and would be sited to survey the application site rather than the 
open fields and towards Ryecroft Farm to the northwest. It is therefore not considered that the 
proposed CCTV cameras would cause any significant loss of amenity to the occupiers. 
 
10. Despite screening the proposal would still have a significant adverse impact on the 

character of the area and those using the footpaths immediately surrounding the site, and 
the character and setting of these footpaths. 

 
Officer Response: - It is noted that a number of rights of way including the Rochdale Way, and 
the A58 run within close proximity and around the application site on all sides. In order to 
address this the proposals include new hedgerows and additions to existing hedgerows 
around all perimeters of the application site. The application has been supported by a 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment which has assessed the visual impacts and 
impacts on the character of the surrounding landscape from a number of points including the 
footpaths around the site. This notes that whilst,  
 
11. Whether the impact on glint and glare has been considered as part of the application. 
 
Officer Response: - The implications of glint and glare caused by the proposed solar PV 
panels have been considered. In this instance it was not considered necessary to require the 
submission of a formal glint and glare impact assessment as part of this application given the 
siting of the solar PV panels away from highway infrastructure and vehicular routes; due to the 
shallow angle of the solar panels ground reflecting light upwards; and that there being no 
railway or aerodrome infrastructure within the vicinity of the site.  

 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle of Development 
 
Renewable Energy Development Context 
 
The Government’s approach to reducing the risks associated with climate change has at its 
heart the Climate Change Act 2008, which requires the Government to reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions by reducing emissions by at least 34% by 2020 and 80% by 2050 (below the 
1990 baseline) and setting and meeting five-yearly carbon budgets for the UK during that 
period. Around 30% of the UK’s electricity is likely to need to come from renewables alone by 
2020 in order to meet the legally binding EU target to source 15% of the UK’s energy from 
renewable sources by that date (Carbon Plan, Department of Energy and Climate Change, 
March 2011).   
 
There is support from the Government with regards to planning proposals for renewable 
energy and this is highlighted by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). One of the 
core planning principles of the NPPF is support the transition to a low carbon future in a 
changing climate, including through encouraging the use of renewable resources and the 
development of renewable energy.  Paragraph 93 of the NPPF establishes that planning plays 
a key role in helping shape places to secure radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions 

Page 199



by supporting the delivery of renewable energy, which it states is central to the economic, 
social and environmental dimensions of sustainable development.  
 
Policies G/EM/12, EM/13, and EM/16 of the Rochdale UDP provide the Council’s adopted 
planning policy in regards to renewable energy development and establish that applications 
will be supported where the development would have no unacceptable impact on the local 
environment.  
 
National Energy Statements 
 
Further to the above policy, the Department of Energy and Climate Change have produced 
two major documents setting out the Government stance on energy development; EN-1 – 
Overarching National Statement for Energy and EN-3 – National Policy Statement for 
Renewable Energy Infrastructure.  
 
The materiality and weight that should be awarded to the two above energy statements is of 
some question due to the ambiguity over whether the statements relate purely to Nationally 
Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) or do indeed cover all scales of energy 
development (it is worth noting that the Secretary of State (SoS) (through the Department of 
Energy and Climate Change) has officially decided that this application does not fall within the 
NSIP regime and is not a Development Consent Order application).  
 
EN-1 and EN-3 both make it clear that “Whether, and to what extent, this NPS is a material 
consideration will be judged on a case by case basis” with similar advice provided in the 
Annex to the letter to the Chief Planning Officers issued by the Department for Communities 
and Local Government (CLG) on 9 November 2009, “and the weight to be applied to it by the 
decision-maker will have to be determined on a case by case basis.” 
 
Through looking at recent appeal decisions for similar applications it is noted that in the High 
Court case of: Trafford Borough Council v Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government, Peel Energy (Barton) Limited [2014] EWHC 424 (Admin) that both Trafford BC 
and the developer accepted that at least EN3 was a material consideration in the 
determination of the application. The SoS Decision Letter also outlines at paragraph 53, that a 
key consideration is what weight should be given to the National Planning Strategy – EN1 and 
EN3.  
 
In the High Court challenge of the above, similarly little reference to weight is provided. The 
Judge acknowledges that EN1 and EN3 “were prepared for larger projects than this site but 
were a material consideration in this application.” The Judge does not provide an opinion on 
whether this was correct or not. However, the Judge states at paragraph 650 of the 
Judgement: 
 
Relevant statements of government policy are also set out in the Overarching National Policy 
Statement for Energy, July 2011 (EN-1) and the National Policy Statement for Renewable 
Energy Infrastructure (EN-3). Although these apply specifically to proposals for National 
Significant Infrastructure Development (NSID), the underlying principles are applicable to 
schemes which do not meet the thresholds.  
 
With the above in mind it is therefore considered that EN/1 and EN/3 should be considered as 
material considerations for the purposes of this application, as it is reasonable to conclude that 
the underlying principles are applicable to planning applications of this nature. However, given 
the statements provided in EN/1, EN/3 and the letter to Chief Planning Officers issued by the 
Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) on 9 November 2009, the weight 
to be attributed is up to the Council as the decision maker.  
 

Page 200



It is clear that EN-1 and EN-3 were compiled to deal principally with applications considered to 
fall within the NSIP regime, and it is clear that this application does not fall within this regime, 
as has been confirmed by the SoS. Nonetheless, given the underlying principles of the 
statements, it is considered that they would be to some extent applicable to the application 
before the Council and appropriate weight should be awarded to them. However, due to the 
uncertainties in the position and the fact that it has been expressly considered whether or not 
it should be part of the NSIP regime, in the absence of further official guidance or 
advancement in common law and SoS conditions detailing the point, the Council is limited in 
the weight that it may attribute to EN-1 and EN-3 so far as they are material considerations 
relating to determination of this application.  
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in 2012 and promotes a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  There are three dimensions to sustainable 
development: economic, social and environmental and paragraphs 18-219 of the NPPF, taken 
as a whole, constitute the Government’s view of what sustainable development means in 
practice for the planning system.   
 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for decision taking, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means: 
 

� Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 
delay, and 

� Where the development plan is silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting 
planning permission unless: 

- Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework 
taken as a whole; or 

- Specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted.  
 
Annex 1 of the NPPF establishes that the introduction of the NPPF has not changed the legal 
requirement that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise, with paragraph 211 
making it clear that for the purpose of decision-taking, the policies in the Local Plan should not 
be considered out-of date simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the 
Framework. However, under paragraph 212 it is also clear that the policies contained in the 
framework are material considerations which local planning authorities should take into 
account, and under paragraph 215, due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing 
plans according to their degree of consistency with the framework, and the closer the policies 
in the plan to the policies in the framework, the greater the weight that may be given.  
 
In accordance with the above, the NPPF has emphasis towards sustainable development and 
under paragraph 17, one of its core principles is to support the transition to a low carbon future 
in a changing climate, including through encouraging the use of renewable resources, for 
example, by the development of renewable energy.   
 
Paragraph 98 states that when determining applications, local planning authorities should: 
 

� not require the overall need for renewable energy to be demonstrated, 
recognising that even small scale projects provide a valuable contribution to 
cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and 

� approve the applications (unless material considerations indicate otherwise) if its 
impacts are (or can be made) acceptable.  

 
 

Page 201



National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
Published in April 2014, the NPPG replaced Planning for Renewable Energy: A Companion 
Guide to PPS22. The PPG clearly states the importance of increasing the amount of energy 
from renewable and low carbon technologies to “help make sure the UK has a secure energy 
supply, reduce greenhouse gas emissions to slow down climate change and stimulate 
investment in new jobs and businesses” (paragraph 001). 
 
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) includes specific guidance on planning 
considerations relating to large-scale solar PV farms and identifies the particular factors that a 
local planning authority will need to consider when determining planning applications 
(paragraph 013).  
 
These include particular reference to development on greenfield land and states that 
proposals should “allow for continued agricultural use and/or encourages biodiversity 
improvements around arrays”. In addition the NPPG states: 
 

� solar farms are normally temporary structures and planning conditions can be used to 
ensure that the installations are removed when no longer in use and the land is 
restored to its previous use; 

� the proposal’s visual impact, the effect on landscape of glint and glare and on 
neighbouring uses and aircraft safety; 

� the potential to mitigate landscape and visual impacts through, for example, screening 
with native hedges; and 

� the energy generating potential, which can vary for a number of reasons including, 
latitude and aspect. 

 
Weight of renewable energy provision 
 
With regard to this application, the proposed solar farm would have the potential to generate a 
minimum of five Megawatts peak of electricity and generate up to 4,500 MW hours of 
electricity per year. Furthermore, this would have the potential to reduce carbon dioxide 
emissions by 2,360 tonnes a year that would otherwise be generated using fossil fuels. 
 
It is clear under paragraph 98 of the NPPF that applicants for energy development are not 
required to demonstrate the overall need for renewable energy. However, the energy created 
by the panels would contribute to the Government targets on renewable energy and would 
assist in reducing carbon emissions, thereby contributing to improving air quality, addressing 
climate change, and delivering social and economic benefits. These factors must be given 
significant weight in the overall consideration of the application.  
 
It is noted that recently the former Secretary of State, Eric Pickles MP, has issued statements 
regarding on-shore wind energy development and established that landscape and heritage 
issues must be given great weight.  Whilst specific to wind energy, it highlights that landscape 
and heritage issues are important material considerations.   
 
The NPPG guidance establishes that ‘planning has an important role in the delivery of new 
renewable and low carbon energy infrastructure in locations where the local environmental 
impact is acceptable’ and proposals for green energy should be ‘appropriately sited’. The 
NPPG is also clear on the fact that the need for renewable energy does not automatically 
override environmental protections and the planning concerns of local communities.   
 
In light of the above, it is necessary to balance these considerations with the need to provide 
renewable energy, while avoiding any unacceptable damage to the environment and its key 

Page 202



assets. If, on the balance of considerations, any identified harm outweighs the benefits, having 
regard to all the material considerations, the development will not be acceptable. This balance 
of considerations is assessed below. 
 
Impact on the Green Belt 
 
The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open; the essential characteristics of the Green Belt are their openness and their 
permanence (paragraph 79 of the NPPF).  The five purposes of Green Belt noted in paragraph 
80 of the NPPF are: 

� to check unrestricted sprawl;  

� prevent neighbouring towns merging;  

� assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;  

� preserve the setting and special character of historic towns;  

� assist in urban regeneration.   

Policies G/D/2 and D/4 of the UDP are broadly in accordance with the NPPF and provide a 
presumption against certain forms of development in the Green Belt except in very special 
circumstances.  The proposed solar farm and associated equipment are not one of the 
identified exceptions listed in paragraphs 89 and 90 of the NPPF or the UDP and the proposal 
therefore comprises inappropriate development in the Green Belt.   
 
Paragraph 91 of the NPPF re-affirms this position in respect of renewable energy and states: 

“When located in the Green Belt, elements of many renewable energy projects will 
comprise inappropriate development. In such cases developers will need to 
demonstrate very special circumstances if projects are to proceed. Such very special 
circumstances may include the wider environmental benefits associated with 
increased production of energy from renewable sources.” 

  
Paragraph 87 of the NPPF recognises that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful 
to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances.  
Paragraph 88 is clear that substantial weight should be given to any harm to the Green Belt 
and ‘very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations. 
 
With regard to other impacts on the Green Belt, the addition of rows of solar panels and the 
associated cabins would impact on the openness of the Green Belt by siting new structures in 
existing open fields. However, due to the separation needed between the panels it is noted 
that approximately 73% of the site would remain open. In addition, that approximately 99.8% 
of the site would remain grassland or planted with wild flowers below the solar PV panels. It is 
also noted that as the PV panels would follow the contours of the ground the undulating 
character of the landscape would still remain evident.  
 
It is noted that the additional CCTV poles and two metre high fencing would be sited around 
the boundaries of the application site. These would run along the existing field boundaries 
characterised by fences and hedgerows and that these would be screened by additional trees 
and hedgerows to be planted along the field boundaries. Given the design of the wire mesh 
type of fencing, views would be retained through and appropriate colour treatment would 
assist in blending into the surrounding landscape.  The CCTV poles would be more apparent 
given they would be of up to 4m in height and whilst these would be of slender design and 
would be limited in number and spread sparsely across the site along the boundary lines 
created by the existing hedgerow and landscape features, they would be visible and would 
have an impact on openness.   
 

Page 203



Therefore, whilst impacting on the openness it is considered that the character of the pattern 
of fields, intervening hedgerows, and the undulating topography would be retained. It is also 
noted that given the temporary nature of the proposed scheme the proposal would not conflict 
with the intrinsic permanence of the Green Belt and the five purposes of including land within 
the Green Belt. 
 
Nevertheless, the proposed development by definition remains inappropriate development 
within the Green Belt. In this respect, one of the main considerations in respect of this 
application is whether there are any material considerations sufficient to clearly outweigh the 
harm the development would cause to the Green Belt, by reason of inappropriateness and any 
other harm, thereby justifying the application on the basis of very special circumstances.  
 
Of particular relevance to the above, the recent Court of Appeal judgement in Redhill 
Aerodrome Ltd v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government established that 
‘any other harm’ in paragraph 88 of the NPPF (i.e. non-Green Belt harm) can be taken into 
account in the weighing exercise of the planning balance as to determining whether or not 
very special circumstances outweigh the harm to the Green Belt by inappropriateness or any 
other harm.  
 
This recent Court of Appeal judgment is an important reminder that under paragraph 88 of the 
NPPF, when considering any planning application concerning proposed development in the 
Green Belt, local planning authorities should continue to ensure that substantial weight is 
given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will only be demonstrated in 
circumstances where the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and 
any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.   
 
The ‘very special circumstances’ associated with this application relate to the renewable 
energy that would be generated by the proposed solar farm. The proposed solar farm would 
generate up to 4,500 MW hours of electricity per year by way of harnessing solar radiation. 
The annual renewable energy produced by the proposal would make a significant contribution 
towards meeting both the local renewable energy target and also the national targets. It is 
noted that there are limited opportunities for providing energy of such scale through renewable 
technologies and that the proposal would provide sufficient electricity to power up to 1,364 
households. This is equivalent to powering 1.6% or the Borough’s households through such 
renewable energy technologies. In addition, it is noted that, of fundamental importance to 
reducing greenhouse gases and tackling climate change, the generation of energy through 
solar power would have the potential to substantially offset the emission of carbon dioxide 
(CO2) by reducing consumption of non-renewable energy sources and potentially displacing 
approximately 2,360 tonnes of CO2 per year. 
 
In this regard, the Government attaches significant importance to the need to tackling climate 
change and the role that the exploitation of renewable energy technologies can make in 
tackling climate change. This is set out in Part 10 of the NPPF (Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and coastal change) and in particular paragraph 98, that recognises 
even small scale projects provide a valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions. 
Within this paragraph, it is also clear that local planning authorities should approve an 
application if its impacts are, or can be made, acceptable. 
 
Paragraph 91 of the NPPF makes it clear that ‘the wider environmental benefits associated 
with the increased production of energy through renewable sources” may constitute very 
special circumstances.  
 
The significant contribution towards achieving a sustainable future for the local area and 
reducing the impacts of climate change are considered to be very special circumstances, and 
the unique opportunities and potential gains would be sufficient to outweigh the harm caused 
to the Green Belt by way of its inappropriateness and impact on openness. As a result, it is 

Page 204



considered that the proposed development would accord with policies G/D/2 and D/4 of the 
UDP and the policies and objectives of the NPPF, which seek to deliver sustainable 
development.  However, as noted above, it is necessary to assess whether the proposal would 
result in non-green belt harm, which must be taken into account in the weighing exercise of 
the planning balance in determining whether or not very special circumstances outweigh the 
harm to the Green Belt by inappropriateness and any other harm. 
 
Landscape and Visual Impact 
 
One of the 12 core planning principles of the NPPF is to recognise the intrinsic character and 
beauty of the countryside.  The NPPG sets out particular aspects to be considered by LPA’s in 
considering applications for solar farm developments. This includes the landscape and visual 
effects and any potential for mitigation. The guidance recognises that there is the potential for 
solar farms to integrate effectively into the landscape and it states that the visual impact of a 
well-planned and well-screened solar farm can be properly addressed within the landscape if 
planned sensitively (paragraph 013).   
 
Paragraph 013 goes on to state that in the case of ground-mounted solar panels, it should be 
noted that with effective screening and appropriate land topography, the area of a zone of 
visual influence could be zero. The NPPG also highlights the fact that solar farms are 
temporary structures and that planning conditions can be used to ensure removal of 
installations and restoration of the land.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, other considerations such as the conservation of heritage assets 
and the effect of security measures such as fencing must also be considered during the 
planning process. The guidance sets out that the approach to assessing cumulative landscape 
and visual impact of large scale solar farms is likely to be the same as assessing the impact of 
wind turbines. 
 
As noted above, the site is located within the Greater Manchester Green Belt between the 
urban areas of Heywood and Rochdale.  The site falls within National Character Area 54: 
Manchester Pennine Fringe, which describes the transitional zone between the moors of the 
Pennines and the lowlands to the south. The area to the north and south of the application site 
is predominantly characterised by undulating countryside comprising open fields with 
intervening hedgerows.  
 
A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been submitted with the application 
and assesses the landscape impacts and visual impacts of the proposed development.  It 
includes photomontages showing the development from various viewpoints in the surrounding 
area. The development would sit within a relatively flat and low lying section of land between 
the built form of Heywood and Castleton to the west and east respectively.  Due to the 
surrounding topography, tree cover, and built form of the nearby urban areas of Heywood and 
Castleton, there would be few long distance views of the proposed solar farm.  
 
The Supporting Statement concludes that the proposal would result in a slight to moderate 
adverse effects on the surrounding landscape character and moderate impacts on the 
landscape character of the site. The slight and moderate landscape impacts would be limited 
to the lifetime of the development, which following decommissioning of the solar farm after 25 
years and restoration of land to its former use there would be minor long-term benefits by way 
of the additional tree and hedgerow planting, enhancing the local landscape. 
 
The proposed solar farm including its associated cabins and CCTV poles would be visible 
from public rights of way, bridleways and highways that run within the immediate surrounding 
area to the north, south, east west of the site.  The LVIA demonstrates that any significant 
visual impacts would be largely limited to the site and its immediate surrounding area up to a 

Page 205



distance of approximately 1.1 kilometres away, where beyond this the proposal would 
assimilate into the surrounding landscape.  
 
In order to mitigate the visual impacts in the immediate surrounding area, the proposed 
scheme includes various mitigation planting comprising the following: 
 

a) In-filling of the tree belt (to 2 metres in height) along the south side of the A58 
Rochdale Road East between Rycroft Farm and the wooded boundary of the 
properties to the north of the site; and the tree belt running from Ryecroft Farm to 
the southeast up to the hedgeline that runs along the north western boundary of the 
site. This will provide enhanced screening of views from properties along the north 
side of the A58 overlooking the northern section of the site and from receptors 
further to the north, as well as users of the A58 

b) Infill planting to a width of 5m of the tree and shrub belt that runs along the north 
western boundary of the site to provide enhanced screening from receptors within 
close proximity to the north and northwest.  

c) A new 5m wide belt of hedgerow trees and shrubs to be planted along the south 
western boundary to provide screening from the public right of way running 
alongside the western site boundary.  

d) A new hedgerow to be planted along the open eastern field boundary from the 
woodland to the east of the proposed site to the southeast corner of the site in 
order to provide screening from the Rochdale Way.  

e) A new hedgerow along the south side of Carriage Drive, to provide screening from 
the section of Rochdale Way that follows this route up to Rochdale Road East.  

f) Infilling of the hedgerows along the north eastern boundary of the site to 
supplement screening from Carriageway Drive to the north.  

g) Allowing all hedgerows to be grown to a 3 metre winter height and planting of local 
native grassland species under the panels to enhance the biodiversity of the 
landscape character of the site in the longer term.  

 
As a result of the mitigation proposals, the moderate impacts from surrounding transport 
routes and public rights of way would be reduced to slight/moderate effects. As such it is noted 
that despite mitigation there would still be an impact on the open and rural character of the 
area and the proposed solar farm would be noticeable within existing views and public 
footpaths. However, given the characteristics of the surrounding landscape and features within 
it and the sensitivity of the site, in this case it is considered that following the implementation of 
mitigation planting, the impact on the openness, character and appearance of the landscape 
alone would not be significant and nor would this outweigh the significant benefits associated 
with the generation of renewable energy.  The proposal is considered to therefore accord with 
policies EM/14, BE/1, BE/2 of the UDP.   
 
Implications on Public Rights of Way 
 
As noted in earlier sections of the report above, the proposed solar farm would be visible from 
various public rights of way in the local area which include the Rochdale Way and  Heywood 
footpath nos. 61, 63, 64, and 144.  
 
It is noted that public rights of way running along the northeast, eastern, south-eastern and 
south-western boundaries of the site being in close proximity offer some of the most prominent 
and obvious views of the solar farm and its equipment. However, it is noted that the routes 
along the northeast, east and south eastern boundaries of the site are set at a higher level 
than the rows of PV panels and equipment, and there is either partial screening provided by 
hedgerows to the northeast, southeast and east boundaries or in some parts complete 
screening provided mature woodland planting towards the east boundary.  
 

Page 206



Where the proposals would be prominent from the right of way to the northeast of the site 
running along Carriageway Drive, mitigation planting is proposed to reduce this impact 
comprising the addition of a new hedgerow along the south side of Carriageway Drive and the 
further infilling of the existing hedgerow along the northeast boundary of the site. 
 
With regards to the PROW running along the south western boundary of the site, it is noted 
that the route runs relatively level along its extent with the level of the proposed PV panels. 
The proposals include the provision of five metre hedgerow and shrub planting along the south 
western boundary in order to screen the proposals from this route and mitigate the substantial 
/ moderate visual impact on this route, which will be reduced to slight / moderate following 
maturing of the planting. It is however recognised that the moderate impact will prevail whilst 
the planting becomes established and the CCTV equipment would remain visible.   
 
With respect to direct works or obstruction, the proposals would not include any works to or 
addition of any structures or buildings across the public rights of way. As a result it is 
considered that the proposals would therefore not cause any significant impact on the use and 
integrity of the public rights of way.  
 
It is also noted that the Highways Authority and Ramblers Association have raised no 
objections to the proposal. Whilst consulted, other rights of way interests groups have not yet 
provided any comments. Having regard to the above, it is considered that the visual impacts 
on the public rights of way and routes would be suitably mitigated to acceptable levels through 
additional landscape planting once it is established, however the CCTV equipment would be 
visible beyond the mitigation.  The visibility of these structures would impact upon the 
enjoyment of these public rights of way and this harm would need to be weighed in the 
planning balance.  However it is considered that there are no public safety concerns regarding 
the proximity of adjacent rights of way and the application is acceptable in this regard and 
considered to be in accordance with policies A/13 of the UDP. 
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
One of the core planning principles of the NPPF to seek to secure a good standard of amenity 
for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  Policy BE/2 of the UDP requires 
proposals to demonstrate good design by ensuring they are compatible with their 
surroundings. Under policies, G/EM/1, EM/2 and EM/3 it is established that environmental 
protection and pollution control should be taken into account, with care taken to ensure that 
air, water and noise pollution is kept to an acceptable level. 
 
With any development, including solar farms, it is important to assess the impact on the 
surrounding environment, including surrounding uses and occupiers from the impacts of glare, 
outlook, noise, activity and disturbance. The application has been accompanied by a 
landscape and visual impact assessment (LVIA) which includes an assessment of the visual 
impacts on surrounding residential properties.  
 
The proposed PV panels are themselves designed to absorb light and solar radiation in order 
to maximise energy generation rather than reflect light and create glare. Indeed the PV panels 
are designed with anti-reflective coating and their frames and coating are also designed to be 
anti-reflective to minimise glint and glare.  
 
There are a number of residential properties located to the north, northwest and west of the 
application site that would be afforded views of the solar farm. The submitted LVIA notes there 
to be moderate to substantial visual impacts on the dwellings at Ryecroft Farm, nos. 187 – 201 
Rochdale Road East, Primrose Hill Farm and at Brooklyn to the north of the site, and to those 
at Dumfries Farm, Dumfries Hollow and Mutual Mills to the west of the site. Brooklyn, nearest 
the proposed solar farm, is well screened by mature tree planting which will be supplemented 
by the infilling of the hedgerow along the north boundary of the site.  

Page 207



 
The addition of new five metre wide tree and shrub belt along the northwest boundary of the 
site and infill tree belt along the southside of Rochdale Road East would assist in screening 
the proposed development from the dwellings at Dumfires Hollow and Dumfries Farm, 
Ryecroft Farm, and at nos. 187 – 201 Rochdale Road East. 
 
The implementation of the proposed planting would mitigate the visual impacts of the 
proposed development from the majority of residential properties, other than those at Francil 
Farm and Harefield Hall, which are located on raised land above the site and therefore have 
views over the application site. It is therefore not possible to screen the proposed development 
from view of these dwellings and glimpsed views may be possible from certain views beyond 
the proposed mitigation.  Whilst the proposed solar panels would therefore be visible in some 
views, including from these properties, given the intervening distance, the respective land 
levels and existing and proposed intervening hedgerow and tree planting, it is considered that 
the proposed PV panels and associated equipment would not appear overly obtrusive from the 
surrounding dwellings to the extent that they would unduly affect outlook.   
 
With regards to the implications in respect of noise and disturbance, it is noted that the 
operation of the solar farm would not generate any noticeable noise. Consultations have taken 
place with the Council’s Environmental Health department, who have yet to provide detailed 
comments. However, pre-application discussions with the Council’s Environmental Health 
Department identified that the only noise consideration would be hours of construction.  
Subject to a condition requiring a construction management plan, it is considered that the 
proposal would have no undue impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupants during the 
construction phase.   
 
Therefore, subject to the inclusion of an appropriately condition to secure the detailed scheme 
of mitigation planting, and restricting construction hours, it is considered that the application 
would be acceptable in the above regard and would accord with policies G/EM/1, EM/2 and 
EM/3 of the UDP. 
 
Trees and Hedgerows 
 
UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals on sites 
containing trees and woodlands should ensure: 
 

� Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and 
hedgerows; 

� That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on 
the amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root 
spread, stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully 
considered; 

� Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction; 

� Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and woodland 
(which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and 

� Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period. 
 
The application site comprises open fields leftover to pasture and cropping with sections of 
hedgerows along the boundaries and small clusters of trees within the site. The site is not 
located within a conservation area and there are no protected trees within the site itself. There 
are a group of mature trees located immediately to the northeast of the site which are covered 
by Tree Preservation Order no. 76 forming a woodland of Beech, Elm, laburnum, Lime, 
Mountain Ash, and Sycamore. Collectively these form a mature woodland and important 
landscape feature within the surrounding area. 
 

Page 208



The application has been supported by an Arboricultural Report, including a discussion of 
impacts and recommended mitigation measures. Whilst comments are awaited from the 
Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer, it is noted that the trees within the site are not of 
significant arboricultural quality and value, and that the proposed security fencing to be 
erected around the solar farm and internal 5 metre buffer to the PV panels would act as 
protection to the majority of trees and woodland around the site.  The report recommends the 
provision of protective fencing to protect trees at the site access, in addition to restrictions on 
construction works beyond the protective fencing, and the carrying out of a schedule of 
arboricultural monitoring during construction. 
 
In order to ensure that trees and hedgerows adjacent to the site are protected, a condition has 
been recommended requiring the implementation of the protection measures set out in section 
6 of the Arborcultural Report prior to the commencement of development. In addition, a 
condition has also been recommended requiring detailed tree and hedgerow protection 
measures to be implemented around the proposed DNO, control room and switchgear area in 
the northeast corner of the site, to be submitted and approved in writing to protect hedgerow 
no. 2 and the trees that run alongside the east and north boundaries of the site. 
 
The application proposes a significant amount of additional hedgerow, shrub and tree planting 
around the perimeter of the site. These would have significant value to nature conservation but 
would also help re-establish and support the existing intervening hedgerows that run along 
field boundaries. Therefore, subject to conditions it is considered that there would be no 
significant harm caused to any important trees and hedgerows. The proposed development is 
therefore considered to be in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/7 and 
NE/8. 
 
Ecology and Nature Conservation 
 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by “minimising impacts on biodiversity and 
providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the Government’s 
commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing coherent 
ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures.” 
 
Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following 
(relevant) principles: 

� if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on 
an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused; 

� opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged. 

 
UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas that are not specially designated for their nature 
conservation value, the effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats 
of ecological value will be taken into account in assessing proposals. Development should 
seek to retain such features and incorporate them into the development. Where this would 
place an unreasonable constraint on the development, steps to provide compensatory 
features or habitats of an equivalent nature and value, commensurate with the scale and type 
of development permitted may be required.  
 
UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated 
that: 

� There is no adverse impact on the species concerned; 

Page 209



� Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 
required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and 

� Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National and European legislation. 

 
UDP policy NE/8 (d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands should 
ensure the nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 
safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species. 
 
The application has been accompanied by an ecological report comprising phase 1 habitat 
survey and an assessment on the implications of the proposed development on protected 
species. It is noted that the site does not form part of any statutorily designated nature 
conservation site. There are no Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) or national 
nature reserves within 5 kms of the site, and the nearest local nature reserve Hopwood Woods 
Nature Reserve is approximately 2.1 kilometres to the south of the site. The nearest Special 
Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) the Rochdale Canal, which is also a Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) is approximately 1 km from the site. The proposals would therefore cause 
no impact on these nationally important nature conservation sites.  The nearest non-statutory 
designated local site is a meadow at Heywood cemetery approximately 300 metres form the 
site. Given the low impact nature of the proposed development, it is not considered that there 
would be any significant harm caused by the proposals to this site.   
 
With regards to Protected Habitats the submitted ecological report concludes that none will be 
directly impacted on by the proposed development.  The presence of Protected and Priority 
Species was assessed and the nature of the existing habitats are considered to limit 
amphibians, badgers, reptiles, water voles and crayfish, and none of the floral species found 
are protected by the Wildlife and Countryside Act or considered to be rare locally or nationally.  
 
The ecological report did find evidence of bat foraging and potential for bird nesting habitats 
within and around the site.  The Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) has been 
consulted on the application and advises that the submitted information is satisfactory and 
proportionate and that no further information is required prior to the determination of the 
application. GMEU have raised no objections subject to conditions, including the prevention of 
any vegetation clearance in the bird nesting season without prior survey by an ecologist, and 
the implementation of the Biodiversity and Habitat Management Plan throughout the lifetime of 
the development. 
 
The indicative Habitat Management Plan includes proposals to provide bat boxes, bird boxes, 
wildflower meadow, hibernaclus, and hedgehog shelters throughout the site.  As noted in the 
preceding section of this report, the application also proposes the provision of enhanced 
hedgerow, tree and grassland meadow planting.  These proposals with the Habitat 
Management Plan, would provide a net enhancement and improvement of local biodiversity.   
 
Subject to conditions, it is considered that the proposed development would not cause any 
significant harm to local and transient bird populations and nature conservation interests and 
the proposals would provide for net enhancement of biodiversity through the creation of a 
series of different habitats for local species of flora and fauna. Having regard to the submitted 
ecological information and the comments of GMEU, it is considered that the proposals would 
be in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8, and the NPPF.  
 
Highway Safety and Traffic Implications 
 
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 

Page 210



UDP policy A/3 requires development proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access for 
pedestrians, disabled people and other people with restricted mobility. Relative to the scale, 
type and location of the development, proposals should ensure that: 

� Walking routes are safe, convenient, environmentally pleasant, highly visible from 
surrounding land and buildings, well lit and signed; 

� Pedestrian access into development sites is located to provide the most convenient 
route to nearby facilities and destinations; 

� Existing rights of way are maintained or improved; and 

� Walking routes are capable of being shared safely with cyclists. 
 
UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Specifically, proposals should not: 

� Have an adverse impact on the safety of any road users; 

� Have an adverse impact on accessibility for pedestrians, including people with 
restricted mobility, cyclists or users of public transport in the immediate vicinity of 
the development; 

� Substantially increase congestion; 

� Divert traffic on to less suitable roads; or 

� Cause an unacceptable environmental impact on residential properties passed by 
traffic associated with the development whilst accessing the principal road network. 

 
UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate safe and 
convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and commercial 
vehicles. Relative to the scale, type and location of development, proposals should ensure 
that: 

� Roads, junctions and access points to/from premises are safe, convenient and 
suitable for the volume and characteristics of traffic that will be required to use 
them; and 

� Access for emergency service vehicles and other service vehicles, such as waste 
collection vehicles, is provided. 

 
The application has been supported by a transport statement and a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan (CTMP) has been produced. The proposed development itself would not 
involve any works to the existing highway network and would utilise the existing access along 
Carriageway Drive on to the A58, Rochdale Road East. It is noted that Carriageway Drive is 
an unadopted road, with uneven surface that serves residential properties and is subject to on-
street parking.   
 
Nevertheless, it is noted that the immediate highway network is subject to 30 mph speed 
restrictions and the site access is relatively straight and at approximately 5.3 metres wide 
reducing to between 2.7 and 4 metres wide near the access into the field, would 
accommodate the articulated vehicles and HGV traffic necessary to construct the solar farm. 
Following discussions with the Highways Authority, it is proposed to implement management 
measures at the access on to Rochdale Road East (A58) to ensure safe access and egress of 
HGV’s and articulated vehicles into and out of Carriageway Drive. 
 
With regards to the construction of the solar farm, it is noted that the construction programme 
is estimated to take 6 weeks (30 working days) during which a total of 90 deliveries would be 
made, equating to 3 deliveries a day (or 6 in and out movements). Of these it is envisaged that 
two deliveries per day (4 in and out movements) would be by the largest vehicles being 15.4 
metre long articulated vehicles delivering the PV panels, framework and cabins. Further trips 
would be made by construction workers in small vehicles to and from the site each day. The 
Highways Authority have confirmed that given the low trip level and temporary 6 week 

Page 211



construction period, the construction would not cause any unacceptable disruption to the 
highway network. 
 
The site would be accessed by the existing highways infrastructure along Rochdale Road 
East, joining Manchester Road eastbound, then southwards along Edinburgh Way (A664) 
before using the A627(M) and accessing the M62 motorway at junction 20. It is noted that the 
vehicular infrastructure within this network has been designed to accommodate HGV vehicles 
that would be required for delivery of the wind turbine. This has been developed through the 
Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) which includes other measures to be put in 
place to manage are to ensure the safe delivery of the PV panels and associated equipment, 
including temporary signage, ground matting to site access, personnel to manage access onto 
Rochdale Road East and portable wheel washing equipment. Accordingly a condition has 
been recommended requiring the CTMP and its associated measures to be implemented prior 
to the commencement of development. 
 
In terms of traffic generation during the operation of the solar farm, it is envisaged that there 
would only be limited vehicular trips made by small van or 4x4 type vehicles to the site each 
year (approximately 10 – 20 trips per year) to provide for necessary maintenance and 
monitoring.  
 
The local Highway Authority has raised no objections to the proposed development subject to 
conditions ensuring the surrounding rights of way and bridleways are not obstructed. Having 
regard to the above, it is considered that subject to conditions, the proposed development 
would make satisfactory arrangements for vehicle access, manoeuvring and parking, and 
would facilitate safe access to and from the site. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed 
development would provide safe and secure access and would not result in any strategic 
highways implications, in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies A/3, A/8, A/9, and 
EM/16. 
 
Implications on Heritage Assets and Archaeological Interests 
 
Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act) 1990 (as 
amended) states that the Local Planning Authority “shall have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.” 
 
Section 72 of the Act states that with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation 
area, special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character 
or appearance of that area. 
 
Paragraph 133 of the NPPF states that “when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be.” It 
also goes on to state that its significance can be harmed or lost through development within its 
setting. 
 
The NPPG also states that in considering applications for ground mounted solar photovoltaic 
farms, that “great care should be taken to ensure heritage assets are conserved in a manner 
appropriate to their significance, including the impact of proposals on views important to their 
setting. As the significance of a heritage asset derives not only from its physical presence, but 
also from its setting, careful consideration should be given to the impact of large scale solar 
farms on such assets. Depending on their scale, design and prominence, a large scale solar 
farm within the setting of a heritage asset may cause substantial harm to the significance of 
the asset”.  
 

Page 212



It is noted that there are no scheduled monuments, registered parks or gardens, and 
registered battlefields within, immediately adjoining or within 3 km of the application site. Given 
these distances and the surrounding built and natural features that would screen the turbine 
from these heritage assets, it is not considered that there would be any significant harm 
caused to the historic importance of these heritage assets. 
 
With regards to the impact on the surrounding listed buildings, it is noted that the nearest listed 
building is the Grade II Listed Church of All Souls, located approximately 360 metres to the 
northwest.  The listed building is principally appreciated from Rochdale Road East and the 
immediate grounds and its curtilage around it. Given the distance and intervening planting the 
proposed PV panels, it is considered that the proposals would not detract from this 
appreciation.  The top part of the church tower would be visible from views along the rights of 
way that run along the east and west of the site. The proposals would therefore be visible 
within the same context as part of the listed church tower. However, it is noted that views of 
the listed building would not be obstructed, that a significant distance would be retained 
between the proposed development and the church and its curtilage, and the existing open 
agricultural fields between the site and listed building would be unaltered. Having regard to the 
above, it is considered that the proposed development would not result in harm to the wider 
setting of this grade II listed building given the context of the site.   
 
It is noted that the grade II* listed Crimble Mill is located approximately 750 metres to the 
northwest of the application site. The Mill complex is located within the valley bottom adjacent 
to the River Roch and the application site does not form part of this setting. It is also noted that 
the important and significant views and appreciation of the Mill are from the Roch Valley, and 
that the proposed solar farm would not be visible within these views and context. In addition, 
given the topography of the intervening land between the proposed solar farm and this 
nationally important heritage asset, the mature tree coverage, and the intervening A58 
carriageway and its associated paraphernalia between the proposals and Crimble Mill, there 
are limited views of this from the application site, and therefore it is not considered that the 
proposed development would have any significant impact on the setting and importance of 
Crimble Mill. 
 
With regards to the other heritage assets located within 2km of the proposals, it is noted that 
the proposed PV panels, and associated equipment and access tracks would not be visible 
from these or within the same context. Furthermore, it is noted that Historic England have 
raised no objections to the proposed development with respect to implications on heritage 
assets. 
 
With regards to any potential implications on archaeology, it is noted that the Greater 
Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS) have advised that the proposal would 
not impact on any known or suspected archaeological interest and have accordingly not 
recommended any conditions in this regard. Therefore, it is considered that the proposal is 
unlikely to result in any harm to features of archaeological interest. 
 
Therefore having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposal would cause no harm 
to designated heritage assets and the proposal would therefore accord with policies BE/11, 
BE/15 and BE/17 of the UDP and the policies within section 12 of the NPPF. 
 
Hydrology, Flood Risk and Drainage Implications 
 
Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 
should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk. 
 
UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood 
plains, or other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an 
appropriate flood risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are met: 

Page 213



� It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by 
reducing flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the 
additional discharge of surface water; 

� It will not itself be at risk from flooding; 

� Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used; 

� Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided; 

� Existing or proposed flood defences are protected; 

� It would not result in extensive culverting; and 

� Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at the 
developer’s expense. 

 
The application has been supported by a Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment. This identified 
that the site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 1 in 
1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). The proposed use of the 
site is classified as ‘general industry’ and is therefore considered to be less vulnerable as set 
out by table 2 of the NPPF Planning Practice Guidance. Therefore, the site is considered to be 
suitable in principle with regards to flood risk for the proposed development. 
 
It is noted that the site is located within an undulating landscape with land levels sloping 
downwards into the site from the north and east position and that open agricultural fields 
surround the site to the south, east and west. The FRA notes that the lower north western part 
of the site is at moderate risk from groundwater flooding. In order to minimise risk to the 
proposals, it is the proposed that all the cabins will be sited on 300mm high hardstanding 
bases. 
 
With regards to surface water management, the proposals involve the siting of rows of PV 
panels on framework piled into the ground below, which as a result of being raised above the 
ground and angled would retain the greenfield and permeable qualities of the ground. The 
access tracks are proposed to be of permeable material which will allow rain and surface 
water to filter into the ground below. It is proposed to replace areas of pasture land with 
additional areas of hardstanding to site the 5 no. inverter cabins, DNO cabin, switchgear cabin 
and control room.  
 
However, it is noted that these would be limited to 30m2 and between 20-25m2 for the DNO, 
switchgear and control room cabins. As a result the area of additional hardstanding proposed 
would be limited in size taking up approximately 0.18% of the application site area. The 
applicant has nevertheless taken a precautionary approach and in accordance with the 
recommendations of the submitted FRA the proposed scheme includes the provision of 
swales along the north western boundary of the site which would accommodate approximately 
112.60 m3 of surface water. This has been designed to accommodate the potential additional 
surface water runoff caused by climate change.  
 
Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed development would not be at 
significant risk of flooding and subject to adequate on site attenuation measures being put in 
place, it is considered that the proposed development would cause no unacceptable risk of 
flooding elsewhere in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies EM/7, EM/8 and the 
NPPF. 
 
Implications on Quality and Availability of Agricultural Land 
 
The NPPG states that “where a proposal  involves greenfield land, whether (i) the proposed 
use of any agricultural land has been shown to be necessary and poorer quality land has been 
used in preference to higher quality land; and (ii) the proposal allows for continued agricultural 
use where applicable and/or encourages biodiversity improvements around arrays.” 
 

Page 214



This has been supported by the Written Ministerial Statement (HCWS488) of March 25th 2015 
which states that any proposal for a solar farm involving the best and most versatile 
agricultural land would need to be justified by the most compelling evidence.  
 
It is noted that the proposed solar farm would take up approximately 10.4 Ha of agricultural 
land. It is noted that this is currently in use for agricultural purposes including the grazing of 
horses. The land has previously been classified by DEFRA as being Grade 3 (Good to 
moderate quality agricultural land) with a small area being within grade 4 (poor quality 
agricultural land). A survey has been undertaken by the applicants which has concluded that 
due to the soil texture and seasonal water logging that the land would constitute grade 3B 
(moderate quality) and 4 (poor quality).  The land within the application site does not therefore 
comprise the best and most versatile agricultural land (3a and above).   
 
Whilst it is noted that part of the site would utilise agricultural land classed as of moderate 
quality Grade 3B, it is noted that the land is to be sewn with agricultural wildflower mix and 
from experiences drawn from other solar farm sites that the site could still be used for the 
grazing of animals with the development in situ. Given the above, the temporary nature of the 
proposed scheme and the necessary works, it is not considered that the proposals would have 
a significant detrimental impact on the agricultural quality of the land and the availability of the 
agricultural land in the surrounding area in both the short and long-term.  
 
Mineral, Geological and Land Condition Implications 
 
Policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Plan seeks to require the extraction of 
minerals within mineral safeguarding area prior to development taking place. It also sets out a 
number of criteria where developments that would not allow prior extraction would be 
permitted, which include that it would not be environmentally acceptable or economically 
viable to do so; it can be demonstrated that the mineral is not present or of no economic value; 
or the development is limited or temporary and would not prevent extraction in the future. 
 
It is noted that the application site is located within a mineral safeguarding area for sand and 
gravel, for brick clay as identified within the Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Plan. Whilst no 
comments have yet been received from the GM Minerals and Waste Planning Unit, it is noted 
that in accordance with policy 8 of the Joint Minerals Plan the proposed development would be 
for a limited period of time of 25 years and given the relatively minor intrusion and scale of 
works the proposals would therefore not prevent the extraction of minerals in the future.  
 
The site has historically been used for agriculture and has most recently been used for 
grazing, hay cropping being largely leftover for pasture. The site is not located within any 
designated geological conservation areas, and whilst the site is located within a wider mining 
area there are now records of shafts or workings on the site. It is not proposed to carry out any 
significant ground excavations or land remodelling. Given the temporary nature of the 
proposed PV panels and framework, use of permeable materials for the access tracks and the 
cabins would each be placed on new hardstanding bases the proposals would not require 
significant intrusion or excavation into the existing ground.  
 
In order to ensure appropriate design of the foundations and understand any necessary 
remediation measures are implemented, a condition has been recommended requiring the 
carrying out of detailed site investigations and implementation of any remediation measures 
prior to the commencement of development. Subject to such a condition, it is considered that 
there would be no adverse harm caused by way of contamination or pollution and satisfactory 
ground conditions would be provide for the proposed wind turbine in accordance with policies 
EM/4, EM/9 of the UDP. 
 
 
 

Page 215



Other Material Considerations 
 
It is noted that an electricity mast and power line runs within close proximity to the west of the 
application site. National Grid has been consulted on the planning application and following 
their assessment have raised no objections to the proposed solar farm. Given the siting, scale 
and nature of the proposals, it is not considered that there would be any significant disruption 
or harm caused to nearby power infrastructure. 
 
In addition to the significant wider environmental benefits derived from the reduction in green 
house gas emissions and the saving of approximately 2,360 tonnes of carbon dioxide a year, 
the potential enhancement to biodiversity in the long-term will be secured by way of a 
Biodiversity Management Plan to be developed in consultation with the LPA and GMEU. The 
NPPF also sets out the other arms to sustainable development, it is noted that the proposed 
development would be likely to require the employment of a significant number of construction 
workers, along with a part-time maintenance engineer and a small number of service staff.  
 
CONCLUSIONS AND BALANCING EXERCISE 
 
Having regard to all material considerations, the proposal would not result in significant harm 
to the amenity of neighbouring residents and surrounding uses, the operation and safety of 
surrounding highway network, nor to any listed buildings. Subject to conditions, the proposals 
would provide satisfactory mitigation of the majority of the visual impacts, protected species 
and nature conservation interests, and any disturbance to the surrounding environment and 
operation of the surrounding highways network during the construction phase.  
 
The proposed solar farm would comprise inappropriate development in the green belt, which 
by definition is harmful to the Green Belt.  The proposal would also impact on the openness of 
the Green Belt and surrounding area and would result in harm to the enjoyment of the nearby 
public rights of way.  As a result, very special circumstances must therefore be demonstrated 
that would outweigh the harm caused.  It is considered that the very special circumstances in 
this case comprise the valuable renewable energy resource that would make a significant 
contribution towards reducing carbon dioxide emissions (2,360 tonnes saved a year) and to 
meeting both national and local targets that seek to reduce carbon emissions and tackle 
climate change. It is also noted that the proposal would generate a small but valuable level of 
employment. Affording substantial weight to the harm to the green belt by reason of 
inappropriateness and the harm that would arise to its openness during the lifetime of the 
development, and affording considerable weight to the impact on the public rights of way, it is 
considered that the renewable energy generated by the development and the significant 
annual reduction in carbon dioxide emissions that would arise, constitute very special 
circumstances that would outweigh this harm, particularly following the implementation and 
maturing of the mitigation planting surrounding the site.   
 
Therefore, considering all the merits of the proposed scheme, it is concluded that the proposal 
would represent a sustainable form of development and it is considered that the beneficial 
impacts would outweigh the adverse impacts of the proposed scheme. The proposal therefore 
comprises sustainable development and it is therefore recommended that planning permission 
is granted subject to conditions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 216



 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions:- 
 
 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 

with the date of this permission.  
   
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 This permission relates to the following approved plans:  
   
 00060-100 Z - Site Boundary;  
 00060-100 - Site location Plan;  
 00060-101 - PV Layout;  
 00060-102 - Project Layout;  
 00060-103 - Indicative Habitat Plan;  
 00060-106 - Figure 5 - Site setting;  
 00060-107 - Figure 13: Site Access;  
 00060-108 - Figure 12: Road Access Map;  
 00060-109 - Site Plan;  
 00060-110 - Indicative Layout of Switchgear and Control Room Enclosure;  
 00060-200 - DNO Cabin;  
 00060-201 - Customer 33kv Switchgear;  
 00060-202 - Control Room;  
 00060-203 - Inverter, MV Switchgear and Transformer Cabin;  
 00060-204 - Security Fence 7 CCTV;  
 00060-205 - PV Framework.  
   
 The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved 

drawings unless otherwise required by condition of this permission.    
   
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 

development in accordance with the policies contained within the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 3 The development hereby approved shall be undertaken at all times in complete 

accordance with the measures set out in the approved Construction Traffic 
Management Plan, prepared by TPA dated May 2015. The condition survey and any 
subsequent remediation measures to be undertaken shall include the extent of 
Carriageway Drive  from the site access to its junction with Rochdale Road East.   

   
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with policies A/9 and EM/14 

of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan. 
 
 4 Notwithstanding the submitted details and the requirements of condition 2 of this 

permission, no above ground works shall take place until full details of the following 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

   
 1. The siting, design, materials and construction of all access roads.  
 2. The siting, size, design and construction of swales and or any other surface water 

attenuation measures to be provided.  

Page 217



 3. The siting, height, design and appearance of all CCTV, poles and associated 
equipment.   

 4. The external materials, colour treatment of all cabins and any ancillary equipment.
   

 The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details prior to the first generation of electricity.    

   
 Reason: Further information of the exact siting and construction detail is required in the 

interests of the character and openness of the Green Belt in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies D/4, EM/14 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.   

 
 5 The solar farm and associated development (including access tracks, laydown area, all 

cabins, CCTV equipment, and fencing) hereby permitted shall be removed from the 
site and the land restored in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to condition 6 of this 
permission, on or before the expiration of 25 years from the date when electricity is first 
exported.  Written notification of the first export of electricity shall be given to the Local 
Planning Authority no later than 14 days after the event.  

   
 Reason: The proposed solar development has a limited life expectancy and will need 

to be decommissioned at the end of this period of use in the interests of the amenity of 
the Green Belt. Following removal of the solar farm and associated infrastructure, the 
land should be restored to its previous agricultural use in the interests of the visual 
amenity, openness and purposes of including land in the Green Belt in accordance 
with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies D/4, EM/14 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.   

 
 6 Within 3 months of the development hereby permitted being decommissioned in 

accordance with condition 5, a restoration scheme shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the approved scheme shall be 
implemented within 6 months of the final generation of electricity.  

   
 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policy EM/14 of the 

Council's Unitary Development Plan and the relevant advice of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.   

 
 7 Notwithstanding any details shown on the approved planting strategy, the Biodiversity 

Management Plan and the requirements of condition 2 of this permission, no above 
ground works shall be undertaken until a detailed planting and landscaping scheme for 
the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Such a scheme shall include details of the type, species, siting, planting distances and 
the programme of planting of trees and shrubs. The duly approved planting and 
landscaping scheme shall be carried out during the first planting season after the 
development is substantially completed and the areas which are landscaped shall be 
retained as landscaped areas thereafter. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being 
severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within three years of planting shall 
be replaced by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required 
to be planted.  

   
 Reason: In order to achieve satisfactory mitigation in the interests of visual amenity of 

the surrounding landscape and surrounding residents and to provide biodiversity 
enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2, BE/8 and NE/3, and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 

Page 218



 
 8 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, no above ground works shall take place 

until a detailed Habitat Enhancement Plan (HEP) for the site has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Greater 
Manchester Ecological Unit (GMEU). The HEP shall include: (i) full details of the 
habitat enhancement measures to be installed and provided at the site in substantive 
accordance with approved Habitat Plan prepared by OST Energy drawing no. 00060-
103; (ii) management responsibilities; (iii) maintenance schedules; and (iv) a timetable 
for implementation. The HEP shall thereafter be implemented in full accordance with 
the duly approved details and timetable contained therein.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection of existing landscape features of 

ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and biodiversity enhancements 
as part of the development in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy NE/3 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 9 No development, including clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for or during 

the course of development, shall take place during the bird nesting season (March - 
July inclusive) unless an ecological survey has first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority which establishes that no part of the site is 
utilised for bird nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, 
then no clearance of trees and shrubs shall take place until a methodology for 
protecting nest sites during the course of the development has first been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Nest site protection shall 
thereafter be provided in accordance with the duly approved methodology.  

   
 Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 

Unitary Development Plan Policies NE/3 and NE/4 and the provisions of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).   

 
10 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

measures and timescales set out in the Biodiversity Management Plan (BMP) prepared 
by Greenlight Environmental Consultancy.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure adequate protection and enhancement of existing 

landscape features of ecological value and to achieve appropriate landscape and 
biodiversity enhancements as part of the development in accordance with the 
requirements of UDP policy NE/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
11 The tree protection measures and method statement set out in sections 5 and 6 and 

the appendices of the Arboricultural Report prepared by Greenlight Environmental 
Consultancy, dated 18th May 2015, shall be implemented in full before development 
first takes place and shall thereafter be retained thoughout the construction of the solar 
farm.  

   
 Reason: To ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to safeguard 

the health of trees located within the site and in close proximity to the proposed 
development in order to preserve their amenity value in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies NE/8 and BE/2. 

 
12 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, no development of the Distribution 

Network Operator control room and switchgear cabins in the northeast corner of the 
site shall take place until a scheme for tree and hedgerow protection measures (both 
above and below ground) to be implemented during the construction period has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 

Page 219



shall thereafter be carried out in strict accordance with the protection measures 
contained within the duly approved scheme throughout the construction period.  

   
 Reason: To ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to safeguard 

the health of trees and hedgerows located within the site and in close proximity to the 
proposed development in order to preserve their amenity value, in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies NE/8 and BE/2.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the detailed siting of the cabins is 

unknown and the proposals may require ground works and development adjacent to 
hedgerows and trees in the northeast corner of the site, any protection measures will 
need to be approved and implemented prior to commencement of any building or 
engineering works on site 

 
13 No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement (CMS) has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMS 
shall include details of the following: - (i) hours for site preparation, delivery of materials 
and construction; (ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; (iii) loading 
and unloading of plant and materials; (iv) storage of plant and materials used in 
constructing the development; (v) wheel washing facilities; (vi) measures to control the 
emission of dust and dirt during construction; and (vii) a scheme for recycling/disposing 
of waste resulting from construction works; (viii) details of any bridleway, footpath or 
public right of way diversions and alternative provisions or diversions if necessary. 

   
 The duly approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.  
   
 Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit noise, 

nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings during the 
construction of the development in accordance with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan policies BE/2 and EM/3, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: This information is required before works 

commence on site in the interests of visual and residential amenity and to protect 
existing rights of way. 

 
 
Report Author Chris Hobson 
 
 
  _________________________________________________ 
 
 

Page 220


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 25/06/2015 Planning and Licensing Committee
	Minutes

	Minutes Public Pack, 06/07/2015 Planning and Licensing Committee
	Minutes


	3 Submitted Planning Applications

